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CORRESPONDENCE

WITH

THE BRITISH COMMISSIONERS.
 
 

SIERRA LEONE..---(General.)

 

Ne. L.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry —
CRecewed Suly 19.)

My Lorp, Sierra Leone, April 30, 1822.

IN the very general notice for the year recently terminated, which we had
the honour to address to your Lordship on the 10th of January last, in expla-
ration of the Report of the state of the Slave Trade, dated the 5th ofJanuary
1821, no mention was made of the foreign cruizers employed on the coast in
the course of that year to counteract and restrain the Slave Traders of their
respective nations.
We consider it a matter of duty now to supply that omission, and to add-

some furiher facts which appear material to a correct understanding upon the
general subject. ae
The French armed schooners, Momus and Iris, shewed themselves in this

harbour on the 13th of May 1821, and sailed in two days after with the pre-
fessed intention of going down the coast im search of French Slave traders;
bat no intelligence has been received of their having taken any, although the
reports current in the Colony at the time of their departure stated, that ships
bearing the French flag were to be found in all the known stations, trading
openly for Slaves.

So far as the immediate information of this place extends, these two
schooners formed the whole of the French cruizing force sent to the south-
ward of the Bissagos in theyear 1821, and this was the whole range and effect
of their operations. . :
_ Accounts from Goree have, however, stated that His Most Christian Ma-~
Jesty’s brig Le Huron, bearingthe broad pendant of Monsieur Du Plessis,
who commands the French squadron on the coast, went down to the Bight of
Benin without approaching Sierra Leone. This Officer, it is understood,
detained in the course of his cruize a French vessel charged with violating the
French laws prohibiting the Slave ‘I'rade, which vessel the Judicial Adminis-_
tration of Senegal refused to condemn.
Monsieur Du Plessis came into Sierra Leone, in the Huron, on the Ist-of

February in the present year, and sailed again on the 7th of the same month,
having prolonged his stay some days with the declared design of conferring
with Commodore Sir Robert Mends, and of taking advantage of any suggee-
tion which Sir Robert might communicate for the purpose of rendering bis
cruize more effective.
_ Captain Du Plessis before he entered the harbour of Sierra Leone, had gone
down the coast; in the month of January, as far as Cape Mount, and had
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examined several French ships, without detaining any. It appears that the
French national law gives the right of seizure only in the event of Slaves being

found actually on board, or at least that this limitation is established im prac-

tice under that law. Captain Du Plessis when he sailed hence in February,
proposed to return to the same stations in the hope of finding some of these

vessels with Slaves actually embarked. It has been ascertained by the log-

book of La Dichosa Estrella, a shipwrecked prize of His Majesty’s ship Mor-

giana, and-also by the log-book of the schooner Joseph, a professed Swedish
schooner, brought in by Lieutenant Clarkson of the Iphigenia, that both these
vessels were visited by Commodore Du Plessis off the Gallinas, on the 12th
and 13th of February: but the time that has elapsed without advice cf
any actual detention being made by that Commodore, gives us reason to think
that he has not made any..
The American cruizing force on the coast, in the year 1821, was reduced to

a single armed schooner. The Alligator, a vessel of that class, anchored here
on the 13th of May 1821, at the same time with the French schooners
Momus and Iris, and sailed a tide or two before them. The Alligator made
some captures, the ostensible character of some of the vessels detained by her
was not-American. Considerable attention was, consequently, directed to
the determination respecting them. It was at first reported that all the
vessels thus taken were condemned by the American Courts; but subsequent
information has corrected this statement, and it appeais, that some or all of
these vessels, not of American character, have been restored.
The Alligator was succeeded on the station by the Shark, a vessel of the

same class. The Shark was in this harbour about the close of the year 1821,
and again in the commencenient of the year 1822: she had not made any
captures.
On the departure of the Shark from the coast, a midshipman and a few men

belonging to her were left in a small schooner, named the Augusta, to assist
the: Settlement for Amesican coloured people proposed 1o be established near
Cape Mesurado. The presence of this detachment has given occasion for the
junction of a British detachment with it from the Iphigenia, commanded by
Lientenant Clarkson. A schooner, named the Joseph, assuming a Swedish
national character, was detained and brouglit in here early in the month of
March, by the Augusta, having these joint detachments on board. Proceedings
on.charges of Slave trading, were, in the first instance, instituted agaiast the
Joseph in the.Court of Vice Admiralty, on the grounds of British property or
interest and British outfit; these allegations were not sustained in evidence,
consequently thejurisdiction of the Judge could not reach the case. But as
some prominent facts gave ground to believe, that an examination upon the
standing interrogatories, would be effectual in eliciting the means cf a convic-
tion in the British andSpanish Court of Mixed Commission, it was recom-
mended from the Bench that a suit should be instituted in that Court; these
proceedings have been commenced accordingly. _
The detention otf the schooner Joseph took place while Sir Robert Mends

was in this harbour, and within the range of communicating with his detach.
ment in a short time: but questions of some difficulty may arise in the event
of the detention. of any vessel by the detachment, while the Iphigenia is at
the farther extremity of the coast.

These details comprehend the whole of the information which we have to
communicate respecting the foreign cruizers on the coast, and their operations
since the 5th of January 1821. . .

| The additional facts and circumstances which we have to bring under your
Lordship’s notice are these :

His Majesty’s Commissioners while engaged in the investigation of the case
of the Spanishi schooner Rosalia, detained by Lieutenant Hagan of His Ma-
jesty’s brig Thistle, in the Rio Pongos in themonth of January, were informed
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iy that Officer that this vessel had come to that river, in this instance, for the

purpose of closing an account of Slave dealing which had remained unsettled

from the preceding year. This, Lieutenant Hagan said he bad ascertaiae!

in the river, and the fimited cargo brought by the Rosalia in her preset

voyage, consisting only of a few bales of cloth and some boxes of tobacs:),

appears to confirm that statement. . ; ;

"More recently still, in a special visit of search, in which the creeks of thet

river were examined by the boats of His Majesty’s ship Pheasant, conducted

by Lieutenant Stokes, of His Majesty’s brig Snapper, under particular i'-

structions from Captain Clavering, it was ascertained that no Slave-trading

vessel had been in any part of the river during the last three months, This

period would comprehend the whole interval from the time of the capture of

the Rosalia in the early part of the month of January.
Communications received in the Colony, from nedrly the whole of the

Chiefs, concur in expressing a desire to be secured in the enjoyment of the
property which they have already realized ; and to be permitted to carry on

peaceful and legitimate commerce. underBritishprotection. The best as-

surance of the sincerity of these professions is to be found in the knowledge
of the state of constantdisquiet in which the factories of the river are placed,
by the visits of the cruizers in search of Slave ships. A definitive arrange-
ment is now considered likely to be effected within the present year. In the-
interval the Chiefs seem disposed to recommend themselves to favourable

opinion, by a conduct suited to the relation in which they desire to place

themselves with respect to this Colony. .
The Rio Nunez, which for some years prior to the present time, had not

heen visited by any British armed vessel, was in the course of the Phcasant’s
cruize specially examined by the boats of that vessel. The Otficer command-
ing the boats, following Captain Clavering’s instructions, ascended the streau
of the Rio Nunez as far as it was practicable for his boats, being considerably
above an hundred miles, without finding a vessel of any description engaged
in the Slave Trade. We are sorry, however, to have to state that Captaiss
Clavering obtained intelligence of the sailing of a vessel, named the Apollo,
from Cacheo or Bissao with a cargo of Slaves, which were in train of coHec~
tion for her, when the Conde de Villa Flor was brought off from Bissao by
the boats of the Iphigenia.

This fact, together with the antecedent proof of the abuses practised ta-
those places, as disclosed in the mass of papers found on board of the Conte
de Villa Flor, will be sufficient to shew to the Portuguese Government the
necessity of a total reformation of the Settlements of Bissao and Cacheo.

In connection with the general subject and view of this communication, it
seems proper to notice the termination of a petty warfare between two Chiefs
named Sanassec and Almami Amurath, residing on the coast between the Rio
Pongos and the Rio Nunez. This petty warfare had lasted for some years,
without much bloodshed, but with considerable vexation, by the stoppage of
the usual intercourse between the interior of the country and the commercial
towns on the sea-side. The Solima nation consequently interfered,.and a
force of near ten thousand men, under the command of a Chief nained.
Yarradi, brother of the King of the Solimas, came down. at the instance of
one of the contending parties, Almami Amurath; but, as the result would
appear to indicate, influenced by the spirit of impartial pacification.

Although this Chief dictated his terms with the absolute authority of an
unresisted conqueror, he used his power with rave moderation and disinterest-
edness. The point which we have to notice more particularly is, that he did
not exact or carry off any considerable number of Slaves ; for, notwithstand-
ing his general moderation and forbearance, we conceive that he would
scarcely have abstained from following the usage of the country in this res- .
pect, if the temptation of an active Slave ‘Trade, and a ready market upon the



4 Sterna Leone. General.)

adjacent coast, presented the inducements of former times, to levy contribu-

tions in that form.
In laying these facts before your Lordship, we are not so much influenced

by the desire of maintaining any opinion previously advanced by us, nor of

offering any present opinion, as we are by the wish of affording, im existing

matters of fact, grounds to ascertain, jointly with the actual extent of foreign

co-operation, whether any progress has been made through the system of

the ‘Treaties of Mixed Commission towards the repression of the Slave Trade.

While the Foreign Colonies afford profitable markets for the sale of Slaves,

the attainment of that object will necessarily be in a great measure local in its

commencement, and gradual in its advances; and if it has not made some

advance in the country adjacent to this Colony, and under the immediate

operation of the various interests of trade and policy, by which the Native

Chiefs. and their people are connected with the Colonial Government and the

Colonial Merchants and Inhabitants generally, it cannot be supposed to be

in a better train in places less favourably circumstanced.

We will not disclaim a disposition to hail with alacrity any approach to-

wards the termination or material diminution of the crimes and borrors con-

nected with the Slave Trade upon any part of the coast of Africa, however

Himited; but in proportion as we value that reformation, we would be un-

willing to assume it to ourselves on insufficient grounds, and the prior caution

which we would be induced to exercise in that respect, must necessarily be

strengthened by the duty of carefully weighing what we communicate to your

Lordship, as the result of our settled observations upon the matters of fact

brought under our view in the discharge of our official duties ; and collected

in the range of our immediate researches and enquiries.
We have the honour to be &c.

(Signed) BE. GREGORY.
EDWALD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
e. C.Se.

 

No. 2.

The Marquess of Londonderry to the British. Commissioners at Sierra

Leone: (and those at Rio de Janeiro, the Havannah and Surinam.)

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, May 17, 1822.

I FURNISH you herewith, for your information, and that of the other
gentlemen of the Commission of which you are members, with the copy of
a letter, dated the 2d of April 1822, from the Secretary to the Admiralty, to
one of the Under Secretaries for this department, by which you will perceive
that there will be in future only Zwo Signatures of the Lords Commissioners
of the Admiralty to the Instructions issued in conformity to the Treaties
for preventing the illegal 'Traffick in Slaves:

Iam, &e.
(Signed) LONDONDERRY.

His. Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone, Rio de Janciro,
Lhe Lavannah, and Surinam.
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No. 3.

Ain. Seerctury Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

GESTLEMEN, Foreign Office, November 6, 1822.

IN reference to your despatch of the 7th of June 1821, stating the depar-

ture of M. Le Fer from Sierra Leone, whereby the Commission, of which

yourare members, was left without a representative on the part of Spain,

T have to send to you for your guidance,—L: the copy of a despatch, addressed,

ou the 22d February 1822, by the King’s command, to His Majesty’s Am-~-

trassador at the Hague, Minister at Madrid, and Chargé d’Affaires at Lisbon,

proposing that the provisions of the Slave Trade Treaty, for the case of the

‘death of one or more of the Commissioners, shall extend to the case of vacancics

occurring in the Commissions from illness, or absence on leave. 2dly, I

send to you the copy of a despatch, dated the 17th of June 1822, from His

Majcsty’s Minister at Madrid, expressive of the willingness of that Court to.

adopt the proposed extension of the provisions of the Treaty. 3dly, the

extract of a despatch, dated the 27th of June 1822, likewise from His Ma-

jesty’s: Minister at Madrid, stating, that the Spanish Minister hadpomised
that orders to the effect above mentioned should be sent out without delay

to the Commissioners of His Catholick Majesty. 4thly, the copy of a despatch,

dated the 6th of April 1822, from His Majesty’s Chargé d’Affaires at Lisbon,

together with its tnoclosure, signifying the readiness of the Portuguese Go-
vernment to sign an Article to the effect suggested. 5thly, the copy of a

despatch, dated the roth of May 1822, from His Majesty’s Minister at the:

Hague, andofits inclosure, stating the acquiescence ofthe King ofthe Nether-
lands in this proposition. And, 6thly, I furmsh you with the copy of an
Instruction which I addressed, on the 25th September 1822, by the King's
command, to His Majesty’s Envoy at Madrid, and Ministers at Lisbon and
at the Hague, inclosing a project of an Additional Article for sanctioning, in
a formal manner, the details of the arrangement in question,

So soon as any more specifick arrangement is agreed upon between the Par-
ties, I shall lose no time in taking His Majesty’s pleasure for forwarding the
same to you for your guidance.
In the mean time you will endeavourtocome to an agreement with your

fellow Commissioners, to act in the spirit of the intended arrangement.
Tam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

flis Majesty’s Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

 

No. 4.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitagerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Recewed February 14, 1823.) .

My Lorp, “Sierra Leone, September 10, 1822.

WE have had the honour to receive your Lordship’s despatch, dated the
17th ofMay last, inclosing the copy of a letter addressed, under date of the
2d of April, by the Secretary to the Admiralty to one of His Majesty’s
Under Secretaries for the Forcign Department, by which we perceive that
there will be in future only two signatures of the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty to the: Instructions to. be issied in conformity to the Treaties for.
‘preventing the illegal Traffick in Slaves.
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We shall inform the Foreign Members of the Commissions of this. change

regarding the authentication of the Instructions to British cruizers under the

Treaties. And we have the honour tobe,&e.
(Sigued) E. GREGORY.

EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
Se. c. &c.

 

No. 5.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitegerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received February 14, 1823)

My Lorp, Sierra Leone, September 20, 1822.

IN obedience to the instructions conveyed in your Lordship’s letter, dated
March the 10th, that we should continue to transmnit to your Lordship, from

time to time, Reports of the state of the Slave Trade, founded upon the most

authentick intelligence that our situation enables us to collect; we have the

honour to submit the substance of the information obtained by us on that
subject, subsequent to our despatch of the 30th of April.

Considering the coast in three divisions, as before, we have no information

of any Slave Trade in the division to the northward of this Colony, further

than that we understand that Lieutenant Hagan, in a visit to Bissao and Ca-

cheo about the middle of September, was informed that the Apoilo, already

noticed in our communications, and especially in cur Report of the 30th of

April, carried offa full cargo of Slaves as then mentioned; and that another

vessel carried off a full cargo since that.
Fromthé Rio Pongos our information is positive and certain, No Slave

ship has been in that river since the capture of the Rosalia, on the 11th of

January last, by His Majesty’s brig Thistle, Lieutenant Hagan. Francisco

Freire, the Pilot ofthat vessel, to whom the command of the vessel aud the

management of the trade devolved on the death of the original Master, is
still in the ‘river, residing at the factory of John Ormond, of Bangaben, not
having yet found an opportunity to depart. If the opportunity ofa Slave-
trading vessel should present iiself, there cannot be a doubt that the Staves
retained of those collected for the Rosalia would be shipped off on board. of
Her, for only a certain number of these Slaves, (sixty,) and these of interior
class, were delivered up to Lieutenant Hagan. There is as little doubt that
Ormond would readily supply as many others as might be wanted to complete
a ¢argo; for be avows his present abstinence from the trade to be the con-
sequence merély of wantofopportunity to dispose of Slaves.
The other chief traders on the river, more particularly William Lawrence

xoé Lightburn, are strong in professions of having altogether abandoned the
irade, with a determination not to return to it under any circumstances, but
to pursve the fair course of legitimate industry and commerce as planters and
general merchants. ‘Phey declare further, that they find their profits in this
conrse satisfactory and encouraging ; and they speak in high terms of the
tranquillity that they enjoy in being released from apprehension of the cruizers,
and in the consideration of being assured of the protection of the British arms.

These converts from the Slave Trade are, however, but newly entered on
this virtuous course, and no sectire reliance can be placed on their professions

ubless they are guarded from relapse, and from the temptations ofopportunity
for Slave Trade, by Frequent returns of British cruizers to the river. oO

William Lawrence, who resides at Doninge, at the entrance of the river,
has been recently at Sierra Leone. ee

\
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The objects of William Lawrenee’s visit to Sierra Leone were to recommend
himself to British protection, and to make arrangements for a regular com-
mercial intercourse with the Colony. He succeeded in both objects, which
necessarily implies a full assurance of his abandonment of the Slave Trade.

William Lawrence left Sierra Leone to return to his residence at Dominge
towards the end of August ; he carried with him a large stock of coffee plants
supplied from the Chief Justice’s farm, near FreeTown, at the request of Mr.
Macaulay. These plants were intended not for the use of Lawrence alone,
bat also for distribution to Lightburn and others, among whom Irving and
Sterne, of the Kissing branch of the river, were particularly named.
We have been induced to be minute aud particular in our account of the

cireumstances connected with the trade of the Rio Pongos, because the vicinity
of that river to the Colony of Sierra Leone, and the commercial intercourse
already established, give fair hopes of the speedy and complete eradication of
the Slave Trade from its banks.
A commencement would thus be made in the abolition of the Slave Trade

in the countries of the native Africans, which we regard as the only perfeet
abolition.
We have been favoured with some notes concerning the Rio Pongos, by

seseseyeees Who being recently stationed on medical duty at the Isles de
Loz, availed himself of an opportunity to visit the river, and passed some
days among the principal traders. ‘These notes are worthy of attention as
being collected from personal observation.
The Rio Pongos is in reality an cestuary from which many creeks branch

out, some of them communicating with the sea, others uniting with other
creeks, others penetrating further into the country, not, however, beyond
sixty miles, at the utmost, when they terminate, receiving small streams or
rivers. Upon these creeks the traders have their factories; and as these
traders are already numerous, and the places suitable for other trading esta-
blishments almost innumerable, the opportunities for good andforevil com-
merce cannot easily beequalled.
In the country between Sierra Leone and the Rio Pongos, dissentions and

disturbances have arisen from opposite pretensions to the succession to the
late King Mungo Demba. ‘The Chief of Foricaria has extended the
confusion by insisting, that all trade from the Foulah country shall pass
through that place. The people of this Chief hold one of the principal
towns on the path of Port Logo, by which a direct intercourse between
the Foulah country and Sierra Leone was lately established. That path is
now stopped.

In the middle division of the coast, between Sierra Leone and Cape Coast
Castle, much Slave Trade has been carried on. ‘The principal resort of these
traders.is the Rio Gallinas. The vessels employed in this trade have been
chiefly French; but some of ‘all the countries concerned in the trade have
been occasionally seen there. We have been informed that Krause, the
Master and part owner of the schooner Joseph, lately condemned in the
British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission, has a factory at the Gal-
linas, and has been for some years a constant Slave trader there. i

According to the information which we have received at various times from
individuals who had opportunity ofpersonal observation, or of communicatine
with those who had such cppertunities, the station of the Gallinas has
searcely at any time been free from Slave traders, and generally from three
te five vesselsmay be found there in search of Slaves. :
_In the range of coast southward from Cape Cvast Castie to the Equator,

which is the third division in the apportionment made in our former reports,
a remarkable change has taken place by the transfer.of the Portuguese Slave
Trade trom its recent favourite haunts in the Bight of Biafra to the Bight of.

Hm. .
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After the captnre of the Freneh and Spanish Slave ships in the river

Bonny, on the 7th of April, by the boats of His Majesty's ships Iphigenia

and Myrmidon, under the command of Lieutenant Mildmay, Captain Leeke

proceeded in the Myrmidon to examine the Calabar.

The Calabar was examined on the 27th and 28th of April by the hoats

of the Myrmidon and Iphigenia, under the command of Lieutenant Eniot.

The Portuguese schooner Defensora da Patria, having one hundred Slaves

on board, bound to Prince’s Island and Bahia, was taken by Lieutenaut

Elliot. The vessel being found not seaworthy was destroyed: the Slaves

were brought to Sierra Leone, and emancipated by. the British and Por-

tuguese Mixed Court. A French. vessel called La Tamise, of Marseilles,

belonging to Roagemont and Co. was in the river at the time, and had come

for a cargo of four hundred Slaves. She was boarded by Lieutenant Eliot,

who ascertained these facts from ber papers.

No other Slave-sbips had been in the Calabar during the four months pre-

ceding. This information Lieutenant Elliot received from the Masters of the

English vessels trading for palm oil. A tender belonging to one of those

vesseis arrived from the Cameroons a short time before Lieutenant Elliot

visited the Calabar: the information derived from the crew of the tender was

that no Slave-trading vessel had been in the Cameroons during the last five or

six months. In consequence of this information, Lieutenant Elliot did

not proceed to the Cameroons. That river was formerly a station of great
resort for the’Slave Trade.

Lieutenant Hagan visited the Calabar in the end of the month of June,

and learned that no Slave Trade had taken place in the interval since the

visit of the boats of the Iphigenia and Myrmidon, with the exception ef,

a shipment of thirty slaves on board of a very small vessel called the San

José Xalaca. This vessel put to sea with a short supply of provisions and

water, in the expectation of arriving speedily at Prince’s Island. The number

of Slaves was in the same expectation greatly overproportioned to her means of

accommodation. Contrary winds drove her unfortunately out of her course,

and, afier extreme suffering, she returned to Duke Epbraim’s Town at

Calabar. Ten of the negroes died of their sufferings, either on board or after

the return to the Calabar. The others were delivered up to Lieutenant

Hagan.and brought to Sierra Leone, with the exception of three, whose

exhausted state surpassed the humane efforts of Lieutenant Hagan for their

recovery. For the further detailsof this shocking case, we refer to the parti-

cular despatch respecting it. .
In the river Bonny no Slave-trading vessel had arrived since the capture of

the Vecua and Icanam by the boats of the Iphigenia and Myrmidon. The

Captain of the Vecua, and her crew, as well as the crews of the French

vessels taken at the same time, were still at King Peppel’s Town at Bonny,

no opportunity for their departure thence having oceurred.

Licutenant Hagan noticed as a happy result of the check given to the Stave

Trade in the rivers Bonny, Calabar, and Cameroons, the improved state of the —

legitimate commerce. The George Canning, a ship of seven hundred tens, from

Liverpool, come for palm oil, had completed her cargo in four months.
While the Slave Trade was in full vigour, this would have been a business of

nearly twelve months.
In the Bight of Benin, Lieutenant Hagan took the Portuguese brig Estrella,

having on board a cargo of Slaves. For the details of that case, we beg leave

to refer to the particular statement respecting it. We have only to ada here,
that the letter of instructions from the owner indicates an intention of taking

a number ofSlaves beyond the regular proportion to the tonnage of the vessel,

for each of which extraordinary slaves, an additioual freight was to be charged.

-. Lieutenant Hagan could have taken another vessel with a cargo of Slaves, if

the strength of bis crew had been sufficient to allow him to man two prizes
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with due regard to their security and that of the Thistle. He saw no less than.
nine vessels, under the Portugueseflag, all come for Slaves. He considered the
Portuguese Slave-traders to have transferred themselves eutirely to the Bight

of Benin from their former haunts in the Bight of Biafra. Lieutenant

-Hagan conceived that the motives of this change were, the depth of water

along the shore in the Bight of Benin and the vicinity of the Slave-trading
stations to the sea, by means of which the Slave-trading vessels are enabled to
get away rapidly on the approach ofa ship of war, and to attain a safe distance
ina short time, after they have taken advantage of a favourable opportunity to
“embark their slaves. a oo, _—

Inthe rivers of the Bightof Biafra, they had hoped that they would be in-
‘accessible to attack, or capable of resisting with success the attacks of boats.
But events have proved that they areaccessible, and that the attacks by boats
are not to be successfully resisted.by them, while they are disabled from escape
by flight, being so completely land-locked.
"We have had occasion to notice, particularly in our reports of many ofthe

cases brought before the British and Portuguese Courts of Mixed Commission,
the undue facilities given to the illegal traffick by those in authority at Prince’s
Isfand,. and the perversion of the liberty to call at that Island, and at Saint
Thomas’s, in voyages from Brazil, to the purposes of Slave Trade in the sta-
tions North of the Line. In the cases of the Defensora. da Patria, of the
Nymfa del Mar, and some others, the collusion to this illegal. purpose was
most foul and glaring, as the particular reports of those cases, and the parts of
the evidence especially noticed in those reports, will shew in a more decisive
manner. .

Thepapers of all vessels cleared outfrom the ports of Brazil for the coast of
Africa are perfectly regular. Ifthe destination be avowedly for the Coast,
North of the Equator, the objects of the voyage aredistinctlylimited to legal
eémmerce, with an express prohibition against meddling in any way with
Slave Trade. In the case of the Des de Fevreiro, these documents were
coupled withprivate letters of the same tenor, so numerous, so uniform, and
so strong, that nothing short of the positive proofs found, of her being actually
engaged in obtaining a cargo of Slaves, could efface the impression ofinnocent
‘and laudable commerce, made by the contents of these papers. Subsequent
cases of the same description, although without the same combination of
ptivate as well as public papers, have shewnthat papers of that description are
used as common means ofdeception.
The vessels that. clear out avowedly for the Slave Trade have: papers of

express destination to Molembo or Cabinda, South of the Line, soinetimes
with liberty adjoined to call at Prince’s Island, or at the Islandaf Saint
‘Thomas, the uniform abuse of which permission,for the purposeof inlet to the
Slave-trading stations North of the Line, has already been noticed.

~ Thegeneral practice of keeping the slaves on shore until the whole cargo’is
collected in readiness for embarkation, causes many vessels so engaged to be
left unmolested, and in the cases in which vessels found in such circumstances
have been detained, on the ground ofhavinghadone slave, or ‘more, actually
on board, for the purposes of the traffick, the proofs have been found in somé
instances deficient, as in the case of the Rosalia, Spanish schooner, taken in the
Rio Pongos, in January last, by His Majesty’s brig Thistle ; in some imper-
fect, as in the case of the Estrella, Spanish schooner, prize to His: Majesty’s
ship Morgiana, Captain ‘Knight, taken in the month of March off Trade
‘Town; in others very difficult, as in the Joseph, Spanish schooner prize
to the detachment from the Iphigenia, placed under Lieutenant Clarkson
-on board of the American schooner Augusta; the Des deFevreiro, Portuguese
‘brig, prize to His Majesty’s ship Iphigenia, Commodore Sir Robert Mends:
andthe Nymfa del Mar also prizeto theIphigenia, oe vot
_ifwe may.presume te recommendto Your Lordship the amendmentofany
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particular deficiencyin the existing Treaties, otherwise than in ourusual.man-
ner ofpresenting to vour Lordship’s notice the circumstances that furnish the
suggestion, we would entreat that, if vessels having Slave-trading outfitcannot,
—at least, this crying abuse of having ¢argoes of Slaves collected on shore

should, be made equivalent to having them on board, and that vessels in such

circumstances should be made liable to detention and condemnation.
With respect to the state of foreign co-operation, since the date ofourlast

report, we have to mention merely the appearance of the French corvette La

Diane offthis harbour; om Sunday the 17th of May. She eruized‘offand on -
during the whole of the day, but did not come in, nor communicate with any
of the small vessels or boats in the offing; and when the harbour-master

approaclied her in his boat, for the purpose ofoffering his services to bring
her in, she made all sail from him. No account has been received of her pro-

ceedings on the coast. oe
No vessel offorce belonging to the United States of America has appeared

on. the coast.
Wehave the honour to. be, &e.

(Signed) | EB. GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K.G:
&e, &e.Se.

 

(Inclosure in No. 5.)

Notes onthe Rio Pongos and its Slave-trading Factories:

- IN-compliance: with your request, 1 commit to paper the observationsthat I had oppertnnity.
ta make in my recent visit to the Rio Pongos, Lhad, for some time, hgen desirous to seethat, river,
and the extraordinary persons that reside on its banks On the 7thof May, I accompanied,
“Mr-+-——, who was going to the Factory ‘of Mr Lightburn,“One of the principal -resident
Meichants of that river, on a commercial. expedition, We sailed from Crawiord's, in the:

schooner belonging to Mr: .on the 7th, but as there was uot-any breeze, we made-so,
little way, that it was not until three P.M of the 8th, that we arrived off, the’ Bar.af ‘the Rie
Pongos” About eight o'clock in the evening of that day, we came to-an anchor, of .a plact
calledDominge, ‘situated on the left, a short distance within the Bar, where we went-on shore.

Mr.William, Laurence, the owner of this:place, received us very kindly, and we hadsome
interesting conversation with him. , .

In the course.of this conversation, Mr, Laurence informed us that he had finally teliiquished
the Slave Trade, as. he had fora considerable time found it auprofitable and datigerous, and was
subject to endless trouble and vexation in consequence of it. The situation of Dowinge is high,
and.apparently healthy, There are vot either hills or swamps in the isjmediate neigitbourhoed,
Yet the inhabitants are sometimes subject to intermittents,. / a
On the 9th; at 5A.M..we proceeded op the river, passing by Devil's Island, avhere it is

divided into twoprincipal branches, ©That which-we-fellowed, lies to‘ the deft in passing upwards :

its positian is to the northward and eastward; This’ branch is larger Chan the other, and -
possesses more advantages for commerce On our left, we saw the ruins of two_or three. deserted
factories, one of these had belonged to agentleman.of the medical profession (Dr. Botifear,) who,.
as we were informed,badmade aconsiderable fortane by the Slave Trade, and by his professional:
services to Slave Traders. He is said to. be naw living in-afflaence, in one of thé Foreign West
India Ishands.. ‘ uO oe
_ Gne-of the.others;had been.in the possesion.oftheCurtises whowere obliged to retire from this
part of theriverby the otherChiefs, iv consequence of the expedition from Sierra Leone, sent to
avenge the murder: of Mr. Inman, Masters Mate of His Majesty's brig-Thistle, and‘theseamen
of the: boat’s crew who accompanied him. Tliis expedition raised in the other Chiefs an appre~
hension of -being madé victims to the hostility excited by that barbarous. act of -the Curtises, and.
all. the members of iat family were compelled to withdraw fiom.the main braneh of the.river,
A little heyond,-on the saine side, is the factory of a trader named Puck > this also appears. to be
iit a state of decay. Be , an a
"After wehad passed these factories, we did: not see any thing remarkable notil we arrived-in,
front of Bangilan, the place of Ormond, of whichIwill speak-more particularly ‘hereafter,as
we did not at this time stop there,. —
OffBangalan:we left’ the schooner, which couldnot,conveniently proceed higher. up, id, conse>

  

 

 



Szerra Leonz. = (General) 1k

quence of the small depth of water: we went up the remainder of our way in a small boat. “The
panks on both sides are overgrown with mangrove swamps. ‘There are many creeks branching off
in every direction.

°

‘About seven miles aboveBangalan, we found. the factory of Mr. Lightburo, The position is to
the rightct Bangalan, ae you go upwards; itis on the same side of the River, and passengers

sometimes go fromone place to the other on foot, in the dry season, when thesmall creeks may
‘be passed. Lightburn’s factory stands on a rising ground, at a little distance from the river.

‘The house is enclosed in-a large square, surroundedby a mud wall, with loop. holes for musquetry.
‘We were received in a very kind and hospitable manner by Mr. Lightburn, who invited us.te

‘take up our quarters at his house during our stay in the river, He said to me ‘<I think I have
seen you before, Sir.” On being undeceived in this he said ‘‘Well, Sir, I have to tell you that
«¢-you_ are now among Slave-traders, and now, Sir, as you know all about it, you may make your-
€¢ self easy.”: Ithought this somewhat extraordinary ; but, as I was directed to do, 1 made my-.
self:easy,

” At dyaier the table was well supplied, but here. as at the.other places that we visited in the
stiver, we saw no wine but what we brought with us. Rum and water is the substitute in. the
family use of these persons, unless when the Slave ships supply them with some extraordinary
luxaviés. We dined in a large apartment, between sixty and eighty feet in length, one extremity
of ‘which was appropriated for our chamber at night. This great room was, as I conjécture, 2
igeneral lodging place in the time of the Slave Trade. I had. several conversations with Mr.
Lightburn on the-subject of the Slave Trade: he.always declared himself determined never again
to engage in that trade. He assured me that his trade in gold, ivory, black-cattle, andhorses, -had
jncreased very much, and he was confident of further increase, so as fully to make good any less
that he might have suffered by relinquishing the Slave Trade. He had, at this time, one:very fine
horse, which he valued atfifty pounds, besides others of Jess value. These he intended for the Sierra’
Leone market, more particularly the one valued at fifty pounds ; but he appeared rather to wish
‘that some person should come up to purchase hin, and to take the charge of conveying him down |
to Sierra Leone. Mr, Lightburn expressed a desire to become aplanter, either in his present
‘yeaidence, or.somewhere in the neighbourhood of Sierra Leone, Coffee, I-conetive; would-be
the best.article for.such a-plantation. Cotton also would probably be productive, While I was.
at Mr. Lightburn’s, I-understood that some Slaves ad been brought to him forsale, but that h
refused-to purchase them. ,

About two hundred yards above this place, the river terminates‘abruptly, recéiving a small
‘stream of very fine water, which rans from a chain of hills. aboutfourmiles distant. Thé
prospect fromthe top of these hills is very extensive. The Bar of tle Rio Pongos, the Sangareé
mountains and.the Isles de Loss may ‘be seen distinctly, as well as a long range of coast on both.
sides of the river. | ‘ : _
“The country -in the neighbourhood of these hills presents large patches of sand, interspersed

with irregular rocks of sand stone, whith, at a distance, resemble ruined buildings. Similar,
appearances are found in various places ‘on the banks-of the river, oO

The. abrupt termination of the river and the smallness of the stream that falls.into it, when:
compared with the extent into which it is spread out farther down, ‘and the number of creeks.
Dratiching out from it, shew that in the larger part it is rather an arm of the sea than:a river.
The Mangrove, with which it is surrounded, is found only where there is a mixture of salt water
with fresh water Qn descending to Mr. Ormond’s place, about seven miles lower down, the svater
Gs spread out into a very fine bason, but itis not deep. The anchorage evenfor vessels of &
moderate size is distant from the shore, and at low water there is a great extent of mud upa@n ‘the.
banks. Mr. Ormond’s factory, called Bangalan, is very large: The situation is commanding, but,
as it is aurrounded with thangrove swamps, and mud banks, it is-extremely unhealthy. ‘Phe factory:
is iuclosed ‘with a very high wall, built chiefly with mud. At regular intervals there.are round.
towers, two stories high, with two brass guns in each, “There are thirty-three guns moanted:in
‘the whole circuit of the walls. ‘Chere is'a kind of wharf, which is also builtprincipally.with mudp
and continued by mud-banks to some distance. I suppose that-the walls-and towers were intended.
asa defence against the country people, and to suppress insurrections among the Slaves,. who are
often very unruly when shut up in great numbers. in the Slave-trdding factories: © When theboats
-6f tlie Thistle lately visited-the place for the purpose of getting possession of the Slaves belonging
-to the:Spanish schooner Rosalia, no thought of resisting the demand occured to any body.

‘The person to. whom these Slaves belonged, named Francisco Freire, late Masterofthe Rosalia.
was still at Mr. Ormond’s, at whose house we dined in company with him, He appeared tobe’
inafeeble state of health, and conversed little even with hisSlave-trading friends ; probably he ~
felt a little shyness in consequerice:of our presence, We ‘were informed that he requires Ormond
to replace the Slaves. given up to Lieutenant Hagan. Noopportunity had offered for him to
leave the-River since the capture ofthe Rosalia by Lieutenant Hagan. Mr, Grmond told me
that be-had recently refused to purchase Slaves brought to him for sale, and that he. took only
such as he had previously paid for: thatis, the Slaves thae were due to him for goods given on
evedit to be paid for in Slaves. He, at the same time, avowed plainly his intention to resuine the
trade if favourable opportunities should offer. His reason for not purchasing Slaves at present
was, thathe should have the charge of maintaining them too long without a chance of getting rid
of them, as theMerchants of the the Havannah would not ventare to send their vessels into the
River for some time, in consequence of the recent captures. He was also apprehensive of exciting
usfavourable suspicions, and incurring unkind treatment from the ‘cruizers if he should be
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found collecting Slaves in any considerable namber. This man used no disguise-in respect to his
attachment to the Slave Trade.

Tt is said that Ormond has some thousands of attached Slaves, who are employedin cultivating,
in trade, and in other services, ‘They are called his people; and,-accerding to the custom of: the
country, they are not to he sold: but as they may be seized in payment for debts, and may be
given in payment, in cases of particular urgency, of which the master is himself the judge, they
are never secure from sale when a number of Slaves is wanted, at a short notice, to make‘up-a
cargo. I think the number of slaves belonging to Ormond must be overrated when thousands are at
all named; but they sav. five or six thousand. He has certainly the most considerable number,
Lightburn, also, is said to have thousands,

From Ormond's, we returned again ‘to Lightburn’s. We came back-to Ormond's on the 14th ;°
but nothing occurred worth mentioning. We sailed for Crawford's Island on the 15th ofMay, and
arrived on the 16th.
We did not visit the branch of the river which weleft on the right of Devil’s Island as-we went

up. It is less ‘considerable than. the other for facilities of trade and navigation, but I am inclined
te thiuk, that the fresh water stream is more considerable, and that it extends farther into the
country, The-termination of the other branch is not sixty miles from the Bar. On. this branch:
to the right of Devil’s Island as we entered, the Church Missionary Society had formerly an esta-
blishment at a place called Bashia. The river is sometimes called Bashia River. The principal
resident at present is Paul Faber, an American, Lightburn and Ormpnd have places of trade on
this branch also, which has communication with the other by some of! those creeks and channels
-which are so frequent. L
~ . The Curtises retain the settlement of their family cn this branch ; but their principal possessions
are at a place called Kissing River, which has a separate opening to the sea to the northward-of
the Rio Pongos. Bar; it communicates with the main branch of the river hetween Dominge,
William Laurence's place, and Devil’s Island. Two. traders, named Irving and Sterne, have fac-
tories in the Kissing branch. !
The Slave-trading vessels generally came to anchor in the bason in front of Ormond's factory.

at Bangalan, There they discharged, their Cargoes, and took on board their Slaves, which:were °
generally brought thither by the traders to be delivered to them,

No. 6.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to Mr. Secretary Canning,—(Received
. _ May 16th, 1823.)

Sir, Sierra Leone, December 7, 1822,

EARL BATHURST's letter ofthe 14th of August 1822, conveying the
intelligence of the lamented death of the Marquess of Londonderry, came to
-our hands by the same conveyance by which we had the honour to receive
his Lordship’s second letter, dated the 16th of September, anncuncing, that the
King had been graciously pleased to appoint the Right Honourable George
Canning to be His Majesty’s Principal Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs.
"We had the honour to receive, by the same opportunity, your letter, com-
municating the same appointment, with your desire that we should address
to you our despatches on public business, to which desire we shall have the
honour to conform. oO

- We have the honour to be, &e.
(Signed) E. GREGORY.

EDWARD FITZGERALD,
Lhe Right Hon. George Canning, a .

Se. =e.
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No. 7.

Messrs, Gregory and Fitegeraid to Mr. Seeretary Canning.—(Received
Moy 16th.) ;

‘Srey: Sierra Leone, January %., 1823.

IN obedience to the directions received by us under date of the 10th of

March. 1822, from the late Marquess of Londonderry, that we should

transmit at the beginning of each year, forthe purpose -of more convenient.

reference, a general abstract of our proceedings during the year just elapsed ;

we have the honour to inclose herewith abstracts* of the proceedings of the

past ‘year under the Mixed Commissions established in this Colony. —

The number.of cases adjudicated under the British and Spanish Commis-

sion in the year 1822 was six; they were all deemed tobe cases of condem-

nation, and the number of slaves emancipated was five hundred.

The numberofcases adjudicated under the British and Portuguese Com-

mission was eleven; they were also deemed to. be cases of condemnation,

and the number of slaves emancipated was one thousarid three hundred and

fifty-six. , “

There was only one case of adjudication and condemnation under the Bri-

tish and Netherlands Commission; one hundred and seventy-eight Slayes

were cmancipated: under that adjudication. . . .
We beg leave likewise to inclose, for your farther information, a‘ general

list of cases adjudicated under the Mixed Commiission to thisdate. You will
perceive, Sir, that the number of cases. adjudicated during thepast.year ig.

eighteen; the number of slaves emancipated, two thousand and thirty-four:

that the total number of cases adjudicated since the establisltment ofthe
Mixed Commissions is forty ; and that the total number ofSlaves emancipated

is three thousand’seven hundred and sixteen. © :
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) E, GREGORY. wo.
mS EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
&e. Re. . &e.

* The proceedings, of which abstracts were sent in this Letter, relate to the cases of the Spa-

nish vessels—Rosalia; Dichosa-Estrella, Joseph, Vecua, Icanam, and Josefa: —to the Portu-

guese vessels—Conde de Villa Flor, Des de Fevreiro, Esperanga, Lsperanga Feliz, Defensora da

Patria, Estrella, San Jose Xalagu, Nymfa do Mar, Commerctante, San Antonio de Lisboa, and

Juliana; and the Netherland vessel Aurora t—all of which will be found at length in other

letters from the Commissioners,



14 Srerra LEone. (General.)

Inclosure in No. 7.

List of Cases adjudged in the Courts of MixedCommission at Sierra Leone,
between the 1st ofJanuary 1822, and the 1st ofJanuary 1823.
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1823. 1823. .

Spanish

23 1 oe . 1 JRosalia.......++«| Schooner {Condemned} .. . .89 JTotal number of Slaves
ander a spe} . emancipated between
cial decree. June, 1819, and Jan.

[sty 1822.0 cee erevee 1,68
24 2 es =:@_ [Dichosa Estrella ...j oe Condemned! .. 29

25 3] os 3 Woseph...... e000) oe Condemned} — .. oe

26 44 ce A ]Vecun cesceseese os Condemned} .. | 217

27| 5 eo S& Heanam .eeccsoeasft os Condemned oe 12

28] 6 eo —G Nosefa ...cgenee . Condemned es 188. {500-

Portuguese

99| = 7] 04. 2 [Condede Villa Flor] Brigantine |Gondemned| im

$0 8 oe «=. @:« (Des de Ferreiro... Brig Condensed oo ., 10

3t 9 o & Bsperanga oceesee oe Condemned o 147

32 | “10 os  .4 [Esperanga Felix ..}- Polacea Coudemned oe 85 /

88. wt 4. .& |Defensora da Pa-| Sloop {Condemned oe 80.
i rere Tr ue

34-| 1? ae 6 JEstrella ...-005-) Brig) [Condemned a ‘| 292

35 13 es 7 jSan Joze Xalaga..}-Schooner [Condemned ee 17 |
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‘36. 144 .« «° 8 [Nymfa do Mar ...4 Schooner [Condemned oe 2

a7 { 15'| -.. 9 |Commerciante....{ Brig {Condemnéd] —-. 167 |

38 ~ 16 se 10 |SanAntonio de Lis- :
.  f boa se ceeeee ef Brigantine (Condemned)  ., 291

39 i7 eo. HH Juliana seesceeesef ee Condemned} ss 94 {1,856

Netherlands ,

40 18 es 1 {L’Aurore.....+..{ Schooner {Condemned{ .. 178 $178

{otal number of Staves
r emancipated  detween
Jay, Ist, 1922, and Jan,

Ist, 1823......00ece5 2,034

‘ffotal number of Slaves
_ emancipated — between
June 1819, and Jan.
“TRS NBAI ce cereeesers 8,716       
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No 8.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald, to the Marquess of Landonderry.—
(Received June 21st.) a

My Lorp, Sierra Leone, Mareh 18, 1822.

IMMEDIATELY on the receipt of your Lordship’s despatch of the 30th
ofOctober 1821, (received 29th of January 1822,) we proceeded to the fulfil-
ment of that part of your Lordship’s instructions intimating. that the Mixed
Courts should be considered as:open to all persons, whilst the Commissioners
should be engaged in the exercise of their judicial finctions,
The absence of the Commissioners of His CathiolickMajesty having left us at

liberty to act at once in the British and Spanish Mixed Court, aminute of
court was expedited on.the 30th of January, so. as to allow the opinions ther
repared for delivery, in the judgmentof the case of the Rosalia, detained by

Fi Majesty’s brig Thistle, Lieutenant Hagan, to be delivered in open court
on the ensuing day; and ‘these opinions were read in judgment in open court
accordingly on the 31st ofJanuary. ;
_ Acopy of the minute was affixed on one of the pillars in front of. the Court
House on the 30th. of January.
A communication announcingthe fact of the opening, together with the ap-

pointments of certain officers, whose attendance and services would be required
to give effect to the measure, was subsequently made to his Excelleney Go-
vernor Sir Charles MacCarthy, in a letter, acopyof which accompanies this,
together with a copy ofbis Excellency’s answer. a

n respect to the further part of your Lordship’s instruction, founded upon
the opinion of His Majesty’s law advisers, it is our intention to act in confor-
mity with the intimation therein conveyed, by abstaining from personal atten-
dance at the examinations of witnessed.

. We have the honour to be, &e.
(Signed) E. GREGORY.

EDWARD FITZGERALD.
The Marquess ofLondonderry, K. G.

Be O&e. &e.

 

(First Inclosure in No. 8.)

Six, Sierra Leone, February 1, 1822.
WE have the honour te inform your Excellency, that in pursuance of instructions received from

His Majesty's Government, having for their object to cause the Courts of Mixed (Commission e-ta-
blished in this Colony for the prevention of illegal Traffick in Slaves, to be open to all persons whenthe Comuiissioners are engaged in the exercise of their jadicial functions, theorder, of which a copis inclosed, was passed in the British ani Spanish Court, on Wednesday the 30th of January 1822.Some new arrangements and additional appointments of officers being necessary to the transat-tion of the business of the Court in au open state, we have the honour to communicate to yourExcellency, the following nominations, aad we beg leave to request that your Excellency will be
pleased to give such orders as may be necessary to secure to the persous named, the general assist-
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ance of His Majesty’s subjects in the performance of the duties with which they shall be respectively

charged, in virtue of their several offices.

MR. CHARLES BONETT, Marshal,

MR. RICHARD GROVE, Deputy-Marshal.

WILLIAM FORBES, Tipstaff.

ABRAHAM HAZELY, Court-keeper,
We have the honour to be, &c.

Sir Charles MacCarthy, (Signed) EDWARD GREGORY.

&e &e 6 &e, EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 8.)

Order of the Court.—Sierra Leone, January 30, 1822.

British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission, Sierra Leone.

Before Edward Gregory, Esquire, His Britannick Majesty’s Commissary Judge, ‘and. Edward

Fitzgerald, Esquire, His Britannick Mujesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, acting: in:the

absence of His Catholick Majesty’s Comunissionersy

Present: Mr. F. Sawyer, clerk to the Mixed. Commission, in the absence, through indispo-

sition, ofJames, Woods, Esquire, Acting Registrar.

Wednesday, January 30, 1822.

Oxverep.—That this Court shall henceforth be considered as open to: all persons, whren’ the

Commissioners are engaged ini the exercise of their judicial functions.

By the Court, (Signed) EF. SAWYER,

iu the absence of J. Woods, Acting Registrar.

 

(Third Inclosure.in.No. 8.)

- Governor MacCarthy, to the British. Commissioners.

‘Surg, Government House, Sierra.Leone, February 3d, 1822,

I: HAVE.the honour to acknowledgethe receipt of yourletter ofthe Ist instant, informing me

that in pursuanceof instructions received from His Majesty's Government, having for. their object to

cause the Court of Mixed Commission, established in this Colony, to be open to all persons when

the Commissioners are engaged in, the exercise of their judicial functions, youhad issued an order

to that effect, a copy of which was inclosed. SO

J have also'té-acknowledge your.communicatiowrelating to theadditional appointments.of officers,

whom youdeem necessary to the transaction of the business of the Court, and requesting of me

to give such orders as might be necessary to secure to those persons the general assistance ofHis

Majesty’s subjects, in the performance of the duties of their offices,

{ have the honour to staté, in answer to the Jatter part ofyour communication, that I have given

the necessary directions to have the appointments of the several officers named in your letter notified

in the Gazette, and that I will issue any further directions which may be required to secure to

those persons every assistance in the performance of their duties, — / :

I have the honour to be, &c,

Edward Gregory, and Edward Fitzgerald, Esgrs. (Signed)  C. MAC CARTHY.

 

No. 9.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received June 21.)

My Lorp, Sierra Leone, March 16, 1822.

THE name of one Massa, stated to be an inhabitant of the Isles de Loss, a

dependency.of this Colony, having been disclosed to the British and Spanish

Mixed Court, as the purchaser and_seller-of one of the Slaves interrogated in

the course of the examinations taken in the case of the Spanish schooner Ro-
salia, seized in the Rio Pongos by His Majesty’s brig Thistle, Lieutenant
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Hagan, commanding, we thought it our duty to communicate the fact so dis-
closed. to his Excellency Sir Charles Mac Carthy, in order that proper pro-

ceedings may be taken to bring the said Massa to justice. ; ;
“We have ‘the honour to inclose, for your Lordship’s information, copics of

the correspondence which took place on this occasion. .
According to subsequent intelligence the person named Massa had some

time before gone to reside on the continent of Africa, opposite to the Isles

de Luss. We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY. —

EDWARD FITZGERALD.
The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.

&e. &e. &e.,

  

(First Inclosure in No. 9.)

The British Commissioners to Governor MacCarthy.

Sir, Sierra Leone, January 25, 1§22.

HIS Majesty's Commissioners under the Treaties for preventing illicit Traffick in Slaves, beg
leave to call your Exceliency’s attention to a disclosure made yesterday, in the course of the inves-
tigation respecting the schooner Rosalia, detained and prosecuted by Lieutenant Lfagan, for a
breach of the Treaty: between Great Britain and Spain. It appears by the deposition of a Negro
named ‘Tom, now on board the schooner, that a person named Massa, now and for several years --
resident at the Isles de‘Loss, where he formerly acted as tradesman to the late Mr. Lee, purchased
chat Negro froma Slave trader, named George Anderson, resident at York Island, in the Sherbro’,
and subsequently sold him to a Slave dealer in the Rio Pongos, named Paul Lefevre, who sold
him to the Master of the Rosalia; both the last mentioned sales took place very recently. We
have the honour to inclose a copy of the deposition of the Negro, who has given this iuformation,
in order that your Excellency may direct-that proper proceedings should be taken.

We have the hovour to be, &e,
Brigr, Genl. Sir Charles MacCarthy, (Signed) E.GREGORY.

&e. Se. &e, EDWARD. FITZGERALD.
ee

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 9.)

Deposition of a Negro named Tom, of the Schooner Rosalia,

British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission, Sierra Leone.

Before E. Gregory, Esquire, His Britannick Majesty's Commissary Judge, and E. Fitz«
gerald, Esquire, His Britannick Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration, His Catholick
Majesty’s Commissioners being absent from the Colony. ~

Present Mr, F. Sawyer, Clerk to the Mixed Commission, (James Woods, Esquire, Acting
’ Registrar, being prevented from attending through sickness.) ‘

SCHOONER ROSALIA, /
‘Thursday, January 24, 1822,

EXAMINATION of Tom, a native of the Foy Country, near Cape Mount, a Negro belong-
ing to the said schooner, through the interpretation of Philip Gordon, being duly sworn, — ao

Saith, that he is the son of a King, named King Willy, he was taken prisoner in war and was
brought to York Island, and sold to George Anderson, who formerly belonged to Bance Island
factory, Anderson afterwards sold him.to Massa, who was formerlyhead trade man to Mr.Leigh,.
ef the Isles de Loss. He said he lived with Anderson, from the rising of the Plantain until it was
cat down, being about four months, and about eleven months with Massa at the Isles de Less.
He says that Massa took and sold him to Charley Puck, of the Rio Pongos, it is abont three
uzonths since, says, that Puck sold him afterwards to the Captain of the schooner of which hecame
in bere. Says, that the Master put him on board the schooner 3. he was put on board in John
-Ormond’s cance ; when he was going on board the irons belonging to. the factory were takea.o .
and on board he was tied with a rope ; the canoe which took him on board was rowed by Grmonks
Grumettas ; the Captain and ‘Charley Puck were in the canoe at the same time. ‘He does not .know the Captain’s name, but-would know him personally. The Captain remained behind in the
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Rio Pongos. €fe, the witness, remained-on board from that time, until the schooner was brought

down here. When the alarm was given-of the man of war’s appearance, two canoes were hurried
off with Slaves and those on board now were left behind. Massa who sold the Deponent resides

now on the Isles de Loss with his family. He does not know what Mr. Puck paid to Massa for

him, for immediately after being sold he was put in irons and placed iy the factory. He does not

know what the Master of the schooner paid for him in particular, but he saw Mr. Puck’s canoe come

twice from the schooner with goods to pay for Slaves, the goods were rum, tobacco, cloth, pow.

ier, guns, and cutlasses. Says, the schooner was lying in the Rio Pongos, about a mile and a
half below Ormond’s place, at the time of capture.

his his

(Signed) PHILIP GORDON x (Signed) TOM x
mark mak

  

(Third Inclosure in No. 9.)

Governor MacCarthy to the British Commissioners.

Sins, Government-House, Sierra Leone, January 1822.

1 HAD the honour of receiving your letter of yesterday's date, and its inclosure, and in return~

jng you my thanks for the information it conveys, I beg leave to inform you that I have this

day sent instructions to the Officer commanding at the Isles de Loss, to secure the person of

Massa, and to send him down for his trial. I bave further requested of him to ascertain, if pos-

sible, the name of the persons who accompanied Massa to the Rio Pongos, at the time the trans-

actions alluded to took place, and to send them to Sierra Leone.
I have the hononr to be, &c.

Edward Gregory and Edward Filzgerald, Esquires, (Signed) C. MAC CARTHY,

 

No. 10.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received June 21.)

My Lorn, Sierra Leone, March 17, 1822.

THE Spanish schooner Rosalia, detained on the 11th January 1822, in
the Rio Pongos, by His Majesty’s brig Thistle. Lieutenant Hagan, com-
manding, and brought to Sierra Leone for adjudication, was, on the 31st

January, condemned under special judgment, by the British Commissioners,

acting onbehalfof the King of Spain, as well as on behalf of His Majesty.
We have the honour to forward to your Lordship copies of the written

opinions delivered by us severally in open Court, in pronouncing judgment

upon the case of the Rosalia. These copies comprehend all the material
facts and cireumstances of the case. Although these opinions were’ by no

- means designed to invite further seizures by similar means under the like

circumstances, we have reason to think that a disposition of that kind is

likely to arise, or rather to be confirmed in consequence.
The deficiencies found in the provisions of the Treaties, as applicable, even

in the present extended construction resulting from the case of the St. Sal-
vador, only to cases of the “ actual embarkation of a Slave or Slaves for pur-

“« poses of the traffie during the current voyage,” excite inclinations to amend
those deficiencies by means of experimental seizures. The vessels so seized
may, it is supposed, be sent to take their chance of condemnation in the

Mixed Courts, with a full confidence that whatever may be the decision there,

the feelings of the British nation will be in favour of the captors, and hostile
to the traders in Slaves.

These experimental seizures can rarely be attended with satisfactory
decisions. .

_ The British Commissioners are not to be supposed to be animated by any

other feelings, in this respect, than those of the British nation ; but they are
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nd by the Treaties, under the obligation of a special oath, to“ judge

« faithfully, impartially, fairly, and without preference or favour, either for

claimants or captors, or any other persons,” and your Lordship’s instruc-

tions, “ to be careful not to lose sight of our judicial character, but uniformly

“ to endeavour to combine a fair and conscientious zeal for the prevention of

“ the illegal Traffick in Slaves, with the maintenance of the strictest justice
*? towards the parties concerned, and with the promoticn of a spirit of coa-
© ejliation and harmony between His Majesty’s subjects and those of His

+* Most Faithful Majesty.”
By the departure of both the Commissioners of His Catholick Majesty, the

British Commissioners are charged with the sole jurisdiction in the British
and Spanish Courts, and in each of the other two Mixed Courts they have
a majority of two voices to one. .
With whatever natural participation of British views, the British Com-

‘missioners cannot, in a fair sense of their duty, leave out of view the forcign
rights with which they are equally charged.

‘t'he distinction, in the general sense of their duty under the Treaties, be-
tween the Foreign and the British Commissioners was this:—The British
‘Commissioners, according to the established principles of their country,
regarding the Slave Trade as contrary to justice and humanity, were desirous
to emancipate slaves and to condemn the property of Slave dealers wherever
the Treaties. could be properly construed to enjoin or to permit them to do
so; on the other hand, the foreign Commissioners having been accustomed.
to regard the Slave Trade as a legitimate branch of commerce, highly bene-
ficial to the colonies of their respective countries, while they were prepared:
to fulfil the obligations of the Treaties in all cases clearly brought under the
provisions by which condemnation is enjoined, considered the respective.
Articles, in all other cases, as so many securities for the protection of the
property of their countrymen concerned. They were consequently, with
certain distinctions and degrees as to persons and cases, extremely averse from
admitting forfeiture to be incurred under circumstances in which any of these
restrictions appeared to afford a security against it.
The introduction of a practice of making experimental captures will neces-

sarily involve the Mixed Courts in the inconvenience of pressing instances
for condemnation in disregard of the restrictions, which condemnation the
foreign powers would conceive to be dictated by a partial consideration of the
English objects of the Treaties alone.
We intreat your Lordship’s attention to these observations, in the hope

that a concurrent understanding and practice may be maintained by the
Commanders of His Majesty’s cruizers, and the Judges of the Courts of
Mixed Commissions, either by obtaining for those courts a correspondin
extension of powers, or by holding the Commanders to the limitations and
restrictions of the Treaties as they now stand. .

We have the honour to be, &e.
(Signed) EK. GREGORY. ..

RDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G,
ee. &e. S00
7 od
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(First Inclosure in No. 16.)

Mr. Gregory's Opinion pronounced in Judgment, on Thursday the,3\st of
January 1822, on the Case of the. Spanish Schooner Rosalia, detained
by Lieutenant Hagan, commanding His Majesty's Brig Thistle, on the
11th of January 1822, on a chargé of Slave Trading in the Rio
Pongos. .

THIS case presents two points for the considerationofthe Commissioners.
The first is respecting the-nationality of. the vessel.
The second pointis in regard to the Negroes ‘stated to have been purchased for the Rosalia,

and as to whether the circumstances under which the Rosalia was sejzed by Lieutenant Hagan, '-
are within the meaning of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain, for the suppression of the
Slave Trade.
On the first point, the witnesses Robert Days, Juan Lopez, and Joaquim Jozé, part of the

-schooner’s original crew, depose that the Rosalia, was owned: by Don Jozé Soler, a residentofthe
Wavannah, and a Spanish subject; that-he was the person who hired them, with the other people
belonging to the schooner. They say, that the vessel sailed from the Havanpah under Portuguese
colours; and, they believe, with Portuguese papers. Three Portuguese flags and a Spanish

Ensign were on board. - To the 12th interrogatory, Days states; that he does not know whether
any bill.of sale was made.to the owner, but that Don Jozé Soler gaye two thousand dollars. for
the schooner, which was sold at publick auction, and that the two thoysand dollars were paid.
No papers were found on board of.the schooner by the Captor, nor was any document delivered

up to him by the Master of her, when required by Lieutenant Hagan. The Court, tlien, must

decide on the’nationality of the Rosalia, by a presumption of what her character was when she’
deft the Havannah. ; .

There are, I-think, sufficient grounds to presume that her character was Spanish.. A sale by
publick auction at the Havannab ; a purchase bya Spanish subject, must have effaced her previous
Portuguese character; her condition bemg changed, she could not have legally sailed with her
former Portuguése papers, and new ones she could not acquire atthe Havannah.

Besides the owner of the schooner, her Master, and first and second mates: were. Spaniards;
they are stated to have been hired by Soler subsequently to. his purchase of the schooner, there-
fore they must have embarked under the sole sanction of the Spanish Authorities.

Under these circumstances, ] presume that the character of the Rosalia is Spanish, and I, ac-
cordingly, consider. her as such.
On the second point, 1 am of opinion that the Negroes now on board should be considered as.

having been purchased:by Francisco Frere, who, after the death of the original Master, assumed
the command of the Rosalia, andtook upon himselfthe direction. of.her concerns.

‘It does not appear that the Negroes were actually delivered into Frere’s hands, but. it is beyond
doubt that they were considered-by.theSlave traders aspurchased by Frere, who,. for objects’of
convenience and of safety, chose that the Negroes. should remain in the custody of their former

Madstérswntil such time asthey could be sately embarked on board -his vessel, All the Negroes
who have been particularly examined, though they belonged todifferent Slave, dealers, depose that
tlieywere ‘sold to the Captain, or white man of the schooner ; . they all state that in exchange for
themselves, their.several Masters received yoods from John Ormond; that their goods came from
thé schooner. oe oo
‘The statcments of these Negroes are supported by the depositionsofMahommadoo, the inter-

preter; who explains that it is usual for vesselé coming to the Rio Pongos, to delivér the: whole of
their cargoes to Ormond, theprincipal headman of that river, who shares it among. the- minor

chiets, according’to the proportions in which they can ‘supply Slaves. Ormond guarantees the
paymentof the Slaves, ‘The Slaves now on board of the Rosalia were delivered over, to John
Ormond, when about to be embarked. oo, a

The purchase ofthe Slaves by: Frere being proved, it remains to be ascertained, first, whether
they were ever put on board of the Rosalia by the purchaser previous to the general embarkation
of the Negroes that took place yn the 11th of January; and, secondly, whether the embarkation
that took place on that. dayis to be considered as being within the meaning of the Treaty.
Five Negroes, of seven who have been examined, clearly and positively state that they, were

never on board of the schooner before they were placed in her by the captor. Two Negroes, Tom
and Quana, on their first examination, deposed as if they had been put on board previously to the
general embarkation on the 11th of January, but their deposition is opposed to the fact declared
by the Captor, thathe did not find. any Negro in the vessel when he first boarded her, and is in-
consistent. with their subsequent deposition, .

‘Quama, on his re-examination, states that he never was on board of the schooner before he was
sent with the other Negroes at the time that the brig of war came into the river ; he says that nq
white nian was. with ‘him in the canoe when he was conveyed on board; that Paul Lefevre,, who
sold him, was at his ‘town, whereas, he before stated that Paul Lefevre and some white men
belonging to the schooner were with him when he was taken on board. oe

The inconsistencies of Tom, the otherNegro, are still greater; on his re-examination he says,
that he was put on board of the schooner with many others ; that the schooner went towards the
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Sar of the tiver; thealarm beiag given of the approach of the brig of war, part of the women

and the children were put into a canoe towards the evening, and were sent on shore; that those

‘Negroes who remained on board were to’ have een conveyed out of the vessel the next morning,

‘put that, in the mean time, the man of war came’and seized the vessel and the Negroes who are

now on board. This is not the fact as stated by the Captor.

On being further examined, ‘om says, that be was put into a canoe, with others, to be carried

von board the schooner; that when they came alongside of the vessel, and on the approach of

the man of war, the canve was rowed to the shore; be was landed with the others and was con-

cealed; he says that he was afterwards put into John Ormand’s canoe, with the other black men,

aud sent on board of the schooner; that Charley Puck, who sold him, was at his town, and the

Captain of the schooner at Grmond’s town ; that no white man was with him in the canoe, when

ie was sent on board, when be, on his former examination, stated that both Puck and the Captain

avere with him, and-that he remained on board from that time to the present. The desire of

liberty, which is implanted in every human breast, may have given rise to tales which promised

freedors to their fabricators,
It not being proved that any Slaves were shipped on board of the Rosalia, previously tothe 1 ich

of January, we come uow to inquire whether the embarkation of the Negroes that took place at

that time is within the meaning of the Treaty; whether it forms a sufficient ground for Ure cou-

-deranation of the vessel. :

According to the tenth article of the Treaty, ‘no British or Spanish eruizer shall detain any

** Siave ship not having Slaves actually on board; and.in order to render lawful the detention of

‘any ship, whether British or Spanish, the Slaves found on board such vessel must have beeu

¢ brought there for the express purpose of the traffic.”

Lieutenant Hagan, in his ‘first declaration, dated the 17th of January, states, that he seized the

schooner onthe 11th of January, and that at the period of the seizure there were on board

sizty Slaves.
Tn a subsequent declaration ofthe 24th January, Lieutenant Hagan states, that he first boarded

the schooner on the 7th of January, but quitred her on the same day, andproceeded up the river ;

that on the 9th of January he placed part of his boat’s crew on board of the schooner, to -avoid

exposure to the night air; that from the 9th to the 11th he was engaged in arranging paiavers

with the Native Chiefs ; that he made an application through the Native Chiefs to the Master of

the Rosalia, requiring him to deliver up and send on beard of the schooncr, the Slaves. purchased

by him for her; that the Master did send on board sixty Slaves, who wereallembarked in the
sehooner previously to his (Lieutenant Hagan’s), going ou board and seizing her,

It is said that no.seizure was made of the schooner until the 11th; there existed no ground for

detention prior to that time, although it was notorious that those who were concerned in the

schooner were engaged in the Slave Trade, Betwixt the §th aud the Ilth, when some of the

Thistle’s men were on board, no seizure wes avowed.. The vessel remained protected by the
terms of the Treaty. _

But if no seizure was avowed betwixt the 9th and the.1 Ith, is it to be inferred that the schooner
aves absolutely in the possession of the original crew? I think not; but that she was, in some

degree, under the controul of Lieutenant Hagan. Juan Lopez, ‘in answer to the fifth interroga-
tory, says, ‘‘ the Captain of the brig caused the schooner to be got ready for sea; when the
« schooner was ready, the Captain brought the Negroes on board.”
_ ‘This statement, which has not been directly contradicted, establishes the idea that the vessel was
‘not in the entire possession of the original crew ;.it certainly leads tothe inference that a superior
power than fhey, controlled the management of the schooner.—Under these circumstancesthe
crew could not be answereble for facts done by a power foreign to the vessel ; less could the vessel
sufer for the acts of such a power.

In this state, whilst a part of the crew of the capturing ship was on board of the Rosalia, and
whilst her own crew were vot entirely at liberty, anuwber of Negroes were sent ‘to the schoover
and were received on board of her. .
‘he declaration already mentioned of Lieutenant Hagan, of the 24th of January, shews how

these Negroes came.on board; it shews that. they were sent to the schooner by her Waster on an
application made to him through the Native ‘Chiefs by Lieutenant Hagan.
. Does the embarkation of these Negroes come witbiu the meaning of the tenth Article of the
Treaty ? The object for which they were embarked will best resolve the question. .

It is evident that the object of the embarkation of the Negroes was, not that of disposing of
them by traffick, but, that of liberating them from their-chains, Humanity may rejoice when it
contemplates the restoration of these Africans to their homes, but justice must require that the’
intention of the Treaty should be complied with by all who act under its authority.

These Negroes were embarked “‘ in pusuance of a demand.or requisition conveyed to the Master”’
from the captor. .

Lieutenant Hagan stood in the situation of a guardian of the Treaty, the Master in that of pne
about to violate its enactments. Compliance on the part of the Master to deliver up the Negroes
° him, who was appointed to check his nefarioustrade, dees net warrant the conclusion, that
those unfortuuate beings were placed in the power of the seizor for the purpose of traffick ; on the.
contrary, such compliance authorises the conclusion, that the Master was compelled to deliver

them out of his possession in order to their being placed in a state of freedom.
_ Lieutenant Hagan says, that he did not assist’ personally in-the cmbarkation.of the Slaves, but
he was present at Jabn Ormond’s Town when the Slaves were exsbarked;—he furcher says, that
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they were all about tc be embarked in a canoe given for that purpose by Ormond; it was men-.

tioned to him that they could not all be conveyed in the canoe on board: of the schooner, without

considerable risk, and he offered one of the Thistle’s boats, in which sonie of the Negroes were sent

22 board of the schooner, They wese enibarked in, the boat belonging to the Thistle after the

canoe Was already sufficiently loaded. This evidence I consider decisive to authorize me-to say

that the Negrees were vot brought on board for the express purpose of the trafack,

The Thistle's boat under the eye of the commander of the Thistle, could uever be employed,

as it was not employed in fact, in the errand that.is within the meaning of the Treaty.

The fact of Slave-dealing being pursued.on shore, does not by ike ‘Treaty implicate a vessel in

the guilt of her crew. Itis required in order to her implication, that she should bave received

on board, for the purposes of trafiick, those who are the victims of injustice and of avatice5 it is

necessary that the Slaves purchased to be shipped in the vassel should huve heen placed on board

ot her; condemnation follows such an act when detected, but it does not take place without the

act has been committed.
The csse of the Portuguese schooner, San Salvador, gave rise to the construction which the

Fritish Government put upon the tenth Article of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain.

‘The construction was that ‘ if there should be clear and undeniable proof that a Slave or Slaves

“<had been, for the purpose of illegal traffick, pnt on board a vessel in the. particular voyage on

© which the vessel should be captured, then and on that account, according to the true intent aud

« sneaning of the stipulations of the Treaty, such vessel should be detained by the cruizers and

* Sually condenmed by the Commissioners.
The cases of *¢ La Caridad,” and ‘* La Neuva Virgen’ came, and were condemned, uncerthis

construction of the tenth-Article of the Treaty. In those cases, Slaves had been place on board

of the vessels by their crews, but had been removed by the crews from the vessels to the shore on

the approach of the capturing ship, whose commander ‘subsequently succeeded im rescuing’ the

Negroes from the clutches of the Slave traders. SO

“Jthink that the situation of the Rosalia is the same as that ja which she, was first found by

Lieutenant Hagan, where the Sieve trading pursuits of the Master on shore were known, yet the

vessel, by the tenor of the Treaty, coul: not be detained. I do not think that the case of the Rusa-

‘Jia comes within the meaning of the Treaty, and were there here present a representative of the

vessel to claim her, though it would be paintul that she should return into the possession of ber

Master, I should deem it my duty to order her vesti(ution, As, however, there is no one here to

claim ber nor to take charge cf her; as ‘she would perish through abandonment and belost. te all

parties, 1 think it right, with the view that the property in the vessel should be realized, to deliver

my opinion that she, the Rosalia, be condemned as prize to the Crowns of Great Britain and

Spain, The.emancipation of the Slaves fellows the condemmation of the vessel,

Sierra Leone, January 31, 1822. (Signed) E. GREGORY.

 

(Sécond Inclosure in No. 19.)

Opimon ofMr. Fitzgerald, HisBritannick Majesty Commissioner ofArbi-

tration, delivered in the British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission,
‘on Thursday, January31, 1822, im pronouncing Judgment on the Case

of the Spanish Schooner Rosalia, taken by His Britammnch Majesty's Brig

‘Thistle, Lieutenant Hagan, Commander, in the Rig Pongas, on the Vth

‘January 1822, and brought to serra Leone for Adjudication by the

‘Spanish Court of Mived Commission, on a chargeof being engaged in the
tHegal TrafickofSiaves.

THIS vessel is acknowledged and proved by the seamen of her crew, examined on the standing
interrogatories, to be the property: of Don José Soler, .a subject of the King of Spain, resident at

the Havanuah, she is, therefore, properly brought under the jurisdiction of the British and

Spanish Mixed Conrt, notwithstanding that it is asserted by the same seamen, that she was navie

vated under thePortuguese Gag, manned principally with Portuguese seamen,’ and furnished with

Portuguese papers. If these assertions were true, which is very doubtful, this would ouly. go to

estaplish @ mixtare of nationalcharacteristicks contrived to defraud the Treaties, but furnishing
the means of defeating itself, by rendering the case cugnizable under the ‘Treaties with Portugal,
2s well as under the Treaty with Spain, ,

Those seamen deny that any intention of trading for Slaves was contemplated in their engage-
ments with the Owner of the vessel. . The declared purpose of the voyage was to purchase gold.
and ivory at Bissao; the entry into the Rio Pongas is alleged to have been incidental to the con-
veyance of a family of liberated Negroes from tbe Havannab to that river, of the banks of which
they were. natives, The object: of the landing ef the cargo, and the’traffick carried on by the
mate, now acting as Master, are said to be wholly without the knowledge of these seamen, They
“profess themselves to he utterly ignorant of the nature of that traffick, — .

_ Feis barely possible thar these allegations sbould be true; and if true, they. may avail to the
personal immunity of the seamen; but, with reference td the ship, the acts of the. Master, as.she
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agent of the-Owner, must be biading, and the ship must abide the consequences. of thoseacts as
far as they extend. ; . ‘

Ta considering the question, whether this schoencr be lizble to condemnation under the Treaty
between Great Britain and Spain, much difficulty arises trom the peculiar circumstances of the
case. It is sufficiently proved, by the situation in which the vessel was found near the Slave fac-
tories in the Bio Pongas, by the landing cf the outward cargo, and by the actual purchase of a
number of Slaves under the direction of the Mate, who assumed the commaud on-the death of the
Master, that the object of the homeward voyage at least was to take away a cargo of Slaves.
Bat no Slave appears to have been put on board by the Raster, nor by the Mate, now acting as
Master, nor by any person acting on his behalf, nor on behalf of the ship, so as to constitute an

embarkation for the purposes of the traffick, as required by the Treaty, to warrant seizure and de-

tention; not one Slave was put on board until a genersl embarketion of the whole of the
Negroes recently on board was made at once, in conseguence of a demand, or requisition, from

the Commander of the capturing vessel, This is the concu ing effect of the testimeny of the
‘Captor and of the seamen of the schooner, and of that of the Negroes brought forward in the
first instance, as wel! as of those introduced by the Captor, in consequence of the order of Court
equiring further proof, first of an embarkatica for the trafick, and next of an actual purebase
‘and possession by the Master, or by the Mate, or by any person acting on behalf‘of the shi
Proof of the embarkation for the trafick would, of course, have precluded the necessity of proof

6f the purchase, which wes required merely for the purpose of ascertaining how far the actual
_ evidence would go, if it could not be carried to the very points specified in the ‘Treaty. ~ .

It appears further, that, on the. part of the Captor, the embarkation in the manner in which it
was carcied into effect was purposely contrived and managed, in order to establish ground for a

seizure, This seizure was not actually, or at least not avowedly, made until after the embarke-
tion, although the schooner was effectively in the power of the Captor for two days before. He
visited her on the 7th of Jenuary, but left her immediately again ; but, on the 9th, he returned
and placed some of his people on board for the convenience of cooking and for preservation of
their health, by relieving them from a part of the exposure which they must otherwise have to
undeigo. These are probably, with perfect correctness, given as the causes and motives of plac-
ing some of the capturing seamen on board of the Rosalia on the 9th of January. But what was
theeffect,—the remainder of the boat’s crew were at hand, the schooner could not possibly hare
escaped, and the Captor might have taken her at any moment he thought proper to declare her
seized. She was in fact already seized in every respect but in uame. The Thistle’s Quarter
Master, Jeremiah Cox, brought forward in further proof, says,“ the party, might have seized her, .
‘€ but Lieutenant Hagan told us not to touch a rope yarn belonging to her,”——and afterwards he
says, ‘* J had strict orders from Lieutenant Hagen to confine myself te my own duty until he
“should return; when Lieutenant Hagan came on board the schooner he gave me ordeys to go
** forward and to take care that not any of the crew or Slaves left the vessel, for he had then
*¢ taken possession of her as a prize.’
Two of the Negroes brought forward in further proof, named Tom and Quana, gave reason ia

their first examinations to believe that they had been put on board the schooner, beforethe generai
embarkation on the 11th January, by the Master of that vessel, or his agents and the Slave-dealers
of the river, but upon more particular investigation, by means of further interrogatories, it was
found that Quana had not been on board the schooner before the general embarkation on the | Ith,
and Tom, who was proved to have been embarked at the same time with Quana, gave such various
and inconsistent accounts as to raise stropg doubts of his veracity as well as of the accuracy of
the interpreter in his first examination. : : ,
The Captor himself in his supplementary evidence says, that the general embarkation, immedi-

ately previous to the seizure, was the only one of which he was aware. : ‘
The facts and circumstances actually proved as here enumerated, present a case altogether dis-

tinct from any before adjudged by the Courts of Mixed Commission. , a
In the case of the Portuguese schooner San Salvador, one Slave was proved to have been actu-

ally on board tor the purposes of the traffick, and to have been put out of. the captured vessel inte
a boat-on the approach of the Captors. The sufficiency ot this proof to constitute a breach of
the Treaties with Portugal, liable to condemnation, as declared byHis. Majesty’s: Commissioners in
their official report of that case. to His Majesty's Government, has since received the sanction of
the other Governments concerned in the Treaties. - ne

That approved construction is thus declared in the circular addressed to the foreign Courts,
_‘* that if there shall be clear and «undeniable proof that if. a Slave d¢ Slaves have been tor the |
‘€ purpose of illegal traffick put on board the vessel in the particular voyage on which the vessel
*€ shall be captured, then, and on that account, according to the true intent and meaning of the ©
‘stipulations of the ‘I'reaty, such vessel is to be detained by the cruizers, and condemned ‘by
** the Commissioners.”’ :
But in the present case there is not any sufficient proof that any one Slave has been‘on board

for the purposes of the traffick, until the general embarkation of the whole at the instance of the
Captor,who in the manner explained by himself, caused some ef.the Slaves to be conveyed on-
board in his own boat, the canoe which was provided for the conveyance of them, by the Slave.
dealer Ormond, being already overloaded.
Thecondemnation’ of the Spanish schooner Caridad and NuevaVirgen was decreed by the

‘British and Spanish Mixed Court in a great degree, if not altogether,jn conformity with the an-
proved construction in the case of the San Salvador. Thé Slaves taken on board these. vessels,
2ichough. embarked in consequence of-a requisition efthe cajitor, bad been all previously on beard;
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andhad heen re-landed, and the captor had not taken possession in any way, nor had he put any
men on board of the schooner until the Slaves were actually re-embarked in consequence of the
requisition, In that case, if the vessels had been brought away witiout the Slaves, they would
have been equally liable to condemnation on proof ef the previous embarkation and landing of tLe
Slaves, The re-embarkation of the Slaves was distinct from any act of prior eccupation, and,
although made in pursuance of a requisition from the captor, it was in consequence of the previous
embarkation, This the actual seizure had the foundation of the prior embarkation, as well as of

the actual presence of the Negrecs on board, before any entry was made. ‘The captors had net
taken any part in the shipment of the Negroes; they bad not meddled either with them or with
the vessels until they actually seized.

In the present case, there is sufficient proof of an intention to carry off Slaves, and of the
purchase of the Slaves nuw on board, for the purpose of embarking them and carrying them of;
but there is not any proof of the embarkation of any one Slave, otherwise than in the general
embarkation at the instance ot the captor. On the contrary, the supposition of any such prior
embarkation may be considered as distinctly disproved, The embarkation made at the instance of
the-captor, and with the assistance and participation of his boat, cannot be considered as the act
of the Master, who cannot be regarded as a free and voluntary agent in it; it must rather be
holden to be the act of the captor who issued his requisition, and personally took care to see it car-
ried into execution. / /
“How then does the case stand with respect to the vessel now under adjudication?. The illegal

proceeding upon which the ship should be forfeited if it had been committed by the Master is-only
‘commenced and pursued to a certain stage by him; at that stage the captor interferes to procure
the completion ; and it is consummated in the actual embarkation made at the instance of
the captor.
A gross abuse has been committed by the Master of the detained vessel; a gross fraud against

the Treaty was contemplated, and nearly brought to maturity. But can that abuse be punished by
the condemnation of the ship, if it has not been fully matured by the voluntary agency of those
concerned with the ship, to the state at which the condenmation is directed by the Treaty? Can
the captor take the charge of the remaining part of the itlegal work upon himself to finish it, o¢
to exact the finishing from those before concerned, giving bis own assistance so far as that as-
sistance was necessary? The circumstance of the assistance of the boat may seem casual and
uuimportant, but it is material in this view, that it certainly would uot have been given in aid of
an embarkation really designed for the traffick, or for the purposes of the Master as connected
with the traffick,

But’ can the captor be allowed, as.a public prosecutor, to complete the offence in order to Jay
ground fer the exaction and infliction of the penalty? Ido ‘not think that the captor can be
sanctioned in taking advantage of a wrong doing, which is in fact his own; or that the Mastet of
the schooner or his owners can be punished under the Treaty for a wrong doing which is not his,
nor theirs, in the full extent required by. the Treaty to incur condemnation. Could this ‘vessel
have been condemned if these Negroes had not been put on board, as the Caridad and the Neuva
Virgen might have been, on proof of the prior embarkation and re-landing? The idea of such a
condemnation could not for a moment be entertained. —Can a decree of condemnation pass upon
this embarkation made at the instance of the captor, so as to make him profit by the wrong which
he soust himself be holden to have done ?—for what a man does by others must be understood to
be done by himself. I do not think that such a courseiswarranted by the Treaty, or by any case
decided in conformity with the approved construction adopted uponthe report ot the case of the

_ San Salvador, nor by the instructions given by His Majesty's Government to. the British Com-
missioners in consequence, which instructions have since been sanctioned by the acquiescence of
the other Powers engaged in the Treaties.

The-absence ofthe Master, the concealment of the papers, or any other default of such nature,
cannot warrant condemnation when the examinations enjoined by the Treaty furnish evidence so
strong against the right to condemn.

In the course of these considerations ] have thought it right to rely principally upon the evidence
of the Negroes and of the captors themselves. The statements made by the seamen of the Ro-

salia respecting the assumption of the entire possession and command. of the vessel by the captors,
since the division of capturing seamen was placed on board on the 9th of January, would, if al-
lowed to have weight in the case, render it still stronger against the captors, as indicating an actual
seizure from the first entry.

‘On all the grounds that have been already recapitulated, I do conceive that if the Master-of-the
Rosalia was now before the Court as a claimant, and on behalf of the owner; or if he or any
person competent to represent the owner or to be entrusted with the vessel were present in the
colony to teke charge of her upon her release, it would be the duty of this Court to restore her, con-

necting with the judgment of restitution such «declarations of opinion upon the circumstances in
which she was found engaged in the traffick, as those circumstances would appear to require.

But this vessel stands before the Court at present without claimant ; without representative ;
without any body in connection with her that can be hetd authorized to receive her, or qualified
to take charge, or in any way fit to be entrusted with the management ordisposalof her, oa
behalf of the Master or of the owner.
‘This is a case in which, because all the parties are not properly before the Court, and because.

condemnation is not warranted by the Treaty, and further, because a restitution under: the ‘cir-
cumstances could not. be expected to prove beneficial or satisfactory,the probability of appealmust
be taken into contemplation ; and this raises the question, bow the Commissioners now sitting in
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judgment on this case can best prepare it to meet appeal, by making the fairest decision that the

circumstance in which the case.is placed before them will adwit.

If they cannot condenm the vessel, in conformity with the Treaty, are they therefore to abandon

her to her fate, or to throw her back to the Captor upon his responsibility: knowing, as they do

by the Treaty, that in the event of failure on his part, that responsibility becomes the responsi-

_ bility of bis Government.

Will they not act most conformably to their duty, and with the most assured regard to the in-

terests of justice, to the. interests of those who shall-ulcimately be held etititled, and to all the

interests in whatsoever.way concerned, by taking the necessary measuresto cause the property to

be disposed of to the best advantage, and to canse the proceeds to be preserved,so that they may

be forthcoming for the benefit of those whose right to them shall in the end be legally established,

awhether the owner shall make good a-claim upon appeal, or the Crown of Spaiu shall insist upon

forfeiture for the violation of national law, or the operation of the Treaty be extended to this kind

of coutravention, as well ds to those already under its recognized restraint. ‘The preservation of

the property to abide the results of the ulterior interests of justice, whatever they may prove to

be, appears the best view of the daty of the Commissioners, and this can be accomplished only by

‘condemnation,
I therefore think, thata condemnation ought to take place, not for the infringement of the

Treaty, but under-the special circumstance, in order to preserve the property, to auswer the ulti-

mate purposesofjustice, A specialdetailof the grounds and circumstances of the condemnation

anust accompany the statement of the case to the superior authoritiestowhom the Commissioners

care bound to report their decisions. .

In considering the case of the Slaves brought to this port on board of the Rosalia, the special

circumstances of the condemnation lead to a distinction between the rights and the duty of the

Court respecting them, and those rights which would result from’a formal condemuation for actual

infringement of the ‘Treaty.
In cases of condemnation for actual infringement of the Treaty the emancipation of the Ne-

groes is necessarily incidental, and is enjoined by the Treaty as a consecutive act.

In the present case the emancipation is not so much a matter of injunction by the Treaty as it

is a matter of propriety on general grounds. The Negroes could not well be emancipated inci-

dentally: to the condemnation of the vessel, when it is expressly said, that, according to the Treaty,

the vessel ought to be restored, if a claimant had presented himself; but on such a restoration

fhe Negroes could not be involved in a return to slavery, they could not be replaced as private

property in the hands of a private owner, prohibited by the laws of his country from acquiring or

holding them under. the.cirenmstances ‘adduced in evidence. Upon such a restoration of the

vessel, the Negroes must have been retained in this Colony, and it appears that it would have been

due to the Sovereigns concerned in the Treaty to give the fullest assuranre against the possibility

of their being employed otherwise than in the free service which the Treaty directs. This as-

‘surance can only be afforded by emancipation; the greands and the circumstances of that eman-

cipation, as well as those of the condemnation of the vessel, must be specially reported to the

higher authorities, :

 

No. 11.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Lecetved September ¥2.) LONaETTY.

My Lorp, - Sierra Leone; July24, 1822.

WE have the honour to forward to your Lordship an. abstract of the case of.
the schooner Dichosa Estreita, taken under Spanish colours, and brought for
adjudication by Captain Knight, of His Majesty’s ship Morgiana, under a
charge of trading for Slaves, in violation of the Treaty between Great Britain
and Spain, oo ,
.. There were on board this vessel French as well as Spanish papers.’ The.-
Master was a Frenchman, and the log-book was keptin the French language.
It is to be inferred, that there was an intentionto assume the Frenchnational.
character, if the presence of Freuch cruizers.on the coast, when the capture
took place, had not rendered such a scheme unavailing. Oneofthese cruizers
the brig L’Huron, visited this vessel while she lay off Trade Town, Pe
The particular point in this case, to which we would beg leave to attract

your Lordship’s notice, is the shipment.of certain Slaves belonzing to this
vessel,. in-consequence of certain communications from CaptainKnight to the:
Native Chief at Trade Town. ‘The statementgiven by Captain Knightofthe
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circumstances of this transaction, in the affidavit made by him in further proof,
will convey the best information of the matters of fact.
The Commanders of His Majesty’s cruizers justly consider it as a great

abuse that cargoes of Slaves should be collected on shore in readiness for em-
barkation, and that the vessel for which theyare collected should brave them
on the same station, and be considered not liable to capture and condemnation.

The Commissioners of the Mixed Courts, while they are sensible of the
grossness of the abuse, do not find themselves warranted to afford a remedy for it
by condemnation, unless proof can be given of the actual embarkation ofa
Slave for the purposes of traffick. What is considered warranted by the fair
interpretation of the Treaty, and by the analogy of corresponding practice in.
cases of contraband, is to hold the detention of vessels so found not liable te
demurrage or damages, when there is any reasonable ground of suspicion that
a Slave has been on board for the purposes of the traffick.

In cases in which the detention is founded upon ascertained illegal embark-
ation previously existing, we conceive that all proper means may be employed
to obtain the delivery of Slaves kept in depdt on shore for the vessel detained,
and that such Slaves when delivered up are to be emancipated in the regular
course of the judicial administration under the Treaties, In cases in which
such a delivery is obtained, without any proof of previously existing embark-
ation of a Slave for the traffick, we think the most appropriate course respecting
the Slaves is to pronounce a special decision, giving emancipation in order to
guarantee the freedom covenanted by the Treaties. There is no title to resti-.
tution in such cases, the Slaves having been illegally purchased ; and the ordi-
nary emancipation, according to the Treaties, cannot take placeon account of
the irregularity of the capture. We have to request your Lordship’s in-
structions on these points. a

‘ . We have the honour to be, &e.
(Signed) E. GREGORY.

= oo — EDWARD FITZGERALD,
Lhe Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.

C. . c.Se.

 

(First Inclosure in No. 11.)

Case of the Spanish Schooner Dichosa Estrella.

“THE schooner Dichosa Estrella, Domingo Larose, Master, sailing under Spanish colours, was
taken on the 17th of March 1822, by His Majesty’s ship Morgiana, Captain Knight, of Trade
Town, in lat. 5, 44 N. long. 9,50 W. .
This vessel had-on board. Spanish papers from Porto Rico, in which she was described as the

property of Don Santiago Rufane, of that place. There was a bill of sale of a vessel named Bor-
riguen Laura, to this Rufane, and it was stated that he had changed the name of Borriguen
Laura, to Dichosa Estrella,.. There was, however, a French pass from Martinique, evidently for
this vessel under the name of L’Heurense Etoile, she was described as the property of the Sieur
Morin, of Martinique, commanded by Mons, Larose. It appeared that ‘the name of L’Heureuse
Etoile was simply translated into the Spanish Dichosa Estrella, and that Mons. Larose still ree
tained the command under the Spanish designation of Don Domingo Larose, He kept: his loge
book in the French language, still calling her L’Heureuse Etoile, ‘
From this mixture of national characteristics it may be inferred, that it wasintended to make

this vessel’ pass for French, in the event ‘of falling in with British cruizers, ifthe scheme had not
been deranged by the presence of the French corvette La Diane, and:theFrench brig of war
LeHuron, on this pait of the coast. The Estrella had already been boarded by.a-Lientenant of
‘the Huron, and released after examination, as appears by an entry on the log-book,—(HI m’a largué
aprés m’avoir visité,) :
The Spanish characteristics attached to this vessel were fully sufficient to bring her under the

influence of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain for preventing illegal Slave Trade, and
‘under the jurisdiction of the British and Spanish Mixed Court. Oe

The Dicohsa Estrella had not any Slave on board at the time of capture, but she had a
cargo of Slavespurchased and ready for embarkation on the shore, collected fromthe differentSlave-trading stations in the vicinity of Trade Town, Grand Bassa, Petit Bassa, Grand Corron,&e.
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and some of the Slaves purchased at these places had been, according to information received hy

Captain Knight, conveyed from those places to Trade Town on board the Estrella. _

The vessel was detained in order to ascertain this fact, and a negociation was opened between -

Captain Knight and the Native Chief at Trade Town, for the purpose of obtaining the delivery of

the Slaves keptin depdt on shore. A number of those Slaves was sent off in consequence, and, of

these, four were put on board the schooner. Upon the embarkation of these four, the seizure and

prosecution were founded.
As this embarkation, exacted from a Native Chief, could not be considered as an embarkation for

the purposes of the traffick on the part of the Master of thevessel, the Court, according to the

judgment formed under circumstances of a similar embarkation in the preceding case of the Spanish

schooner Rosalia, taken in the Rio Pongos, by His Majesty’s brig Thistle, Lieutenant Hagan,

would have felt itself bound to decline passing a decree of condemnation, until proof should have

been given ofsome prior shipment of a Slave or Slaves for the traffick. A delay of judgment on

this ground did in fact take place at the request of the Agent for the Captors after the first hearing.
The vessel had been previously wrecked on the coast of Mesurado, on her way to the Colony.—

The natives had made an attack on the wreck, and carried off nine of the Slaves. The remainder,

twenty-five in number, had heen preserved from the rapacity of these barbarians, by the prompt

and gallant assistance of the inhabitants of the new American settlement at Mesnrado. The

Slaves thus rescued were brought to Sierra Leone in the American schooner Augusta, with the
prize Master, Mr, Maclean, midshipman of the Morgiana, and the rest of the prize crew.—Mr.

Maclean died on board the Augusta shortly after her arrival at Sierra Leone. The Master of the
Dichosa Estrella had gone on board a French vessel on the passage to Sierra Leone, before the.

shipwreck, and that vessel made sail immediately after and took him away, consequently there was

not any claim at that time.
On the arrival of Captain Knight, with the Morgiana, the Mate of the Dichosa Estrella pre-

sented himself as a claimant, but the Court did not consider the grounds of his application sufficient
to warrant his appearance in that character. .

The Court having considered such further evidence as Captain Knight was enabled to furnish,
and having seen a report from the Registrar, who, upon confronting the Slaves of the Estrella
with the seamen of that vessel, by order of the Judges, stated, that several of the said Negroes
pointed out one of the seamen, named José Rido, as the person who purchased them at Trade
“Town, and that the said Negroes appeared generally to recognize each other, as belonging to the
‘said schooner,

The Court was of opinion, that as the schooner Dichosa Estrella was no longer in existence,
having been wrecked on her passage to Sierra Leone, without any imputation of misconduct or
negligence on the part of the Captors, and as some deficiency remained with respect to proof of the
embarkation ofa Slave or Slaves for the traffick prior to the embarkation, exacted from or through
the Native Chief at Trade Town, (which deficiency, however, Captain Knight. was confident that
theshould be enabled to supply, if the ulterior destination of the Morgiana did not take him away
from the coast)—the judgment most appropriate to the circumstances of the case would be to de=
clare, that the Dichosa Estrella was justifiably and legally detained, so to bar any attempt to bring
actions against the Captors ; and that the Slaves belonging to her should be specially emancipated
in the same manner as the Slaves belonging to the Rosalia.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
- EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 11.)

Affidavit of Christopher Knight, Captain of His Majesty's Ship Morgiana,
en the Case of the Dichosa Estrella.

I, CHRISTOPHER KNIGHT, do hereby swear, that, on the 14th of March, 1822, I boarded
the Spanish schooner Dichosa Estrella, off Trade Town, and ordered her to keep company with
me, until I had obtained further information as to the truth of what. two natives had told me, who
came from Trade Town in their canoe. -

The story of the above men was, that the schooner had landed some Slaves at Trade Town, -
whom she had bought at other places, and that she had above one hundred, purchased and in:irons

on shore —-The Mate had come on board the ship at first with the papers; but in order to
make further enqniries, I. sent for the Master also.—As I intended to anchor at ‘Trade Town
for the night, and that was also the destination of the schooner, I gave the Master directions
to order his vessel to follow us there.—A tornado came on, which drove the ‘schooner far
to leeward, and the next day,-as the crew on board her did not seem to make the necessary
exertions to rejoin us, the Master (Larose) urgently requested me to send an Officer from
the Morgiana to bring her up. — I accordingly sent a Midshipman and. some men, with orders to
tell the Spaniards, that he came by their Muster’s wish to work her up to Trade Town. —It did not
suit my views at that time to. ran the Morgiana to leeward. I conceived it to be my duty to have'a
true statement from the King, or else more evidence from other of the natives than the first two
that had come. off. As the wind did not allow the ship to get close ia with Trade Town, until the
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46th, and my original informants persisted in their story, without the least prevarication,

J sent a boat on shore to demand the Slaves actually belonging to the Dichosa Estrella. — The

King instantly promised full compliance, and soon after sent off twenty-nine to’ the ship,

alledging as an excuse for not sending the remainder, that the people who bad bad charge of

them had fled into the woods on the near approach of the Morgiana, anq left the Slaves to them-

selves, who, in consequence, had fled also. — The King, however, said he would use every endea-

your to find them, aud send them off. At this time I had not fired a shot either at or near

the town.—When the schooner came up, and anchored near us, Ttold the Master not to conceive

that I had then captured his vessel, but that, as I had met him under such suspicious cir-

cumstances, ] was fully authorized to examine minutely into the affair.—The Master allowed

] was correct in so doing, and wanted to compromise for his safety, by the private offer to me of

having all the Slaves, and allowing him to make his escape with the schooner, After such

proposal, as the King had not sent any more Slaves off, I fired afew shots over the town, Soon

after ic was reported to me, that a canoe had come off with five Slaves, I immediately

ordered her away; but, in the mean time, one of the five had been put on board this ship;

T put that Slave with the other twenty-nine, and sent the canoe away with the other.

four. —I believe she pulled towards the schooner. — Soon after it was reported to me, that there

were four Slaves on board the schooner, J then sent an Officer to ber, who was qualified

to seize Slave-vessels, the Officer was the Masterof the Morgiana, At the same time, I told

the Master of the schooner (Larose) that I should send his vessel to Sierra Leone for

judgment, but that he was to go in her that he might defend his own cause. ,

The Supercargo had constant opportunities of secing me, had he chosen to have done

so: he did not appear.— A young man, who acted as Clerk to the Supercargo,came.of;

he declared in the presence of me, and nearly all the Officers, by means of an Interpreter,

that the Supercargo had purchased one hundred and ten Slaves for the schooner, 1 do

further swear, that the Master (Larose) did own to me that he wasa Frenchman, and it appears

by the two registers, that he had, until very lately, actually been employed under the flag

ot France. :

That the Master of a Spanish Slave- vessel should not be a native Spaniard, is in express contra-

diction of Avticle Fourth of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain. This Jast circumstance

would have induced me to send the schooner in, had I had no other plea against her, ,
(Signed) | ‘CHRISTOPHER KNIGHT,

ns _ Commander of H. M. S. Morgiana.

‘Taken and sworn, this 12th Day of June, in the Year

ofOur Lord, 1822, (being written on two sheets) bear

me, (Signed) D. W. Hamitron, Registrar.

 

No. 12.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received September 12.)

‘My Lorn, Sierra Leone, July 24, 1822.

THE case of the Spanish schooners Vecua and. Icanam, of which an

abstract is inclosed in this despatch, hasa newand painful characteristick

in the hostility and violence opposed by those. vessels to the boats of His

Majesty’s ships Iphigenia and Myrmidon, under the command of Lieutenant |
Mildmay of the Iphigenia, while these boats were proceeding towards them,
with colours displayed, in the full confidence of the peaceful exercise of the
legal right of visitation, according to the Treaty between His Majesty and the
King of Spain for preventing illegal traffick in Slaves.

This aggression, sufficiently atrocious in itself, was, we regret to state, ac-
companied and preceded by circumstances which greatly aggravated the cri-
‘minality of the parties concerned. Three French vessels, at anchor in the
same place, were induced to join their fire to that of the Spaniards, and two
British seamen were killed and five wounded in the conflict, which termi-
nated in the capture of the French vessels as well as of the Spanish.
‘These Spanish vessels were of large size, formidably manned and armed ;

‘purposely fitted out in order to carry into effect a determination of illegal
Slave Trade by force of arms.
The Officers and crews were pledged by special engagements, and further

by large benefits depending altogether upon the success of the enterprize, to
make every effort for the defence and assistance of the vessels and cargoes
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to the last extremity; the seamen were to yield a blind obedience to the
orders of the Captain without pretending to inquire into his designs. All
further claims were renounced in the event of the loss or capture of the
vessels. ; :

These articles of engagement are the same in both these vessels, and they
exhibit so distinctly and so forcibly the spirit of lawless violence in which
ihe expedition was fitted out and despatched, that we have thought it our
duty to send copies of them, annexed to the case, for your Lordship’s more
particular information. ' .

The passports of both these vessels, directed to objects of legitimate com-
merce, have a clause enjoining the Master to bear in mind the penalties at-
tached to the violation of the laws prohibiting the Slave Trade. These pass-.
ports, as well as the other papers of both ships, name Don Luis Mar-
tinez as sole owner of the vessels and cargoes. A seaman belonging to’
the Icanam, on the authority of the general conversation on board that
vessel, stated, that Don Antonio Frias was her sole owncr. But there is
among her papersa bill of sale transferring her from Frias toMartinez. We
are persuaded, however, that the outfit of two vessels of such magnitude, ou
such an enterprise, was a matter of too much cost and hazard to be the affair
of a single individual. Martinez was, we have no doubt, merely an ostensible
proprietor, taking upon himself the whole of the disgrace in the event of
defeat and capture, and screening more cautious participators, who would be
let into their respective shares of the advantage in the event of success. .
We trust that the signal defeat which has been sustained in this instance

will prevent a repetition of such criminal and desperate adventures.
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
&e. - &e. Se...

 

<<

{First Inclosure in No. 12.)

Cases of the Spanish Schooners Vecua and Icanam,

AS these vessels. were the property of the same owner, as they were fitted out together and
sailed together from the Havannak, us they were taken at the same time and broughtfor adjudica-
tion one ‘immediately after the other, the cases of both may, it appears, be most conveniently
blended in one statement. The facts and circumstances of both are the same in every respect,
with the exception of the loss of the Icanam, at Sea, by a tornado, on her way to Sierra Leone
for adjudication, by which calamitous event nearly all those who were on board perished,

 

a

TLE Veena, Don Vicente Gomez, Master, and the Tcanam, commanded by Don Antonio
Moreyra, two Spanish schooners of the largest class, were taken on the 15th of April in the
River Bonny, in lat. 4, 42 North, long. 7, 22 East, by the boats of His Majesty’s ships Iphi-
genia and Myrmidon, commanded by Lieutenant Mildmay, acting under orders from Commodore
Sir Robert Meuds.
The Vecua had on beard at the time of capture three hundred Slaves, cnd twenty-five more

were subsequently given up by the Native Chief of the place as belonging to her. |
‘The Icanam had on board three hundred and eighty Slaves.
These facts alone are sufficient to establish the charge of illicit Traffick in Slaves, contrary to the

Treaty between Great Britain and Spain.
Dut there are other facts and circumstances which greatly aggravate that violation, and ought,

therefore, not to be passed over without due animadversion.
‘These vessels were of great force and were tormidably prepared with every description ot “hos-

tle armament, ‘he Icanam had ten guns mounted, and acrew of forty-six men; she was,
moreover, amply provided with muskets, pistols, swords, and ammunition. The Vecua was
realy of equal strength, she carried ten guns, of which one was dismounted, and a crew of forty
men, supplied in the like manner, with smal] arms and ammunition, a
On the approach of the boats conveying the British detachment the hostile purpose of this.

armament was immediately disclosed. ‘Lhe Icanam and the Vecua, without shewing any colouts;
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‘opened a fre upon the beats of His Majesty's ships as. they advanced towards them. ‘Thrée

vessels under French colours, laying at anchor in the same-place, joined in this act of unwarrant-

able violence and hostility; the British boats having at the time their colours displayed and being

in progress to the exercise of the legal right of visiting the Spanish vessels, according to the pra-

“visions of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain.

This formidable opposition was overcome by the gallantry of the British detachments; and Ure“

vessels of the aggressors were taken with the loss of two men killed and five wounded on the

British side. .

The guilt of this lawless effusion of blood would be great if it arose only from an immediate

concert and combination of illegal Slave traders found on the scene of the transaction, But it ap-

pears this outrage was the consequence, not ouly of a previous arrangement with the immediate

co-operators, but also of an earlier design of criminal violence, interwoven with the original

outfit of the expedition from the Havannah, This design is exhibited in the fulness of its con-
templated atrocity by the papers found on board both the vessels,

Both these vessels, as the papers shew, were the property of Don Luis Martinez, of the

‘Havannah; a seaman of the Vecua, examined on the standing interrogatories, represents Deu

Autouto Frias, also of the Hevannah, to be the owner of that vessel; but there is among the

papers a bil! of sale from Frias to Martinez. a

" ‘There was among each set of papers a passport for a trading voyage to the Coast of Africa:
the same Oficer who authenticated these passports had endorsed on each -of them a note, declaring
-that the trade was to be ** For raw hides, oil, ivory, and other, objects of permitted commerce ;.

the Captain to bear in mind the penalties attached to the infringement of the prohibiden in-
posed by the first Article of the Royal Cedula, dated Madrid, the 17th December 1817, on the

purchase of Slaves in any place within the range of his destination.”

A particular clause in the articles of agreement, signed by the crew of each vessel, will shew
how little this prohibition was regarded.

These men bound themselves to throw all their chests and boxes oyerboard, as scon as they

should arrive on the coast; and further to give up the place assigned for their births im the forc-
castle, cantenting themselves to lodge wheresoever the Captain should direct.
These covenants could not have any other object in-view than that of an enlargement of space,

in order. to afford the most ample accousnodation for a cargo of Slaves,
There are other engagements which shew as distinctly a determination to employ every effort

to accomplish that Siave-trading purpose, by force of arms.
The articles of the Captain ot the Vecua with the owner, covenant fora salary ofan hundred

-dollars for every mouth, and eight per Cent. upon the gross proceeds of the return cargo; but
he agrees to abandon all claims in the event of the loss or capture of the vessel. .Hehad besides
-an interest of fourteen hundred dollars in the adventure; this share was to abide the general event
of the expedition, ‘The Mate of the same vessel was to receive sixty dollars a mouth, and one
-dollar for every pipe of oil,—meaning for every Slave; he also abandons all elaims in the event
ot Joss or capture. oo

- The seamen of both vessels were to receive, according to their several classes, thirty or twenty-
five, dollars a month each; they engaged to forego all claims in the event of loss or capture,
They further bind themselves to conform to the orders of the Captain, and to all other superior
Officers, aud on failure in this duty, to submit to all proper chastisement, the forfeiture of their
wages being the first penalty, and to yield av absolutely blind obedience in every thing that may
be ordered; and that may tend to the successful issue of the expedition, as well during the stay
on the Coast of Africa, as on ‘the return, defending and assisting the ship and the cargo with
their utmost efforts, even to the last extremity, following the instructions and orders of the Cap-
tain, without meddling to ascertain his designs.

These articles, while they hold forth extraordinary advantages to the Captain and other Officers,
and to the seamen also, upon the success of the voyage, make those interests altogether depen-
.dent apon that success, and thus pledge every one of them in his place to contend to the iast
extreniity against those coatingencies of capture or other loss, which would deprive them of their
promised benefits.

Under these engagements the vessels sailed together frem the Havannah, on the 24th of Octo-
ber 1821, but the Vecua having sprung aleak, buts put into Porto Rico on the 16th of Novenber,
and it appears, by # protest made there by Captain Gomez and his crew, that a letter of jnstruc-
tions given to Moreyra, of the Icanam, as commanding the vessel of superior force, directed that
.they should always keep in company one with the other. They sailed together from Porto Rico

- on the 27th November, and continued their voyage to Bonny, where they immediately engaged:
in the Slave Trade. : :

‘The engagements which have been recapitulated, and others of a similar.nature, -point directly
to the contingency of falling in with a British ship of war, cruizing under the authority of the
‘Treaties for preventing illicit Traffick in Slaves, It was expected, no doubt, that the powerful and
united strength of two vessels, so formidably manned and armed, and the determined and desperate
spirig with which that strength was to be brought into action, would deter or conquer any force
that could come against them, in the recesses of the Slave-trading haunt which they had selected.
But these hopes, and the designs connected with them, havehappily been frustrated by the
gallantry and determination of the capturing party. .
To this summary the Commissioners of the Mixed Court have to add their earnest hopes, that

theindividuals. concerned in the outfit of these Slave-trading .corsairs will not be siffered’ to
escape with impunity. , re “
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The judgement of the Mixed Court was, that the Vecua be condemned as lawful prize to
the British and Spanish Crowns, and that theSlavesbelonging to her be emancipated.

Sierra Leone, July 24, 1822, (Signed) E. GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

ms

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 12.)

(Translation,)

‘DON ‘VICENTE GOMEZ, Captain and Master ef the Vecua, Spariish schooner, and Don
Luis Martinez, owner of that vessel, have agreed as follows :

1, The former binds himself to discharge, with all punctuality, the duties annexed to the
above ofices, ani to try at all the ports on the Coast of Africa ‘to collect the cargo of the
sorts specified in his instructions ; he at the same time engages not to demand any pay whatso-
-ever'in case the vessel should be lost or taken, except his share of what may be saved.

2, The latter binds himself to. compensate the pains which the former takes in discharging the
functious of both these trusts with one hundred dollars a.-month, to be calculated from the day
of his setting sail, and eight per ceutum commission -on the proceeds of the sale of what may
-be imported into this harbour, ,

3. ‘The former binds himself to take out no venture on his private account, as the whole under-
taking is understoud to be on account of the freighter.
And that both of us may adhere to the above, we have-signed two copies of the same tenour,

binding ourselves, by every legal form, to abide by and execute what is ‘set forth in the present
agreement,

-Havannah, September 29, 1821. (Signed) ‘LUIS MARTINEZ,

 

(Third Inclosure.in No. 12.)

Translation.)

TRECDIVED from Don Vicente Gomez, the-sum of one theusand four handred dollars, inspecie, which just mentioned sum he-tenders on account of his share in the Vecuag Spanishschooner, commanded hy him, and fitted out for the Coast of Africa 3. 4t being understood thatthe said Don VicenteGomez is obliged to abide by the success or failure of the voyage to be“per‘ormed by the said schooner, conformably with the proportion accruing to him.of the expencesand the issue of the said adventure, in consideration of the above stated one thousand fourhundred dollars, which I place to his credit.

Havannah, October 10, 1821. .(Signed) LUIS MARTINEZ.
Dollars, 1,490. . ,

 

(fourth Inclosure in No. 12.3

.(Translation.)

DON JUAN JOSE DE LA ROSA, Boatswain of -the Vecna, Spanish sehooner, and DonLuis Martinez, freighter of the said vessel, have come to thefollowing agreement: ;1, The former binds-himself faithfully to serve as‘boatswain on board ‘the said vessel, and to-obey the orders of ———_, Master, iu whatever may tend to the success of the adventure,engaging to make no demand whatever if-she-should be lost ortaken, excepting his proportion ofwhat may be-saved.
2. He also binds himself, in case the superior officers should die, to discharge theirfunctions“without. any emolument. . . ee3. That Don Luis Martinez, to recompense him for:his trouble and employment, gives to Don-Juan José de Ja Rosa sixty.dollars per month, and one dollar for a pipe of. vinegar.And that both of us-may adhere to the above, we sign two copies of the same tenour, bindingourselves, by every legal form, to abide by and fulfil what is set forth in this agreement, it beingunierstood, that the wages just mentioned shall-not commence until the day that the vessel, shallset sail;. . : , oe
Havannah, September 27, 1821. (Signed) LUIS MARTINEZ,
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(Fifth Inelosure in No. 12.)

(Translation.)

DON VICENTE GOMEZ, Captain and Master of the Vecua,Spanish schooner, and Don

William Bogue, have come to the following agreement: —

L. That Don Vicente Gomez.affords the said Bogue a situation on board for the purpose of

whatever he may need, as well during his voyage out as on his return, paying’ to him for his

labour, at the return of the vessel, and when the cargo sbali be in safety, the sum of two thou-

sand two hundred and fifty dollars; and one hundred dollars per month from the day that the

vessel shall sct sail from'this port, and giving him here, before the departure, a month’s pay in

advance, on the express condition, that if the vessel be lost or captured he will claim nothing. —

2. That 1. Don William Bogue, will comply with all that is specified in the preceding article,

binding myself to fulfil, in every.respect, the directions of the Captain; and if I stiould fail in

discharging what is laid down in the present agreement nothing shal! be paid to: me; on the con-—

trary, 1 will be responsible for any damages anil prejudices that may be occasioned by ‘my reuiss-

ness,
.

And as we both have concurred in the above, we bind ourselves, by every legak form, to the

performance of the part belonging to each of us, to which end we haye sigued two copies of the

same tenour.
ne

Havannah, October 11, 1821. '- (Signed) ‘WILLIAM BOGUE.

 

(Sixth Inclosure in No. 12.)

(Translation.)

Veena, Don Vicente Gomez,

[canam, Anton Moreyra,Articles agreed to by the undersigned Crew of the

Master, Spanish Schooner. ,

1. THAT. cach of us seamen is to be credited for thirty dellars per month, and each of the

boys forfive.aird twenty.
_ 2, That we shall have.one month’s wages advanced to us. oe . -

3. That, as soon as we shall have quitted this port, our board is to consist of bread,flesh, meat,

and'soups; and one day in the week of salt cod or other salt fish, if it can be procured, and of a

pottlé atid ahalf uf brandy a day portionedeut to the meals of eich mess, corpse: of ten indi-

vidualg, it beiag -understood that if the spirits shonid be consumed previons to ‘our retary to this

port,thedefic: cy shall be made up to us in money, according to the price.at which. brandy may

salt atthe timeof orartival; but this shall not apply to coilee, which shall be served. out.to us

morning and evening until we shall reach the coast. .

4;That,ifthis vessel.he captured or lost, we shall have no claim, gither respecting: ‘our wages

er oh any. other accsunt, unless gome of the fragurents be saved, of which, on being-sold, the

proceeds shall be shared according te proportion. — / oo.

_§, That we bind ourselves scrupulously to discharge our duties, by paying obedience to all our

superiors; and that if'we should fail in so domg, or evince any disposition to” iransyress any of

the articles herein specified, we shall be compellable thereto, and liable tu-be corrected intie man-

ner we may deserve, more particularly by forfeiting our wages, together with any other-remu-

peration, imasmuch as our submission to the Master and the mates is to be absolutely implicit

relative to whatever we shall be enjoined, and what may tend to the success of ihevoyage, 28

- well during cnr stay on the Coast of “Africa, as while returning-thénce to this island like-

wise, that we will defend, and use the greatest efforts in standingby the vessel atid: cargo,

even to the last extremity, and will comply with the. directions and commends. of the said

Master, nor.will presume'tointerferein, or pry into, his designs.

6. ‘That on the day of on arrival on‘ ihe coast we will cheerfully throw overboardany franks

‘and chests which we may lavecdttied along with us, , :

7. That as soon as the lading begins to be taken. on board we will quic the forepart.of the

vessel tor any other birth which the Master, or, in-his absence. or disability, some other person,

may assign us to eccupy and sleep in. ,

‘8. That che moment thevessel shall have come to an anchor in any of the different places on

the coast to. which, according to circumstances, she may be'deéstined, we-will keep ‘watch; day

and night, until our return to this port without alleging weatiness-or any other plea. :

9, That in. case of illness we.shall have given up to us-the best accommodation that can be

found, without any distiiction orfevour, the same as though it were wanted for the Master.

40. That-from.the‘départtre. ofthe vessel out of this harbour to her return, two successive top-

mast watches shall be kept up; but in case we, the ship’s boys, by reason of sickness, or on

some other ground, should be insuflicient for the discharge of that ‘duty, the seamen shall be

obliged to fill up the vacancies which we are not capable of supplying,
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11. That we will give security for what we shall receive in advance before quitting this Island,

‘Jest a ship's company, consisting of men of character, such es the present individuals, should be

-abtruded upon by persons likely to injure our credit with the Master and the Mates.

And to the performance of all and each of the above articles we reciprocally bind ourselves, on

¢he one part Don Antonio Moreyra, and on the other the individuals who have signed their

names hereinafter, in order that we may at avy time be made to fulfil the duties which we are

‘taking on ourselves in the mode and form before stated; the said articles serving as a guidance

and rule for our conduct on‘all occasions; and we disavow, in the most effectual manner known,

all such laws as may favour and justify us in infringing the present agreement, to the end that we

ynay not hereafter be competent to put in any claim -contrary to its express tenour, and far less if

such claim should tend to the prejudice and disadvantage of the Master or the owners of the

xesscl, in which case we desire not to be attended to or admitted before any Court of Judicature,

declaring for the present, and for every time to come, that we alone shall be responsible and

‘able to punishment, and authorising to that-effect the Tribunal to which we shall make applica~

tion, and furthermore, that the said Tribunal shall impose upon us a fine of five hundred dollars,

avhich we fix as our penalty, the payment of which is:to be paramount to all other steps, be tke

proceedings instituted on the occasion of what nature they may.

Havannah, September 27, 1821.

Note. It is fully understood and agreed upon, that the wages shall not commence until the

day that the vessel shall pat to sea, an arrangement for that purpose having been made wick the

Master.
Signatures of Boys, Signatures of Seamen,

kk % RK KR K es * & £ kOe

 

No. 13.

Messrs.Gregory andFitzgerald tothe Marquess ofLondonderry.—(Received
February 14, 1823.) .

(Extraet.) Sierra Leone, dugust 15, 1822.

WE have the honour to lay before your Lordship the inclosed statement
of the case of the schooner Joseph. This vessel, under the mask of a. pre-

tended Swedish national character, was employed at the time of her capture
in carrying on the Slave Trade for the account of one Zachariah Atkins,
resident at Matanzas, in the Island of Cuba. This Atkins was also proved to
bepart owner of the schooner,

he decision of this case was attended with unusual delay and difficulty,
“arising principally from deficiency of evidence, and from contradictions in
the evidence actually produced in some of the most material points. No
person. could be found ‘to translate a paper in the Swedish language, alleged
by the Master and claimant to be a passport for free navigation, and certifi-
cate of registry, until the arrival of the Iphigenia from her cruize on the
Leeward Coast, when a Swedish seaman belonging to that ship gave a
translation, which shewed the paper te be merely a certificate of admea-
surement. «
This discovery, joined with some other circumstances, induced Mr.

Gregory to concur in the opinion previously declared by Mr. Fitzgerald
for the condemnation of the vessel, on his own view of the questionable .
paper, as well as-of the other evidence. _ .

In the course ef the protracted investigation which this case underwent, it
assumed differént appearances at different periods. At one time it seemed
to be the case of a vessel really Swedish, carrying on the Slave Fradé for
the account of a subject of His Catholick Majesty. -

. (Signed)- Eb. GREGORY. a
EDWARD FITZGERALD. |
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(Inclosure in No. 13-)

Abstract of the Case of the Schooner Joseph, Krause, Master.

THIS vessel wasprosecuted in-the British and Spanish Mixed Court, in consequence of a

suggestion of the Judge of the Court of Vice Admiralty, in which Court proceedings werefirst

instituted against heron the ground .of British ownership, and of several alleged violations of

British law. These allegations the Judge in that Court held not to be sustained, but as the

vessel had been &tted out for the present voyage at Matanzas, in the Island of Cuba, with cir- -

cumstances manifesting an intention ‘of carrying off a cargo of Saves from the coast, and as ic

appeared, that she had. actually been engaged in trading for Slaves, aud that a cargo of Slaves

was in readiness to be embarked on board of. her at, the time when she was taken, he considered

that there was sufficient presumptive evidence of Slave Trade, in violation of the Treaty between _

Great Britain and Spain, to warrant the institution of proceedings in the British and Spanish

Mixed Court, in order that the real character of the case ‘and its connections may be elicited by:

the strict scratiny of the standing interrogatoties.

Proceedings were accordingly taken in the British and Spanish Coart.

The schooner Joseph was detained oa the 26th of February 1922, at the Gallinas, in lat.—by

Lieutenant Clarksoti, of His Majesty’s ship Iphigenia, and a detachment,of seamen despatched

by Commodore Sir Robert Mends, on board the American schooner’ Augusta, in searelr of

illegal Slave-traders,
,

The Master of the Joseph, who also declared himself sole owner, professed himself to be a

: subject of the King of Sweden, and his vessel to be 2 Swedish vessel registered at the Swedish

Island of Saint Bartholomew, inthe West Indies, and navigated under the Swedish flag. - But it.

appeared, by the papers found on board, that she was fitted out on this voyage at Matanzas, in

the Island of Cuba, for the purpose of takinga.cargo.of Slaves from the coast, and that the out-

ward eargo was put on board at that piace by one Zachariah Atkins. The log-book, and the

ordinary papers of the ship’s business, as well ag the private papers of the Master, and of the

Mate, were in the.Euglish language. “Phere was.a Spanish. clearance. from Matanzas, describing

the vessel as Swedish, and naming Kranse as the Master. ‘This paper stated, that the goods of

the outward cargo were shipped by Atkins, as consignee of the vessel, for the account and risque

ot the Master. There were two papers, dated at Saint Bartholomew, the 15th of July 1819;

sone.of these was, in the English. language, end was attested, by a note at the botrem, to-be a true

copy of the corresponding original oath rematuing at the Justiciary’s Office in that Island. It

-was.an oath. of the. Muster, Krause, declaring himself to be. sole owner. ot. the schooner Joseph,

_and.pledging-bim, in.the event of any sale or transfer of the vessel, to retain and return to. the

Justiciary’s Office in that Island the passport obtained for her, so 4s to prevent use thereof.

being made byany other person than the said Johan Krause. , , |

‘There. was not.any. Slave'on board at the time of seizure, but a note written by the Master on

shiore. at. the Gallinas, ta theMate cn board, mentioned, that they had begun to send him-some

Slaves, and that he hoped to be ready on the 25th. This was the day, preceding the capture..

A claim was.given, by Krause, in which-he stated himself to beMaster and ownerofthe vessel;

a subject of the King of Sweden, and an inhabitant oftlie Island of Saint Bartholomew. In an

affidavit. annexed:to'the:claim, he-sware, that he was not engagedin the unlawful Traffick in Slaxess

the,same affidavit states, that the King.ofSweden was not a party: to the Treaties. of Mixed Come.

mission; and, therefore, thedetention of the said Swedish schooner Joseph,was unlawful..

‘Ju his examinationon the standing interrogatories,’ Krause declared himself Master and’ sole

‘owner of the vessel ‘andcargo, that he wasa subject of the King of ‘Sweden, that his -vessel «was

“navigated. under.the: Swedish flag; and that he had not engaged in. Slave Trade, = | -

One of the seamen-of the Joseph, named MichaelRoddy, called.Zachariah Atkins, of -Matan-

zag, aspart owner,of the vessel, and, owner of the whole of. the cargo; he believed this, because

he had heard Mr. Atkins say so. ‘ ‘This man ‘swore also, that seven men Slaves and one woman

Slave had been taken on board the Joseph at the Island of Bulola, but had been landed’again

throngh fear that’ some. of the-men of wat might comeand,find them: op board. ,

Krause‘acknowledged the, fagt. of this.shipment and relanding,“but explained.it by stating, that.

he kept.these Slaves for the accommodation of a person of the place, named, JackSimpson, whose.

remises were crowded, ~ oe o . oe

Others of the seamen, examined in the cause, declared themselves.unable:to explain this ship-

ment and-relanding:; they were:also unable..to. give any information-respectingtheownership of
the vessel, or her cargo, | : .
‘No translationof the Swedish paper. could be,obtained. |

On the 17th of May, the cause came on for judgment,
Mr, Gregory, considering the fact; that ‘the -Joseph' wascleared out bythe Spattish.Custdm:

- House; at Matanzas; -as.a Swedish. vegsel, that she was go cleared out upon the anthority of the

papers, before the- Court, considering that it did not appear -that Atkins interfered directly, or

indirectly, with the vessel’ or her crew, and, on other grounds also, regarding the Joseph asa

Swedish vessel, was of opinion, that ‘she was not liable to the operation of the Treaty between’

Great Britain‘aidSpain for’preventing illegal Slave ‘Trade.
Mr. Gregory, in ‘the’ course-of the observations, made by him upon some of the arguments of .
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the Proctor for the Captors, and upon the case generaily, expressed an opinion that Foreign vessels,

that is, vessels not subject to the Powers, parties to the Treaty, could not be adjudicated under the

‘Treaty betwixt Great Britain and Spain, which he thought solely ‘aiithorized the visit, detention

and adjudication of British and Spanish vessels. Mr. Gregory further entertained the idea that the
British and Spanish Court of Mixed Commission could not exercise a jurisdiction, over, cr proceed

to the adjudication of Spanish or British property that might be on board of such Foreign vessels.

Tir support of his opinion, Mr. Gregory referred to the different Slive Trade restriction Treaties,

which only allowed to Great Britain a very qualified right of search over Spanish, Portuguese, aud

Netherlands vessels: to the late Act of Parliament granting bounties to captors of Slave vessels

ofsuch Nations; and to the case of the French vessel. Le Louis, that was decided in the year

1817, by the Judge of. the High Court of Admiralty in England. a .

“Mr. Fitagerald’s opinion was, that, according to the third clause of the fifth arti¢le of the

‘Treaty between Great Britain and Spain, Slave Trade carried on for Spanish account, under any
flag whatsdevér, was subject to the operations of the Treaty, and that vessels so trading might be:

visited and detained accordingly, But in the present case, regardingthe Swedish paper, from its.

aspect, ant! such examination as he could give to it, merely as a paper of measurement, and con-

sidering the evidence of Roddy as more credible and better sustained than that of Krause, he

liekt it to be proved, tliat Zachatiah Atkins, of Matanzas, wes part-owner of the schooner

Joseph, as well as sole owner of her cargo: his impression was also, that the embarkation of the

eight Slaves taken on board at Bulola was for the purpose of the traffick. He, therefore,

thought that the vessel, and any part of the cargo that might be. remaining on board, should be

cotidemned as lawfit prize to’ the Crowns of Great Britain and of Spain. ;

_ His Majesty's Commissioners,thus differing in opition, left nv means untried to lead them to a

better and more aumiform understanding, but neither thee additional evidence. obtained, nor the

repeated conferences upon the questionable points, led to any decisive result. No person compe-.

tent to translate ‘the Swedish paper could be found until the arrival of His Majesty’s ship

*phigenia, from the craizé-to the Southward. A Swedish Seaman on buard of that vessel having

arnished a‘translitioni, which sheéwed that paper to be merelyapaper of measurement, Mr.
jregory reconsidered the case, andfinallyconcurred with Mr. Fitzgerald in a judgment of con-
lempation against the schooner Joseph, / oo a

‘(Signed E,GREGORY. |
EDWARD FITZGERALD,

No. 14.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

GuwrLemMENy Foreign Office, September 25, 1822.

I-HAVEto acknowledge thereceipt ofyour despatch ofthe 17th ofMarch.

1822, (Spain), stating the condemnationby you of the Spanish schooner
Rosalia, aud inclosing your respective opinions on the case of that vessel.

This case has received the serious consideration of His Majesty’sGovern-
ment, and, with reference to the probability intimatedby you, that a dispo-
sition to make captures-in similar: cases is likely to arise from the judgment
you havepronounced on the Rosalia, I hasten to press upon your attention
the following observations: —
The Treaty. with Spain, under which you act, had limited the forfeiture of

the property to ships having Slaves actually on board for illegal trade at the
tine of capture; and the subsequent extension of that provisionofthe Treaty
to the case of a shiphaving had a Slave or Slaves on board of her for ijlegal .
trade-at_ any time during the yoyage on which she was detained, while it
enables you to act up to that extension; strictly limits the propriety of con-
demnation to the cases which may come under that ‘extended provision.

On-no other grounds than on those statedin theTreaty, or subsequently
agreed upon by the High Contracting Parties, coulda sentence of condem-
nation be with propriety passed uponthe vessel, .
Now, thé opinion given jointly by ‘you in the case of theRosilia, js, that

there was no ‘sufficient proof that any one Slave:had been on board for the
purposes of the traffick before the Captor boarded the.vessel ;- and that those.
Slaves who weresubsequently embarked, were: sent on board of the vessel
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from the shore at the instance of the Captor, who urged the Native Chicfs ts

this step, with a view to obtain a colourable pretext for her detention.

You both concur in the opinion, that, under these -circuaistances, the

vessel was illegally captured; and that if any ene competent to represent the

owner had been present, it would have been the duty of your Court to orde:

her restitution. —_

It is with much concern, therefore, that I pereeive the conclusion to which

you have come, in ordering the condemnation of the vessel to theCrowns of

‘Great Britain and Spain; thus, in fact, going beyond the terms of the

‘Treaty, and sanctioning a capture, of which you very properly speakin ternas

of reprobation ; preventing the restitution of the vessel, or her value, unless
spon an appeal, and, if no appeal be made, perhaps entitling the Captors to

bounties, as if they had made a meritorious seizure.

Full justice is done bv His Majesty’s Government tothe expression of your

earnest desire to act up to your instructions, and to the character you hold as

Judges to administer justice between the Captors and the captured, “ strictly,

impartially, and ‘conscientiously ;” and due weight is given to the reasons

alledged by you for the condemnation; namely, ‘ that there might ‘thus

exist a legal custody of the vessel, and an authority for the conversion ofthe
“« property.” _ But the proceeding taken to obtain this end, I am sorry to

observe, is irregular. Under your, apprehension of what might happen in
deterioration to the property for want of legal custody, directions might more
properly have been given by the Court for sale of the vessel asperishable,
the procecds to be delivered to the Governor at the disposal of the Crown :—

but a sentence of condemnation, which, according to your own opinion, was

mot borne out by the evidence adduced, should, by all means, and at all

other hazards, have been avoided.—It was your particular duty, andI feel
confident you will never again lose sight of it, to decide conscientiously ac-
cording to the Treaty, and to rely on the wisdom of the Legislature to pro-
vide a remedy for the inconveniences that might result therefrom.

I have expressed myself thus plainly upon the subject, not from any doubt
of your proper feeling, but to guard you against similar errors in future, lest
the difficulties of your situation should lead you to do that, which, not being
pursvant.to the Treaty and Act of Parliament under which you are appointed,
may establisha precedent, encouraging British Officers to repeat a conduct
sé reprehensible, as that pursued in this instance by the Captor of the

Rosalia. Iam &e. a
L (Signed) .. GEORGE CANNING.

_ His. Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone. »

 

No. 15.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, September 25, 1822.

IN reference to your despatch of the 15th of December 1821, regarding

the abuse practised by the Colonial Authorities of Spain, in the renewal of the
Royal Licences formerly granted by the Spanish Government. for carrying

on the ‘Trathck in Slaves; 1 send to you, for your information, the translation
of a note, dated the 3d of June 1822, r-ceived by His Majesty’s Minister
at Madrid, from the Spanish Minister for Foreign Affairs;. by which you
will perceive, that His CatholickMajesty has sent out orders for preventing

a repetition ofsimilar abuses.
iam, &c.

- (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's Commissioners at Sterra Leone.
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No. 16.

Mr, Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, October 25, 1822.

I have received your despatch, dated the 24th. of July 1822, regarding

the detention of the Spanish schooner, Dichosa Estrella, in. which. the
attention of His Majesty’s Government is called to the peculiar circumstances -
attending the shipment of the Slaves on board of that vessel, subsequent to
her detention by His Majesty’s ship Morgiana. .
The case of this vessel so much resembles that of the Rosalia, upon which

_ I had to.convey to you the sentiments of His Majesty's Government in my
despatch of the 25th of September, that I have on the present occasion only
torefer you to that despatch, and to communicate to you, confidentially, the
copy of. a letter written under my directions to the Secretary to the
Admiralty upon that subject, so as to serve for a guide to you inasfar as
your judgments may have to bear upon the point in question, in future cases..
¥ also send you the answer which has been received at this Office from the
Admiralty. Tam, &c. .

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

fis Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

——

. (First Inclosure in No. 16.)

Joseph Planta,jun. Esq. to J. W. Croker, Esq.

{Confidential.)

Sr, . Foreign Office; Sept. 30; 1822.
’ IN reference to your letter of the 7th of March 1822, upon the subject of the ‘eapture of
the schooner Rosalia, by Lieutenant Hagan, of the gun-brig the Thistle; I. ami: directed by

_ Mr. Secretary Canning tosend to you, confidentially, for the information of the Lords Commissioners
“ofthe Admiralty, the copy of a despatch from His Majesty’s Commissioners at Sierra Leone, dated
March the 17th; and of one, which, by His Majesty’s command, Mr, Canning has addressed to
His Majesty's Commissioners at that Settlement, upon the subject in question’: aid Fam to re~

_ quest, through you, theirLordships’ attention to this instance of the.great misconception of the
powers given to the commanders of His Majesty’s ships, for enforcing the provisions of the Slave
‘Treaties, and to the mischiefs which may result therefrom, unless due caution be exercised by His
Majesty’s Officers engaged upon this service. a
_ There can be no doubt that Lieutenant Hagan transgressed thebounds of his duty, in making
himselfinstrumental to the shipping the Slaves, or the holding them in-captivity, for an instant,
though for the purposeofaffording au occasion of seizure : and their Lordships willfeel that, while
dt was the object-of-the ‘Eveaty to simplify the remedy against illegal Slave Trade, by the exclusion,
of looseand interested suspicions of the part of seizors, and thereby also to prevent cavils and
objections, and the dangei ofdisagreements between the two Governments, the objects of the

_ High Contracting Parties are likely to be defeated, by a conduct on- the part of His-Majesty’s
‘Officers, similar to that pursued in the present instance by Lieutenant Hagan. a

‘Under these circumstances, it will be for their Lordships to give such instructions as. they shall
think proper to the Officers under their controul, employed’to catry the Treaty into effect, with a
view to avoid these experimental seizures in future.

oo lam,&c. :
' Ja W. Croker, Esq. (Signed) / J. PLANTA, Jun.

&e. &e.. &e. Bo
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(Second Inclosure in No. 16.)

J. W. Croker, Esq. to Joseph Planta, jun. Esq.

Sir, Admiralty Office, October 15, 1822.

HAVING laid before my Lords Commissioners of. the Admiralty your confidential letter of the

30th of last month, with the papers which accompanied it, respecting the cirenmstances under

which the Spanish schooner Rosalia was detained on the 1}th of January last, in the Rio Pongas,

by Lieutenant Hagan, of His Majesty’s gun-brig Thistle; Iam commanded by my Lords to ac-
quaint you, for the information of Mr, Secretary Canning, that their Lordships have directed the
Officer commanding His Majesty’s squadron on the Coast of Africa, to convey to Lieutenant Hegan
their decided disapprobation of his conduct on the occasion alluded to; and to issue such instruc-
tions to the commanders of the several vessels under his orders, as may prevent the repetition of
such a proceeding. oo

And my Lords have stated the circumstances of the case to the Lords Commissioners of His Ma-

jesty’s Treasury, with a suggestion, whether there are not means to prevent Lieutenant Hagan’s

enjoying any advantage by his irregularity.
Tam, &c.

Joseph Planta, jun. Esq. (Signed) J. W. CROKER.
$e. &e 8 &e,

 

No. 17.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald toMr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
May 10th, 1823.)

Sir, Sierra Leone, Dec. 10th, 1822.

WE have the honour to inclose for your information an abstract of the
case of the Spanish Slave-trading schooner, Josefa, (ahas Maracayera,j
detained on the 19th of August 1822, off Bonny, in lat. 3 N., lon. 6, 35 E.,
by His Majesty’s ship Driver, Captain Wolrige.
The Josefa arrived at Sierra Leone on the 28th of September; and on

the 5th of October she was condemned as lawful prize to the crowns of
Great Britain and Spain, and the Slaves belonging to her were emancipated:
they were one hundred and eighty-three in number.
Any matters connected with this case that appeared worthy of particular

notice are made prominent in the abstract enclosed so as not to requite that
we should trouble you with the repetition of them here. It seems, however,
to be a mere ordinary case of Spanish illegal Slave Trade,

~ We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY.

, EDWARD FITZGERALD.
The Right Hon. George Canning,

ec. . &e. &e.

 

(Jnelosure in No. 17.)

Abstract of the Case of the Spanish Schooner Josera, (alias Maracayeta)
Joseph Moyano, Adaster. .

THE Spanish schooner Josefa, (alias Maracayera) Joseph Moyano, master and part owner, _
was taken on the 19th of August,off Bonny, in lat 3 N. long. 6, 35 East, by His Majesty's ship
Driver, ‘Captain ‘Wolrige. She bad on board at the time of capture two hundred and sixteen

aves, , :

The Josefa sailed from the Havannah, on the !6th of April, with papers for a voyage to the
- Coast of Africa, for objects of legitimate commerce; ivory and wax, gold-dust and.palm oil, are
mentioned among the articles for which the Master was to trade,
The passport is indorsed with an express prohibition against taking any slaves from the coast,

under the most severe penalties of the Royal Orders, and of the Articles of the Code.—This pass-
port had been originally issued to Juan Bautista Zavala, for a similar voyage, accompanied with
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similar conditions, on the 1Ith of August 1821. It was renewed in favour of the new Captain,

Joseph Moyano, by a note dated the 9th of April 1822.
Another schooner, named the Galga, left the Havannah in company with the Josefa, apparently

for the same destination ; but having become leaky soon after putting to sea, she was obliged to

make the best of her way for Charleston in order to repair. A cousiderable number of other vessels

sailed at the same time under convoy ofaFrench frigate, but it does not appear that any other

put.the Josefa and the Galga were destined for the Coast ot Africa. 2
The Josefa came in sight of the coasta little to the northward of Sierra Leone, on the 25th of

May: on the 26th and 27th, she was in sight of Sierta Leone. She passed on the following days
by the shoals of St. Anne: on the 31st of May she was off Cape Mount.
On the 4th of June she came to an anchorin Gallinas roads, where the Captain went on shore with

patterns of his goods, but not succeeding in his efforts to establish a trade, probably on account

of the full occupation of the market by a French brig and shooner, to which another schooner of

the same nation was added in a’day or two aftr, the Josefa sailed again on the 8th. Passing
down the coast, the Master landed again. at Grand Bassa, and subsequently at Trade Town, where
it was found, according to an entry in the log-book, impracticable to hold the trade. One or two
schooners, apparently Brench, were hovering off these places. From Trade Town, the Josefa ran
directly to Bonny, where she anchored on the 30th of Jume; arrangements for obtaining a cargo
ot Slaves were commenced on the first days of July, and coutinued until the sailing. On the 21st
of July, the boats of His Majesty’s shipDriver visited the Josefa, and Lieutenant Saumerer en-
dorsed a note of the visit on her principal papers. On the 17th of August, every thing wasin
readiness. On the morning of the 18th, the Slaves were embarked and the vessel saiJed. On the
same day she was seen and chased by the Driver, and was taken by that vessel on the morning of
the 19th. On the 28th of September, the Josefa arrivedin the harbour of Sierra Leone, and the
Marshal of the Courts of Mixed Commissioii visited lier in pursuance ofa general Order of the
Commissioners, made with a view to ascertain, at the earliest possible moment, the actual con-
dition of the negroes, in order that appropriate relief may be afforded without delay, in every in-
stance in which the state of these victims of unfeeling and criminal avarice should render such
¥élicf necessary.

Thereport of the Marshal gave the Court to understand; that the vessel had Jost thirty-two
Slaves in her passage to this port, and that of one hundred and ighty-three wlio teisained on
board, twenty-six were labouring under various disorders.

This report was immediately followed by an affidavit from the Prize Master, Mr. Lane, stating,
in addition to the circumstances mentioned in the Marsbal’s report, that the negroes were affected
-with that fatal desperation which so often impels Africans on board of Slave ships to throw them-
selves into the sea, and to adopt other means of scif-destruction. A petition for the immediate
danding was dispatched without delay. His Excellency, Governor MacCarthy, having on similar
information from the captors, given corresponding orders, the landing was carried into effect at
six o'clock on the ensuing morning, and very soon after that hour the negroes were conducted to
Regent Town, by settled residents of their country, whose conversation had already relieved them
from their terrors and put astop to their desperate designs of self-destruction. —

The Master of the Josefa had been, at his particular desire, allowed to leave the vessel and to go
‘to Prince’s Island, on account of the reduced state of bis health; the witnesses examined were
Juan de Sierra, the second Mate, and Joze de Zabala, the third Mate, both of whom declared that
the whole of the Slaves on board at the time of capture, were embarked at Bonny.
The facts of this case being so clearly in violation of the Treaty between Great Britain and Spain,

the Commissioners, without any remarks, adjudged the vessel to be condemned as a lawful prize to
the two Crowns, and the Slaves on board of her to be emancipated,
The Slaves on board the Josefa were all males, and with the exception ot a very few, all full

grown men, Mr. Gregory having questioned the second Mate concerning the causeofthis extra-
ordinary fact, the answer was that they were intended for the coffee plantations, for which males
‘were better adapted. .

The cause of not trading at Gallinas, was said to be the high price asked for the Slaves by the
Chief at that place.
Some seamen belonging to the Vecua and Icanam, taken by Commodore Sir Robert Mends,

chad embarked on board of the Josefa, for a passage to the Havannah, ‘They state that theFrench
-vessel left at Bonny by Sir Robert Mends sailed shortly after with a cargo of Slaves: another
‘French vessel arrived subsequently. No Spanish vessel had been at Bonny since the capture of
.the Vecua and Icanam, until the Josefa arrived there.

With reference to the short stay made by the Josefa, and her touching iu the same transient -
manner at all the Slave-trading stations along the coast as far as ‘Trade ‘fown, whence she ran for
-Bonny, Mr, Fitzgerald bas been informed by the traders of the Colony who resort to the Gallinas,
that Spanish Slave trading vessels do not remain at that or at the neighhouring stations unless they
can make arrangements to secure an immediate supply of Slaves. Their practice is to run along the -
coast, trying every place in succession, and not to remain stationary until they find a place where
they can be.suited. he Slave Traders conceive that they, in this manner, avoid the exposure to
the cruizers which must be incurred when the Slave Trading vessels remain off a Slave market of
slow andtedious influx from the country, and when they come to one where the factories are full,
they all calculate on getting clear off before they shall be discovered.

(Signed) E. GREGORY,
EDWARD FITZGERALD,
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No. 18.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone (and

those at the Havannah.)

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, May 16, 1823. —

IN reference toihe instructions conveyed to you by the late Marquess of

Londonderry in his despateh of February 19, 1819, inclosing copies of the

‘Treaty concluded at Madrid, September 23d 1817, for preventing illegal

Slave Trade; and, in reference to subsequent correspondence; regarding4

proposed extension of that Treaty, I now furnish you with ten copies of ¢er-

tain Articles, explanatory of, and additional to thatTreaty, which were signed

at Madrid on the 10th of December 1822, between the Plenipotentiartes

of His Majesty and of the King of the Spains, duly authorized tothat effect.

You will consider these Articles as binding upon you, for the guidance of

your.conduct, in giving effect to His Majesty’s intentions in regard to the

stipulations therein recorded.
Tam, &c. .

(Signed) GEORGE CANNING:.

His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone and the Havannah..
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No. 19.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to_ the Marquess of Londonderry—(Received July 21.)

My Lorp, . Sterra Leone, March 15, 1822..

WE have much satisfaction in being enabled to acquaint your Lordship, ©

that the instructions conveyed in your Lordship’s despatch of the 30th of.

October 1821, (received the 29th of January 1822), intimating, that the.

Mixed Courts should be considered as open to all persons, whilst the Com-

missioners are engaged in the exercise of their judicial functions, have been

fulfilled in the British and Portuguese, as well as in the British and Spanish.

Mixed Court. Oo . :

Although the absence of immediate judicial business rendered the duty less

pressing in the Portuguese Court, we lost no time in making the proper

communication on the subject to Mr. Altavilla, verbally in the first instance,

and subsequently by letter, of which we have the honour to inclose a copy.

Mr. Altavilla expressed a feeling of difficulty in consequence of having re-

ferred this point to his Government. — , ..

On receiving the duplicate of your Lordship’s letter of the 30thof October,
containing a postscript with reference to certain documents in the printed

correspondence, indicating dispositions on the part of the foreign Powers
engaged in the Mixed Commission Treaties to comply with the desires of
Great Britain on these heads,. we availed ourselves of the opportunity to

strengthen our representation to Mr. Altavilla by these authorities; and

when, on the 2d of March, the Portuguese schooner Conde de Villa Flor

was brought in for adjudication, we took the liberty to employ those instances

for immediate compliance with the object of your Lordship’s desires which
the occasion required.
Mr, Altavilla favoured us with the very satisfactory answer, a copy of

which accompanies this despatch.
A preparatorysitting’ was holden on the 5th of March, at which a Minute

of Court was passed declaring the gittings open; a copy of this Minute was
affixed in front of the Court, and an official notification was. made_to

Governor Sir Charles MacCarthy, a copy of which notification, with a copy
ofhis Excellency’s answer, we inclose. oe
In pursuance of these arrangements, the Registrar proceeded, with open

doors, to take the depositions in the case of the Conde de Villa Flor, on the -

6th of March, and following days; and on the 13th instant the opinions of
the Commissionersin the case were delivered in judgment in open Gourt.
We trust that the course pursued by us in these matters, will be approved

by your Lordship.
‘We have the honour to be, &e.

. (Signed) E. GREGORY.
a EDWARD FITZGERALD.

the Marquess of Londonderry, R..G.
&e. fe. &e
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(First Inclosure in No. 19.)

The British Commissioners.to the. Portuguese Commissioner.

Siz, Sierra Leone, February 1, 1822,

IN purstiance of instructions received from His Majesty's Government, having for their ob-
jeet to cause the Courts of Mixed Commission, established in this Colony for the prevention of
illegal ‘Traffich in Slaves, to be open to all persons when the Commissioners are engaged in the ex-~
ercise of their judicial functions, we have the honour to invite you to concur in an order
and declaration to that effect, in the instance of the British and Portuguese Court.
We, at the same time, have the honour to request your attentiou to pages 106, 134, and 161, of

the velume of printed papers. which-accompanies this, in which pages you will see the opinions of
your own Court, and those of the other Courts connected with the Mixer Commissions, decidedly
expressed, in coincidence with the wishes of His Britanuick Majesty's Government on this subject.

We have the honour to be. &c. /
J.Aliavilia, Esq. (Signed) E. GREGORY. .
&e. &e. &e. EDWARD FITZGERALD,

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 19.)

The Portuguese Commissioner to the British Commissioners.

(Extract) Sierra Leone. March 5, 1822,

MR. ALTAVILLA presents his complimentstoMessrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald, and, in answer
to their note, begs leave to state, that he deterred answering their communication, in the hope of re-
ceiving some instructions from hisGovernment, on the subject ofopening the Court of Portuguese and
British Commission; but, as none has arrived, Mr, Altavilla is not aware of any objection that can
be made‘to the opening of the Court, and, therefore, coinctles in the wish to render the sittings of
the Mixed Court open to ali persons, when the Commissioners are exercising their judicial tunc-
tions. ,

 

(Third Inclosure in No. 19.)

The British Commissioners to Governor MacCarthy.

Sir, . Sierra Leone,March 5, 1822,

WE have thehonour to inform your Excellency that, in pursuance of instructions received from
His Majesty’s Government, having for their object to cause the Courts of Mixed Comiiission, ‘
established in this Colony for the prevention of iHegal Traffick in Slaves, to be open to ail persons,’
when the Commissioners are engaged in the exercise of. their judicial functions; the order, of:
which “a. cepy is inclesed, was passed this day in the British and Portuguese ‘Court of Mixed
Commissian. oS

Some new, arrangements and additional appointments of officers being necessary to the trsnsace
tion of the business of the Court in an open state, we have the honour to communicate to your
Excellency the: following nominations: Charles Borrett, Esq , Marshal; Mr. Edward Beck,
Deputy Marshal; William Forbes, Tipstaff; Abraham Hazley, Court Keeper.
We bey: leave to request that your Excellency will be pleased to order that these appointments

be pubtickly made known in the Colonial'Gazette; and, as the object of the publicity of these ap-
pointments is to cause the officers so appointed to receive the necessary facilities in the performance
of theif cluties, we further beg leave to request that your Excellency will enjoin all, andevery,
His Majest/’s:snbjects, to be aiding and assistinig to the pefsons herein named, in the exercise of
their official duties.

We have the honour to be, &c.

His Excellency Brig.-Gen. Sir Charles MCarthy, {Signed) E. GREGORY.
&e.  &e ee, EDWARD FITZGERALD.
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(Fourth Inclosure in No. 19.)

Order of the Court.

Sierra Leone, March 5, 1922,

British and Portuguese Court of Mixed Commission, Sierra Leone.

Before Edward Gregory, Esq., His Britannick Majesty's Commissary Judge ; Edward Fitz-
gerald, Esq., HisBritannick Majesty’s Commissioner of Arbitration ; and J, Altavilla, Esq.,
His Most Faithful Majesty’s Commissary Judge, _

Present Jas. Woods, Esq. Acting Registrar. Tuesday, March 5th, 1822,

“OrnperEeD, —That this Court shall henceforth be considered as open to all persons, when the
Commissioners are engaged in the exercise of their judicial functions.

. . By order of the Court,
(Signed) JAMES WOODS,

Acting Registrar.

 

(Fifth Inclosure in No. 19.)

Governor MacCarthy to the British Commissioners.
Sirs, Government House, Sierra Leone, March8, 1822. -

IN answer to your letter of the 5th instant, received-yesterday, transmitting a copy of an order
which had passed on that day in the British and Portuguese Court of Mixed Commission, and
stating that new arrangements, and additional appointments of Officers,. being necessary to the
transaction of the business of the Court in an open state, and communicating to me the nomination
which had taken place accordingly: I have the honour to state, that, agreeablytoyour wishes, J
shall order that their appointments be made known in the Gazette, and that I shall direct all His .
‘Majesty’s subjects to be aiding.and assisting the persons named in your letter, in the execution of
their official duties. .

T have the honour to be, &e.

 

E, Gregory, Esq. and The Hon. E, Fitzgerald. (Signed) C, MAC CARTHY

No. 20.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry-—
(Received June 21.)

My Lorp, Sterra Leone, March 20, 1822.

FOR your Lordship’s earliest information, in a case of the utmost import-.
ance to the interests of the Treaties with Portugal for preventing illegal Slave.
Trade, we expeaite by this opportunity the opinions delivered severally by us
in the judgment pronounced upon the Portuguese schooner, Conde de Villa
Flor, on the 13th instant, in open Court.
The visible fact of a full cargo of Slaves on board of this vessel, and the

interested participation of the Governor of Bissao in the propertyand em- .
barkation of that cargo, were, upon due consideration, regarded by us as
sufficient, and indeed as indispensable, grounds for a judgment of condem-
nation, notwithstanding the distinct breach of the prohibition contained in
the second Article of the Instructions to ships of war employed under the
Treaties; that, “‘ No merchantmen or. Slave ship can, on any account or
“* pretence whatever, be visited or detained.whilst in the port or roadstead
“* belonging to either of the twoHigh Contracting Powers, or within cannon-
“ shot of the batteries on shore.” oT
Mr. Altavilla concurred in the condemnation, with a reservation which he

did not fully explain, announcing the intention of placing a written statement
in the hands of the Registrar,'
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We trust that this decision will be sanctioned by your Lordship’s appro-
bation.
- The case has, however, excited much discussion here; and we have reason
to think that some degree of uncertainty still prevails among all parties con-
cerned as tothe ultimate issue, not merely in the particular instance, but in
respect to the correct understanding to be established in consequence, upon
the main points which the case involves. :
We. are, therefore, extremely anxious that the case should have the

advantage of your Lordship’s consideration before any further seizure shonld
be brought under our view, attended with similar circumstances of locality,
without the same countervailing facts of illegal Slave Trade, and criminal par-
‘ticipation on the part of the highest Local Authorities. an

The papers found enboardthe Conde de Villa Flor were very numerous.
and very important, comprizing not only documents clearly manifesting the:
history and character of this voyage, but of other voyages also of this and of"
other vessels ; constituting in fact a complete developement of the system of
fraud against the Treaties carried on by combined operations, of which the
Settlements of Bissao and Cacheo are the principal scenes.
A selection of the most material of these documents will be despatched by:

the earliest ensuing conveyance.
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
oo _ EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
— &e Gee Ge.

 

(ferst Inclosure in No. 20.)

MRB:.GREGORY’s opinion, pronounced in judgment on Wednesday the 13th of Mare,
1822, ou the case of the Portuguese brigantine, Conde de Villa Flor, Manoel Antonio da Silva.
Brandao, .Master, detained on the 2Ist of February 1822, by the boats of His Majesty's ‘ship:
Iphigenig,, commanded by Lieutenant St. Jobn Mildmay, acting under orders from Commodore
Sir Robert Mends, and prosecuted in the British and Portnguese Court of MixedCommission,. on:
a charge of‘illicitlytrading in Slaves in the river of Bissao to the North of the Equator.

The..case ofthis vessel is ofanature which, whilst ic gives us reason to lament the obstinate,
depravity. that bas been the cause of its being brought before this Court, gives us ground‘to
hopethat the nefarious practices which have been brought to light, in the evidence now before
the. Court, and in the letters found on board, which are under our view, will be the occasion ‘of.
the punishment. of those who have, in‘this case, offended the laws of God and of their country,
and.willbe the means by which the illicit Slave ‘Trade will be checked in a Quarter whereit
has hitherto been carried on with impunity, ‘ me,

This vessel sailed from Par4, in the Brazils, in the month of July last, with a professed:desti-
nation for the Cape de Verd Islands, and Cabinda. She arrived at Saint Antonio, and at Saint
Jago; at the latter Island she remained about a month, and then proceeded, not for Cabinda
‘but for Bissao. The-Cabinda of M. Brandao, as appears by his papess, is Bissao; and it is worth ’
of yemark that his Brazil associates in the trade have the same idea’ of the situation of the
former place, one of them im an account of Staves sold at Par4 in March 1821, for Brandas
stated them to have been brought from Cabinda, whereas it appears they had been brought by
Brandao from Bissao. . . geen.

. At Bissao the cargo was landed, and theMaster busily employed himself ‘in the collection ofSlaves, At the time of thedetention ofthe schooner the Master had collected what he would termhis cargo. The unfortunate beings who formed this’ cargo; appertained, some of them to the
Master, some of them toprivate persons of Bissao, and’some to the Governor of Bissao
The letrer that I have now before.me, is addressed to Brandao by a man namedAntoineLe ers‘it is dated Bissao, the 2ist of January 1822; an extract from it is as follows:— Bers
** On the present occasion J have embarked on board your brigantine, Conde ‘de Villa Flor

*“ sixassorted pieces. (pessas) of this place ; their value is one hundred thousand reis each and they‘are consigned to you that.yqu.may do me the favour to sell them at your destination to the best** ofmy interests,” a a mo oo
There is also the copy of whatappearsto have‘been a‘letter addressed by Brandao to the Go--yernor of Bissao, Luis Freire dle Andrade; itis dated at’ the time that the scheonerwas about todepart fromBissao, and is to the effect, that Brandao had received on board ten. pieces (pessas)helonging to the Governor, which he would aispose-ofto the best advantage, eres (Pees
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;The word pieces (pessas) is explained by the word Slaves, in an entry or account that was made
of some Slaves belonging to Leger, that were taketon board. of the schooner. These Slaves
were entered with the mark by which Leger described his pieces, ; . a

Besides the Slaves taken by the Master at Bissao, some were taken by him at the Cape de Verd
Islands.-. And souse, it would appear, were to be delivered to Brandaoat Bissao; for account. of
persous at those Islands. The following isan extract from a letter, dated Villa de Praga, the T1th
of November J421, addressed by Praneisco Cardozo de Mello to Brandao+ . Co.

My friend, should my cousin, Senbor Pedro Souberve, deliver.to you somc logs of blood-
<< wood {paos de sangee) on my account, I hope that you will do me the favour to receive'them;
‘Cand to take them with you to Maranham, or whithersoever you may proceed: with your own ;
*¢ that vou will take them under your own consignment, aad. do with them.asif they bolonged to. .
«you; and that on your return you will bring me their value in metal, or in goods upon wick
** something may be gained here, Iu short, I expect that you will act as it they were your own ;
 and-J have only to add my hope that you will give me the opportunity of serving you.” .

After the explanation of the word pieces, I need scarcely explain what the term blood-wood’
means. © It is apparent that by this term was meant, not logs of inanimate substances, but bodies
of human’ beings, they being to be added to the stock of human beings that Brandao was to
collect for his own account. to /

Another letter, dated Villa de Praga, the 8th of November 1821, is addressed by Antonio José
Silva to Brandao ; it is as follows :—

. © My friend, wishing to avail myself of your generous and sincere offer, I take the liberty to
*€ send by the present opportunity of the sloop, commanded by Senhor José Bernado,Alfama, |
** and under his care, one, whe is my carpenter, Francisco by name, in order that you may do me
« the favour to take bim whither you may be destined for my account and risk ; and that you will
<* sell him as a thing belonging to. yourself, or to your friend. I remain under an obligation for
‘this freight,and all other expences that you may incur on his account.”
The Master had collected the number of Slaves that the schooner was to carry, had 171 of them

on board, and was about to depart fron Bissao, when, on. the night of the 21st of February, the
Conde de Villa Flor was boarded by boats sent from His Majesty’s ship Iphigenia, under the come-
mand of Lieutenant Mildmay, who, on perceiving that there were Slaves on. board,. detained the
achooner

- The declaration of Lieutenant Mildmay is to the effect, that he detainedthe Conde deVilla Flor
inthe river Bissao for illicidly trading in Slaves. .
Were the illicit Slave Trade that was. carried on by the Conde de Villa Flor. the only point in

question, the present case would have been decided on the conclusion of the examinations of the
eréw; butanother point, when those examinations had been goue through, arose upon theanswer
of Sebastiaio Marques de Carvalho to the 9th interrogatory. Carvalhosaid,that *‘the-veisel-was,
“<at:anclior at the time of the capture under the fort.’’ : ae .
_. The question-of whether this vessel could’ suffer the forfeit of her Master's.illegal ‘acte, -umiex
the circumstance stated by Carvalho, was to me a question for consideration, and Itrust; ix see
qpence of the novelty of the case itself, that 1 shall not be deemedto have beendilatoryin forming
arvopinion upon it. ees
“-¥Fo..the depositions of Carvalho have been added the depositions ot. Lieutenants Mildmayaud
Stokes, which «lo not contradict the statements of Carvalho, These gentlemen depose, ‘thefirstthat:
$he-does uot know. whether theschooner, or brigantine, Conde de Villa Flor, was within cannot
** shot of the fort at Bissao; that it was about half-past eleven o'clock at night, and quite-dark, :
“¢ wheu he boarded the schooner; and that he does not know where the fort of Bissao is ‘situatea.”
The second gentleman deposes, that ‘‘ he cannot tell whether the Portuguese brigantine, Conde
_*6de Villa Flor, was, within cannon-shot of the fort at Bissao, at the time of her: detention;: not
f* knowing the situation of that Place, nor even that there is a fort -at Bissao.”’ ee
On the ancontradicted evidence of Carvalho I am required to pronounce my opinion on this

ease, On the one side is a gross violation of the letter and of the spirit of. the Con-
-vention, on the other side is. an. Article of the same Convention, which torbids-the detention of
Merchantmen or Slave-ships, on‘any account. or pretence whatever, whilst in the port or roads
stead: belonging to either of. the two High Contracting Powers, or within cannon-shiot ‘of the
‘batteries on shore. , ae - . : oo

‘The opinion that I have formed will. not. be given upon a sohition of the abstract principles of
the point in question, for. the application of. these principles to, the present case may be

 

  

more properly left.to the High Authorities in Europe, hut-my. opinion will. be given upon
a view -of the peculiar circumstances .afthe case: itself, : : :
_Here is a vessel that. has coustimmated anact that violates the very purpose for which
the Convention was framed. Here-is‘a. man, the Master of a vessel, who. has “outraged
the laws of his country, who clas. outraged the laws of God,. by a series of systematic and
deliberate actions ofiniquity —Here, I regret to say, is aperson, the Governor of -Bissao, more
ealpable-than.the. wretch Brandao, who bad neither character to lose, ‘nordignity of situation
to-support, because, so far from opposing these actions ‘of iniquity,-he, the -Governor;.‘is-the
‘foremost to eneourage, to assist, and tojoin in their execution.

‘There is-no claimant in-this case. Shall1 then, when-these’actions: obtrade: theniselvés-upon
me; take upon: myself to favour the Master, by rigidly deciding -accordingto‘tlie abstractmerits ofthis case? Shall I takeupon myselt to.décideaccording to strict ‘pointsof national-law, ‘and place
twyself in the situation. tofavour a man whose crime 18 a8 glaringas st ieIniquitérs ¥ T shall not,

for in the present case I-am disposed to give to the second Article of the Instrnctions, intended tor
the British and Portuguese ships ofwar employed to prevent the illicit Traffick in Slaves, the most
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liberal and enlargéd construction that that Article will admit of I am disposed to’think, that, as
a breach of trust, in a person who should be invested with supreme authority in-a Colonial Settle. -
ment or Possession, never was contemplated by the framers of the Convention, so that breach of
trust will be deemed a sufficient warranty tor.the detention of illicit Slave traders, In the cause
of African freedom, in the cause of humanity, such a case as the present, I conceive, will not. be
adjudged by the strict principles of the independence of Nations, but it will be thought that ex-
traordinary conduct may demand extraordinary measures, This I say with due deference to higher
Authorities, .

In my opinion this is a case for condemnation; I therefore say, that the Conde de Villa
Flor should be condemned as prize to the Crowns of Great Britain and Portugal, for illegally
trading in Slaves, and that her Slaves should be emancipated,

(Signed) E. GREGORY,

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 20.)

Case of the Conde de Villa Flor.

- THIS vessel was taken in the night, between the 21st and 22d of February 1822, by the boats
of His Majesty's ship Iphigenia, commanded by Lieutenant St. John Mildmay, acting under ordegs-
from Commodore Sir Robert Mends.
‘The vessel was taken in the river of Bissao in lat. 11 deg. 47 min. N. She sailed under: Por-

tuguese colours, and was the property of a Portuguese subject named Manoel Antonio da Silva
Brandao, who acted also as Master. She had on board a full cargo of 171 Slaves destiued to be

’ gold at Para, in Brazil, for the benefit of their respective owners, of whom, as it appears by the answers
ef the first Mate, Diego de Hoyos, to the 13th standing interrogatory, the Governor ot Bissao.was
one. The fact of that Governor having shipped some of the Slaves, is confirmed by entries in. the
written memoranda of the shipments of the Slaves, and. by other written documents found on
board of the vessel.
No claim bas been given. The embarkation of these Slaves, and the destination and objects con-

nected with it, are in the ordinary course of the illegal Traffick in Slaves, which the Treaty. and: the
Convention between Great Britain and Portugal were designed to prevent.
No doubt or question could arise respecting the liability of this vessel to condemnation for

violating the Treaty and Convention, if the cireumstances of the Place in which the -capture was:
riade didnot interfere with thejudgment, and claim prior and peculiar consideration.

‘The vessel was taken in the river of Bissao, an ancient and well known Settlement of the Por,
teghesenation. The second Mate, Carvalho, says, in his answer to the 9h standing interrogatory,
tliat:the vessel-was at anchor at the time of capture under the guns of the fort, “This statement

_.is Hot.coutradicted:bythe answers of the capturing Officers to the special.interrogatories put..to
them upon these points. These answers go merely to shew that these Officers were disabled,bythe.
statedfthe night, from ascertaining the point in question with any degree of precision. -The fact
may therefore be taken to be as stated by- Carvalho. -

“ "Phis-brings the case to that particular exception contained in the second Article of the Instructions
intended. for the ‘British and: Portuguese ships of war employed to prevent the illicit Traffick in
Slaves which instructions are anuexed to the Convention, and, by the twelfth Article. of that
Convention, form an integral part thereof. .

’ The second Article of the Instructions for British and Portuguese ships of war is in these words;
£€ No merchantiman orSlave-ship.can, on any account or pretence whatsoever, be visited.or de-

*“tained whilstin-the port or roadstead belonging to either of the two High Contracting Parties,,
“‘ or within cannon-shot of the batteries on shore. But in case suspicious vessels should be
“€* found so circumstanced, proper. representations may be addressed to the Authorities of the
** Country requesting them to take effectual measures for preventing such abuses.”" SO
According to this Article,the Conde de Villa Flor has. been irregularly detained and taken;

bat the question now is, whether that irregularity. deprives the British and Portuguese. Court. of
Mixed Commission of its jurisdiction ia the case, - a

It appears that this Article wes framed in the confidence which an honourable Government had,
that'a-corresponding sense of henour would be found in the Authorities of its Colonies, so that
not even a suspicious vessel could be found in any port.or roadstead belonging to any.of those
Colonies, without acertainty that upon proper representation to the Authorities of the place, effec-
tual measures would be taken to prevent such abuses, . uo

If this case came before the Court merely as a case of suspicion, however strong that snspicion
might be, it is probable, indeed may almost say it is certain, that this Court, imbibing the bo-
nourable confidence upon which the-second Article of the Instructions to British and Portngnese
ships‘of war is founded; and gising tothe Governor of, Bissao full credit for a disposition to ful-
fil the obligations of the Treaties of his Sovereign, and to uphold and maintain the laws ‘of his
country, with the good faith due tc-his exalted station : — It is probable, almost to very. certainty
I may say, that this Cong would decline. proceeding to judgment under these circuimstances,.and
would refer the. business: to: the ‘Governor, and:.to: the legal. Authorities of: Bissao, -with a-full —
assurance that justice would be done by-thems Suchia case ofsuspicion uf the strongest kind. pre«
perly to be-referred to.thejurisdiction:ofthe local authorities; may be supposed to. exist-in the con+
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tingericyof only a very small number of Negroes being found on hoard, without any circumstance.

of connexion with those Authorities; and a question being raised, whether those Negroes were

embarked for the purposes of traffick. Under the same circumstances of locality of detention, that,

or any similar indifferent case, might be deemed such a one as would be, in strict propriety, to be

teferred to the local Authorities of the place of detention. ,

“Whe third Article of the same Instructions makes provision for a departure from the strict.

pbservance of the second Article, under particular circumstances. The words of the third Article

are these:—
« The High Contracting Parties having ja view the immenseextent of the sliores of Alrica tothe

«¢ North of the Equator, along which this commerce continues prohibited, and the tacility thereby

*¢ afforded for the illicit traffick on Points where either the total. absence, -or at. least.the dintanceof

4:Jawful Authorities, bar ready access to those Authorities ; in order to prevent it,bave agreea for

<¢ the more readily attaining thesalutaryend which they propose, to grant, a dthev do actually grant

¢ to each other the power, without prejudice to the Rights of Sovereignty, to visit and detain, as if

s* on the high seas, any vessel having Slaves on board, even within cannon-shot of the shore of their

e territories on the continent of Africa, to the North of: the Equator, in case of there

«¢ being no local Authorities to whom recourse could be had, as has been stated in the preceding

«© Article. — In such case vessels so visited may be brought before the Mixed Commission in the

«© form prescribed in the first Article of the preceding Instructions.”

In the construction of this Article, with reference to the present case, there might be some room

ta consider a Colony, the Governorof which is glaringly implicated in the ilicie Traffick in Slaves,

an thé immediate instance in question, in the situation ofa Colony, or Place, having no local Autho-

rities “ to whom recourse could be had, as stated in the preceding Article.’ .Bat I have been led

to form my opinion en a more general view, compreheading the whole of the case as it now

stands. |
.

- ‘This case comes not as a case of strong suspicion merely; it comes at the same time as a case

of glaring fact, of undeniable proof, and of full conviction. The offence of illegal Slave-trading

is‘evident on the view; and is established, upon investigation, by the written documents found on

board the vessel, and'by the oral testimony of the principal individuals of the crew now on: board)

including the first and second Mate, in their answers to the standing interrogatories. boat

it is stil further proved, by the same written documents, and by the same oral evidence, : that

thé Governor of Bissaois himself an interested participator in.the illegal embarkation, a. certain

portion of the Slaves being his property, some of them being entered in the memoranda as-shipped

and received from his official residence, as if all senseof decency was cast off trom the Governments.

House of the Settlement. Other inhabitants of the place are also concerned, some of them.-to a very

considerable amount. 4 . : ;

With this full conviction ; with the Slaves thus illegally embarked standingbefore.the.éyes..of

the Court ; with the written proofs and the testimony of present witnesses to the illegality of the

embarkation : can this Court be bound to decline exercising jurisdiction, and to remit .the.cause

to ‘the: Governor of Bissao, a convicted participator in the oftence—to be: judged. by.bim,-or -by

¢hose “associated in authority with him, probably associated also in this’ very transaction; and

equally interested in frustrating the course ofjustice upon it? et :

-At-appears to me that such a mode of proceeding would be not only inconsistent: with reason-dad

justice, but wholly repugnant to common sense, and altogether absurd. ne

' Phis case, regarded distinctly from thelocal considerations azising out of. the.Place in-which the

capture was made at Bissao, is a case in which it would be the unquestionable duty of the Com~

stissioners to pronounce judgment of condenmnatioa, oo,

Considering the maummer in which the Governor of Bissao is implicated, as well as other indivi-<

aduais of property and apparent consideration in that Settlement, 1 deem. it not merely.a matter of

fairly assumable right, but a matter of absolute duty, to pass over all regard to the station and aux

thority of that Governor in this case, and to condemn. this vessel, as.if bis name, and-thatof the

Colony over which he so unworthilypresides, had never come before the Court in conne:.ion with.

her, farther than tor the purpose of being marked with merited reprobation.
If the Person or the Place be regarded, either in the view of a claim'to privileged exception, from

the application of the rigorous provisionsof.the Treaty aud Convention, or as having @ tight of pri-

vileged and exclusive jurisdiction over all supposed violations within the range of their local au-

thority, they are ia both views equally disentitled iu this case. Their privileges under the Treaties
are, in this instance at least, forfeited by their gross.and obvious violations of those Treaties.

- Some irregularity will, as a matter -of ‘course, -be found in this decision by those who may be

disposed to infer, from the circumstancesof the detention in the first instance, as being contrary:

to the Treaty, in the departure from the restriction contained in the second Article of the Instruc-
tions for British and Portuguese ships of war, that every.proceeding, founded upgn-that detention,.
must be consequently and progressively affected by that original vice. But in this respect there
is only a choice of evils ; for it this Court could allow itself to adopt the opposite course, that_is,.
to decline the jurisdiction, and to remit the business to the Governor -of Bissao, a much greater.

irregularity would be committed—an irregularity subverting one of the first:: principles of the:ail.

ministration of justice—that no man shall be judge in his own couse. - By reterving this matterto
the Governor of Bissao, not only would-a party-be made judge inhis own cause, -but.a crimigal,
offender would be.made his ownjudge upon the offence which he-had committed...

- This case is vie upon,which a special report ofall the.circumstances must be-madde to boththe
Governments concerned in the Treaty violated. . It will.be .for-thenrtodecidewhetherthejadg-
mént'lias been formed with due regard to. their “reciproedt-engagements.and; obligations;..and if,

« respecti¥
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those Governments should be disposed to think, which I can hardly suppose, when I look to the

obvious facts and the unquestionable proofs, establishing the ensbarkation of a full cargo of Slaves

at Bisszo on board of this vessel in violation of the Treaties, establishing also theguilty partici-

pation of the Governor-of Bissao in that embarkation; if the Government shou‘d be disposed to

think, which T can hardly suppose possible under thecircumstances, that the fact of the detention,

in opposition to the second Article of the Instructions to ships of war, ought to have made it impe-

rative on the Court to cismiss the business from its jurisdiction, aud to send. it. back to Bissao

to be decided by the local Authorities ; it may at least be. confidently hoped that the principles

tipon which the present decision is founded, will be sufficient to avert reproach frum. a Court

eajoined to decide, not merely according to the letter, but according to the spirit also of engagements,
in the execution of which the High Contracting Parties profess a determination to discountenance
all manner of fraud ; for surely the grossfrauds committed against the Treaty and Convention in
this esse would not be discountenanced if the case was sent-back henée.to be judged bythose who
committed them. . : .

' The first pages of these observations were written without any particular knowledge of
the difficulties presented by the passages in the Instructions to ships of war, as considered in
conjunction with the special circumstances of the case by some of the Members of the
Court, It appears that’ these difficulties have arisen from. an opinion of the propriety of
severing the’ principal points which the case involves ;. and of investigating and . deciding
upon the regularity of the seizure and the legality of the detention distinetly and primarily, with-
out any reference to the point of illegal Slave-trading, however glaring the fact, however gross.
the cizcumstances of the violation of the Treaty and Convention must be admitted to be in that
réspect. J do not think this severance practicable in peint of fact, for the same evidence which
shews that the vessel was taken under the fort of Bissao, shews, at the same time, that the
Governor of Bissao, and some of the principal inbabirants, were interested participators in the
Megal etnbarkation of the full cargo of Slaves found un board of her at the capture, and brought
with her co this place for adjudication.. , ;

It is altogether impossible to divest ourselves. of the knowledge of the illegal embarkation of
the Negroes, and of the criminal participation of the Goveraor and ‘of others of the Settlement in
that embarkation, so as to be warranted or enabled to decide on the bare question of the local
fegality of the seizure without any reference to those.other. important parts of the case.
What is impossible catmor be required by justice and:reason, even in matters comparatively

indifferent. But bere the matters which in that view would. be to be left out of sight, are of the
very essence of the justice which the Court of Mixed Commission is charged to administer under
the Treaties; and instead of-being required by any. extraordinary effort to labourto place them
out of view, which is impossible, the Commissioners ought always to be studious and careful to
keep such facts before their eyes iu every case in which they are found.. ,
A fair and solid decision can be formed only upon-the fall view of the whole case; and upon

the full view of this whole case that decision must be for the condemnation of the vessel, and for
the emancipation of the Slaves. .
° Fhe duty of this Court ends bere, but the consideration of this case cannot end here; and if the
irreguluivy of the capture iv point of local circumstances shall give rise to particular di-cussions.in

. highe? Quarters, there caunot bea doubt that these discussions will extend to aad’ embrace: the
atrocious crimin-Lty of the individuals contected with the illegal Traffick in Slaves, developed and
substantiated iu ‘the documentary and oral evidence-which came under view iu the course of: the
investigation,

(Signed) EDWARD. FITZGERALD.

 

No. 21.

Messrs..Gregory and Biagerald to the Marquessof Londonderry.— .
(Recewed July 19.) co

My Lorp, Sierra Leone, April 30, 1822.

AT the close of: the proceedings in the case of the Conde de Villa Flor,
we consideredthat the peculiar circumstances of the capture of that vesse];
and thedisclosures made by her papers, of the extensive illegal Slave Trade
carried on at the Settlements of Bissao and Cacheo, with an active co-operation
atthe Cape de Verd Islands, rendered it a matter of duty to communicate to
your Lordship, by a-vessel then ready to:sail for. England, such information
respecting the case as thelimited extent of the time would admit:
We were sensible, at the same time, that larger details of the facts and. cir-

cumstances connected with the case itself, and’ with the state of the’SlaveTrade
in those Settlements, aud copies of the principal documents.by which the facts
are authenticated, would be necessary to furnish your Lordship with the: de-
cisive information desirable in such an affair, and absolutely necessary for the
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authentication of it against the efforts which will, without doubt, be made by
tiiose implicated to createa disbelief of the shameful truths establishedagainst
them.
We will not trouble your Lordship with the difficulties which arose on the

first consideration of the case of the Conde de Villa Flor. After a full deli-
beration on the whole of the matters. contained in the papers of the vessel,
and in the oral depositions, we found ihat by exercising our jurisdiction: the
facts in their full extent and enormity would be established. beyondthe pos-
‘sibility of a question. The documents authenticating them would be indelibly —
recorded and placed beyond the reach of abstraction. ‘The whole system of
concerted evasion and infraction of the Treaties would be made notorious to
‘the world in all its foulness; and the clearness of the conviction, as well as
tle magnitude of the offence, would raise an irresistible claim for immediate
and ‘satisfactory correction.—
-. We could not hesitate to take this course. Mr. Altavilla was also’ of
opinion, that the Court, under the particular circumstances, ought to exercise
jurisdiction. The judgment considered appropriate to the case was therefore
pronounced. ; .
_ Mr. Altavilla expressed a wish that a memorandum should be made by the
Court, against this case being considered as a precedent to authorize ge-
‘nerally the detention ofPortuguese vessels, placed as the Conde de Villa Flor
was at the time of capture; but it was represented tohim, that it would ‘be
best to leave to the higher Authorities the arrangement of any question that
‘might arise upon the peculiar locality of the capture. :
-Mr. Altavilla further declared his determination to represent the conduct

ofthe official persons, so improperly concerned with the Conde deVilla Flor,
in stating the case to his government.
~ Your Lordship will see, in the papers which accompany this despatch, :a
proof of three successive Slave-trading voyages made by the Conde de’Villa,
Flor between Bissao, Cacheo, and Brazil. The first in 1819-20; .,the .se-
cond 1820-21 ; and the third towards the close of the year 1821, :therefurn.

- from which in 1822 was prevented, by the capture on the eve of herinténded
departure from Bissao. oe HO
- In the first of these voyages a fabricated log-book was made out for the
‘return, indicating a voyage from Cabinda. On the second -return *that' log-
book was copied and adapted to the new dates: no other alteratioti was
made except in some slight variation of the ordinary reinarksatthe bottom
of the daily page, so as to give an air of novelty upon a light inspection.
There is no doubt that the same original would have been made to furnish
_materials for another transcript on the return from the third. voyage, if the.
capture had not cut off the opportunity.

There are also genuine log-books for these voyages, which, aluhough in
some respects disguised, are by means of the latitudes and longitudes noted in
the meridian observations, and by other unerring -proofs, ‘sufficiently indi-
eative and precise in showing the real port: of departure. The conveyance
of a cargo of Slaves.is expressly mentioned in the log-books professing the
voyage to be from Cabinda... _ Oo i
. ‘The. Master of the Conde. de, Villa Flor, named Manoel Antonio da Silva
Brandao, was also the owner ofthe vessel; he not only traded in-Slaves on
chis own account, as purchaser, and proprietor, but he also took the -Slaves of
other persons on freight andcommission, to be sold to. the best advantage attheportto which he was bound... In-one instance so small an adventure. asasingle Slave is committed to his.care,in thisway.- en oe

The range of. these transactions comprehended the..Isles-.of.Cape Verd: as
well as. the Settlements of Bissao.and Cacheo, and.that.of Geba also::- The
Signors Coutinho Lancastre, late Governorof: the Cape,Verde Aslands,-and _-
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Correia Barros, late Governor of Cacheo, are personally implicated, as well
as the Signor Freire de Andrade, the present Governor ofBissao. —

In the log-book for the last outward voyage, the professed destination is

from Para to Cabinda, by the way of the Isles of Cape Verd (com escala para

Fas de Cabo Verde.) \t is probable that the prior yoyages were in the
same professed course. From the Isles of Cape Verd the ostensible track of

navigation towards Cabinda would leadsonearly to Bissao as to permit that.

ort to be entered without impediment, and probably also without. notice.

The objects of the co-operating traders may then be carried on conjointly

at the Cape Verd Islands as well as at Bissao, by means of the constant fa-.
cility of intercourse. For the return voyages fortune must have been trusted,
and it appears was trusted successfully, until the arrival of the vessel in those

- seas, in which the fabricated log-book from Cabinda would be available. .
The principle upon which these false log-books are fabricated, will be seen

in the coincidence of the way made in every corresponding hour of each suc-
cessive day of the pretended voyages ; theobservations of latitude are made
to coincide equally. The fraud is obvious upon comparing one with the

other. But without that comparison the one employed for the occasion may
pass unsuspected. .

_ ‘The accesses to Bissao and Cacheo are extremely difficult and dangerous :
they are practicable only for vesscls of small draft of water; and even for
‘these not without the aid of experienced pilots. The French schooner, La
Suzanne, and the professed’ Swedish schooner, Joseph, were several times
aground in their approaches to Bissao, and could not find the right channel
until pilots came to their assistance. The inhabitants of the Bissagos Is-
lands are, moreover, so extremely barbarous and savage, that the Portuguese
of the neighbouring Settlements who know them are alone able to hold’ in-
tercourse with them. ‘The boat’s crew of the Joseph sent to get a pilot from
Bissao, being induced to landon one of those Islands to get a supply of water,
were robbed of their boat and of their clothes; and the Master was under
the-necessity of ransoming them by the mediation of the Governor of Bissao.
Some of the people of the French schooner underwent similar extremities. -~

There is reason to think that the Joseph would have taken in a cargo of
Slaves at Bissao, if the market had not been pre-occupied and exhausted by-.
the purchase’ to supply the Conde de Villa Flor, and ‘the Apollo. La Su-
zanne, although large purchases of waxand ivory at the factories in the Bis-
sagos appeared to prove the reality of an intention to deal innocently in ar-
ticles of country produce, was not altogether unsuspectedof a. disposition to
take Slaves if-a favourable opportunity had occurred; the Master of her
having recently been the commander of the noted Slave-trading vessel,
named La Scholastique of Goree.
The local circumstances which have been mentioned: caused Bissao to be

regarded as a secure and unmolested seat for a covert and persevering Slave
Trade. Besides the repeated voyages of the Conde de Villa Flor, the Apollo
has been noted, in advices previously received.in this Colony, ascarrying on
a regular ‘Traffick in Slaves from Bissao and Cacheo by the mtermediation of
the. Cape Verd Islands. The Apollo escaped immediately after the capture
-of the Villa Flor, carrying off her Slaves. She is represented to be a large
vessel, capable of carrying a considerable number.
‘There is-also found‘among the papers on board the Conde de Villa Flor

thelog-book ofa voyage to Bissao in the Spring of 1821, by the schooner
Bella de Dros da Morgueiro, the property. of Elias Coilho Centra of Per-
nambuco, This book attracted: the notice of “His: Majesty’s Commissioners
in a particular manner,as the same person was owner of the Gaviao ; -and it
was found that‘aperson who was enrolled on the original list of the Gaviao
as first. Clerk (Jose. Maria de Azevedo), but who, as it was stated in evidende,
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had left the Gaviao to go on board-another vessel belonging to the same

owner, acted in that capacity in thisvoyage on board the Bella de Dros da

Morgueiro. No knowledge is furnished by those papers respecting the

- return voyage of that vessel: but there is evéry reason tv believe that she

carried back.a cargo of Slaves.

We do not think it necessary to trouble your Lordship with any further de-

tail of observations. ‘The. facts exhibited in the papers will themselves pre-

sent to your Lordship, in a more satisfactory manner, the influences resulting

from them, as well as the measures of reformation necessary to put a stop to

the illicit Slave Trade, proved to be carried on by means of combined arrange-

ments and co-operating partics, at the Cape Verd Islands, Bissao, and Cacheo,.

includinig persons holding the highest Stations, and principally charged

with the maintenance of the laws of their country, and of the Treaties of their

Sovereign in each of those Places. ~ oO
We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) ’ KE. GREGORY.

_ EDWARD FITZGERALD,

The Marquess of Londonderry,K. G.
C. &e.  &e.

 

 

(Inclosure in No.21;)

Abstractofthe Papers that were found on board of. the Portuguese Schooner.

Conde deVilla Flor, at the time of her capture off the Fort of Bissao.

JN: May 1819, as-appears by the letters.No. 1. and No. 2. the schooner Boa Uniao, commanded

by Manoel Antonio da Silva Brandae, was boarded by pirates nearly. within sight of Para,into

which port she was about to enter, and was taken from. Brandao with the cargo that she had

onboard. Brandao and bis crew were set’on shore at a desert place at some distance fromPara,_

There is reason. to believe that when Brandao was bereit of-his vessel, he was on his return. from.

the Coast-of Africa (in. all probability from -his,favourite haunts of Cacheo and Bissao) with a

cargo of Slaves. i .. oo,

Pe. memorandum, No, 3, shews that Brandao. intended to proceed to the Cape de. Verd

Islands previously to the voyage in which he was captured, where a schooner named the Pomba

Felix was to await his arrival, -And the-letter No. 4. further indicates this intention of Brandao |

to. have been carried into- effect. The.writer of this letter, Dom Antonio Coutinho de Lancastre,

Ex-governor and Captain-general of the Cape de Verd Islands, gives.as thereason why Brandao

did net go to Porto Praya, because he, Dom Antenio, had ‘surrendered the Government to his

‘suceessor, Antonio Pusich, The Bx-governor says in conclusion, that. Brandao did right not to

enter Porto Praya, as affairs were taking another turn, and there. was much discontentin conse-

quence. ‘This letter further makes mention of some Slave-trading.concerns of the writer with,

Brandao. : Loe

Pusich succeeded Lancastre on the 16th of December 1818. The memorandum No. 3..is dated

Para, the 28th of May 1818. The Pomba Felix was to proteed to the Cape de.Verd Islands to meet.

Branday, after touching at the Western Islands, so that the arrival of Brandao. at the first named

Islands night have been calculated to takeplace.at the close of the year 1818,

Thepaper No. 5 is a copy of the attestation alluded to in the letter No.4... a

Tn November 1819, Brandao purchased the schooner Conde de Villa Flor. Having loaded her

with goods for thé African market, he sailed in her from Para on the Ist of December, with a pro-

fessed. destination for the Cape de Verd Islands and Cabinda, as itis mentionedin one of the log-

books of that voyage. But the Cabinda in this instance, as in every. other that has come under the

view of the Commissioners, was Cacheo.  - : . - . on,

- The paper No. 6. shews ¢hat Brandao was at Cacheo in May 1820, and the extracts fromhisac-

count-book, No. 7 and No, 8, shew that Brandao haddealings with the Governor.of Bissao, Luis

Freire de Andrade, and with another person whom he styles Captain, The papers. found on board

6f the Conde de ‘Villa Flor throw. but. little on this voyage. The system of false log-

booke, however, is shewn by two.log-books relating to this. voyage that were foundwith the:

éther papers. - : a . / oo

One ofthe log-books, written apparently by Brandao, statesthevoyage to‘be ‘‘from the port of

« Cabinda to that ofPara:in the schooner Conde de Villa Flor with Slaves,** that it commenced on’

the 4th ofJuly 1820, and that the latitude from whence he, Brandao, ‘took his ‘* departure”. was,

§ deg. 37 min. South. Long. 13 deg. 4.min. Bast. . ne tee wee,

_. The otherlog-book appears to have been written by the. Mate, Diego-de'Hoyos, itstates that”

they weighed anchor ‘on the-3dsof -July 1820.5 on-the same day they. saw CapeRoxo at the dis-
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tance of nine miles ; the Cape is stated-to be in lat. 12 deg. 12 min. ; it is not said whether it is
north or south Istitude, hut it mist, of course, mean north, as Cape Roxo is laid down in Charts
under che 12th degree of north latitude |From Cape Rexo the Mate takes his ‘¢ departure.” —

In September 1220, Brandao had returned to Para, as appears by the letter No, 9, that-was
addressed ‘to him by one of his friends at Maranham, who bopes that the next voyage which
Brandao intended to make, would be more advantageous. :

The paper No. 10, dated September 1820, may relate to the voyage which Brandao had just
eonciuded. If is signed by Fernando José da Silva, the partner and associate of Brandao at Para
and expresses the disposal of 162 Slaves that had been delivered to Silva by Brandao.
On the Ist ofOctober, as appears by a log-buok, the Conde de Viila Flor, under the command of

Braudao, sailed from Para for Cabinda. She is found to have proceeded to Cacheo as
nual ‘The details of this voyage appear more fully than those of the preceding one, and
the trading concerns of Brandao with the Governors of Cacheo and of Bissao,’ and with the
subaitern Oificers of the Garrisons of those places are brought to light. mo

‘The ietter No. 11, dated the 3ist of December 1820, is from the Governoref Bissao to Brandao;
it betrays the Slave Trade that they were then carrying on. . . ST
‘The papcr No. 12, is an official note of, and receipt for goods that Brandad had delivered to the

Royal Treasury of Cacheo on account of duties of entry and exportation, © A’ sum of 72,000 reis
is charged us a duty on goors received by the ‘* Governor.”
The number of Slaves that were on board on the 16th of April 1821, is shewn by thepaper No.

13. Aud the memorandum No. 14. shews how some of these Slaves were to be disposed of at ** the
* port of his, Brandao’s, destination.” Two were to be given to the Judge; one to the Judge's
Clerk, orserving man ; one to the Cashier of ** the Englishman ; ” two to the Governor's Secretary;
and two to the veighbour of Brandao’s consin ; some others were to be ‘‘ given er delivered * to '
different persons whose stations do not appear. . Fo
The letter No. 15, is from Porto Praya, and shews an intention on the part of the writer to en-

gage in the Slave Trade with Brandao. ae
The accounts No. 16.to No. 29, expose the traffi-k that was carried on between Brandao and

the.Governors of Cacheo and Bissao, and with different subaltern Officers of those Settlements.
The accounts with the two Governors clearly shew that they were the principal traders at those
places; the account No. 16, exposes a sale that was made by Brandaoof fourSlavesfor’the
account of Jose Correia Barros, the Governor of Cacheo.  . . -
_ Xhere are two log-books of the return voyage of the Conde de Villa Flor, one of them is
dated from the 18th of April !821; and the departure of the vessel is taken: from the lat. of
“11 deg. 28 m. North, which is about the latitude of the entrance of the river on which Cacheo is
situated. ‘Theother log-book is dated from the 21st of Aprit 1821; the departure” of the vessel
is taken from Cabinda in 5 deg. 37 m. South Lat. ; it is, in regard to supposed solar and Junar,-and
otber calculations, an exatt copy of the log-buok that was fabricated on the voyage from Cacheo
to Para‘in July 1820; and in respect to the observations usually made on the weather, and on
daily occuyrences, these observations are often copies of the same fabricated log-book. It is by

' this means that the illicit Slave-trader may escape from those Authorities who are not. willing to
see more than the log-book ofa Slave vessél; to satisfy themselves that they do not come from a
part of, the Coast of Africa where the trade in Staves is’ prohibited. But a little search, and per-
haps but stilt less inquiryamong theSlaves-of a vessel, would shew it to bave come trom Places
‘where the traffick is declared to be abolished, In May 1821, Brandao had returned from’ Cacheo
‘as Appears by the letter No. 30 of his friend at Maranbam. ;
-The-account:-No 31, betwixt Brandao and bis partner at Para, Fernando José da Silva, exhibit

‘sqme items of a Slave-trading nature The nett proceeds of: the sale. of the Slaves of the.last
_ voyage (the. voyage of 1820) sold on account of‘Brandao, is stated to be 21,372,300 -reis or
59361. sterling. ‘There are some items by which Brandao is credited for freight of Slaves at the
‘rate of 50,030 reis for each Slave, or about ISI. sterling, By another item, Brandao is. debited
for $92,720 reis or about 2481. sterling, being the nett proceeds of the sale of the Slaves of ** the
“ Governor” which proceeds Silva had delivered to Brandao., .
On the Oth ofJuly 1821, the Conde de- Villa Flor again sails from Para for Cabinda under. the

command of Brandas. Atthe close of September she was at Porto Praya, and at the commence-
‘ment ofOctober at Bissao, as appears by the leiter No 32, which is addressed to the Mate,Diego
‘de Hoyos, byJoao Pereira Barreto at Cacheo. : oo, .

_. The letter No. 32, is addressed by Brandan to Jacinto Antonio Pinhel, his associate or partner
at Porto Praya It would appear that Brandao intended to put an end by this- voyage to bis Siave-
trading career, as ‘* provided that it were the pleasure ofthe Almighty that every thing should. be
‘4placed in safety,” they would ‘‘ have reaped a good harvest.” His nefarious trade,however,
was spoiled by the timely arrival of the British frigate Iphigenia, and the harvest-that be was about
to store wastaken from him.-
. it would appear that Brandaé shipped Slaves at Bissao for Porto Prava,.in-a sloop named the
MariadaGraga, commanded by a-person nawed Alfama.. The letter, No. 33, mentions, that the

- sloop would take 74 slaves, it the family of Captain Marcelino, a person who is mentioned in the
Jettér, did not go in her. | The memorandam, No. 34, shews, that the sloop made. two “voyages
to some ane of the Capede Verd Islands with Slaves: the time is notraentioned. a
“Outhe22dofFebruary 1822, :the-Conde de Villa Flor was captured at Bissae by boats sent

from the British trigate Iphigenia, commanded by Sir Robert Mends. The schooner had onboard
at the time of capture 171 or 172 Slaves. " oo . ot

' The mefsorandum, No. 35, states 109 Slaves tohave been receivedon board between the Ith
of October 1823, and the 23th of January 1822, The Governor of Bissao was the ‘owner of
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some of the Slaves, as appeared by the depositions of the witnesses who were examined in the
.of the vessel.

oie leven Ne. 36, relates to 6 “* pieces” (pessas) that were shipped by the writer, Antonio
Leger, with the mark N.. The 6 « pieces” appear under the denomination of Slaves, with the
same mark N in the memorandum, No. 35. .

by the letters, No. 37 to No. 41, it appears that Brandao had received,for the account of
some persons residing at Porto Praya, a namber ot. Slaves, under the denomination of “ pieces”
rand * blood-wood,” one Slave ‘excepted, who is openly designated a carpenter. Brandao,

“however, in his answer, No. 38, to the mau who sent the carpenter, terms the Slave a ‘* piece.”
50) . a.

( Tin lettez, No. 42, terminates the exposure of the actions of Brandao and of hisassociate, the
‘Governor of Bissao, so far as those actions relate to.the Conde de Villa Flor, _ This Jetter men-
tions the fact of. the account that existed betwixt them, and that the sloop, Maria da Graca,

wemained at Bissao, and expresses that the Governor would deliver to her Master whatever he,
Andrade, could collect towards the liquidation of their account. . . . .

it is to be regretted, that some letters have been mislaid which would further have served to
expose the delinquent acts of the Governors of Bissao and Cacheo. A brig, named the Apolly,
commanded by Antonio Daniel Baptista Barros, has been lately a carrier of Slaves betwixt Cacheo
and -Bissao and Maranham. A person named Joao Perreira Barreto, the writer of the letter,
No. 32, and lately zesiding at Cacheo, appeared to be principally concerned in tbis vessel. _The
Apollo was at Cacheoorat Bissao last year for Slaves; she was expected to be at Cacheo again in
January 1822. She is said to be a large brig, capable of receiving a considerable number of
Slaves. .

- Luis Freire de Andrade, the Governor of Bissao, appears, by the paper No. 43, to have shipped
on board of the Apollo, for the purposes: of sale, 10 Slaves to the consignment ofAntonio Joze
Pinto, of Maranham. The letter alluded to in this paper, No. 43, was amongst the mislaid
Jetters; it was signed by Andrade, and was accompanied by an account of the sale of the 10
megroes,. which account, it seemed toappear, had been transmittedbyPinteto Andrade. ;

' -Phe letters. No, 44 to No. 49, further shew Slave-tradingacts and:Slave-trading designs on the
part of.different persons at Para, at Bissao, and at the Cape de Verd Islands. ,

: (Signed) EK. GREGORY.
: EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

No. 22.

The Earl of Clanwilliam to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone.

‘GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, July 16, 1822.

. YOUR despatch. of the 20th of March 1822, containing the case of the
Portuguese brigantine, Conde de Villa Flor, has received the attentive con-
sideration of Lord Londonderry, and has been submitted to the King’s Ad-
vocate General :—It has ‘appeared to that Officer, and to his Lordship, that.
the seizure was not stricty agreeableto the second Article of the Instructions

_ annexed tothe Treaty, and that the condemnation under those circumstances
will admit ofmuch question. _
As the Portuguese Commissioner coricurred in the condemnation, though‘with a reservation, of which youwere not enabled at the time to state the

particulars, I am not to give you, in this stage of the matter, any specifiok
instructions on the subject in-question, but am_directed to point your atten-tion to the Treaty, and the Documents annexed -thereto, and to the Act ofParliament founded thereon,as your only sure guide in the delicate and dif- -ficult situation in which you are sometimes placed,—bearing in mind, that
your objectis to ascertain and to Judge whether the vessel to be adjudged has
been captured according to Treaty, and, if so, whether she can be condemnedaccordingly. en 7 a oS

Tam, -&c.oe a _Signed) o CLANWILLIAM.
dhs.Majesty's Commissioners, | ,Sierra Leone,
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No. 23.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the. Marquess of Lonilonderry—
(Received September 12.)

My Lorp, Seerra Leone, Suly 24, 1822.

WE have the honour to inclose in this despatch, a statement of the case of
the Portuguese brig Des de Fevreiro, with the opinions delivered by us

severally in the decision upon that case. ; . .

The direct destination of the brig Des de Fevreiro to the Gold Coast, with

papers, private as well as official, presenting appearances and characteristicks

of innocent commerce the most specious and imposing, created in the minds
of some of the members of the British and Portuguese Mixed Commission,

prepossessions so favourable, that very decisive evidence of actual Slave Trade
was necessary to induce a conviction, that so much virtuous seeming could be

deceitful. . ; ' .

The abstract of the case will shew that this decisive evidence was found,

not only in the testimony furnished on the part of the Captors, but in the ad-

mission of those acts by the cooper of the vessel, who was in thefirst instance

induced to deny them.—Concealed entries to the same effect, discovered in the
ship’s books, removed all doubts ofthe facts, notwithstanding the absolute and

unreserved denial of the Master and of the Mate.

We have not learned that the protest directed by the owner in_the event of
condemnation has been made, nor that the copies of proceedings in the cause,
and other papers to found a claim for the recovery of the insurance, have been
taken from the Registry of the British and Portuguese Mixed Court.

We have the honour to be, &c. a

“(Signed) E. GREGORY.
ow EDWARD FITZGERALD.

LheMarquess of Londonderry, K.G.
” §e. &e. C.

 

(First Inclosure in No. 23J

Abstract of the Case of the Portuguese Brig Des de Fevreiro, Joao
. Friérra da Silva, Master.

THE brig’ Des de Fevreiro, was taken on the Ist of April 1822, at Appam, on the Gold
‘Coast, in latitude 5 deg. 16 min. north; longitude, 10 min, 13 sec. west, by His Majesty’s ship
Iphigenia, commanded by Commodore Sit Robert Mends.

. No Slave was proved to be on board at the time of capture, but the Captors had information of
the collection of a number of Slaves on shore for the vessel, and of the particular embarkation. af
‘some others, whowere afterwards landed for security until the whole cargo should be ready tor
“shipment. : .

The case of the Des de Fevreiro -is remarkable for the objects of innocent commerce, tothe
‘-éxpress anddistinct exclusion of a trade in Slaves, declared inallthose papers ;- in some of them,
gndeed,. specified .so- particularly and impressed so strongly, that the most decisive. evidence of
‘actual Slave-trading was nécessary to counterbalance the favourable appearances which the case
“presented at-thefirst view. . oe ; .
-, The most particular paper, in this view, ‘isa letter from Donna Maria Cerqueira, of Bahia,
Owner of the ship, and of the principal part of the cargo, addressed to the Master, and conveying
‘instractions for his conduct during the voyage. This etter directs the Master to proceed directly
to the coast .of.Elmina, where ‘he was to take a canoe for the more convenient dispatch of his
Business: - He was.then to’ proceed*along the coast, bartering his cargo for gold, ivory, country
cloths, and such otier articles of African produce as he might think beneficial: he was to come
“to anchor'in any place where the number of canoes coming off should afford promise of .a brisk
trade. A hope is expressed that the innocence of this commerce will afford security against mo-
lestation; but if any evil-disposed cruizer, . not regarding that imocence shoald, on the pretext of
being engaged in illegal Slave Trade, seize the vessel, and if she should in consequence be‘con-
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@enmned at Sierra Leone, the Master is directed to enter his protest for the amount of £12,000
sterling, and to take copies of the proceedings, in order that the loss should be recovered from the

The‘Master, on his arrival at Elmina, took a canoe, as he was directed, and landed about one-

thal€ of his cargo. . From Elmina he proceeded to Appam, where the rest of the cargo was landed,

and where the transactions took place which led to the seizure of thevessel, ; .

The principal individuals who came to this colony on board of the Des de Fevreiro, and
avho were therefore exanined in the first instance, were the Mate and the Cooper. : :

” ‘Phe Mate denied, in the most absolute manner, that theré was any connection with the Slave

the Cooper said, that the half of the cargo landed at Elmina, was intended to purchase gold :

hut, the half landed at Appam, was intended to purchase Slaves ;. he did not, however, admit that

ahere.was any actual Slave Trade, and with respect to a girl brought on board for sale, he said,

that the Master refused to buy her because she was sickly. . ;

The Captors produced as a witness, a person of the name of Duncan, residentat Appan, in

the capacity of trading agent to the Native Chief. This Duncan accompanied the girl here men-
tioned on board the Des de Fevreiro with her master, one John Cocraf. He proved ‘that the Master

of the Des de Fevreiro had purchased the girl or taken her in payment of a debt, and that the

girl had afterwards been sent on shore because the Captain was afraid of the men of war; and did

‘pot wish to have any Slave on board until all were ready. . -.. .

Other purchases of Slaves on board were also mentioned by this witness; and special interro-

gatories having been in consequence put to the Mate and Cooper, the Cooper avowed these pur-
chases severally, stating particular circumstances of the goods given in return, and excusing his
farmer denial by attributing it to the influence and persuasion of the Mate. The Mate himselt
persisted in his denial, and attributed Duncan’s statements to the desire of getting rid of.a debt due
for goods sold to him from the ship. - oo . .,

_. fhe Master having arrived in the Colony at this stage of the proceedings, gave his claim, and
supported it by an affidavit, in which all concernwith illegal Slave Trade was denied. He denied

in like. manner in his. examinations on the standing interrogatories, . ;

Some entries, scrawled in one of the ship’s books, in characters which seem purposely formed so

as to be scarcely comprehensible and then blotted in the most material words, were made out to
de-accounts of goods bartered for Slaves, and at the bottom of one there was an balf-blotted ae-
knowledgment fur the:receipt. of thirty-five Slaves. This and some other similar discoveries deci-
dedly turned thebalance of evidence which already inclined to the. establishment of ‘illegal Slave
Trade in a general way on shore, and in particular acts -on board, which’ were considered as em-

darkations of Slaves for the purposes of the traffick, The vessel was condemned as prize to the
British and:Portuguese Crowns, and the Slaves, ten in number, belonging to her, emancipated,

Sierra Leone, July 1822. (Signed) E. GREGORY.
, . , . EDWARD FITZGERALD...

 

 

(SecondInclosure in No. 23.)

Mr. Gregory's Decision on the Case of the Portuguese Brig Dos de
Fevreiro, Joao Vierra da Silva, Master.

. THIS vessel was captured of Appam, in latitude.5 deg. 16 min. north ; longitude10min.
‘13 sec. west;.on the Ist of April 1822, by His Britannick Majesty's ship Iphigenia,commanded
“by Sir Robert Mends, who states in’his declaration that he found her equipped for the Slave Trade,
she having on board. Slave-ie ns, platforms, and food used by Slaves, aé also that she hadtwo
Slaves on board. _ - . ae
The avowed object of.the voyage of the Des de Fevreiro was for gold dust and ivory, or,

in the words of the.clearance papers ot Bahia, the pert from whence she sailed, to pursue a licit
commerce on the Coast of Africa, the traffick in Slaves being expressly excepted and forbidden.
The instructions received by the Master from the Owner, Donna Maria Victoria Carolina Cer-

queira, were to this effect: . Be
* You are to proceed to the Coast of Elmina with the cargo, that is above expressed, to barter

** it for gold, ivory, cloths, palm oil and for other articles that you may think proper, the traffickin -
** which is permitted by the Portuguese and English Governments. You are aware that you-are
“* absolutely prohibitedto barter’ the catgo for Slaves by your clearance papers, which you will
“ receive with, this letter. .I therefore order you in the most positive manner not to traffick,
*f yourself, nor to.allow any person to traffick,in Slaves, nor to bringback one single Slave, for,I
**do not-wish to transgress the-law, even in the least matter, nor to incur the forfeiture of ‘the
“© security thet [have given” ~ o : — , 3 a

‘The Owner further expresses herself, that : ; Dog
“If any evil-disposed cruizer- should not respecttheinnocent nature,ofthis trade, and should

‘* capture the brig as if she were employed in the prohibited traffick of Slaves, so ‘that the capture
*« shonld Jead to.her condemnation at Sierra Leone, or in-a:Court-of Admiraltyelsewhere, (which
“‘ circumstance is not to beexpected),you will make’protest-op.account of the krig and of her—
‘Sf capgo, to.thevalue of twelve thousand pounds stetling,:an¢ you will proguré a cojiy-ofthe pre-
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*¢ cess, sentence of condemnation, and ofyour. protests, that with. these documentsthedaitiagemay:
*¢ be recovered from the instrers.”

Jt is, therefore, consistently with this avowed object that the Master swearsthat: he-came to the
Coast ‘of Africa for gold and palm oil ; that he traded for these commodities at Elmina, and: at,
Appam ; and it is agreeably to his instructions that he makes a shew of resistance to:the. preten-
sions of the ‘ evil disposed Captor,” who has disturbed him in his innocent trade,

‘This trade wa$ Ho other than the trade in Slaves, for which the biig had come prepared to the

‘Coast of Africa. The requisites for a Slave-trading voyage, irons, platforms and food. for. Slaves.
‘syere found on board. “ . .
A book in which entries are nade of goods delivered to different persons during the stay -of the.

brig a€ Appam, has an entry of ‘* 35 escravos” (Slaves,) -written under the words, «* Deveme_o-
Tapico,” (Tapico owes to me). The pen has been drawn throughthe two last syllables of the.

sword eseraves ; and in another parc of the same book there is written, ‘ Fro, 8, Reci. 26es? —.

which * es—is, doubtless, meant to be the first syllable of the word ‘* escravos,” and -to serve.
as 4 memorandum oftwenty six Slaves received on the 8th of February. A note is'made under.the.
“words ‘* twenty-six ** es,” of six pipes and seventy-five rolls of tobacco, given, I presime, ‘in.
exchange for the Slaves. There is also an entry of calavances and farina, which is food used-by.
‘Slaves on board of Slave vessels. ok on

The Mate, who has been examined, says, that not one Slave wasbrought on board.of the. vessel,
and that he did not understand that any Slaves were collecting on shore for thé brig. That the
Mate should not know or understand whether any Slaves were collecting on shore, is not very

likely, when he admits that sixteen or twenty sacks of farina, and about thirty bags of calavances.

‘were on board of the vessel, for what purposes he cannot be supposed to have been ignorant, when

the platforms and Siave-irons were under his eye. ‘The Mate also states, that he understood from.
the Master that he was to receive ivory, gold-dust, and palm-oil in retarn for goods that he had
given to a man named Duncan, and to another person. ;
[wo Slaves are stated by the Captor to have been on board of the brig at the time of capture,

The Mate, in answer tothe 14th standing interrogatory, says, that no Slaves, whatsoever, -were

taken on board during the present voyage but thuse that were shipped by the Captors; and, in
“duswer to the 13th interrogatory, he says, that the Lader and Owner of the ten Slavesat.present.
ou board,he knows not, as they were not laden on board till after the said brig was captured, and
he wastaken out of her by the capturing ship. Elias, the Cooper of the brig, states, in answer to.
the 14th standing interrogatoty, that the Captain purchased calavances at Appam, for the Slaves ;
‘that.tlie Slaves now on board Were sent from the shore by amulatto man, of the pame of Dunean,.
bat. he does not know under whose orders Dancan acted. In answer to. the Sth-standing inter=.
rogatory, Elias says, that’ thébrig was seized for being engaged in the Slave Trade.. ~

‘There is a contradiction betwixt these statements, and the declaration of the Captor,that.two
Slaves were on-boardat the time of capture. ‘Io remove the possible effect of these contradictions,

‘there appear. an affidavit of the person named Duncan, and the answers ot the Mate and Cooper
‘to special interrogatories put to them on the part ot the Captors.

Duncan states, that he ‘* went-on board of the Des de Fevreiro, with John Cocraf; that Co-
«* craf bad a Slave girl with him in the canoe, whom he took on board of the brig, and paid her in
«© part of the goods that he had previonsly received ; that the girl was gagged ; that she remaiued
<* on board about five hours ; that Silva, the Master, told Cocraf tbat he must take her on shore
** again, ashe was afraid ot. the men of war.’ Duncan fortherstates, that “a Cape Coast man,
«*pamed Scipio Cuffee, sent a Slave down in his canve for sale; that the Slave was taken to
Mamfra, and then to the brig; that he (Duncan), saw the Slave carried on board.” Duncan
also states, that ‘* he was employed by the King ofMamfra to trade with the Captain.” _ oe
_. Lima,the Mate, admits'that Dumcan went on board of ‘the brig from Appam; healso admits
that Duiican received froin onboard aguadente, iron, sugar, and gunpowder; and that a mulatte
‘man, whose namie be doés not know, who went on board with Duncan, received aguadente, ir
“&e. butthat he understood fromtheCaptain that. he was fo receive in return for these goddé;
ivory, gold-dust, and palm-oil. / oe

The Master, Silva, states, in his affidavit annexed to his claim, that he “had delivered a con-
‘# siderable part of the cargo of the brig to oné Duncan, for gold-dust, oil of the palm, and ivory#
** that he (Silva), verily believes that Duncan was the person who delivered the natives ofAipicd
** to the seizors of the brig, for the purpose of having the said persons put on board of the ‘brig’y
*«and thatheverily believes that Duncan so acted inorder to elude the payment of the debt be
«had contracted with him (Silva), to a large amount.” The: Master turiher says, that “the
«said Slaves or Natives of Africa did uotbelong to the brig.”’. a Oo

' ‘The Masterhere says; that he delivereda considerablepart of the cargo of the brig to Duncan,
and in the inenjorandum book of ‘the Master there’is. an entry made of goods to some extent,
under the nding of Duncan, 6f Manifra; there is also another entry of goods under the name of
Coca orCacu. So far Duncan’s evidence is confirmed : it appears to be confirmed still further. by
the ‘entries made’in the memorandum book of twenty-six. aud of thirty-five Slaves, and by the
auswer of Elias to the fifth standing interrogatory, which shew the traflick in which Silva was
engaged, ae oo,

‘I think, then, ‘that it will not be too much to take the assertion of Duncan, that’Slaves‘had |
beenpurchased on board of the brig. and aftérwards. sent on shore, rather than decide by'the
statements of the Master’and of theMate’; the first being contradicted by entries in‘the memo-
féudiin‘book ‘and by Elias; and the second not credited for his ignoranceof the lave-trdding
Pursuits of the vessel, when a Slaye-trading apparatusmust always shew a Slave-tradingobject,
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Further, Elias, in answer to special interrogatories, says, that he remembers thatten Slaves
were taken on board of the brig; they were taken by a mulatto man; theyremained on board an
hour ortwo; the Captain was then on board; they were purchasedby the Captain, ‘who. paid

seven rolls of tobacco for each ; they were sent on shore from fear of the capturing frigate, and
aere landed at the port of Mamfra. oo

Elias has stated, that the vessel was seized for being engaged in the Traffick in Slaves, and in
this he is confirmed by Duncan, and by entries in the memoiandum book. , It appears, from a
journal kept apparently by the Mate, that the Master was on board of the brig on the 8th of Fe~
bruary, and on this day we find by the memorandum book that goods were delivered and Slaves
received. And again it is found that the Master did not remainaltogether on shore at Appam 5
in the same journal we find it said, ‘* this day, the 1th of February 1822, nothing new : the Cap-
«© tain on board.’ These circumstances, I think, corroborate the evidence of Elias touching ‘the
purchase of these ten Slaves on board of the brig. With respect to the evidence of Elias
regarding the girl that was taken on board, it appears to be confused, when contrasted with his
answers to the standing interrogatories, wherein he says, that a girl was. taken on board, but
deing in a bad state she was not purchased. ‘This does not accord with his subsequent declara-
tion, that a cask of aguadente was put into the canoe which carried the girl to the brig and back
again to the shore. ‘Chis would have the appearance of an exchange or purchase, which did
not take place, according to the answers of [lias to the standing interrogatories, -
On the whole, I feel it to be my daty to decide by. the evidence of Elias, so far as ‘it appears

to be confirmed, and-by the testimony of Duncan, rather taan by the evidence of the Master and
Mate of the brig; and giving it as my opinion that the Des de Fevreiro was engaged in the Traffick
in Slaves, and that purchases of Slaves took place on board of that vessel, I say, that the Des de
¥evreiro should be condemned as prize, and the Slaves on board emancipated as belonging’to that—
vessel, ,

(Signed) E. GREGORY. '

Mr. Gregory farther observed, that the Captors had abandoned the original ground of proceed-
ing against the Des de Ferreiro, for having two Slaves on board at the time of capture, and had
yested their titie to a favourable decree on the ground, on which she was condemned, tliat Slaves
dad been piirchased on board and afterwards relanded. . Mr. Gregory inferred, that the original
ground of proceeding was net tenable, as the mere proof of two Slaves for the traffick being on
Doard at the time of capture, would at once have entitled the Captors to decree of condemnation ;
and Mr: Gregory recommended that when vessels had not Slaves for the traffick on board at the.
time of visitation, and Captors should be of opinion that she had had Slaves on board, that this:
pinion should be stated in the declaration, as the ground for proceeding against the vessel: much
trouble would be saved to Captors and to the Commissioners by Captors pursuing such a course of
proceeding. , Se

 

(Third Inclosurein No. 23.) — |

Case of the Portuguese Brig DesdeFevreiro.

Opinien of Mr. Fitzgerald.

THE first itnpression of the case of the Des de Fevreiro, as,derived from the perusal of the
papers of the vessel is of the most favourable description. Thesé papers are very numerous ; those
of a public nature are perfectly regular, and they, as well as the private papers regarding particular
adventures, indicate invariably a voyage directed to objects of innocent commerce, altogether dis-
tinct from the Slave Trade, and with strict injunctions to the Master to use such care in keeping
clear of that Trade, that neither by himself nor by any other person, should he suffer any concern
‘whatsoever with the purchase of a single Slave, so that no ground nor pretext should exist for im-
puting to him a neglect of the orders given to him, nor of the faith that he hadpledgedon this head.

The following paragraphs, extracted fram the letter of. instructions addressed to the Master de
‘Silva, by Donna Maria de Cequeira, the Owner of that vessel, and of the principal cargo, will
‘convey more strongly than any description of the contents of that letter could, a persuasion that
these instructions were framed in perfect trath and sincerity, and that the innocent commerceto: -
‘which they were directed, was in reality the only description of commerce in the contemplation of
the lady. The letter is the paper No. 4, dated Bahia 16th November 1821; it commences thus :—

‘© You are to make the best of your way to the Coast of Elmina, with the cargo under your
** charge, to be there exchanged for gold, ivory, palm oil, and all otherkinds of merchandize which
** you may think advantageous, and which are matter of lawful commerce permitted by the British
** and Portuguese Governments. You are strictly forbiddentopurchase Slaves as you are already.
aware, and as the despatches addressed to you and the other documents shew, and by this far-

“ther otder you ave absolutely enjoined, that neither by yourself nor by any otherperson, shall
“*you conséut to purchase or to deal for a single Slave, so that you may-not be guiltyof the
“slightest transgression ofthe law,nor of the faith that.you have pledged.” ee
Tithe sanie letter, after somedirections respectingthe cargoin general, and the freightstobe
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charged on the private adventures, out and home, the intended course of trade is explained in these

terms »— . : .
«© When you come in- sieht of Cape Palmas, you are to keep along’ the coast, at a distance

«¢ sufficiently near to admit the access of the canoes in which the black people come from the shore

«with gold, ivory, &c. and when youfind that they come in considerable numbers, youare to

‘¢ anchor, in order to carry on the trade with greater facility. This is to be done with the principal

€€ curso only, and considering how lite competition there is likely to be hy means of vessels pro-

© vided with articles of this description for that trafick, Lam persuaded that you can sell each

©¢ yoll of Tobacco for twelve orsixteen aquis of gold, each aqui being half a drachm, and that you

*€ may get ten aquis for every can ofaqua ardente.”

Shortly after this we find the following :— ; —

** As the trade is legal, it is my intention to order an insurance, and therefore, in the event.that

« any mischief should befal the cargo, or the appurtenances of the brig, throngh the vielence ofthe

«* winds or waves or any other cause, you will take care that the aathentications usual in such

«© cases, shall be made in due terms by your crew. : : oo

“ If any evil-disposed cruizer, not regarding the innocence of this uade, should attempt to taake

«© prize of the brig onthe supposition of her being engaged in the prohibited traffick in Slaves, and

“ that you should come, in consequence, to be condemnedat Sierra Leone, or in any other Ad-

*¢ miralty, which ] trust need not be apprehended, you will make protest on accountof the brig, as

«¢ well as of the trade, to the valueof twelve thousand poands sterling, taking:a copy of the pro-

«© ceedings of the sentence of condemnation, and your protest, in order that by means of these do-

«© cuments a claim maybe made on the insurers for the entire loss sustained.,’’ ;

These extracts are certainly of a nature to create a full confidence. of the truth and legality. of

' the purpose with which they were framed. ‘The letters and papers coanected with the private ad-

ventures are uniformly of the same character, without a single indication of Slave-trading intent.
Soine of these adventures are of very small value, aud are for the account of parties to whom the

opportunity of making a little profit would seem to have been given through motivesof. pure be-
nevolence. Among these is a shijiment of aqua ardente, und some other articles forthe account
ofJoaquim, a Slave of Donna Maria Cerqueira, the owner of the vessel and of the principal Cargo,

There is a shipment oftwenty rolls of Tobacco ‘by Donna Maria for the account ‘of her Slaves, of

which twenty she directs that ov the arrival of the vessel at the place of-husiness, two rolls should
be-given to each of two Slaves belonging to her, serving‘on board oftheDes. de.Fevreiro.

It is scarcely possible that adventures of such’ smail aniount could have been sent out with any
Slave-trading design, and in those of somewhat greater value -to which-the desire -of ‘the greatést

‘profit may attach itself, the directions concerning other objects of trade are-soparticular and so
‘apparently sincere and natural, that Slave Trade must be supposed to he altogether. outcofsthe
contemplation ofthe patties. / o

_.. All-these sarall adventurers appear to be persuaded, that the right of prior. purchase, ‘assumed
for the principal cargo, will engross all the.gold; they consequently express their wishes ix a
moreparticularmanner respecting palm-oil and country cloths. One; whose shipment. is more

considerable, and who, by the identity of the band and from-other circimstances, appears: to-be
- the writer-of the letter of instructions signed by Donna Maria‘Cerqueira, forbids the purchase of
-palm-oil for -his goods,.as it is liable to become thick, and to waste itself, and to leaki» He is
“particular concerning the country cloths to ‘be ‘brought to him, and. he desires that the Master
should:bring half a dozen of superior quality in his trunk,fit for bed covers, not intended for sale.
 Phere.is‘inall ‘these letters a request to the Captain to employ the same zeal as if the affair was
his own; and there is a general discretion to purchase, besides the articles specially mentioned,
-any other which he may think beneficial. Unless this discretion.be. supposed to have reference
to the Slave ‘Trade,‘tliere-is not one word in thewhole collection of papers which potuts -to-that |
Araffiek. : : . ee

‘The part'of the coast chosen for the station.of this trade, and actually made the-station of it,
in conformity with'the ‘instructions ‘and with ‘the other papers, would seem -very unlikely to “be
‘selected with Slave Trading views. ‘The coast of F:lmina, so near to Cape Coast Castle, ong -of
the principal British settlements, and a known‘station of the British-Cruizers, would seem. utterly
‘dncompatible with such a purpose. mS a

. Fo these facts and circumstances we have to adda corresponding state of the log-books, which
are without any entry, having referenceto Slave dealing. -I freely.avow that thus far.mymind
was strongly prepossessed with a favourable-opinion of the easeof the «* Des de Fevreiro.”

‘The novelty of‘aPortugriese-voyage to the coast of Africa, impursuit of a commerce distinct
from the Slave Trade, and directed’exclusively to innocent and taudable objects, would be, under
‘anycircumstances, sufficiently interesting, ‘and that interest could not fail to. be increased ‘by the

consideration of the sex vf the general owner, Donna MariaCerqueira.
‘The admission of sinall shipments, for the benefit-of personsin that lady’s service, of petty

officers.ofthe ship, ‘and even of her Slaves, -and more especially the shipment madebythe lady
herself for the benefit of her Slaves in general, are circumstances of a nature so singularly boun-

_ tiful, as to enhance still further the favourable feelings-already inspired. .
- Howafflicting ‘must it be to the best. principles of our nature, if these appearances of innocence,
of -fectitude, ofpurity and beneficence, should prove deccittul, and should be found to. have ter-
‘mitiated. in actaal purchasts:of Slaves: to’a considerable number, and in actual shipments ‘of
Slaves connected with those parcliases? ‘Yet, ‘after'a:-eareful investigation, with all the. prepos-

‘seSsions that T have avowed in-favour-of the apparent original character of the.voyage, anyfully
convinced that such‘actual purchases of Slaves were made, aud that actual shipments tock place
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ia connection. with them. T hope, however, that i may- be held excused when T avow myself still

disposed to believe that the origimal instructions of Donna Maria Cerqueirawere sincere, and that

the abasdonment of them arose ‘rom the cupidity of the Master of the-vessel, and from the op-

portunity, 3s he sapposed, of making exorbitant profits. One-fourth of the benefitsof some of

the private adventures was premised to him, and he might hope that great and unexpected gain

would reconcile all. those concerned toa relapse into a traffick which, although illegal, cau scarcely

net have begun to be regarded with the sentiments of dishovour by the inhabitants of Brazil.

” The evidenceof the witnesses, who deposed to facts of Slave Trading, didnot in the first appear

‘to me sufficiently to establish the material facts, so us to outweigh altogether the favourable ap-

spearances of the papers. ‘The testimony of the Mate was entirely in coincidence with the papers,

and in denial of Slave Trade, The Cooper, Elias, in bis first examination, avowed a Slave-

4rading intentin ‘the landing of the half of the carge put @n shore.at.Appam, and the purchase of

‘Slave provisions at that place;but he did not admit any actual purchase of Slaves, and withregard

to the girl brought on board for sale, he says the Master refused to purchase her because she was

$n a bad state of health. He says that the Slaves now on board were shipped by Duncan, he

daes not know by whose orders, —_

‘The person named Duncan was bronght as a witness by the Captors. He says, that the girl
giveady mentioned was catried on board the vessel in a canoe by a man named John Cacuf, whom
he himself accompanied; that che was present when the Master of the vessel purchased the girl,

or received her in payment of a debt, and that the girl was sent on shore, because the Master

avas afraid of the men of war, and.did not wish any Slaves to be on board until all were ready.
‘Sis Dascan speaks also of-a man Slave belonging to Scipio Cuffee, of Cape Cuast, sent on

$oant. the vessel, and sold, and sent on shore again to thedepot, where Duncan saw him. It

appears that Duncan was an agent’ for the King of Mamfor, in the Slave-trading transactions

between that personage and the Master of this vessel, and that -he was disposed to give his

assistance in other affairs of the same description. He speaks generally of purchases of Slaves

oon shore ‘by the Captain,.which Slaves were kept by one Matthias, the Captain's agent. =
“The.faets-declaredbyDuncan, appear. to have suggested special interrogatories, upon which the

Mate and Elias the Cooper were examined. The Mate persists in his general and absolute dental

of Slave Trade, and attributes the allegations of Dacan' to interested and corrupt motives. - Elias

confesses the fact of the actual purchase of the girl brought on board for sale, as stated -by

Duncan ; he also avews the purchase of ten Slaves brought onboard byavother. person, -He

explains his formerdenial,-bysome-alleged influence on the part of the Mate, not adding. much to

bis own,credit hy admittiog himselfto be susceptible of such infiyence.

In this stageofthe proceedings, the Master ot the Des de Fevrerio. arrives andgives. his dlaim.

Jn his affidavit in support of the claim, he swears that the said brig was not engaged. in-any.an-

lawful Slave Trade, that she bad no Slaves on board at thetime of the seizure,that-sincethe

capture and detention aforesaid, certain natives of Africa, saiil to be Slaves, were-put onboard the

said brig, but not by the orders, concurrence, or assent of this deponent. ; = :

_ In his examinations upon the standing interrogatories, be denies, in the same general andabsolute

manuer as the Mate, all concern with.the traffick for Slaves. oo

- Upon comparing the testimonyof the witnesses on both sides at this period of the ease; with

-dué regard.to their characters and. situations, the balance of evidence inclined, in.imyopinions :to

the-estahlishment of the-existegce-ofillegal Slave “Trade in a verygeneralextent, and alsoto-yseld
proof of the actual embarkation ofSlayes for the purposes of the traffick, as in the instances’ ef the

girl belonging to John Cacuf, the man-slave belonging to Scipio Cuffee, of Cape Coast, aud the

sothertemSlaves. _ : : : _

Butitsappeares.desirable, .in.a case.of this nature, presenting such innocent .appearances.in its

soriginal character, and supported by such absolute swearing on the part of ‘the--Master and
the Mate, to,obtainevidence,more clearly, andmiore unquestionably decisive, than a mere prepon-

derance in the comparison of adverse proofs. "1 suggested therefure, that the Negroes‘brought to

the Colony.in connexion with this vessel should be confronted with the seamen belonging to -her.

FT had.found in former instances that the recoguitionsof persons, and therecollections-ot facts, by

“the Negroes, furnished the best means of correctfécision amidst the contradictions of Captors and

Claimants. “In. the-recent case of the Estrella, in,theSpanish Court, the same effect-had. been: pro-

‘duced by.this confronting. Jn the present case it has not been found practicable to, bring forward

athe Negroes,butother proof, more than equivalent to any that they, couldsupply, has been pointed
out tome by Mr, Gregory, where it had escapeda sufficiently minute investigation on my: own part.

In one of those intentionally careless books, inwhichentries are madeofthe dealings of Slave-
tvaders, in such a manner.as to be capableof assisting the memory of the parties without givingine
formation to.an ordinary reailer, there is an entry of the receipt of thirty-five Slaves: This entry

is at the bottom of an account of goods furnished to Cacu or Cacef, a person named in the course

‘of the examinations, This entry, having been first almost unintelligibly scribbied, is afterwards. pur-
pposelv blotted by a stroke of the pen, but when decyphered, it-arnounts to this, “Received thirty-
‘Ave Slaves.’*=~There are other entries of a corresponding nature,-but less plain and direct. — The
book is purposely without dates. .But besides the name-of Cacu, in the account just mentioned,
theres a list of trading articles delivered to Duncan of Mamfor, which identifies it witl the
«present.voyage and with the transactions now under investigation. ‘The ‘single entryof -thirty-
‘five Slaves, in.thedealing with Cacut, is sufficient to establislithe falschood-oftheCaptain. end::of
the Mate, in their denial of being engaged iu Use Slave Trade in any way:; ‘and ‘the effect of -this

+ fylsehood.extending itself to the whole of: theirtestimony, ‘falsifies.it:in-everypointj,aud,confirms
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the opposite testimony of Duncan and of the Cooper Elias; in regard to the purchase of the
Slave girl on board, and of the man Slave belonging to Scipio Cuflee of Cape Coast, and of the
ten other Slaves. These Slaves hating heen on board for the purposes of the traffick, the violation
of the Treaty is proved in the full extent, necessary to warrant me condemnation of the -vessel,
ud to make it the duty of the Commissioners to emancipate the Slaves belonging to her.
“ees y {Sigued) EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

No. 24.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of . Londonderry. —
(Received September 12.) os

My Lorp, SierraLeone, July 24, 1822.

WE have the honour to inclose herewith, for the information of your
Lordship, the abstract of the case of the Portuguese brig Esperanca, which
was taken with 149 Slaves on board, offthe river Lagos, in lat. 6 deg. 27 m.
North, on the 15th of April last, by His Majesty’s ship Morgiana, Captain
Knight, and brought for adjudication before the Mixed Court. Sentenceof
condemnation was passed against the vessel ; and her Slaves, 147 in number,
were emancipated. De.
The only circumstance in this case that is more than any other entitled:to

the notice of Your Lordship, is the abuse of the permission granted by the
Royal Passport to call at Saint Thomas’ and at Princes’ Island, on. the passage

' of the vessel to Molembo for Slaves.
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) BE. GREGORY.
| EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The-Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. .
Se. &e. Be

 

(Inclosure in No. 24.)

Abstract of ihe Case of the Portuguese Brig Esperanza, Placido.eJose da
an Maia, Master.

THE brig Esperanza, Placida Jose da Maia, Master, was taken, on the 15th day of April 1822,
at the entrance of ‘the river Lagos, in Jat. 6 deg. 27 min. N. long. 3 deg. 22min. E. by His Ma-
jesty’s ship Morgiana, Christopher Knight, Esquire, commander. : .

The Master and the greater parc of the crew had deserted her, only eight seamen having.
remained on board. . : oo
The Esperanza had on board, at the timeofcapture, one hundred and forty-nine Slaves.
Antonio Jose de Sonza, of Bahia, was.Owner of the vessel: and. cargo, There was a Royal

passport, dated Bahia, the 9th October ‘1821, fora voyage to Molembo, ‘to bring thence:four
hunidred and:fitty Slaves, being at the rate of five for every two tons,according to law, ‘This .
passport gave permission to call at the Islands of St. Thomas and. Princes, and this permission,
has been in this instance, ‘as in all the others that have come under the cognizaiceof the British
and’ Portuguese Mixed Court, employed as the meats ‘of facility to proceedte aSlave-trading

. Station to the northward of the Equator.. . SO
‘Antonio Nunez, the Boatswain, and Francisco Nunez, a seaman, both of the Esperanza, in their

answers to the standing iaterrogatories, stated thatthe Slaves found on board were embarked. at
Lagos. ‘The Esperanza had previously touchéd at Elmina, where a part of the cargo was landed.
to purchase beef, firewood andwater. She then totiched at. Badogary, where also a part: of ‘the
cargowaslanded, but nothing taken on board in return. ©‘The intentionof this landing must
have been to purchase Slaves :—lastly, she came to Oui, at the mouth of the river Lagos, where —
the Slaves found on board were taken in. , Co :
The Esperanza was condemned as lawful prize te the Crowns of Great Britain and Portugal,

and theSlaves belonging ta her were emancipated. These Slaves were one hundred and forty-sevenin number, two having died on the passage from theplaceof capture to Sierra Leone: ~
Sierra Leone, July. 1822, - ‘(Sigued) E.GREGORY,

a re EDWARD EITZGERALD.
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‘No. 25.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitagerald to. the Marquess -of Londonderry
(Received September 12.)

My Lorp, — Sierra Leone, July 24, 1822.

THE Portuguese polacca Esperanga Felix, was taken by His Majesty’s
-ship Iphigenia, Commodore’Sir Robert Mends, in the River Lagos, lat. 6 deg.
‘20m. North, on the 7th of April last, with 187Slaveson board. Being a
-dull sailing vessel, the Esperanca Felix was. given by Sir Robert Mends in
charge to Captain Leeke, of His Majesty’s ship Myrmidon, that she might
‘be ‘brought by the Myrmidon to.Sierra Leone. The Slaves of the vessel, as
also the Slaves of two Spanish schooners, likewise under the care of Captain
Leeke,became sickly, and-several died. Captain Leeke, considering that the
bad sailing of the Esperancga Felixretarded extremely the passage of the |
-véssels to Sierra Leone, and thereby exposed the Slaves ‘to greater sickness,
‘thought .it advisable to destroy the-Esperanca Felix, and she was accordingly
destroyed. The Slaves were ‘distributed on board of the other vessels.
- The .case of the vessel was broughtunder the consideration of the Com-_
‘thissioners, who decreed thatthe Esperanca Felix was justifiably detained, and.
-was liable to condemnation at the timeof her capture. Only 85 Slaves par-
‘ticipated of the decree of emancipation. Of the remaining 102 Slaves, some
:perished through sickness, but by far the greater number perished through
the melanchaly accident which befel one ofthe Spanish schooners, the Icanam,
-on board.of -which they. had been placed. |

In. this. case, as in that of the Esperanca, mentioned in our last letter,
there‘was a° Royal Passport permitting the vessel to touch at the Island of
‘Saint Thomas, and ofPrinces,.on her way to Molembo for Slaves: Itis-seen,
:that.in this.case, as in the other, the permission was abused.

ne - We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E.. GREGORY.

- EDWARD FITZGERALD. .
‘The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.

| Se... &ec. &e.

‘PLS. We beg. leave to enclose ‘herewith the abstract of :the case of the.
Esperanga Felix, for the information.of Your Lordship.

  

‘CInclosure in No..25.) .

Abstract ofthe Case of .the PortuguesePolacca, Esperanza Felix, Joaquim
. Jose Brito Lima,Master. me :

THE Esperanza Felix was taken-on.the 7th of April 1822, in the river Lagos, in ‘the Bight
“OF, Benin, in lat. 6deg. 20min. N, long. 4 deg..12min. E. by His Majesty’s ship Iphigenia,
Commodore Sir Robert Mends, She had.on board, _at the time of capture, one handred and
‘eighty-seven ‘Slaves, — on oe Oe “ .
-: Fhe Esperanza Felix-had regular papers for a voyage from Bahia to Molembo, a place in the
‘possession of the King of Portugal, tothe southward of the Equator. She had a royal passport
‘for three hundred and seventy-three Slaves, being in the proportion of five to-every two tons, a8
-allowed by law, and'by ‘the Treaty between Great Britain and Portugal. Thispassport gives per-
mission to.call at the islands of ‘St, fhomas and Princes; ‘and this permission, as it has been uni--
formly found in the cases of a similar description brought-before the British and Portuguese Mixed
Court, appears to have been designedly introduced in order to.give opportunity to run into-one of
Ahé more favourite Slave-trading stations to. the northwardofthe ‘line: at least the opportunity ~
thisafforded, has been always employed to run directly té ‘one:of ‘those northwardstations con-
sidered more advantageous for the.purpose of Slave’ Trade, ‘and thereforegeitcrally so in-préferéiice
‘by. the unprincipled adventurers in this odious traflick, ue Do
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Tn the present instance, the station of Lagos, somewhat new in the Mixed Court, although well

known in the old Slave Trade, has been preferred to the stations recently more visited, such as

‘Calabar and Bonny. -

The Esperanza Felix having had on ‘board -one hundred and eighty-seven Slaves when she was

taken at Lagos, in lat. 6deg. 20 nin. N. would be liable to condemnation as a matter of course,

if it could not be shewn in justification of the presumptiveillegality that the Slaves were taken on

board South of the Line, and that the vessel having them on board, came to the North of the Line
through some legitimate cause, such as the dangers of the sea duly proved, or other cause of
equally fzir admissible influence. The burthen of proof, in such case, is upon the vessel detained,
The provisions of the Treaty to this effect are found in the fifth Article of the Tustructions for

Ships of war. ae - _—
With a-view to the establishment of proof of the embarkation of the Slaves of the Esperanza

Felix, at Molembo, and of legitimate cause for the deviation so far to the Northward of the Line,
the Master and the Surgeon declared, in their examinations upon the standing interrogatories, that

the vessel was proceeding from Molembo to Princes Island for supplies, but that she was driven
‘beyond that island by the force of the current setting to the Northward, and being broughtas
far as Lagos, the urgency of the wants on board caused them to communicate with the shore for

immediate relief. ‘They added, that the vessel was about to proceed to Princes Island from Lagos,
avhen she was taken.

, Some special interrogatories were put to the Master touching the winds and the current; but

the practice adopted on the recommendation of the Commissioners of examining some of the most
inteliigent‘of the Negroes, furnished a decisive refutation of the statements of the Master and of
the Surgeon. oO

‘These Slaves were found to be natives of the Houssa Country; they declared that they were
spurchased for the Esperanza Felix at Lagos, which is the general market for the sale of Slaves

brought from Houssa. These Negroes added, that the whole of the Slaves on board the Espe-

wanza Felix, when she was taken, ‘had been collected at Lagos, and had been embarked only on

the morning of the capture; they added, that they themselves had been put on board so short a
time before the capture, that they had not-eaten on board.

The Master being unable to disprove this statement, the cause was necessarily decided
against him.
“The-vessel ‘being a dull sailer was, soon after her capture, given by Sir Robert Mends in charge

to Captain Leeke, of His Majesty’s ship Myrmidon, that she might be brought to Sierra ‘Leone,
in tow of the Myrmidon, Captain Leeke had also in charge two Spanish schooners, the Vecua
and Icanam, full of Slaves. Disease spread itself amongst these Slaves and amongst those-of the

Esperanza Felix, and several Slaves died. Captain Leeke, taking into consideration that a

protracted “voyage would be fatal to the surviving Slaves, thonght it right for the sake

of .hymatity:to destroy ‘the Esperanza Felix, whose bad sailing retarded in a very considerable

manner the progressofthe ather vessels. Some of her Slaves were put on board of the Myrmidon
and Vecua, others on hoard of the Icanam ; these last perished by the melancholy accidentwhich
befel that vessel. Eighty-five Slaves weré landed ut Sierra Leone, as belonging to the Esperanza
Felix;-these:Slaves were decreed to be emancipated. The judgment of the ‘Commissioners as to
the vessel, was, that. she was justifiably detained, and that -at the time of her detention she wag

<

liable to.condemuation for being engaged iu an illegal Slave ‘Trade.

Sierra Leone, July 24, 1822, (Signed) E. GREGORY,
EDWARD FITZGERALD..

 

No. 26.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marguess of Londonderry.—
(Receizcd September 12.)

My Lorp, Sierra Leone,July 24, 1822.
THE.case of the Portuguese sloop Defensora da Patria, an abstract of «

which we have the honour to inclose herewith, proves that the illegal Slave
‘Trade is still-carried on at Princes Island. ~ ~

_ Fhis vessel was taken on the 28th of April last, with one hundred Slaves
on board, in the river-of Old ‘Calabar, lat. 4 deg. 31 m. N. by the boats of His
Majesty’s shipMyrmidon, Captain Leeke. os
_ Phe Defensora.da Patria had sailed originally from Bahia, but had, it ap-
peared, taken in a fresh -cargo at Princes Island, to an inhabitant of which she
belonged. The crew were natives of the Island. _ a
‘Phe vessel being destroyed as unseaworthy by the Captors, the decision of

the Commissioners, when the case was brought before them, was, that the
vessel wasjustifiably detained, and was liable to.condemnation at the time of
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her ‘capture. ‘The Slaves landed at Sierra Leone, eighty in number, were

decreed to be emancipated.

This case, added to the several which have been already brought under the

notice of your Lordship, will serve to shew the necessity of some check being

applied to the malpractices of the people of that Island.
We have the honour to be, &e.

(Signed) _E. GREGORY. — _
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
CSe. &e. &e.

 

{Inclosure in No. 26.)

Abstract of the Case of the Portuguese Sloop Defensora da Patria.

. YHE Portuguese sloop Defensora da Patria, ‘Caetano Raimundo dé Novaes, alledged Master,

was taken by the boats of His Majesty's ship Myrmidon, under the commend of Lieutenant

Elliot, on the 28th of April 1822, in the river-of Old Calabar, in lat. 4 deg. 31 min. Northy long.
8 deg. 37 min. East. She‘had one hundred Slaves on board at the time ofcapture. :

_ Where is some‘inconsistency inthe history of this vessel and of her voyage. At the commence-

‘ment she would appear to be the property of a person at Bahia, named Domingo Peres dos Santos

‘Chaves, .(a name not unknown in the British and Portuguese Mixed Court, as ‘concerned with vés=

‘sels engaged with the illegal Slave Trade.) Accoriling to the papers connectet! with this appear-
vance, the Defensora da Patria sailed from Bahia in'the month of August 1821. She had not any

Royal Passport, neither were the usual clearance papers from Bahia found anieng those brought

iito the Court, in-connection with her voyage. According to the other papers, she was destined to

‘Cabinda for the purchase of Slaves to be brought back to Babia.
_A letter from Chaves, conveying instructions for the voyage, to the person in command at the

‘time of sailing, named Manoel Marques de Lourciro, is dated Babia the 13th of August 182}. ‘This

fetter directs Loureiro to proceed with the sloop Defensora da Patria, under his command, te the’

Island of St. Thomas, at which place he was consigned to Joaquim José de Lisboa, who would:

-accompany him to Princes Island, where he was ‘to place himself under the orders -of Caetano

Raimundo de Novaes, a‘person whose name was also somewhat familiar in the ears: of the Com-+

auissioners ofthe British and Portuguese Mixed Court, a ;

_ At Princes Island, it appears, a new crew was engaged, or atleast the ship’s roll, as it was found

-among the papers-of the vessel, was formed and dated at that place. At the top of this‘roll the

name of Caetano Rainundo de Novees is entered as owner of the sloop, which is described as‘be>

lougiug-to Prixces Island’: Loureiro’s name is entered after that of Novaes as Master. _
A vegular set of clearance papers, dated 4th of February fromPrinces Island, describe the'voyagé

-as from that Island with a destination for Cabinda for Slaves. These papers give reason to sus~
spect that the voyage of the Defensora da Patria, might have bad its origin and commencemént
‘at Princes Island. he Master, Loureiro, examined on the standing interregatorics, gave answers

nmany respects inconsistent with the ship’s papers. He described ‘Caetano Raimundo de Novaes,
-a3 a mere passenger, who came on. board at Calabar, and who had no interest in the vessel or cargo,
although the name of that person appeared on the ship’s roll as the Owner.

It is not material, however, ‘to pursue those contradictions, or to fix the location ofthe voyage,
whether it may more properly belong in its origin to Princes Island or to Babia. :

Loureiro admits; that after the departure fron Princes Tsland, the course of ‘the vessel was'

-ilirected to Oid Calabar, in consequence, as-he said, of the strong northerly current, Oi’ the
-arrival at Calabar, the traffick for Slaves was commenced, and, with the usual facility of that
-great Slave-market, ‘this vessel was found sailing out of Calabar River on the 27th of April with
a full cargo of. one hundredStaves on board ‘Chis was not quite six weeks after her departure:
from Princes Island en the 4th of February, nominally for Cabinda. The Master admitted that;
‘the Slaves were taken ‘in at Calabar.
The Defensora da Patria having been, after a survey made, (which was filed in the Registry)

-destroyed by the captor, on account.of her heavy sailing, it-appeareil to the Court, tlrat the judg-
ment most appropriate to the circumstances, would be, to declare that she was at the time-of cap-
ture engaged in illegal Slave Trade, and was, therefore, subject and-liable to condemnation:

It was decreed that the Negroes belonging to her should be emangipated. These Slaves;
‘brought to Sierra Leone on board the-Spanish schooner Vecua, were eighty in number. oO

Sierra Leone. * (Signed) _ JB. GREGORY.
| EDWARD FITZGERALD, -
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No. 27.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received February 14, 1823.)

(Extract:). Sierra Leone, September 8, 1822.

-WE have thehonourté lay before your Lordship anabstract ofthe case of
the Portuguese brig Estrella, of Bahia, taken by ‘Lieutenant Hagan, of His

Majesty’s brig Thistle, with 296Slaves on board, on the 29th of June last,
in the vicinity of Cape Formosa.

The Thistle arrived-at-Sierra Leone with her prize on the 19th of: Fuly:

four of the Slaves of the Estrella had died on the passage to this river,.and.
- sixteen were infected with the smatl-pox, and a few others with ulcers; when

-she.anchored in the harbour. ‘The vessel was placed at somedistance from.
the othe? shipping, and, in conformity with the recommendation oftheMedi«

cal Officers, the Slaves were landed on the day-after their arrival, the infected:

Slaves:were removed by the direction of His Excellency the Governor,.to an.

Hospital at somedistance from the town. .We have not heard. that the in-

fectious disorder brought by these Slaves-has. spread. beyond their own circle.
” In the inclosed abstract ofthe.caseof the Estrella, itis mentioned thatLieu-

tenant.Hagan endorsedthe papers of thevessel on visiting her, as shepassed.

-by: Cape-Coast Castle on the 17th of April last. — :

" - _ (Signed) E.GREGORY. |.
Coe oo a EDWARD.FITZGERALD,

Fhe:Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
. ~&e. &es Se

 

“CInclostre in No. 27.)

Abstract ofthe ‘Case. of. the: Portuguese BrigEstrella, Manoel Pereixa dos
Santos, Master.

“THE Estrella was fitted out.at Bahia, by theOwner, Manoel Francisco Moreyra, ‘for aSlavex.

trading ‘voyageto Molembo, South of the Equator. -Her ‘clearance-papers. and ‘passport furahe

traffic wete perfectly reyular.; by the last-document she was permitted; to calt at.Princes and at

Saint; Phomas's in-her-way to Molembo, ‘The permissionto -tonch at. those Islands, the illicit

qealer-inSlaves.may. suppose.to bea protection to him, should he fallin with any cruizer.in ‘their

vicinity-.. mo

Jt doesnot appear that the Estrella touched at Princes’; or at Saint Thomas’s,-but the contine

gency of her stopping at Princes;-.was provided for by -the-instryctions of theOwner,,to:rhe.

‘Master, that on. his arrival at-that place, he-should address himself to, Major Jase Xavier Gonzaga

de Sa, one of. the Members.of. the Governing Junta-of-the Island, and a chief illegal Slave Trader

‘there: It.would appearthat theversel mude'theCoast.of Africa: in -the vicinicyofCape:Palnas:

Qn the 13th-of April, she anchored ‘at Elmina; -for.the. purpose,.as ig stated in .a legs book pb.

«tyading and-of purchasing: canoes.” - On the 17th of April she: left Elmina; and. was. abou
- pass byCape Coast Castle, whea she was visited by Lieutenant..Hagan, .of His Majesty" rig,

Thistle, who having indorsed her papers,-suffered her:to pass on,as sliewas not liable to detention

‘under the:-Conyeation, . , a ; - a
- The Estrella anchored oft Badagary-on the. 25th ‘of April, atid-commienced trading inySlaves:y

aboutthe 20th of -June sheieft'the.Coist,-and an-the20th: dk.thesame month, she.was.met with,

and visited by LieutenantHagan, who,at, this Aime,founcdon.board .296 Slaves. _ a

_ The Master, on-his examinationhere,-had the presumption to-state that be ‘took in’the’ Slaves

at Molembo.;- he was positively contradicted by the Mate. and a.seaman, who declared thatthe -
‘Slaves‘had been purchased and put.on board at Onim and at Lagos..

  

 

  

 

“The Commissioners, when thé case came before then on the 6th of August, decided, ‘by what

-was soapparent, that-the Slaves had been taken in an illegal traffick, and decreed that the Estrella
should becondemined asprize, and the Slaves, 292 in numiber,,emancipated.,

Signed) E. GREGORY. :
EDWARD FITZGERALD, .
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No. 28.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.
(Received February 14, 1823.)

My Lorp, Sierra Leone, September 10, 1822.

IN the despatch which we had the honour to address to Your Lordship

under date of the 24th of July last, we laid before Your Lordship the

case of a vessel belonging to Princes Island, that had been captured in the

act of conveying Slaves, acquired by an illegal traftick, from Calabar River to

Princes, and we took the liberty to state the necessity that some check should

be applied to the malpractices of the people of that Islind. The necessity

that some check should be put to the Slave Trade in that Quarter, is now

rendered more evident by the case of the schooner-boat San Jose Xalaca, an

abstract of which we have the honour to inclose herewith.

This vessel belonged to Princes, and was owned byarelative of one of the

principal persons ofthe Island, the same who was engaged in the expedition

of the schooner Conceicio, that was detained and condemned last year for a

breach of the Convention. ‘The San Jose Xalaca cleared out from Prinees

for Cabinda, but went direct to Calabar river, where she took in thirty Slaves.

The miseries attendant on this traffick are exemplified by the present case.

It would appear that the system by which the illicit Slave Trade is pursued

by the people of Princes Island, is to send small vessels to the large rivers in

the vicinity of the Island, these vessels being more likely to escape detection

and to be more readily supplied with Slaves to feed the market at Princes.

Such were the vessels detained by Sir George Collier in the year 1819; such

the noted Nova Felicidade; such the Conceicao and Defensora da. Patria.

Accommodation on board these vessels there cannot beany, and when the

voyage be in the least protracted, as in the case of the Nova Felicidade, and

as in the present case, from unfavourable weather and from the ignorance and

unskilfulness of the Masters, the consequence to the Slaves must be a state
of extreme suffering. Although the distance betwixt Princes and the entrance

ofthe Calabar, be only such as may be passed in five or six days in favourable

weather, the San Jose Xalaca was six weeks at sea, after leaving the Calabar,

and ten Staves perished absolutely throughhunger and thirst.
To root out the nefarious traffick of Princes Island will not certainly be an

easy task; but we apprehend, My Lord, that if the provisions and penalties

of the Portuguese Alvara, prohibiiing the Slave Trade to ‘the north of the

Equator, should be enforced by the Portuguese Authorities, but more par-
ticularly if some mode could be adopted by which convicted Slave-dealers

might be sent to a Portuguese Settlement, in order totheiy trial and transpor-
tation to Mozambique, that the illicit Slave Trade would:not be so inviting”

to the traffickers at Princes, who generally, when brought to this Colony, shew -
great dread of being transported to the eastern possessions of the Portuguese
an. Africa. : os

We have the honour to be, &c.

- (Signed). E. GREGORY...
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of£ ndonderry, K. G.
; . Ce&e. &c
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(Inclosure in No. 28.)

Abstract of the Case of the Portuguese Schooner-boat, San Joze Xalaca,
Antonio Joachim de Trinidude, Master.

THE vessel which is the subject of this“casebelonged to Prince’s Tgland, and was owned, ap-
parently, by Donna Maria da Craz, a near relative of Jose Xavier Gonzaga de Sa, a Member of
the Governing Junta of the Island. The boat was laden at Princes with goods for the Slave
Trade ; her crew was composed of nine men, natives of Princes, and her Master, it is presumed,
was the same“person who commanded the schooner boat, ‘* Nova Felicidade,” belonging to Fer-
riera Gomez, late Governor uf that Island, at the time of her capture by His Majesty's ships
Pheasant.
The boat had some Slave-trading clearance papers for Cabinda, south of the Line; she had no

royal passport, but simply a pass, dated 26th of March 1822, and signe by Joze Xavier Gonzayia
de Sa. She sailed on the 27th of March from Princes, and on the 23d of the fullowing June she

‘was captured in Old Calabar River, in lat. 4 deg. 40 min. North, by the beats of His Majesty’s
brig Thistle, commanded by Lieutenant Hagan. Twenty Slaves were delivered-up -by- the
native Chief at Calabar as belonging to the vessel, which, on a suryey held upon ber by.the
Officers of the Thistle, was destroyed as unseaworthy; the Master and qrew remained at Calabar,
The evidence of. Mr. Batt, the Officer commanding the capturing boats, and thé evidence of

some of thé Slaves, exhibit horrors ‘which ‘are attendant on the Slave Trade, and horrors
Which must, in most cases, be a-consequence of the system by which the illegal Slave Trade is
‘carried on betwixt Princes and. the Great’ Rivers in its vicinity to the northwardof the Equator,

Tt appears, from the information given to Mr. Batt by the Master of the schooner-boat, that
on the arrival ofthe vessel at Calabar, the Traffick in Slaves was commenced, and:that thirty Slaves
were purchased, ‘ These Slaves were put on board of the boat, and the Master made sail-for
“Princes: his endeavours to reach that Island were unsiecessful, owing to the prevalence of ‘con-
trary winds and strong currents setting from the Island. Wheu they had been some time at. sea,
their provisions began to fail, and the scanty daily allowance of the Slaves was reduced to one
yain for three Slaves: subsequently the provisions and water failed altogether: ten Slaves diéd
through hunger and thirst, and the rest must have also perished, had not the return of the vessel
to Calabar, after being six weeks-at sea, brought relief to the suffering wretches. Mr Batt says,-
“that the twenty Slaves, whew found on board by him, were in the most deplorable state ot
** emaciation, and bore evident marks of the privations ‘to which they bad been subjected.” “And,
indeed, it is a matter of wonder how these Slaves survived the hardships of their situation, when,
besides being hut, scantily feil, andit is to be supposed manacled together, they were. cooped ‘up
in.avessel of only seven tons barthen, and having vo other'shelter (if shelter it could be-either to
them or, to the crew) hut what could be afforded by the space’ betwixt thé water casks and the.
dech,.a space ofseveninches. . | | , ]
The surviving twenty Slaves having been demanded of, and delivered by, the Native Chief of

Calabar, they, with the exception of three who died on board, were brought to. Sierra Leone.in the-

Thistle.. Proceedingswere instituted.as against the vessel ; the judgment of the Mixed, Court was,
that shehad‘been legally detained, and was Hableto condemuation atthe time of her capture, imder
thé terms of the additional Article to the Convention, for having Slaves on board for the trafiick :_
the Slaves; seventeen ininmber, weré decreed to be emancipated.

Sterra Leone, ug. 28, 1822. (Signed) E,.GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD..

 

No. .29.°

Messrs. Gregory and Fitsgcrald to the Marquessof ‘Londonderry.—~
(Heceived February 14, 1823.)

(Extract.) _ Sterra Leone, Sept. 15, 1822,
WE have the honour to address-to your Lordship an abstract of-the case of:

the Portuguese schooner Nymfa del Mar; detained by His Majesty’s ship’
Iphigenia, Commodore Sir Robert‘Mends;offWhydah, in Jat. 6..17..N. long.
2. 55. E.-on the 6th of April last, havingonboard three Slaves.
‘The Nymfa del Mar was lost soon after the capture, at the mouth. of. the:

niver Sombrero, the threeSlaves were brought to Sierra Leonc on boardofthe-.
phigenia.
The case of the Nymfa del Mar came before the British and Portuguese

Court for ajudication, on the 22d of July. The Commissary Judges differed
in opinion, Mr. Gregory holding that the vessel was fiable to condemnation,
Mr. Altavilla holding the contrary. og
Mr, Fitzgerald, His Majesty’s Arbitrator, on whom, the decision. devolved

by this difference, deferred giving his judgment t6 a future day, which’ was.
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delayed, in consequence of indisposition on the part of Mr. Altavilla, ‘tothe

ogth August. Mr. Fitzgerald had previously coimmunicatedlis sentiments to

‘Mr, Altavilla.and Mr. Gregory, at a private ‘meeting, held on the 10th of

August, for the special consideration of the doubtful matters which the case

involved. a . .

Mr. Altavilla still retaining his original opinion, the case was decided by

the coincidence of Mr. Fitzgerald with Mr. Gregory.

We have been induced to give the abstract of this case more in detail than

those of ordinary cases ; because the most material fact which it involves has

now, for the second time, come under the consideration. of the British and

Portuguese Mixed Court, and, it is desirable that the principle upon whichwe

have agreed with Mr. Altavilla to regulate our judgments yespecting it,

should be rightly understood. ce

We further beg leave to inclose herewith, for the information ofyour Lord-

ship, the written opinions of His Majesty’s Commissioners, upon the caseof

the Nymfa del Mar. /

(Signed) -E. GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. , me

&Ce &ec. Se

(First Inclosurein No. 29.)

Absiract of the Case:of the Portuguese Schooner Nyinfa del Mar, Francisco

, Velloso, Master..

SHscnooner Nymfa del Mar, ‘Frasicisco Vellosé, nominal Master, was detained on the 6th.

of April 1822 off Whydab, in lat. 6, 17. N. long. 2; 55. E. by His Majesty’s ship Iphigenia, com-

manded ‘by. Commodore Sir Robert Mends. oo

TheNymfa del Mar, at the time of her detention, had a platform laid, and every’preparation.

made fot the reception of a cargo of Slaves, about two hundred and fifty in number, collected 6n

shorein readiness for embarkation. ‘ a, co ;

_. It did not appear that any one of the Slaves purchased for this cargo had been on board’of the -

vessel. But three Negroes who were found on board, named Franco, Antonio and: Manoel, *“de+

« clared that they wereintended to be sold at the Brazils, and that they were kept in irons while

«on shore at Princes Island for the space of about one month, and that while‘on board thesaid

“+ vessel they were treated in every respect as Slaves, beingkeptin irons without clothes, andonly

<«literated and clothedafterthé Iphigenia hove in sight.”’ a

These are the facts stated in the declaration of Sir Robert Mends,.as-the grounds for thede-.

tention of the Nvinfa del Mar, and in conformity with them, thepetition of the Proctér of the

Captors for the usual monition alleges,that the said vessel:was detained ‘¢ for being illegally en-_

*« gaged in the Slave Trade, having on boardat the time of capture three Slaves for the purpose

*© of traffick.” / / ; /

The petition adds,—** That the said vessel was. shortly. afterwards lost at the mouth of the river

«« Sombrero, that the said Slayes had been brought to this Colouy.in His Majesty’s ship Iphigenia,

** Laving been taken out of the said vessel at the time of her wreck.*—-** Wherefore, &e.” No fur-

therinformation was given to the Court respecting the: loss of -the vessel or the circumstances

attending it. LG

It.appeared by the ship’s papers that she was the property of a person.named Antonio dePaula

arbozo, residing at Babia, from which place she bad sailed in the.month of August 1821, having

a passport froin the Provisional Junta of Government for a voyage to the Islands of St. Thomas-

«and Princes, with libertyto touch on the Coast, of Elmina, forthe purpose of trading for articles

‘« of the country, with the exception of deajing in Slaves.”’ / : ;

Some of the other official papers mentios ‘cloths and oil” as the particular objects of the

intended trade, adding, at the same time, a special exception of. Slave ‘frade.

‘In the ship's roll, Domingo Jose da Costa,/a native of England, is.named as Master, and

Francisco Velloso, who is found in the station of Master at the time of Capture, is enrolled as.

Mate, or Doatswain: (contramestre.} /

‘The Nymfa proceeded in the first instance, from Buhia to Princes: Istand,-and thence to the

Gold Coast. At Princes Island an. extraordinary change took place respectingthe ship's company :

Velloso, who had sailed from Babia,‘in the capacity of Boatswain, was made Captain: he states

in his andwer to the second Standing Interroyatoyy;- that he was put in.péssessjon by Antonio de

Barra, (Barros) the super-cargo, at Prinéés Island, Dontingo Jose da Costa, the fornér Master,
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disappears, but. there is.reasow to: éuspéct that hestill -coutinued in‘connection with thevessel, and
that-he was employed on-shére-in collecting Slaves:for-the cargo at the time” of the ‘captiire, - ‘ta

his answer:to thefitth Interropatory,.Vellososays, that the other persons of the ship's company,
taxventy-seven ‘in number, ,exeldsive of hiniself, “-all-came on board at Princes Island ; they were
‘«chised.hy the Supercarge." , foc atic «

It is probable that this statement with respect to thegerieral-crew, had no other ‘foundation in

fact, thata newengageméntiof-the original crew for Slave-trading objects 3 which objects it
might.nothave,heen.prudemt, tb communicate at the time-of sailing from Bahia, on’a ‘professed
voyage. of innocent comimetce: | . a es

In his answer to the same interyogatory, Velloso ‘says, that the vessel was seized’ “‘ for having
some domestic Slaves. onboard, whe were mariners, and have been Slaves “for ‘the ‘Jast ten

$6 years.” . co
The Slaves Fiance, (or Francisco),’Antonio, and Manoel, repeated,in anaffidavit sworn by thein

betore the Registrar, thefacts already recited, fromthedeclaration of the Captor, of theirbein: "cot
fined in irons on shore at Princes Island ; of their being embarked in irons, and being treated a8 Slaves
ou. board, and of the declared intention of selling’ them. as: Slaves. The two nanied Franco ‘and
Antonio declared fortber, ‘that they “belonged to. Mr. Xavier; the Governor of Princes,‘who
«put them in prison in irons, and toldthem he would send'them off, and sell them 5 and this he
££ said to. them several times, when they begged he would release them,” oo ce

Velloso, in answer to special interrogatories put’to ‘him, on‘the: part of the Captors, declared,
“ that he took the Slaves, Antonio and Francisco, on board, first at Princes; that the Shive Ma-
‘*.noel was on board the: vessel when he (the witness) joined her at Bahia’’—* that tliethree
“© Slaves aforesaid, belong to the owner ot the vessel ;°°—< that the aforesaid Slaves. have,beein
*¢ izons on shore,.but not of board.;*t-—** that Don Jose da Costa isan Englishman ; ‘that he was
*¢-Captain‘ot rhe vessel at the time the Slaves were puschased.”” -
"Upon this evidence-the cause came to-trial on the 13th of July 1822, -
The Proctor forthe Captors:was heard,-atd the Judges proceeded to deliver theiropinions ‘on

the.22dofJuly :
Mr; Gregory observed, that.the usual’ course of inquiry should ‘be directed in this case to the

outfit ofthe vessel, and tothe point, whether the vessel had been engagedin’theillegal traifick
of: Slaves. oe

- Mr, Gregory said, that it appeared that the vessel sailed from Bahia for the CoastofElnii A
with the professed object. of trading in cloths and oil; and not for Slaves, That she was’ found by
the Captorequipped for the Slave Trade. ©That the vessel was engaged in the illicit traffick ‘of
Slaves.vat Whydak 5 that’ two: hundred and fitty Slaves appeared to have been purchasedat that
Place, but that it was not shewnthat any of these Slaves were at any time put on boatd of thé
wessele

Mir. Grbgory proceeded to-remark, thatthe disreputable nature of these’ facts mst vausésugpi-
oitail tasrest: depou-the acts of those concerned in the vessel, thatmight serve to furtlier thé Féal
object if her Voyage. And, adverting'to the declaration of the Captar, that three Slaves had been
shippéd at Brinees Ishimdy: for ‘purposes of traffickh, Mr. Gregory observed, that two of these Slaves,
Francisco and Antonio, belonged to Mr. Xavier, one of the Governors of the Island; aid a noted
ilicie:Slaverdealer ; that they were in irons oii shore at Princes, and that it appedred. ‘they were
shipped on boardof the #* Nymfa del’Mar," at Princes, under circtimstances of Testtaigt. That
althongh the Master deposed that these two Slaves belonged: to the Owner of‘thevessel, whis
resided at Bahia, and that they were domestic Slaves, he did not explain how they came to'bé'at
Prinecs; under: hé.‘coutrol ‘oF some person ‘there, whert he admitted, that the two Sldves were
shipped at that Island, /

Considering-that theMasterhadrendered himself criminal byhisillicit Slave: trading nets, ‘Mr,
Gregory preferred the evidenoe of the two Slaves, Franciscd ‘and Autoniv, to that ot ‘the Magter,
and was of opinion that they were takenon’board ‘for purposes of traflick, and Wot'for déméstic
lirposes:

P "Adverting to the case of the Gaviao, Mr. Gregoryremarked; that in that case; Slaves described,
ina petition to the Governors of Princes Island, as free men, ‘v ‘re’ shipped at Pringes,’ ‘oti, board
of that vessel; that on examinations taken respecting them, it*was found that they were nt free-
men, but Slaves; he thought that the shipment of these niéi was fraudulent, ‘and dnténded for frqu-
dulent. purposes, forpurposes oftraffick, and upon this presumption, he deemed that the Gaviiio.Tad
fallen under the provision of the Convention which rendered her fable to condemnation Mr.
Gregory had not the concurrence of ‘bis colleagues in’the oplition for the condemnation of the
Gaviao, expressed by him on‘that occasion; they’ thought that'a necessity appeared for the em-
barkation of those men at Princes Island. oe
“The case of the Gaviao appeared to be similar to thaf-of the Nymta.del Mar, and Mr. Gregory _

confessed, with all deference for the opinions of his colleagues, ‘that he had notéeen reasonto think
differently of the case of the Gaviao. oO Be oo .
With respect to the third Slave-om boardofthe Nymfa dét Mar, ‘Manoel, Mr. Gregory. éxpresséd

a doubt: whether he was shipped‘at Babia or at Princes: Ysland, but Me. Gregory ‘said that the Ba:
lance of doubt was-in’ favour’ of the Slave, and lie thougtit itriglit. that he ‘should be éiiaiici-,
pated with Francisco and Atitonio. . tnMr. Gregory's opitton-wag, that: theNymfa del ‘Mar had ‘been legally detained,and waa liable
to condemnation at the'tire-of berdetelitién's anil that the three Slaves, Francisco, Aritoni, apd
Manoel, slisuldbe emancipated, - “ a — .
Mr. Altavilla, without entering into any detail of ‘reasoning, expressed his dissent from the

opinion of Mr, Gregory, oO
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Mr. Fitzgerald, His Britannick Majesty's Commissioner of Arbitration, postpanédto% future day
thedeliveryof.his.opipion,.svith the reasons for it‘in detail; -but* he ‘observed that the caseofthe
Nynifa del Mar, although itcoincided thus far with the.cuse. of the Gaviao, that the main-question

turned. ypon.thelegality or -ilegality of the embarkation of. a-very-amall number of Slaves, taken
‘ou.board at. Princes Island, yet the. circumstances which attended:that embarkation were very

‘different in the case of the Nymfa del Mar, from those that attended itin the case of the Gaviao,
‘apon which-case bis opinion remained unattered, ,
"On Saturday.the [0th of August, Mr, Fitzgerald commumicated:his. opinion; ‘and the teasciis
a1pOR. whichicwas founded, to Mr. Altavilla-and Mr. Gregorys. Jt was agreed that thefinal judg-

quent slvuldbe given in Court on Monday the 12th, bat Mr. Altavilla havingbecome indisposed
‘Go the interval, it was delayed in. consequence to the 28th ofAugust.
Before the Commissioners went into Court, an effort vas niade-toindace Mr, Altavilla to agree

with Mr. Fitzgerald and Mr. Gregory, so that the decision about to be pronounced should be
anenimous., Mr, Altavilla, however, persevered in-hisformersopinion’ sime of. the reasons. for
arhich be mentioned, but they cannot .be satisfactorily explainedin this abridged. form. — so

After the opening of the Court, a further affidavit. of the three Negroes was read, ia which the
enepained Manoel declared, that he was purchased intherivér Gaboon, «‘ by Antonio Barba, about
& sixyears ago, and that be was in prison in Princes Island about four weeks.”
The Proctor fer the Captors addressed the Court ia atgument, for the purpose of shewing that

tho Slave Manoel, being a Slave in property found-on board ofa vessel engaged in illegal Slave
“Trade,, should be included with the Slaves Antonio and Fraaco in one common judgment of

‘emancipat ion. :

_ After some communication with the other Commissioners on this point, Mr. Fitzgerald pro-
nouncedthejudgment._ os ; !

‘Me, Fitzgerald, in delivering the opinion which was to stand as the final judgment, began’ by
separating trom the case the Negro Maneel, that Negre having, by an affidavit swornsince the
Jast Court day, stated that he was purchased six years. ago in the river Gaboon by Antonio Barba,
avho.appeared to. be the Supercargoof the vessel,—Antonio Barros, alittleanisnamed in this as in
wiheér instances, In considering the evidence upon both sides of the case, Mr, Fitzgerald.coti=
cluded,. froma comparative estimate, that the Negroes Franco and Antonio were personally more
entitled to credit as witnesses than the Master Velloso; on a similar estimate heconsidered thut'the
facts stated by those Negroes were :nore credible than those alleged by the Master. Uponthe
neincipal,points, however, the: Master did not contradict the Negroes. The Master stated, that
they.were, put on board at. Princes Island; that. they swere purchased there, and that-they were

i e3.0f Barboza, the owner ofthe vessel... The natural conclusion was, that-theywere sold
“their former, Master, Mr. Xavier, of Princes Island, to. the Agent of Barboza,-andi¢.svaefut=

tobe concluded, thatthe intention in purchasing them was to. add themto: the-general,cargé
of Slaves, unless a different aad a legal purpose could be shewn The burthen-of the prodf:lay

the Master, who neither gave nor offered any justification, nor any”explanationwhatsocver,
An is consisted the difference. between the case ofthe Nyinfa del: Mar,’andthecase of che
G hat, inthe case of the Gaviao a sufficientjustification appeared to him to:befully established;
whileinthecaseof the Nymfa lel. Mar, nothing that bad a tendency to justificationappeared.

the case, of the Gaviao, there was a petition to the Governor.of-Princées Island;:for permigs
jon tg embark the four Negroes taken on board there; and-permissionwas granted.in:consé-:
quence.The application of the term ‘‘freemen’’ in the petition, to Negrwes do: recently
purchased ‘as. ‘Slaves, -was -explained by the intentionto make them freeand. ta employ them -as
fréemariners., . : CO,

In the case of the Nymfa del Mar, no permission to embarkthe Negroes‘was obtainedor
Sought, mo :
In the case of the Gaviao, a reduction of the original .crew was assigned as the cause of the

énybatkation,-aad upon investigation that reduction was ascertained tobetrue,
"Jn the case‘of the Nymfa del Mar, no-cause was assigned. ae
’ In the-case of the Gaviao, the alledged confinement of the Negroes inirons was disproved, with

theexception ef a temporary restraint-on one who wanted to-destroy himself and with respect to
him, the restraint was removed, when the object.of it was attained, by inducing him to take‘tood.
Inthe case of the Nymfa del Mar, the -restraint-ef irons is fully proved.
‘In the Gaviao, the Negroes were treated ‘as part of the crew. oe. ;
‘In:the Nymfa del Mar, theNegroes were not allowed.to mix with-the-crew, but -were treated

as:Slaves destined for:thétraffick, .
‘In the case of theGaviao,not.aSlave was purchased dora general cargo. .
In the caseofthe Nymfadel. Mar,two-handred and fifty werepurchased, and ready for embark--

ation, towhom the two individual Slaves would daturally be added, - -
_ On-the same grounds, therefore, on which the Gaviac, was restored, and by the‘same‘courseof

reasoning apen them, the Nymfadel Mar should-be condemned... .
It ‘may be allowed to him farther to .observe, with some satisfaction, that the evidence apon-

which the decision.in the case.of the-Gaviao-rested, was stibsequently confirmed in several ways.
While the claim.for daniageswas pending, Suspicionshaviug arisen that some of the men who

awére statéd tohave:left thé Gaviao were inrealitystill.on board,.an investigation-was instituted
withthe éxpress:intention of reversingthe former decision if thosesuspicions should be realized,

The ‘esult of that investigation confirmed the former.evidence,. and furnished additional citcum-
stantes contiected withthe departure oftheprincipal. iduals. =, Ateide, thefirst Pilot, -had:
duatrelied with’the Mastér, and recovered ‘his wagés from him by. Jaw at St.Paal.deLeando,
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where he left the ship. Further, the Negroes who had been taken into the Gaviao at’ Princes
Istand and St. ‘Choinas’s, were employed on slrore at Sierra Leone as freemen, in oceupationsmore
or less profitable, one of them receiving five shillings a-day as a cooper; yet all of them by free
choice left the Colony with their Master; and this is certainly a decisive proof that they did not
consider the situation in which they thus replaced themselves to be that of Slaves destined for the
traffick. .

More recently still it was ascertained, .by some of the papers found on board the Conde de

Villa Flor, that the first Clerk in the original roll of the Gaviao, who was stated to have gone on
board another vessel belouging to the same Owner, was in fact on board a vessel belonging to

that Owner at Bissao at the time when the Gaviao was taken at Calabar. This vessel was the
Bella da Dios de Morgueira: ‘The name of the first Clerk was Azevedo. a

These confirmatory circumstances were entitled to greater consideration, as the question in these

cases must be entirely a question of evidence, and not a question of law; for the law was settled
among the preliminary points in the case of the Gaviao. _
By the unanimous agreement of the Commissioners in that case,—‘f An embarkation of Siaves.

*¢ for the traffick from any of the Portuguese Settlements on the Coast of Africa northof‘the

** Bquator, such as St. Thomas’s or Princes Island, is to be considered equally illegal, and as
** nuch in violation of the Treaty and Convention between Great Britain and Portugal, as an em~

** harkation of Slaves from any of the Places of ordinary resort for the illegal traffick among the
*¢ African nations,”

Tt only remains, therefore, to ascertain whether the embarkation be for the traffick or not; and.
that is matter of evidence; the only difference of opinion that cantake place upon it is as to the
effect of evidence.
The evidence in the case of the Nymfa del Mar being in Mr. Fitzgerald’s opinion so decisive of

an embarkationfor thetraffick, he gave the final judgment accordingly, that the Nymfa del Mar
was at the time of capture engaged in the illegal Traffick for Slaves, and, therefore, was subject and,
liable to condemnation if she had not been lost at sea. The twoNegroes, Franco and Antonia,.
were consequently to.be emancipated. The negro Manoel being the Slave of the Supercargo for
several years, could not be considered in any other way than as the domestick Slaves generally’
found-oa bvard of condemned Slave ships. It had not been hitherto the usage of the Courts of,
Mixed Conmission to include those Slaves in their decrees ot emancipation. The Treaties having
declared, that Negroes in such situations cannot in any case be deemed sufficient cause for deten-
tion, and that they were to be regarded as Portuguese sailors, this exempted them, as it ap-
peared, from the jurisdiction of those Courts. While those Negroes remained on British ground
they could-not be molested by any claim on the part of former Qwners or Masters; and if they
valued their freedom they would not place themselves within the grasp of their Masters,

: (Signed) E. GREGORY. .
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

et

(Second Inclosure in No. 29.)

 

Mr.Gregory's Decision on the Case of the Portuguese Brig, Nymfa del Mar,
Jose Francisco Vellozo, Master, detained off Whydah, in lat. 6. deg..17
min. N.long. 2. deg. 55 min. E. on the 6th April 1822, by CommodoreSir
Robert: Mends, commanding His Majesty's Ship Iphigenia.

IN donbefal cases that have come under the jurisdiction of this Court, the first subject of
enquiry hasbeen, whether the vessel to be adjudged was fitted out for the Traffick in Slaves, and
the next, whether,she was illegally engaged in the traffick at the time of detention. These en-
quiries have been found to be of material importance, as they elucidated points that would, but
for them, have remained in a doubtful light, and they have forwarded the general decisions ou the
eases. co .

This course of enquiry is absolutely necessary in the present case, which is of a class that has
only in one instance (the Portuguese brig Gaviao) been under the notice of the Commissioners,

This vessel saited from Bahia on the 14th of Aagust 1821, with a professed destination for the
Coast of Himina, and for the Islands of Princes and Saint ‘Thomas; her clearance papers
state that she was to proceed to those Places “ for clotlis and oil, and not for Slaves.”

Vellozo, the Master, swears, that the Nymfa del Mar was provided with a royal passport si-
mnilar to one that was shewr to him belonging to the Portuguese schooner Adelaide, lately con-
demned in this Court, and which passport was conformable tu the model that, is anvexed to the
Convention. , : i,
No passport to authorize a Slave-trading voyage is found amongst the papers of the Nymifa del

Mar, as indeed such a document could not bave been given, cousistently with the professed ob-
ject of the voyage.

Vellozo states, that the Nymfa del Mar went to Princes Island, and from thence to Whydah,
At Whydah the true intent of the voyage was shewn by the purchase of two hundred and filty -
Slaves. It does not appear, however, thatany one of these Slaves was at any tinie embarked on.
board of the vessel ; butplatforms were laid and food provided for the subsistence of a-carge -of
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Slaves, when the Nymfa. del Mar was detained by Commodore Sir Robert Mends, commanding
His Britannick Majesty’s ship Iphigenia, on the ground that she had on board three Slaves who
had been taken in the vessel at Princes Island for the purposes of traffick.
The facts here related shew a two-fold criminality on the part. of those who were concerned in

the Nymfa del Mar: first, as deception was. used to cover the real object of the voyage; secondly,
as a Traffick.in Slaves was pursued on a part of the Coast ofAfrica, where the traffick is forbidden,

as well by the Convention under which this Court is constituted, as by a particular law of Por-
tugal’
As eriminality increases in degree, so must a just suspicion arise and attach itself to the acts of

theeriminal party that in the least have a tendency to further its main object. The object in this

case was gain,—guilty gain; every act then that couid serve to feed the spirit of avarice is to be

viewed with much suspicion. ‘This observation Capply to the act of the embarkation at Princes

Ysland of the two Negroes, Franco, or. Francisco, and Antonio, for.to this embarkation the
“Captors appeal, as entitling them to a favourable decree. .

The Nymfa-del Mar was unfortunately lost near the entrance of the river Sombrero shortly
after her detention; this loss makes the present suit to be one for the purpose of procuring for
those tivo Negroes, Antonio and Franco, and for another, named Manoel, certificates ofemancipa-
tion, witha decree, that the vessel was legally detained, and that she was at the time of her deten-
tion liable to be condemned as lawful prize. The propriety of granting this decree is to depend on.

the miérits of the question, of whether these three Negroes were puton board for the purposes of
traffick, ormerely to be employed in the service of the vessel as servants or sailors.

‘fhequestion of whether a Slave be intended for domestick purposes, or for the purposes of sule,
rust,in a great measure, be resolved by the circumstances under which he was placed on board-
ship, aud by a.consideration of the place ot his shipment, together with a view of the character of
those’by whom, and with whom he was shipped, It is a question that must almost altogether de-
pend on these considerations: for what under the circumstances of one case may render the de-

tentionof a vessel justifiable, may under the circumstances of another case render it unjustifiable,
As, for jnstance, in the case of a declared illegal Slave-trader bound to the Brazils, having on board
of his vessel a Slave or Slaves shipped under circumstances of restraint, at a port of Africa that
is a notorious haunt of illicit dealers in Slaves; a cruizer, J apprehend, would be justified in de-
taining a vessel, if these circumstances appeared to him, whereas he might not be justified in de-
taininga, vessel, whether a fair trader or not, bound from the Brazils to Africa, on board of
which there should appear a Slave or Slaves who: had also been shipped under circumstances of
restraint, In the first instance there would be a strotig presumption that.the Slave or Slaves
were interided for the. purposes of traffick; but in the second instatice scarcely a presumption
could be raised that they were intended for such purposes, _ ao 7

In stating thus much I may be said to have prejudged the question that is now before the Court,
for the present. case is included in the instance first mentioned.
The affidavit made hy Antonio and Franco, or Francisco, states, that “they were sent on board

«© of the schooner Nymfa del Mar in irons as Slaves; that they know they were to be sold
** agaiu as Slaves, because the Captain and the people of the schooner told them so, and because
“© they were never treated as part of the crew.” They further swear that “ they belonged to Mr.
«* Xavier, the Governor of Princes, who put them in prison in irons, and told them he would send
«them off, and sell them, and this he said to them several times when they begged he would re-
<¢ ease them.”” : ce / 7
‘TheMaster,:ia answer to the fifth standing interrogatory, says, the vessel was seized for having |

some domestick Slaves on board, who were mariners, and have been Slaves these last ten years, arid
were brought from Princes Island. In answer to special interrogatories, Vellozosays, that ‘‘ he
** took the Slaves, Francisco and Antonio, ou board first at the Island of Princes; that the Slave
** Manoel was on board the vessel when he, Vellozo, joined her at Bahia; that the three Slaves
“aforesaid belong to the Owner of the vessel; that the aforesaid Slaves have been in irons on
*« shore, but not on board.’ :

it is here admitted, that Francisco and Antonio were taken on board at Princes Island; that
they were in irons on shore; so far the evidence of Vellozo agrees with that.of Francisco and
Antonio, but his further evidence is at variance with that of the Slaves, as he says, that they
helonged ro the Owner of the vessel, who was Antonio de Paola Barboza, of Bahia, and that they
‘were nt in-irons on board. It is not explained by Vellozo how these Negroes, who he says
belonged to a person at Bahia, came tu beat Princes Island and under-the control of some person
there. - :

Allowing that the state of a Slave must make him to be an interested party, where it isa.
‘question whether he shall exchange a state of slavery for a state of freedom, yet I thiuk it would
he harsh to view his evidence with an unfavourable eye, when contrasted with the evidence of an
illegal Slave-trader. The’ dealer in Slaves, when brought here, is perfectly acquainted with the
situation in-which he is placed; his answers, as we know from experience, are directed: toplace
his. case in a favourable light, and, when this cannot be done,to shift the responsibility incurred
from Slave-trading acts from himself to others who are absent. The Slave we have found not to
be generally acquainted with his situation when brought to this Colony; he may have had given
to him an idea that he may here receive his freedom, butin what manner he cannot. reasonablybe
supposed to know, and his answers must be given withont design or premeditation; generally -
‘Speaking this- mast be the case, althoughwe have had an instance to the contrary,

Withthis disposition:to prefer the evidence of aSlave to that of a declared illegal Slave-trader, I pres
| iio and Francisca, to that of Velloxs,
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the Master, and taking into consideration that they were shipped by a person who has rendered
hhunself criminal by his illicit Slave-trading acts; that they were shipped under circumstances of
restraint; that they belonged io the Governor of Princes Island, whose name, I regret to say,
appears in the records of this Court as being concerned with illegal Slaye-trading expeditions, and
avho dees not appear to have been restrained from participating in such expeditions, either by @
sense of the duties of his situation, or by the fear of a shameful exposure of his actions; I say,
taking these circumstances into consideration, ] feel it to be ay duty to declare my opinion that
the two Slaves, Antonio and Francisco, were taken on board for purposes of sale, or of traffick,-

aud not for dowestick purposes.
In the case of the Gaviao, Slaves, described in a petition to the Governor of Princes Island as

freemen, were shipped at Princes on board of that vessel: on examinations taken regarding
them it was found, that they were not freemen, but Slaves. 1 thought that the shipment.of
these men was fraudulent and intended for fraudalent purposes, —that isfor purposes of traffick ;-and.
upen this presumption | deemed that the vessel had fallen under the provision of the Convention
which rendered her liable to.condemnation.
The opinion that ¥ gave on that case was as follows:
«© By the Convention the purchasing of Slaves for the purposes of traffick to the north of the

** Line is rendered illezal. . oe
‘| consider that, according to the letter and to the spirit of the Convention, the shipment of

** Slaves at the Islands of Samt Thomas and Princes, both of which are situated te the northofthe’
*< Line, for the purposes of the traffick, is to be viewed in the same manner as if the Slaves. were
«* shippedonthe prohibited part of the Continent of Atrica, otherwise illicit traders would elude
*6 the vigilance of the Portuguese Authorities, making those Islands, wliich are so nearly situated
** to the great Slave-trading murkets to the north of the Equator, depéts for Slaves drawn from-
«* thence. . ,
'€¢ In this case it does appear to me that Macedo sought to elude for fraudulent purposes, and

** that in fact he has eluded, the vigilance of the Governor of Princes, by giving a false cha~
«© racter to the Negroes embarked at that Island. I should not feel myself justified in a disregard
“© of the fraudulent shipment of these Negroes, as, in ny idea, such a disregard would be followed
** by other and more serious abuses of the permission granted by the Convention to embark Ne-
*© groes on board of merchant vessels as servants or satlors."* . .
” ¥ had ‘vot the happiness to have the concurrence of my colleagues in this opinion ;. they thought
that a necessity appeared for the embarkation-of these men at Princes Island.

In the interval that has passed, since the decision on the case of the Gaviao was given, f must

confess, with all deference fur the opinion of my colleagues, that 1 have not seen reason to think
‘differently of that case. ;
"” } have chosen to rest this ease upon the evidence of Franciseo and Antonio, as it bas appeared
teméthat the intent to traffick is more fully shewn with respect to them than it is shewn with

‘-tespecttoManoel, by his evidence. I think that the Captors have been deficient in not making
it appeartewhom Manoel belonged. ‘Fhe Master says that Manoel was in the.vessel when he
joinedatBahia;.but the name of the Slave dacs not appear in the muster-roll of the crew.

Htappears certain, hawever, that Manoel was in irons on shore at Princes, with the two
Slaves Antonio and Francisco 1 aim iu doubt whether Manoel was shipped at Princes er at
Bahia, but the balance of doubt is in his favour, and I accordingly think it right. that he should
be emazicipated with Francisco and Antonio. In conclusion, I give it as my opinion,‘that the-
Nymfa del Mar was justifiably detained by Sir Robert Mends; thatshe was liable to condemnation
for being illegally engaged in the Traffick in Slaves ; and that the three Slaves, Antonio, Francisco,
‘and Manoel, should be emancipated frem Slavery.

July 22, 1822 (Signed) “E. GREGORY.-

 

(Third Inclosure in No. 29.)

Decision of Mr. Fuzgerald,HisBritannich Majesty'sCommissioner of Ar--
bitration, upon the Case of the Portuguese Schooner. Nymfa del Mar.

IN this case the British and Portuguese CommissaryJudges had expressed opposite opinions;
the formes holding that the vessel was liable to condemnation, the latter conceiving that a right
to restitution was established The Commissary Judges. delivered their opinions on the 22d of
July.) Mr. Fizgerald having taken further time to consider, consulted with the Commissary
Judges on Saturday 10th of August, and communicated to them his opinion, and the grounds upon.
which he had formed it. That opinion was delivered as the final decision on the case: in the British
and Portuguese Court of Mixed Con,mission on the 28th of August 1822,
The Portuguese schooner, Nymiadel. Mar, Francisco Velloso Master, was detained by Com-

modore Sir Robert. Mends, commanding. His Majesty’s. ship Iphigenia on thé 6th day of April
3822, off Whydah, ia rhe Bight.of. Benin, in lat 6 deg 17min. N. and in long! 2 deg °35 cin.
i.having on. board,.as the declaration of; the Captor: states, ‘# three mén Slavestaken -on-:Voard:
** at Princes Island.” The grounds-of. detention were, ‘ that the said ‘vessel, at thetime:of -de-
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K rection, tad-# platform leid and every preparation made ‘for the receptionofa cargo. of.Slaves.

#f Thatthe threethénSlaves, viz, Antonio, Franco, and ‘Manoel, declare, that they were intended

to be sold at the Brazils, and that they were kept in Frons while on shore at Prinéés Island

t for the space of oré month; and that while on board the said vessel they were treated ii every
s wespect 48 Slaves, behig. kept in‘irons without clothes. and only liberatedand clothedwhen the

ve Iphigeniahove in sight.” ‘ ; /

«hedéclardGin of the Captor, from which this statement is extracted, proceefs thus ;. ‘* They

«¢- were also informed by the crew of the vessel, that there was a.large cargo of Slaves, about two

dehuadredti number, collected on shore ready for embarkation.” a,

‘> ‘Who thése avere thatwere thus informed by the crew of thé vessel ig not élear;, but. it would

seenr that the inforniation had been given inthé fitst instance to the Slaves, Antonio,Fran¢igco, and

Mavoel; and that-it was by then: communicatedto the Captors, |. oO

“Pes aidavit’ of Sir-Robert'Mends, ‘upon lodging the papers of the Nymfa del. Marin the Re-

gistry ot the Court, states, <* that he seized the schooner, of vessel, called. the Nymfa del. Mar,

« whereof Joze Francisco Velloso was Master,by#eason that thé said vessel was employed in the

is YPrasiek itt Slaves, contrary to the existing ‘Treaties ‘entered into with His Britannick Majesty

«cand His Most Faithful Majesty the King of Portugal.” /
Phe petition of the Proctor for the Captors, praying the usual’ monition, states, that the vessel

was detared « for being iegally engaged in the Slave Trade, having on board at the time. of

4© capture three Slaves for the purpose of traffick; that the said vessel was shortly afterwards lost

- «ear the mouth of the river‘Sémbrero, That ‘the’said three Staves have been brought to this

i#Qolany in His Majesty’s’ ship Iphigenia, having been taken out -of the said vessel at the time

#¥.6f bet wreck.” - . :

‘These papers, the declaration and affidavit of the Captor, and the petition of the Proctor, are

to Be'eSusidered as standing in the place of a libel, and as containing.a statement of thefacts-by

which the case for. the Captors is to be supported. - _ .

‘Yeis rather extraordinary that the. loss of the vessel is not is any way brought under. the, view

ofthe Court, except as it is noticed in the petition of the agent for the Captors, where ipig men-

¥oned! 48 a mere incidental matter, not supported by any affidavit, not explained by apy statement

‘of facts ov ‘circumstances: after iwhat had been said in Other cases, it cannot be regarded. cther-

aeise tliai-as matter of cilpable neglect that this deficiency was not supplied,. at least after. the

opinions to which allusion is here made were expressed in open Court. oe

“he want of information respecting the time and manner ofthis loss might placethe Coust.in

Gireviristances of gréat difficulty and délicacy.in that part of this case, thathas relation. pe:the

wessel, Velloso, the Master of the Nymfa del Mar, says, in his answerto the 8th standing: inter«

Fepatory; * Thé first port the schooner touched at after capture was Honee, from thence to.the river

3Sombierv, where she was wrecked: does not know for what reason she touched,at:those. Places,

#@ yor dovs be ‘know what communication took place with the boats and the. shore.”
¢ =

Tn 4 ase ofsnch doubtful nature, coming for decision to the third Meniber,of theCourt,,ja, bis

Strict capacity of Arbitrator,if it should happen to be thoughtbyhim a case for restitution, al-

thotigh there might be circumstancesto justify the detention,’ damages mast.be aw riled...undess

a proper explanation of these deviations could be given ; the duty of Captors being inall: eases

to’ Brinig the detained vessel directlyto the place of adjudication, if they are. not, prevented. by

eanses, the sufficiency of which, as well as the reality, is to be shewn by them when any question

- Wratsed respecting thase points. . oO
"“lPie question‘ of ‘the legality of ‘the deterition of the Nymfa del Mar, as it now. stands for the

decision of the Gourt, rests upon the point of the embarkation of ‘the three Slaves, Antonio,

Franco, ani Manoel, whether taey were embarked for the purposes of thetriffick, .ar for purposes

not immediately connected with the traffick. ‘The facts of the purchase of a cargo of two han~

alved and fifty Slaves collected on shoreand reaily. to beembarked, and of the platform being laid

ou board of the vessel in readiness for the reception of those Slaves, however decisive as to the

immediate employment of the vessel in the illegal trafick, are. not sufficient to warrant the con-

demnation of the ship, or other jadginent equivalent to ‘condemnation, unless the further fact of

the embarkation of a Slave or Slaves for the purposes of the traffick be joined with them, Such

embarkation is alledged in this case.to “have taken place in.the instance of. these three Slaves, and

ie is wot allédged to have taken ‘place in any other instance. Accordiig to, thepapers connected

with thé outfit of this véssel fron Bahia, the. object of her voyage was to trade for articles of

Jawful commerce, with an express exception against engaging in any way in the Siave Trade:

her, destination: was for.the-Islamt-of:St:Thomas and<Princes island)-with: liberty to touch on

the Coast ofElmina. Notwithstanding-the express exception against engaging in any wey in the

Slave ‘Trade, she is found an: the:eeast! near Whydah with a cargo of Slaves, purchased and col- ©

Aected. on’ shote, ..in readiness:for immediate-embarkation. She had already touched at Princes

Asland ; and it is alledged thatethere-the three Slaves, Antonio; Franco, and Manoel, were taken

Jin for the purposes of. the trailick:. :
At Princes Island it appears an importatit change took place with respect to the Officers and

evew : the present Master. who stands.oi the original. ship’s roll as mate or boatswain, (contra-

Mestre) receives the command ofthe vessel ; he is putin possession of her, as he says, by the Super-

eaxgo,Antonio JusedeBarros, ‘The former-Captain, Domingo ‘José. da Costa, enrolled as a native

of England, disappears from his-station; bat there is feasonte think thathe is the sameperson who

agpabsequently mentioned as thé American Captain,hb 4 note written by Bartos; apparently from

theshore while the-cargo wazin. preparation; This note is without a: date, it is signed Barres,
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anil is:addressedto Velloso on board-of the Nymfa. It conveys, among other matters, directions
from the American Captain” to get the vesselpainted, and ‘the American Captain” 78 agaia men«
tioned, inconnection withthe expected departure of thevessel from the coast, in such terms as leave
podoubtthat he was the person actually‘ia command, I think that there is as Hittle room to doubt
that.this American is the.same persou who appéars inthe original list as Domingo da Costa, wra-
tive of England. . -

Velloso tells us, in his answer to the sixth standing interrogatory, that the number ‘of “Officers
** and Mariners on-board weretwenty-seven, exclusive of himself;” he adds that “¢ they are all Pors
“* tuguese subjects; they all came.on board at Princes Island; they were all hired by the Super.
**cargo.”

Itis impossible to reconcile this statement with the list of the crew found among the original
‘elearance papers from Bahia, unless indeed we are to understand that a new voyage anda new come
‘pany were taken up at Princes Island, or at least that a new engagement was made for new pur-
poses with the old company. Either of these suppositions would lead to a direct conclusion of.a
covert design of illegal ‘Slave Trade in the original preparation of the voyage, that designbeing at-
tended with circumstances of dissimulation and bad faith, which necessarily tend to destroy:the
‘eredit of all those concerned in it, On the other hand if we suppose that the Master hasgivenan
untrue ‘statement,‘and that the crew-is the same. as that originally enrolled at Bahia, still serving
underthesame circumstances, that untrue statement must impair the credit .of the party making
at in other points also, . .

Ifthen we place the statement contained in the affidavit ofAntonia,Franco, and Manoel, in.
competition with the alternativeof a fabricated ship's-roll prepared at Bahia for undue and illegal
urposes, or of a false statement of a new crew engaged at Princes Island, the balance of -crédi-

Eaity will necessarily be in favour.of the three Negroes, .
“Fhe-statement made by the Negroes in their affidavit is “that they were severally carried from

** the coast as Slaves and landed at Princes Island ; that they ‘were sent on board the schooner
*¢ Nymfa del Mar in irons as Slaves; that they know they were to be gold as Slaves, becanse the
** Captain and people of the schooner-told them so, and because they were never treated as part
**-of the crew.”

Franco and Antonio further make oath ‘that they belonged to Mr. Xavier, the Governer of
‘* Princes, who put them in prison in irons, and told ‘them he -would send them off and seli-chem,

¢ and this he said to them several times when they begged :he would release them.”- ,
‘In opposition to these'statements, we have the answers of the Master, ‘Velloso, to specialinter-

fogatories put tohim on the part of the Captors, in which answers he says, “that be touk the
* Slaves, Francisco and Antonio, first‘on board at theIsland of Prinees, that the SlaveManel. was
on boardthe vessel when he joined ber at Bahia,” he says that ‘{ the three Slaves aforesaid

** belong to the Owner of the vessel, that the aforesaid Slaves have been.in irons on shore, but
**not on beard,” He bad previously said, in bisanswer. to the filth standing interrogatory concern-
ing the grounds of.the seizure of the vessel, that “ she was seized for having some domestick Slaves
*€ on-board who were mariuers, and who were Slaves the lest ten years, and were brought from
*¢ Princes Island.”
“Ftis-remarkable that on this statementthe Master does not makeany distinction with respect, to

Manoel, whom he subsequently states, in his answers to the special interrogatories, to have been
on board the vessel when he-himselt joined her-at Bahia. Jt appears. in fact that he had not any
otherintention when examined upon the standing interrogatories,than that of including the:whole
wf thecrewinthe. one alledged general shipment at Princes Island, Allowing him, however, to
‘separate Manoel, and making the question to rest upon the embarkation of Franco and. Antanio,
which of the two statements is the more credible, that of the Master asserting, that these Slaves
awere mere domestich Slaves put on beard as mariners, or that of the Slaves themselves, who say
they:-were put ov board in order that they should be subsequently sold, unless indeed they. were
sald befere their embarkation hy Mr. Xavier, to the Agent of Burboza, the Owner of the
Wyaifa del.Mar, and then it would remain to be -shewn, haw they were to. be regarded. as -distinot
from the general cargo-of Slaves tothe ameunt of ‘two hundred and.fifty in number,” who were,
asthe Master avows, in answer tothe fourteenth standing interrogatory, purchased on shoreat
‘Whydah for the purpose of embarking, but-in consequence of a few being wanted they.were
met shipped.*
__ Rvestimatingthe.point of personal credibility, it has already.appeared that the balance inclined
du-favour of the Negroes against the: Master. In estimating the-matters of fact-reciprocallyalledged
by those parties, together with the attending-circumstances, when we bear in mind that the two
“Shaves, Franco and Antonio, accordingto their-own statement, were-kept in irons on-shore by
“their former Master, Mr, Xavier, and threatened-with a determination to,sell them, when they
dhegyed him ‘to release them; that they were subsequently put on boayd:in irons as Slaves.; that
‘they were toldby the Captain and people that they were to be sold again as Slaves; and that they
were not treated as part of the crew: bearing iu mind algo, that a cargo-of Slaves hasbeen pur-
evased.for this vessel in violation of ‘the. Treaty and Convention between Great Britain and Por-

. tugal, and: equally in violation of the passport granted for this-special voyage, a strong primary
3mipression is:made, that. these.tao Slaves were.embarked for purposes.of the traffick, ‘Ehis im
Pression mast, remain in. force. ‘uuless .it be removed:by opposite evidence ; but if; we look.tothe
“opposite evidence-in. this case; what is the amount-of it? - ; / oe

_ ‘Fhe-Master, in hisanswers to the special interrogatories put on-the.part of the Captors, states,
‘that: ErasicaandAntoniowere.tabei on-Doard-at Princes Island; that.theyhad been kept in isons,
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on ‘shore, but were not kept in irons on Board; that they belong to the Owner ofthe.vessel.

Thereig not in this any thing contradictory of the statement of Franco and Antonio, thag they.

belonged to Mr. Xavier, of’ Princes Island, who kept them in irons, with a declared determina-

tion to sell them, On the contrary, if the statement of the Master be true, it is to be inferred,

that Mr. Xavier did sell them to the agent of Barboza, the Owner of the Nymfa del Mar, Neither:

js there any thing te eontradict the destination for further sale, which these Slaves declare on the

authority of communications from the Captain and people of the schooner to them. The.

natural conclusion is, that these two would have been thrown into the gerieral cargo, to

take the course of the market at Bahia, and that this was the intent and purpose of their

sewbarkation. ,
Being about to pronounce in this case an opinion different from that which I formed on the

_-gomewhet similar case of the Gaviao, in which I had to decide,asin the present instance, upon.

diversity of opinion between the two Commissary Judges, it is incumbent upon me to shew the

difference of circumstances in the present case, upon which the difference of my opinion respecting

it, from that given by me in the former case, is founded.
This explanation is the more necessary, as Mr. Gregory has adverted to the case of the Gaviso,

with expressions of satisfaction with his own opinion upon that case, and of his conviction of the

propriety of judging this case by the application of the principles, and the reasoning by whichthat

opinion was guided and regulated. It will be seen, that, although I agree with Mr, Gregory on

the decision to be pronounced in this case, the principles and the reasonings from which my coin-

eidence with him arises are the same that governed my judgment in the case of the Gaviao, and

spon that case J still adhere to the opinion given by me in judgment upon it.
Before I enter into the comparative view which I propose to take of the circumstances of the

cases of the Gaviae, and of the Nymfa del Mar, with respect to the embarkation of the Negroes

tuken’ on board of both those vessels at Princes Island, and with respect’ te the ehjects and pur-

poses of that embarkation, I think it proper to separate the Negro Manoel altogether from the
matter in question: that Negro states, in nis part of the supplementary affidavit of the Negroes,
filed einee the last hearing of the caase, “that he was purchased in the river Gaboon, about six
4« years ago, by Antonie Barba, and thathe was in prison at Princes Island about four weeks.”

Theperson who is here ealled Antonio Barha, is, I eoneeive, no other than the Supercargo, Antonio

Jose de Barres, I do net see how this Negro, so many years the Slave of a Master who was on

hoard of the vessel, or nearly.connected with her, can be excluded from the exemption fromthe

rigorous provisions of the Treaty, establistied by the Treaty itself with respect to Slaves so eir-

cumetaaced, I de not see how his iniprisonment on shore for some time previous to his embarka-
tion, or even hisbeing in irens om board, er. any other of the cruel hardships incident to a state

~of slavery, can fornish grownd for @ judgment adverse to the Owners, so far as. the case has relation
especially to kim. a
"The ease of the Nymfa del Mar rests therefore upon the legality er theillegality ofthegmbark=

ation. of the two Negroes, Antonio and Franco, ue ;
_ The diflerence of the eircaniatances of the embarkation ef thete two-Negroes at Prices

Island, from the cir¢umstanees.of the embarkation of the Negroes taken on board at-that Place,

by the Gaviao, are these :— . ms
In the ease of the Gaviao, there was-a petition te the Goversor of Princes Island, for leave to

entbark the four Negroestaken aa boardot the Gaviae at-that Place: that petition stated, aé the
ground of the applieation, that the vessel wanted some additional hauds.- ‘The permissionof
the Governor was grauted, and these four Negroes were taken on board of the Gaviao. ac-

-oortiagly. : .

In the gase of the Nymfa del Mar, no such‘permission is shewn to have been granted or
sought,

In the-easeof the Gaviao,. the truth andthe snfficiency ef the motives of the embarkation were
strictly investigated. ‘Ihe reduction of the original crew, the cause assigned for the want whieh
these Negroes were to supply,-qwas considered to be fully proved.

In the-ease of the Nymdfa del Mar, a0 cause whatever is assigned for the embarkation of the
Negroes, Franco andAntonio.

In the case of the Gaviao, the allegations that the Negroes were kept in irons were disproved,

with the exeeption of the temporary employment of them for the correction of a Negro of per-
versedisposition,named Now, whe-refused to take food, and wanted to destroy himself, and even
in that instance. theiros were taken of as-seon as the perverseness jvas carrested. | :

In the case of the-Nymfa det Mar, the cployment of irons while the Negroes were om shore
isadmitted bythe Master: theewploysentof them on board also ig not disproved sufficiently to -
‘conateract the-deelaration of-the Negroes that they were so employed, oo

In-the oase-of the Gaviae, the Negroes were oceupied in the warks ef the sbip,. and teeated as
the: rest ofthe-orew.

Inthe case ofthe Nymfa del Mar, these Negroes were kept distinct from the crew, and treated
6 Negroes -are when destined for the traffick.

In-addition to these distinctioas, which are sufficiently numerons and snfficiently marked. there
js this further and most material difference, that, in theease of the Gaviao, it was eleasly. poaved
‘that pot.one Slave had been purchased-for the cargo in-theordinary way of the trade, Jn thecase
of the Nymfa del Mar, it is proved, andit-is-admitied, that-a cargo oftwobhundgedand fifty Slaves
‘werepurchased and in readiness for enibarkation omshee, at the time:ofcapture, |

In-sil-caves in which actual Slave Trade exists,.in-thisgeneralfoum,,the:purahases.and: ship-
ments of individual Negzoes within the prohibited linilts mustbe tren tobe Hlegal, ugless sufr
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ficient causé be assigned and satisfactorily proved. .In the case of the Gaviao, althoughnogene-
ral Slave Trade. existed, the particular embarkation was justified by cause assignedand fully
proved, In the case of :the Nymfa ‘det Mar,although the existence of general ‘SlaveTrade Is
proved and admitted, no justification is offered, no cause, no excuse is assigned for the particular
shipment; on the same, grounds, therefore, upon which the Gaviao was restored, and uponevery
one of those grounds, and -by the same reasoning upon them, the Nynata del Mar should be
condemned. . oo,

Since it has: been necessary to notice so far the case of theGaviao, I think it not amiss to add
here, what may be considered as after-proofs, confirming the prior evidence upon which the judg~
ment in that case was pronounced, : oS
The minute and protracted investigation of the claim for damages consequent upon the resti-

tution, kept the case very long uuder-the view of the Court, and, according as any particular -cir-.
cumstance arose to affect the general low estimation of the credit of Slave-trading witnesses, stis-

picions were from timeto time formed, which were not in any instance suffered to pass out of
sight until it was ascertained that they did not afford any ground to reconsider the judgment,
already passed. If any such ground should have been discovered, I distinctly expressed to Mr,
Gregory niy intention to revert upon the prior part of the case, and to deprive the Claimant of the
benefit of the decision pronounced in his favour. :

It did happen that a suspicion was excited that the men who were said to bave left the vessel

were still on board. J proposed immediately that, without giving any notice, the ‘whole. of the,

persons on board should be brought before the Court ina body, Mr. ‘Altavilla offered to accom-
pany Mr. Gregory or myself on board the vessel, in order to make the investigation there : but
the unfavourable state of the weather,and the reports of the foul and noisome condition in. which,
the vessel was, caused that proposal to be ‘declined. All those of the crew whose health would,
admit were brought hither into Court before the Commissioners, and it was found that, although

there was one man on board whose name was not on the roll, and who had-not been mentioned.
to the Court, there was not any one on board, of those who were stated to have lefithe vessel,
and every one ot them had been ow board originally. The cireumstances connectéd with the de-:
patture of some ‘of them were more particularly explained. Oneof them, who had. beey Pilot,
quarrelled with the Master, and sued him at law for bis wages, at Sr: Paalde Loando, where- thé

vessel pat in on her first arrival:upon the coast ; there that Pilot left the vessel, and the Judge of
the Court awarded his wages to him: The name of this person was Ateide. : a
~ The seaman who. had not previously appeared had been taken on board'at Bahia; -he gave the
name of the Portuguese frigate by which two men of: the Gaviao were impressed off that: place,
She was called the Beadora,” She was known to him as-having been built at Bahia. ;

Another circumstance which excited suspicion was,that four convics had been sent to Angola,
asaplace of transportation from Pernambuco, on board of the Gaviao. No mention bad: bear

nmiade of these in the course of the examinations, and that was the ground of thé suspicion: con-
nected with them.
“Itwasfound upon inquiry that they did not form any-part of the crew; neitherdid they in-

terfere with the correctness of the statement given by the Master; it was thereforethought that
no ground existed for instituting a more formal investigation,
The total nimber: of men on board'of the Gaviao, including’ the three Negroes from St: Tho-

amas’s, and thefour Negroes trom Princes Island, was only twenty, a number far short of her-due
complement, according to the usual average of crews in the Portuguese Slave Trade,

' - After-the final closeof the case, ‘still further circumstances arose confirmatory of the grounds
of the judgment that had been pronounced, The Slaves taken onboard of the Gaviao, at St. Fhomas’s,
and at’ Princes Island, with the excéption-oftheone named Now, who is:still-at Regent Town,
were settled at Sierra Leone as freemen, in several employments,more or less profitable; one of therit;

‘acooper; Who was put of board at St. Thomas’s, was in the service ‘of’ Mr. Georgé Nicol, who
paid-hiin five shillihgs’a.day, anid was well satisfied. with him ;~ yet allof these, this cooper.as
well as the others, made choice to're-embark on board of the Gaviao to accompany their Master
Macedo, to ‘his ititerior destination, rather than to remain in. this Colony: - This is, at least, ‘a
convincing proof that they did not look forward to any rigorous slavery; much Tess. to being

subjected to the ordinary ptrposes and the-conimon. course of the traffick.
A furthef. circuiistance.still of confirmation, of the evidence upon which the decision of the

case of. the Gaviao ‘rests, was found more recentlyin the perusal of the mass of papersof every
description brought into the British and’ Portuguese Mixed Court in the case of ‘thé Conde dé
Villa Flor. ‘In the special examination of Macedo, the Master of the Gaviao, when that- person
wag: required to accotint for the departure of every individual absent from the ship’s couspany,
according to the original roll, he stated that Azevedo, the first Clerk named in tae roll, did-not
sail-svith bim; havinggone on board of another vessel belonging to’the same Owner, Among ‘the
papers on board of the Conde de Villa Flor a log-book was found belonging to a vessel called the
Ha-do Dios da Morgueifa, the property of that Owner, Elias ‘Coelho Cintra, of Pernambuco;

That log-book contained the journal of a voyage of: that vessel from Pernambuco to Bissao, at
thetine wheh Muicedo was on the voyage in which be was taken in the Gaviao ; and in that log-
book Azevedo was named‘as first Clerk of that vessel.
* Lhis is a wifiitg-circdmstance in itself, but itis strong in confirmation of the realityof that
@éficleucy of which the absence of the identical personformed a material part. ae
The reference so particularly iade to. thie case of the Gaviao, will be my excuse for'reciting these

civoumatances, collected aiidmarked ia remembrance by me, with reference to'that case which, did
not céase to-eligage myaost atkivns consideration; for1 was well atvate that my decision upon:
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that case would undergoa rigid scrutiny, as being the first instance in which.aBritish Commissioner

decided for the restitution of a vessel detained on a charge of being engaged in egal Slave Trade.

I was also well aware that there were individuals who would employ evéry art and every effort ta
‘pring that decision into disrepute anddisgrace. I have had, therefore, a satisfaction whichwill,
be easily understood in the accession of these circumstances of confirmation to my former convic-
tion; and without undervaluing Mr. Gregory's confidence in the propriety of his opinion, I am

strengthened in my confidence of thé propriety of mine. a
“The case of the Nymfa del Mar, has been shewn to be altogether different from the case of the

Gaviao, in the most material circumstances, and it is in consequence of that difference that I
pronounce a decision as different. In the -case of the Gaviao, the Slaves taken on board at St.
“fPhomas and Princes Islands, appeared to have. been embarked for other purposes than those of the
"Tyallick, In the case of the Nymfa del Mar, the Slaves, with respect to whom the question has
arisen; appear to have been embarked for the purposes ofthe traffick, and for those purposes alone.
The question is not, as the Agent for the Captors has contended, a mere question of law, on the
contrary it isa mere question of evidence. The late additional Article has strengthened the law ;
but the principle of the law of this case I consider to have been settled in the case’of the GaViao;
in which it was agreed that an embarkation of Slaves for the traffick from the Islands on -the
African Coast, belonging to Portugal, is to be regarded as on the same footing with an embarka-

tion. of the same nature from the coast itself. The question is, therefore, a mere question of
evidence, with the view to ascertain whether the embarkation was for the traifick; in this case, it
ig proved to my full conviction that the embarkation was for. the traffick. ‘ a

'The decision is, that the Nyntéa del Mar, at the time of her detention, was engaged in the illegal
traffick for Slaves, and that slie was subject and liable to condemnation, and would be condemnéd
as. prize to-the Crowns of Great Britain and Portugal, if she had not perished at sea.
The Slaves belonging to the Nymfa del Mar, to whom the prineiples and the reasoning upon

which this. decision rests are.applicable, are to be emancipated, These ate the two named Afito='
nio, and Franco, or Francisco. The third Slave, Manoel, does not come under thé provisions of
theTreaty and Convention between Great Britain arid Portugal, or rather he is excluded fromthe
operation, by. special provisions. contained in the ‘Freaty as well as in the Convention, respecting’
Negro servants.and sailors belonging to Subjects of the Crown. of Portugal.

(Signed) EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

Noe. 30.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald te Mr. Secretary Canning.—{Recewed
May 36, 1823.)

(Extract.) . Sterra Leone, Dec. &, 1822.

We have the honour to forward to you an abstract ofthe case of the Portu-
guese brig Commerciante, taken onSept. 7, 1822, in the river Cameroons, by
the boats of His Majesty’s ship Driver, dispatched. by Captain Wolrige,
of that ship, under the command. of Lieutenant King, The Commerciante
was'condemned by the British and Portuguese Mixed Court, on December 7,

You are respectfully requested to:observe, that, asthe boats of theDriver
approached. the: Place where the Commerciante was at atichor, a Tandiig
of Slaves from that:vessel was perceived, whicli Slaves were deliveredup and.
re-embarked, on demand made to the local Chiefs. | — a
_We would beg leave to request your particular attention to the peritiission

given, in the royal passport found on board of the Commercianté, to call at
the Cameroons, St. Thomas, andPrinces Island, for objects of lawful com-
merce, such as gold, palm-oil, and ivory. This pretended lawful commerceto
the Northward’of the. Line is altogether ineonipatible, in reality, with a
Slave-trading voyageto the Stations, in which that trade is permittedtoPortu«
guése Subjects South. of the Line. The.only object that such an asseciation,
¢an have, is to afford. facility toillegalSlaveTradein the Stations to: the North

"of the Line. 7 . oe
‘The practice recently common: amongthePortuguese mariners on this
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coast, of agreeing to give the name of Molembo, or Cabinda, (Stations of legal
Portuguese Slave Trade). to Places to the Northward of the Line, where their
Slaves have been embarked, was remarkably exemplified in this case of
the Commerciante.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
TheRight Hon. George Canning, EDWARD FITZGERALD.

&e. Se. &e.

 

(Inclosure in No. 30.)

Case of the Portuguese Brig Commerciante, condemmed in the British
and Portuguese Court of Mixed Commission, on Saturday, December 7,
1822.

THE brig Commerciante, Domingo Ribeiro Folha, Master, was taken on the 7th of Septem-
ber. 1822, in the river Cameroons, by the boats of His Majesty's ship Driver, detached by Captain.
Wolrige of that ship, under the command of Lieutenant King. eo
The declaration of Captain Wolrige states the particulars of the capture in the following terms +
** T despatched two boats belonging to the said sloop up the river Cameroons, for the purpose

*S of capturing all vessels illegally trafficking in Slaves ; and at 7 4. w., Saturday the 7th of Sép-
** tember 1822, Lieutenant King in command of the said boats, and acting by my orders, did cap-
. ture the Portuguese brig Commerciante, Domingo Ribeiro Folha, Master, he having. distinctly
“* observed when pulling up to her that she was landing Slaves, -and which was admitted by the
** crew at his taking possession, and further the said Slaves were instantly and voluntarily re-em-
«barkedby the Native Chief, from whom they had been purchased.”

_ Whe latitude and longitude of the place of capture is not mentioned either in the declaration, or
inanyother of the documents filed on the part of the Captor. ;

’ The riverCameroons, according to general estimation, is in lat. 3, 40 North.
_ [twas foundby the inspection of the documents belonging to the vessel, that the Commerciante
had regular papers for a legal Slave-trading voyage from Bahia to Molembo, with liberty to call at the
Cameroons and-at St. Thomas's and Princes Islands for purposes of lawful commerce. This liberty
has..been.in-this instance, as in all others that have come under the notice of the British and Por~
tugueseCourt, made the means ofgiving facility to illegal Slaye Tradeina Stationmorefayourable
for that Traffick, to the Northward of the Line. Lo, .
There is a Royal Passport from the provisional janta of Government at Bahia, authorizing the

voyage in this course, and limiting the number of Negroes to be imported on board of the vessel to
‘six hundred aid twelve, being in proportion of five to every two tons, as fixed by law, her burthea
being two hundred and sixty-five tons,

Francisco Ignacio Cerqieiro Nobre, of Bahia, was the Owner of this vessel. _ .
“The Commerciante sailed trom Bahia on the 10th ofJune 1822. On the I6th of July, accord-

ing to thelog-book, she was.in sight of Cape Palmas ; and on the 24th of that month, she entered.
the river Cameroons, Here the journal apparently ends. ‘The memorandum of the entry. into-the
river is ‘written at the top of the last page, which is already full; but short entries are made in
another patt for the subsequent days, down to the 6th of September inclusive, which was the day
preceding the Capture. ‘Theseentries are found in the margin of ‘the first pages of the book be-
ginning with the 25th day of July, which is called the first day on shore. A note is prefixed,
stating that the vessel had been forty-seven days at sea, to the day of entering the river inclusive,
Thus the sixth day of September is the forty-third day on shore, and opposite to the note of that
day, op the margin atthe other side of the page, is a note of the same form, stating that four
Slaves had died-on shore down to the end of August. These nofes are made in such a form, that; ..
without minute examination, they might pass for the: common-place remarks in the ship’sxecloning. en
.There is another series of notes, on a small scrapofpaper, prefixed to a collection of papers de>

liveted ‘into the Registry; which series seems to-have been intended to correspond with the list: of
deaths of Negroes at the end of the marginal notes already mentioned. This series runs thus: ..
“ 13th day of August- - - = «= - = one Negro died

20th,- - - = - - = = = - «©: one Negro died
28th - = = - - ee we oneNegro died

ee 2d of September - ~ - - ~ ~ ~ oneNegro died.
- These nates, collectively and separately, conneet this vessel and her transactions down from the

fime when Sheappeared on the coast to her entrance into the river Cameroons, and from thatto the
time when shewastaken in the Slave Trade to the northward of the Line. She could. not possibly
have goue first to Molembo and thence come to the Cameroons, The entries oflatituide.in the log-book from the 29th of June, when she crossed to the northward of the Line, are invariably -on thatsidedown to the day of her entrance into the Cameroons, and from that day down to-ihe cap-
ture. the. notes -already mentioned shew ‘that she. remainedstationarythere, Consequently the
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Mate (Martins), as well as the seaman Cabreira, must have spoken falsely in declaring, in the
examinations on the standing interrogatories, that the vessel had been at Molembo, and had come

thence to the Cameroons. “his allegation could only be explairied by supposing that these men
applied the name. of Melembo indefinitely to the Slave-trading Stations to the northward of the
Liae; but as there is not in the log-book any mention of having entered into or having seen any
of those Stations, from the time of making the cvast near Cape Palmas to the time of going into
the Cameroons, they cannot have even the benefit of this excuse,

“Martins makes a general ackuowledgment of Slave-trading transactions in the Cameroons, in
answer to the interrogatories upon that head, Cabreira, in ‘the first instance, denies that any
Slaves had been on board for the traffick during the voyage, as stated in the testimony of Martins,-
to whose statement Cabreira indirectly accedes, in his answers to the fourth special interrogatory,

put to him on the part of the Captors, saying, that <* many black people went on shore from the
“¢.Commerciante on the appearance of the man-of war’s boats. He does not ‘know whether
“they are Slaves or not.” After this admission, ‘there cannot be any doubt that Slaves had
been oti board for. the purposes of the traffick; and that they were landed'on the approach of the .
boats of the Driver, as stated in the declaration of the Captor. A further confirmation is found
dn the answer of the same Cabreira to the fifth special interrogatory, in which he says, ‘* he does
« notknow whether the Slaves which were on board of the brig, on her arrival at this Port, were

<¢.on board before her capture. or not.” :

‘These answers, at the same time that they amount toa full admission of the fact of the em-

barkation.of Slaves for the traffick before the capture, which fact this witness had before abso-
Jutely denied, shew a strong disposition and determination to eonceal the truth by means of
perjury and prevarication..
“The Commissioners agreed, that some means ought te be adopted, to counteractthe growing

practice of applying ‘the false name.of Molemboto the Slave-trading stations, tothe Northward
ofthe Line; and if the Court should not, ‘in the present instance, animadvert upon the trans-
‘pressions of Martins, as well as of Cabreira in this ‘respect, it appeared that, at least, Cabreira
ought: to be committed tothe-custody of the Marshal, ‘for his gross prevatication respecting the
fact of the embarkation of Slaves for the traffic. , ‘
“The Commerciante was condemned by theunanimous decision of the Cotmmissioners, as’ prize

‘to the Crowns of Great Britain and Portugal. The Slaves belonging. to her were emancipated ;
they were-one hundred and sixty-seven ; thirteen of:those delivered up as belonging to her, having.
died on the passage from the Cameroons to Sierra Leone. ,
An order was made for-the commitment of Diego ‘Cabreira, for prevarication ‘in his ‘afttswers

upon the examination before the Registrar. oS SO
‘The medical Officer, attachedtotheCommissions (Mr. Shower) having recominended™int’‘his
repore upon visiting the Commerciante, the landing of the whole of the Slaves as early ‘as’ possible; ©
on thé ground that, although they were in a pretty good state ofhealth, many-of them were ‘much
emaciated and weakened, an order for the landing of the whole was dispatehedsforthwith, on No~
wember 15, the day of the arrival. _-

(Signed) E. GREGORY. —
EDWARD ‘FITZGERALD,

 

 

No. 31.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitegerald to Mr. Secretary Canning—(Reeeived —
May 19.) .

(Extract,) Serra Leone, January 1, 1823.

WE have the henour to lay before you an abstract.of the case of the
Portuguese brigantine San dntonio de Lisboa, detained by His: Majesty’s
ship Bann, Captain Phillips, for being engaged in thie illicit Traffick in Slaves,
and condemned in the British ‘and Portuguese Courtof MixedCommission,
on the23d ultimo. 7
You will observe, Sir, that the gross: prevarications committed by the

Master and Surgeon of the Lisboa, in asserting in the first instance, and
maintaining almost to the last moment, that the Slaves were embarked at
Molembo, drew forth the animadversion of the Court, by whose order the
offending individuals were committed to thecustody of the Marshal.

(Signed) | E. GREGORY.
me an EDWARD FITZGERALD.|
The Right Hon. George Canning,

ee Be Be
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(Inclosure in No. 31.)

Abstract ofthe Case of the Portuguese Brigantine, Santo Antonio de Lisboa,
Joxé Machado, Master, condemned on Monday the 23dofDecember 1822. .

THE Santo Antonie de Lisboa, awned by Francisco Xavier Leao, of Bahia, was fitted out at
that Place professedly for a Slave-tradiug vayage to Molembo. She had reguiar clearance papers
with a Royal passport, numbered thirteen, and dated the 2d of May 1822, authorizing her to
proceed to Molembo, via St. Thomas and Princes Islands. She was allawed to take in two hundred
and ninety-five Slaves, whieh number was proportioned tq her burthen of one hundred and
eighteen and a quarter tous, as stated in the passport, . ,

The Santo Antonio de Lisboa, sailed from Bahia, an the Lath of May. 1822; on the l5th.af
July, she was found off Porto Nova, in lat. 6 deg. 20 min. North, long. 3 deg. 35 min, East,by
His Majesty’s ship Driver, Ou the passport of the Brigantine there appeared the following notes
of visitations made on board of the vessel from several of His Majesty’s cruizers at different times.

Boarded. 15th July 1822, off Porto Novo, by His Majesty’s ship Driver, signed John King,
Lieutenant. . mc , oo. _

Boarded, 8th of August 1822, by His Majesty’s brig. Suapper, off Porto Novo, signedT. H.
Rothbrey, Lieutenant and Commander. oe

Boarded, 30th of August 1822, by His Majesty’s ship Bann, off Porto Novo, signed Jobn
Hudson, Liewenant. : :

The -brigantine was brought to Sierra Leone, on the Lith of November,. the declaration to he.
made by Captors, on the detention of Portuguese Slave-vegsels, was.not forwarded by the Captor
in this case. But by the affidavit that was made by Lieutenant Cotgrave, of the Bani, on.

bringing the papers of the Santo Antonio de Lisboa, into the. Registry Office, it appeared that the
brigantine was detained, on the 5th of October 1822, in lat. 6.deg, 20min. North, long. 2deg.
43.min, East, by His Majesty’s ship Bann, Captain Phillips, for being engaged in an illicit traffick
in Slaves; and bya certificate of Captain Phillips, dated the 6th of October 1822, that. was filed,
in the Registry on the day of adjudication, it appeared that there were three hundred. and. thirty.
six Slaves on board at the date of capture.

The witnesses who were examined in the case, were the Master, Machado, and the Surgeon,
Phelipe Sierra. . :
The Master declared, in answer to the standing interrogatories, that the voyage commenced at

Bahia; that the last clearing Port, the vessel sailed fram wasMolembo.3 that she anchored at

Moalembo, at Elana, and at Porto Novo; that she went: to Molembo for Slaves, to Elmina and
to. Pyrto. Novo to. sell tobacco ; that all the Slaves were taken on board at Molembe.

' Sierra, the other witness, declared, in his answers to the standinginterrogatories, thag al). the

Slaves.were taken. on board at Molembo, hut hg professed ignorance of the vessel's having touched
at anyother Place than at Molembo, he having been, as he stated, Jeft on shore at that Place,

‘In answer to Special Interrogatories put to these men on the part of. the Captors, the Master,
after some attempts at evasion,saidthat the whole eargo-of. Slaves in question was purchasedin
theBight of Benin, viz..at Porto Novo, and there embarked, that his Slaves had beenbut one
day on board, when his vessel was seized. The Surgeon in answer to the same interrogatories;
professed igirerance of all matters, touching the place ofthe embarkation of the Slaves, though he
could not, as he answered, take on himself to swear on the Bible or Holy Cross, that the Slaves
werenot embarked inthe Bight of Benin or Biafra, as he was up. the country sick, and when be
came down, he found the vessel ready for sea.
The affidavits of two of the Slaves found: on board of the brigantine were also taken on the

part of the Captors. “hese Slaves deposed ‘‘that they were Natives of Dahomy,. and were
« purebased as Slaves.in that Country by Jozé Machado, the Master of the schooner San Antonio
«*.de. Lisboa, who is produced and recognized by them, who kept them -coufined in irons,
“being chainect by the legs. to. each other, and with, an iron chain round -their necks 5
** that-they, with the-rest ofthe Slaves, werecarried from the shares of Dahomy to the schooner
** ip. canoes, and embarked all in one day; that on the eighth day afterwards theywere taken by
* the man of war.” “Phe Slaves could‘uot. have been on board so long before thedetention’ took
place, ‘according to the confession of the Master, and accordingtowhat appeared written in @
journal found ov board of the vessel by the Captors. 7

This journal states thearrival of the brigazitineatPorto Novo on the 27th o. June 182%, and
states the occurrences of each day, tothe 5th ot October following, whilst the vessel lay off Porto:
Novo. It’states the outward cargo ‘to haveheen landed.at Porto Novo ;. and in regard to what
vey -to have beea the homeward cargo, it cogtains an enery;made on the 5th of October, as
oblows<

; _... *Sabuday5th.ofOctober, 1822,
« ‘Day. ot ne} “* At daybreak, the sky and, the horizon clouded ; wind fresh trom the-W.

voyage, 145," 3 ** S$.Wi; launches and canoes. went from all the vessels; tobring our.bales,
_f' whiol: were 388, we experienced the greatest pleasure. that can be conceived; we made sail
* at foor o'clock in ‘theaftertoonfrom:Melembo for Bahia: noilingyfaxther’* —
The 330 bales here mentioned, were the 330.Slives, which,with six Slaves in addition, were
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found on board of the vessel at the time of her detention by the Bann, a few hours after the de-

arture from Porto Novo, the Molembo of the Slave-dealers.

he Commissioners taking into consideration the inherent-improbability and inconsistency of
the original statements of the Master and Surgeon of the San Antonio, alledging that the Slaves

were embarked at Molembo, aud that the vessel went from that Place to Kimina, and from

Elmina to Porto Novo, withthose Slaves on board, in order to sell tobacco; considering ulso the

facts and. circumstances tending to impress a full persuasion that the whole of the business of. the

voyage was transactedatPorto Novo, down to the embarkationof the Slaves, described in terms

_of suchstroug exultation in the journal; considering further the declaration of the Slaves of

Dabomy, purchased in that Country and brought directly thence for embarkation ; considering,

finally, the ultimate admission of the Master, when examined on special interrogatories, that the

«« wholeof the Slaves were purchased in the Bight of Benin, viz. at Porto Novo, and there em-

+ barked.”
On all ‘these considerations, the Commissioners were convinced that the Slaves were embarked

at. Porto, Novo to the north of the Equator ; that the Santo Antonio de Lisboa was engaged in

the illegal ‘I'raffick in Slaves, and were of opinion, accordingly, thatshe should be condenmed as
prize to the Crowus of Great Britain and Portugal, and that her Slaves sliould be emancipated,

“Yhe Master and Surgeon were committed to the custody of the Marshal for prevarication iu
their evidence. oe .

Partof the Slaves of the Santo Autonio de Lisboa, soon after the detention, were put on board
of.a Spanish Schooner, named the Sau Rafael, that had been previously detained by the Bann.
The Slaves on board of this vessel, and those left on board of the brigantine, arrived at Sierra Leone
ia a sickly state, some of them being infected with the small pox: several Slaves had died on the

passage to Sierra Leone.
.

At the recommendation of Mr. Shower, the Medical Officer attendant on the Slaves, part of
them, and ‘subsequently, on the petition of the Captors, the whole of the Slaves were given
over tothe humane care of the Colonial Authorities and Medical Officers of the Colony.
‘Two hundred and ninety-one Slaves were emancipated,

no (Signed) E. GREGORY. a
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

No. 32. |

Messrs. Gregory and Fuzgerald to Mr. Secretary Canning —(Receiued
May 10.)

Sr, Sierra Leonc, January 2; 1823.

WEhave the honour to inclose herewith, for your information, an-abstract
of the case of the Portuguese schooner Juliana, detained with one hundred
and twelve Slaves on board, on the 3ist ofOctober last, in lat. 5 deg. 43 min.
N.long. 3 deg. 17 min. E. by His Majesty’s ship Bann, CaptainPhillips. The
Slaves had been embarked at Porto Novo, in lat. 6 deg. 20 min.N. the. day
preceding the capture of the vessel. The Juliana was condemned as prize, and
her Slaves emancipated. .
” We have the honour to be, &e

(Signed) E. GREGORY. .
The Right Hon. George Comin . ' EDWARD FITZGERALD.

&e. &e. Ce

 

(Inclosure in No. 32.) -

Abstract of the Case of the Portuguese Schooner Juliana, Joao Exequiel:
Leal, Muster, condemned on Monday the 30th of December 1822.

_ THIS vessel appeared to have cleared out at the Portuguese Island of Saint Thomas; the
papers found on-board of the schooner appeared to lave been given by the Authorities there;
they stated ‘the vessel to belong to Bahia, and to be owned by Inocéncio Marques. No papers,
however, from the Authorities at Bahia appeared amongst these that were obtained at Saint

omas’s. : a -.
There was a simple passport from the Provisional-Gavernment of Saint ‘Thomas, dated the 9th

of October 1821, authorising the Juliana to proceed ta the Coast of Tilmina, to engage in the

*¢ licit traffick in cloths, gold,ivory and vil."". ‘There appeared amuster-soll, stating the crew to.
‘Consist of twenty-eight persons, including the Master, -
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Tie Juliana was detained on the 3lst of October 1822, by His Majesty’s ship Bann, Captain

Piillips, in lat. 5 deg. 43 min, N. long. 3deg. 17 min, E. with one hundred and twelve Slaves on .

board, She was brought to Sierra Leone on the 19th of December.
The witwesses examined in the case were Phelipe Santiago, seaman, and Bernardo Merelles,

barber, or surgeon. They deposed that the Juliana belonged to Bahia, and to Inocencio Marques,
“who resided there; that the voyage began at Bahia, and was to -have ended at that Place; that
‘they went to Porto Novo, which is in let. 6 deg. 20min. N. long. 3 deg, 35 min. E.; that the
-sehooner took in her Slaves at that Place on the day preceding her capture.

The Commissioners on this evidence decreed the condemnation of the Juliana as prize to the
Crowns of Great Britain aid Portugal, for being engaged in the illicit Traffick in Slaves, and de-
creed her Slaves, ninety-four in number, to be cinancipated.
At the recommendation of the ‘Medical Officer attendant on the Slaves, Mr. Shower, and on

the petition of the Proctor for the Captors, the Slaves were landed, as being’in a weak and sickly

state, the day after the arrival of the Juliana. :

On the face of the Juliana’s‘papers there appeared notes of visitations made on board from
several of His Majesty’s cruizers, ‘hese notes shew the extraordinary length of time that the
schooner remained ‘on the coast, as well as that they shew the fearlesspess with which her people
pursued the illicit Traffick‘in Slaves on shore at Porto Novo, These notes appear on the passport
in the following order :

Bearded, 18th April, by His Majesty’s ship Morgiana, signed Thomas Ross, Lieutenant.
Boarded, 6th May 1822, by His Majesty’s ship Pheasant.
-Boarded, 29th May 1822, by His Majesty's brig Thistle.
-Boarded, 15th July 1822, by His Majesty’s ship Driver, signed J.King, Lieutenant.
Boarded, 8th August 1822, off Porto Novo, by His Majesty’s brig Snapper.
Boarded, 30th August 1822, off Porto Novo, by His Majesty’s ship Bann, signed J. Hudson,

Lieutenant. .
Boarded, 25th October 1822, off Porto Novo, by His Majesty's ship Bann, signed J, Hudson,

Lieutenant. a |
No Slaves being on board of the Juliana at the time of these visitations, and there not being

any well grounded suspicion inthe minds of the British visitors, of Slaves having been on board at-
any time, the-vessel was not, of course, molested.

- Phe length of time during which the Juliana remained off Porto Novo, for the collectionof the
Slaves that were to be embarked on board of her, was understood to have been occasioned by the
bad quality of the goods of her outward cargo, which caused great difficulty in obtaining Slaves
in exchange for them.

(Signed) E. GREGORY, —
—_ EDWARD FITZGERALD:

 

No. 33..

Messrs. Gregory andFitzgerald to Mr. Secretary Canning.—({Received —
, . May 1b.)

_ Str, . Sierra Leone, January 20, 1823.

WE have the honour to inclose herewith an abstract of the case of
the Portuguese schooner Conceigao. This vessel, was detained off the

Portuguese Island of Saint Thomas, by His-Majesty’s ship Bann, Captain
Phillips, on the 15th ofNovember 1822, with two hundred and seven Slaves
that had been taken on board in the river Cameroons, to the Northward of
the Equator. ,
The detention of the Conceicao was stated by the Captor to have taken place

at eight or nine miles distance from the shores of Saint Thomas. The Portu-
guése seamen, who were examined as witnesses, differed upon this point; one,
Joze Antonio, saying that the Place of detention was four or five leagues dis-
tant fromthe Island of Saint Thomas, another, Francisco Reis, saying that it
was only one mile. Antonio, the Cook, who was also examined, says nothing
of the distance. The Provisional Government of the Island, with whom
Captain Phillips. communicated immediately after the capture, made. no ob- ©
jection to the locality of the capture, as coming within the limits of ‘the pro-
tection given to vessels, within gun-shot ofPortuguese fortresses by the second
Artiele of the Instructionsfor ships of war.

The Commissioners were, consequently, of opinion, that thedetention of
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the Conceicao was legal. The vessel was therefore condemned, and her

Slaves brought to this Colony were emancipated.
The communications that took place between Captain Phillips and the

Provisional Government of St. Thomas, being particularly marked with the
spiritofconciliation and harmony, which, according to the original letter of

instructions from Viscount Casticreagh, His Majesty is desirous should

be preserved between His subjects and those of His Most Faithful Majesty,

under the stipulations of the Treaty and Convention,we have thought it

due to the parties to forward herewith copies of those documents in con-
nexion with the case.

ae We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) E. GREGORY...

TheRixht Fon. George Canning, EDWARD FITZGERALD.
&e. &e. &e.

 

CFirst Inclosure in No. 33.)

Abstract of the Case ofthe Portuguese Schooner Conceicao, Jose Lourengo
da Silva, Master, condemned on Saturday, Januury 18, 1823.

THIS vessel belonged to Bahia, and was owned by Francisco Ignacio de Cerqueira Nobre of that

Place. She had regular clearance-papers for a legal Slave-trading voyage to Molembo, via Saint

Thomas’s, Princes Island, andthe river Cameroons. Her Royal Passport, numbered 26,.and dated

the 31st ot July 1822, authorized ber to carry four hundred and eighteen Slaves. It was stated in
some of the papers that the Conceicao was to proceed to St. Thomas’s, to Princes, and to the

Cameroons for ‘oil and ivory,” and to Molembo “for Slaves.” ;
The vessel sailed from Bahia on the Ist of August 1822. On the 13th of November following,

she‘was detained, whilst on ber return voyage, with two hundred and seven Slaves on board, by
His Majesty’s ship Bann, Captain Phillips. The declaration of Captain Phillips stated, that the
detentiontook place off the Island of St, Thomas. The vessel arrived at Sierra Leone on the 24th

of December.
The witnesses examined in the case were two of the Seamen and the Cook of the Conceigao.

They. all three depose, that the vessel had sailed from Bahia and had goneto’ the river Cameroons
for Slaves; that the Slaves on board were are all taken in at the Cameroons, and that the vessel
was returning to Bahia when detained by the Bann. .
With regard to the Place of the detention of the schooner, one of the witnesses said,that he-first

saw'the capturing. vessel to the Northward of St. ‘Thomas ; that the schooner wag taken, four er
five leagues from St. Thomas; that atthe time the schooner was pursued she was steering for St.
Thomas to repair her masts. The second witnesssaid; that he first saw the capturing vessel off St.
Thomas; that the vessel was captired off that Island; that her course was notaltered,nor additional
sail made, upon theappearance of the capturing vessel. The third witness stated, that he saw.the

capturing vessel off St. Thomas; that the schooner was captured at about one mile from the Island.
of St, Thomas; that the schooner was taken by theboats of the capturing vessel at the time she
was steering her ‘course for Bahia.
On the day appointed for adjudication, Captain Phillips tendered to the Court,a copyof a letter

addressed by him, under date of the }4th of November 1822, to the Governor of the Island of St.
Thomas, stating that the buats of the ship under his command had detained the Portuguese su-
niaca Conceigas, with two hundred and seven Slaves on board,. embarked in the Cameroons ; that
_the detention took place eight or nine miles from the sheres of the térritory of His Most Faithful
Majesty; and stating that he, Captain Phillips, wished to land the crew of the Conceigao on the
Island, ifthe Governor badpo-objection. Captain Phillips also. tendered to the Court an original
letter, dated St. Thomas, the 14th of November 1822, addressed by the Members of the Provisional
Government ofthe Island, in answer to the letter.of Captain Phillips. / : oe
This letter, from the Portuguese Government of St. Thomas, acknowledged the receipt of Captain:

Phillips’s letter, communicating the fact of the detention of the schooneratthe distance of nine
miles trom'the Portuguése territory ; it stated that the Governmentremained: aware: of: that-fact,
and that it had no‘objection to thé landing of the Portuguese crew, whenever Captain Phillips
might please to put them ‘on shore. | .

These documents were tendéred to the Couit by Captain Phillips, with the view of. shewing that
he had made known the fact of the detention to the Government of St. Thomas ; that detention
hayingtaken place within a short distance of the Island.

The’ Cormniissioners found it clearly provedthat the Conceicao had taken.in her Slaves .at-the
river Caméroons; to the northward. of the Equator. Consequently, the Traffick in Slaves, in which
she had been engaged, was illegal. : oo.
The Conimissioners were further of opinion, that:the detention of the Concéic¢ao was Jegal, in- .

asmuch as it appeared that the vessel was detained whilst under sail endeavouring to reach St.
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Thomas, and that it was not proved that there was, by her detention, a violation of the 2d
Article of the Instructions for the Cruizers annexed to the Convention, which declares ** that no
«© merchantmen or Slave-ship can, on any accouot or pretence whatever, be visited or detained
«¢ whilst in the port or roadstead belonging ‘to either of the two High Contracting Parties, or

© within caunon-shot of the batteries on shore.” ,

‘Yhe declaration of the Captor, that the detention took place nine miles from the Island, did
not appear to be affected by the evidence of the Portuguese mariners, whostated.the distauce at
which the detention took place to have been, according to one, at four orfive leagues, ‘arid ac-
cording to another, at one mile from the Island. ©

The Commissioners considered that the estimation of the distance by these mariners could not,
judging by the variance between their testimony, have been veryprecise ; that the letter received

y Captain Phillips from the Provisional Government of St. Thomas, indicated that therelhad not

been.a violation of the 2d Article of the Instructions for the eruizers, as, had any been committed,

it was to be presumed that the Portuguese Government ‘of St. ‘Thomas would have noticed and

represented it in its answer to the letter of Captain Phillips. .

The Commissioner of His Most Faithful Majesty concurred with the British ‘Commissioners
in a decree for the condemnation of the Conceigao as prize to the Crowns of Great Britain .and
Portugal, and for the emancipation of the Slaves. oo
At the recommendation of Mr. Shower, the Medical Officer, and on the petition of ‘the Proctor

for the Captors, the Slaves were landed a few days after the arrival of the Conceicdo:in the
harbour, One hundred and seventy-eight were emancipated. :

(Signed) E. GREGORY. a
EDWARDFITZGERALD,

 

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 33.)

Captain Phillips to the Governor of the Island of St. Thomas.

His Majesty’s Ship Bann, at St. Thomas, November 14, 1822,

May itprease Your EXceLrency,

‘Y BEG to inform you of the detention, by the boats of His Majesty’s ship Bann, under my-com-

niand, of the Conceigao, Portuguese sumaca, with 207 Slaves on board, embarked in ‘the Came.

goons; “Her détention took place eight or nine miles distant from the shores of the tertitory of

His Most Faithful Majesty, aud is consequently a just subject for detention, agreeably to the ex-
isting Treatiesbetween our respective Sovereigns ‘The crew, as Portuguese subjects, Lwish.to

Jand at St.Thomas's, if Your Excellency has no, objection. The vesselwill bedispatched, I

‘hope, by this evening, butI am not quite certain, as her mast requires some repair.

Phe dispatch your Excellency received from me respecting the schooner laying ii thé Bay of

St. Anna de Chaves, was forwarded by a canoe belonging to the town, supposing it would be ihe

last opportunity I should have of communicating with the Place, which 1 trast will plead an ample

apology for the. informality of its delivery.
‘The béarer of this should have been an Officer of higher rauk, but, from the number of prizes

taken, we are consequently so short of them, and so busily employed, that none other could be

spared, as it is my intention to proceed to sea with His Majésty’s ship this evening, in the fur-

therance of her cruize, as well as to dispatch the Conceigao for Sicrra Leone.
~ J have the honour to be, &e.

His Excellency The Governor (Signed) CHAs. PHILLIPS,
of the Island of St. Thomas, Captain of His Majesty's Ship Bann.

 

( Third Inclosure in No. 33.)

The Governor of the Island of St. Thomas.to CaptainPhillips.

Sir, (Translation.)

WE have received your despatch of this day, in which you inform us that you have captured,

-at-nine miles distance from the Portuguese territory, the brigantine Conceigao, Joze Lourenco da

Silva, Master, with two hindred and twenty Slaves that were shipped at the Cameroons; andthat

vou intend to send the vessel away this eveningafter landing the Portuguese crew,

We have the honour to acquaint you; that we remain informed of the contents of your despatch,

amd that you may.direct.the said Portuguese crew. to be landed whenever you please. We remain

grateful for the attention which you shew towards us : may heaven preserve you,

‘Palace of the Provisional Government of the Island of St. Thomas, the 14th ofNovember:1822.

(Signed) JOAO BAPTISTA E SILVA DE LAGOS,

Charles Phillips, Esq. - FAUSTINO DIASDE ANDRADE,

$e. Se. Re,” ANDRES TEIXRa, DE 8Z4.EB ARAYAO,
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No. 34

Messrs, Gregory and Fitzgerald to Mr. Secretury Cunning—(Received
Moy 16.)

(Extract.) Sierra Leone, January 31, 1823.

WE have the honour to inclose herewith an abstract of the case ofthe-Por-

tuguese schooner Magdalena, detained by His Majesty’s ship Bann, on the
29th ofSeptember last, in latitude 1 deg. 9 min. North, and longitude 7 deg.

$4%min. East. Thirty-three Slaves were on board of the Magdalena at the

_time of her detention.
-. 'Phe-vessel was left at Princes Island as unfit to perform the voyage to

Sierra Leone. The Slaves were brought to Sierra Leone on board of the
Bann. The case was not brought into the Mixed Court until the 14th of

January, about which time the Bann arrived at Sierra Leone from her cruize

to leeward. It was proved that the Slaves had heen embarkedatCape Lopez,
which is situated about 1 deg. to the southward of the Equator. This em-

barkation involved a question altogether novel in the Mixed Court. The .

question was, whether under the Treaty of Vienna of the 22d January 1815,

and the Additional Convention ofthe 28th July 1817, the Slave Trade could

be considered to be illegal for Portuguese Subjects, betwixt the Equator and
the 5th deg. 12 min,.of south latitude, so as ta render vessels having on board

Shaves embarked within those limits, liable to condemnation by the Mixed

_ Courts. |
' ” ‘The Magdalena was decreed to be condemnedasprize and her Slavesto.be
emancipated.

- 'We beg leave to inclose the copy of a letter addressed by Captain Phillips
toThe Governor of Princes Island, with a copy of the Governor's reply thereto,

relating to the Magdalena, which vessel Captain Phillips proposed to leave at
Princes. Island. _

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
oo EDWARD FITZGERALD.

Lhe Right Hon. George Canning,
- &e. &e. &e.

 

—n

(First Inctosure in No. 34.)

Abstract of the Case ofthe Portuguese Schooner, Magdalena, ManoelFran-

cisco do Carmo. Master, condemned on the 23d January 1823.

“THIS vessel belonged to the Portuguese Island of St. Thomas; she was owned byManoel

Simao: her clearance papers stated that she was despatched. for the lawful Traffick in Slaves, but

shehad not any Royal passport to anthorize her to engage in that traffick; she had merely a-

simple pass, dated the. 14th August|822, from the Provisional GovernmentofSt. Thomas, stating.

the object of her voyage to be, to. engagein the lawful Slave Trade at Cabinda. The crew of. the

vessel consisted of eight men, including the Master: she éuiled from St. Thomas on the.161b.

of August. ; Be
-On the 29th of September 1822, the. Magdalena was détained by His Majesty's ship Bann,

Haptaiy Phillips. .The declaration made by Captyin Phillips inthe case, states the particulars of

the detention in the following terms :— 7 ee, -

. «*Y> Charles Phillips, Esq., Commander of His Britannick: Majesty's ship Bann, hereby declare

“ that; on the 29th day of September 1822,"being in or about lat. I deg. 9. min North, and long.

“<7 dey. 54 min. East, I detained the Magdalena da Praga, sailing under Portaguese, colours,

“* armed with two guns, four-pounders, commanded by Manoel Francisco do Carmo, who declared

“her to be bound from Cape Lopez to the Island of St. Thomas, with a crew consisting of six



86 Sierra Lxzone. (Portugal.)

«men, and having on board thicty-three Slaves, said ta have been taken on board at Cape Lopéz,
* on the and are enumeratedas.follows, viz. .: .

‘Healthy - Sickly
“Men - - - 2 2) ~ nQye = 8 se 5 ee ee
“Women - - = = « 1. ee
eeBoys - =~ es = = = 22 - = ee ee

6 Girlg - - 2 a e+ 9 -« - - ~ 1

* Aad T do further declare, that the said vessel did not appear to be seaworthy; and. was not
*¢ supplied with asufficient stock for the support of the said Negroes and crew on their destined
** voyage to Sierra Leone, in consideration of which 1 have lett herin charge of the.Governor ‘of
«< che Portyguese Island of Princes, after having taken out her cargo, of which a list is hereby:
*¢ mclosed, until the decisionof the Mixed Court of Commission shall be known.?2

‘The case was not brought before the Court, of Mixed Commission until the month of January,
whe the Baw arrived at Slerra Leone, from her cruize to leeward, “Phe papers of the vessel
were fled in the Registry on the 14th of that month.

None of. the erew werg brought to Sierra Leong: they were left at Princes Island. 4 petition.
of Captain Phillips, p aging that some of the most intelligent of the Slaves might be examined. iy
order to prove that the Slaves on, board were embarked at Cape Lopez, stated ‘‘ that having found
** the Magdalena unsea-worthy (as set forth in his declaration) he, Captain Phillips, was ‘obliged
** to save het and Ker eréw at Princes Island, in the charge af the Governor,”

One.of the Slaves, named Gandg, was examined. This Sjave said, f* that: the schooyer he was
** pet on hoard as a Slave lay at Curoungoo at the time he was so put on board her;:that al!
«* the Slaves. on board the said’schooner, when captured, were embarked on. board her at. Cu-
*< roungov, aforesaid. Theperson.who interpreted betwixt the Slave and the Registrar stated,
“ that ‘the Place called-Curoangoo in the language, and by the aforesaid Gandé, meant, in
“¢ English, Cape Lopez.” This Cape is situated in about one degree pf south latitude.
. fvmongst the. papers delivered by the Master of the Magdalena to Captain Phillips, there wag
a. letter signed Joze Gomez, da Rocha, and addresses to a woman residing at St. Thomas’s, Gomez
da Nocha informed the woman in this fetter that he had sent to ber by the schooner some: cloths,
beads, Knives, and a barrel ofaguardente, aust, be said,“ when the schoonex.shall retuen, I will
“ send you two Slaves,” -coando vier q.escuna, lhe mandarei 2. catinos). .
This wan, Gomez-da, Rocha was the Master of a Portuguese. schooner, named.theSinceridade ;

this. vessel was detained’ by the Bann, and sent, toSierra‘Leone for adjudication ; she had taken
Sfaves ot board at Cape Lopez. Gomez da Rocha was brought in the Bann to Sierra Leone, and
the letter before mentioned having been shewn to him, he stated on oath, ‘* that being at Fetis‘© Ponte, on the Western Coast of Afriea, at about. twenty-one miles to the northward of Cape
** Lopez Gonsalvez, in the Portuguese sumacha Sinceridade, of which deponent was then Master,
"on or about the 16th, of the month of September last past, be saw the Portuguese. schooner
¢Magialena aforesaid, embark and receive on board thirty-three. Slaves, natives. of Africa, two:
« of whorg belonged.to, this deponent; that the said schooner Magdalena was.then, hound to

and. sailed for theIsland. of St, Thomas, having the said cargo of Slaves ow board;, and turther,
** that the letter hereunto annexed,” (the letter that has been alrea dy mentigned), *<the same
** being written by this deponent, was by him sent in the Magdalena da Praga, directed to the
** Island of Saint Phonias,™ ,

Afflavits of thesenior Lieutenant, and of the Master of the Bann, were filed in the Registry:
they were to the effect, that it did not appear to them. that. the Magdalena. was of a enfficrent, size
to undertake a voyage to Sierra Leone, from the place of capture, she being about thirteen tons
borthen, and ‘extremely leaky. ,

Before the case came on for adjudication, the Commissioners wished that some more of the
Slaves should be examined touching the Place of their embarkation ; but it was represented to the
Commissioners by the Registrar, that he bad endeavoured to examine others of the Slaves, but
they were not sufficiently intelligible, apparently by reason-of their not completely understanding.
the interpreter. So BS
_The case came on for adjadication on the 23d of January. The Captots moved the condemnation.

of the vessel and,(he emancipation of her Slaves, first, ontheground that the Slaves had been taken
in an illegal, traflick, inasmuch’ as Portaguese-subjects are not alloweit-to'Lrade in Slaves at Cape
Lopez, but only within the timits laid. down. in. the2d, Article-of theCaaxentian,, these, limitsbeing
on the Eastern Coast of Africa, from Cape Delgado to the bay of Lourengo Marques, and‘on the
.Western Coast, from the Sth.deg, 12th-mig. South lat. toshed8th deg. South lat. The, Captorsniovedfor the candemnation af the vessel, and theemancipation,of the Slaves. 3, Secondly, onthe

~ ground thatthe Magralena,wasnot providedwith a. Royal Passport to.tradeinSlaves couformable
tothe tiede! armexed to the Conyention, oO een
The Commissioners noticed the total absence ofthe crew asa saqurce of inconvenience,.as the-case

was madeto dependwainly. upon.the éyidence, of-one, Slave,. They observed, that Captors would
do best to send part at least of the crews of the vessels to be adjudged, in order to‘their being
exatpiued ag witnesses, Anil cre: Coinm/ssioners-trusted,that their satisfaction in this. miatter weuld:
not.be. considered.asof the.ieast, importange by. Gaptors, , oe

Captain Phillips observed that he would in future cases send the.crews.of detained vessels toSierra
Leone. far examiuation. : oe

The. Commissioners. ia suecession gaye their decisionupen the case: , .
Me,Gregory-concejyedit unnecessary,, ag 1gpatticular reason pressed him,to ep at ponthewant of the Royal.Passpoxt-in this case. nel
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Mr, Gregory adverted to theabsence of the crew, and observed that; under the cireamstances-of
the case, the evidence of the Slave Gandé wasconsidered by him admissible, and that it couldbe
relied upon; that evidence havingbeen given,as stated by the Registrar, with clearness and promp-

titude. Mr, Gregory considered that the Slaves had been-embarked at Cape Lopez, :

Adverting to tie Place of the embarkation-of the Slaves, Mr. Gregorycouceived that it was not
legal for Portuguese subjects to engage in the Slave Trade at Cape Lopez ;. lie’conceived that the
Slave Trade could only be legally carried on within the: limits: prescribed “in the 2d Article
of the Convention; he conceived that Article to be explanatory.of the Treaty. of the 22d 6f Janu-
ary 1822, Mr. Gregory, accordingly, considered that: the -traffick ine which the Magdalena had
deen engaged was illegal, and that she should becondemned as ptize;and that the Slaves belonging

to her that had been brought to this Colony should be emun¢ipated:

Mr. Altavilla, His Most Faithtut Majesty’s Commissary Judge, eonentred with Mr. Gregory in

his opinion for the condemnation of the vessel, and the emancipationof the Slaves.
Mr. Fitzgerald, while he agreed in the decision in this case, for the condemnation of the vessel, -

and the emancipation of the Slaves belouging to her, thought.it right-to point outa distinction
which, as he conceived, lefe the Portuguese Slave Trade on that tract ofthe Coast ofAfrica between
the Equator and 5 deg. 12 min. South latitude, not so directly and immediately anderthe strict
prohibition of the first Article of the Treaty of Vienna, and tle first Article ofthe Additional Cou-
wention, which prohibitions were applied expressly to Slave Trade carried on by Portaguese
subjects to the northward of the Equator. That tract, however, was fot included in the limits
within which the Stave Trade was declared legally open ta Portuguese sabjcets, and, consequently,
when a vessel having Slaves on board embarked within that tract was detained legally te the north-
ward of the Line, so that the burthen of the proof of the legality. of the embarkation would fall on
the Master of the vessel so. detained, it would not be possible to establish that legality, and con-
demmation must follow in consequence. The present case was, as he conceived, precisely of that
nature. Mr. Fitzgerald impressed particularly the advantages that Captors would find, even with
a view to their own interests and characters,inbringing the Masters‘and crews ofdétuitied vesstis
to the place of adjudication.
The very persons who intreated most earnestly to be allowed to land at intermediate Places; :

Would, probably, be most forward at any future opportunity in declaring;.that they were sent away
to prevent them from giving evidenceto prove the detention illegal.

(Signed) E. GREGORY. ,
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

(Second Inclosure in No. 34.)

Captain Phillips to The Governor of Princes Island.

His Majesty’s Ship Bann, off Princes Island, Sept. 30,1§22..

Mar ir please your EXcELLENcY,

‘HIS Most Faithful Majesty The King of Portugal, having agreed, in conjunction with HisBri-
tannick Majesty and other Potentates, to suppress, as much as in His power lies, the Traffick in.

Negroes to the Northward and Southward of the Eyuator, excepting in such Places as are mentioned
inthe Treaties relative thereunto, such as Molemho, Cabinda, &e. J have, therefore, to request you
will he pleased, asa Portuguese Officer, tv take charge of the Portuguese schooner Magdalena, which
has been detained by His Britannick Majesty's ship. Bann, for a breach of the aforesaid Treaties, in
baving on board thirty-eight Negroes not shipped in the Places above specified; and as the danger of
thesea renders it unsafe to send theMagdalena to Sierra Leone, I shall carry the Negroes and the,
oiher part of her cargo, together with her papers, for adjudication to the Mixed Court of Commission |
residing at that Place, whilst the vessel remains in your custody either to be released orcondemned,
as thie verdict of the Court may direct, and which I shall take care will be notified to yowas early
as possible, a :

T have the honour to be,&c.
GSigned) CHARLES PHILLIPS, .

be eee nee oe Captain uf His Majesty’s Ship Bann.
To His Excellency The Guvernor of the Portuguese

| Asland of Princes, ,
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(Third Inclosure in No. 34.)

The Government of Princes Island to Captain Phillips.

(Trauslation.)

Siz,

THIS Government has received your despatch of the 30th instant. As there is not in this
Ysland any translator of the English language, the Officer, who was the bearer of the despatch,
read it, and explained to us that you wished to leave at anchor in this port the schooner Magdalena,
prize made by-you, with thirty-three Slaves, which you intend to take, with whatever else was on
board, to Sierra Leone, in order to their adjudication, leaving only the said’ schooner at auchoffa
this Port, until the decision of the Court at Sierra Leone be given.
We, as subjects of the Crown of Portagal, ought to render every assistance that may be askea

for by you, or by any others of the Commanders of His Britannick Majesty’s vessels pravided
with proper instructions, and having in view the lawful object of the fulfilment of the stipulations ‘
‘of the existing Treaty. We assure you that you will find the said vessel in the Place where-you
may‘direct her to be anchored, except in case of accidents occasioned by tornadoes, —
‘This is all we have to acquaint you with : May Heaven preserve you many years.
Palace of the Provisional Government of the Capital and Island of Princes, 31st ofSeptembre:

4822, oo og
(Signed) JOZE XAVIER GOUZ DE SO, Paxsient.

. . : JOZE Mas, DE SO4 CONTEL,  .
CharlesPhillips, Esq. BERNARDO JOZE RAPZO.

&e.. Sc. Se.

 

?
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No. 35.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitegerald to W. R. Hamilton, Esq.—(Received
. _ June 21.)

. Sir, Sierra Leone, March 15, 1822. |

WE have had the hhoneur to receive your despatch, marked Netherlands,
of the 25th October 1821, acquainting us, by direction ofthe Secretary.of

State, that the instructions referred to in the Treaty with the Netherlands

for the prevention ofthe SlaveTrade, which had been issued to His Majesty’s
ship Euryalus, upon the West Indian station, had been transferred to His

Majesty's ship Zamar, of sixteen guns, Captain Sir William Salstonstall
Wiseman. . .
We beg leave to acquaint you, for the informatien of His Majesty's Secre-

tary of State, thata minute of this transfer of the instructions under the Ne-
therlands Treaty, has been made by the Board ofthe British and Netherlands
Mixed Commission, under date of the 12th ofFebruary 1829.

- ‘We have the ‘honour to be, &e.
(Signed) EE. GREGORY.

WR. Hamilton, Esq. EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

&e. fe. Se.

No. 36.

Messrs. Gregory and Fuzgerald to Joseph Planta, jun. Esq.—(Received
. June 21.) — , ,

Sir,. Sierra Leone, March 15 , 1822.

WE have hadthe honour to receive your despatch of the 20th November
1821, acquainting us, by direction of the Marquess of Londonderry,that the
Netherlands corvette, De Komet, (La Comette) ofone hundred and fifty: men
and twenty-eight guns, Captain Picterzen, under orders for the Western
Coast of Africa and for the East Indies, would be furnished withacopy of

the Treaty of the 4th of May 1818, and of the Documents thereunto annexed,

tor the repression of the illicit Traffick in Slaves. Co
We beg leave to acquaint you, for the information of the Marquess of

Londonderry, that a minute of. this circumstance has been. made by the.
Board of the British and Netherlands Mixed Commission, under the date of
ahe 12th of February 1822.

_.. We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) . E. GREGORY... |

a - EDWARD.FITZGERALD.
Joseph Planta,jun. Esq. .

&e. §e. se.
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- No. 37.

Joseph Planta, Jun. Esq. to the British Commissionersat Sierra Leone.
(and those at Surinam.)

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, June 11, 1822.
. I

IN reference to the third Article.of the Treaty with the Netherlands for
the prevention of the Slave Trade, I am to acquaint you that the instructions
therein referred to have been issued to the following of His Majesty’s ships,
Viz: _

The Bann,..twenty guns, C.Phillips,;.......!Commander.
». Cyrene, twenty guns, Percy Grace, ...... Commander.

river, eighteen guns, Thomas Woolridge, Commander.
And that the Datch Instructions issued to the Pheasant, Myrmidon,and
Morgiana, will be recalted and cancelled.

Famke
| (Signed) JOSEPH PLANTA, Jon.

His Majesty's Commissioners at Sierra Leone,
and Surinam.

 

No. 38.

_ Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received September 3.) OO

My. Lorn, - Sierra Leone, June30, 1822.
WE havehad the honour to inform your Lordship that Mr. Bonnouvrié,Commissioner for His Majesty The King of the Netherlands at thisPlace,had found it expedient to make a voyage to Elmiria Castle for the benefit ofhis health, with the intention of proceeding to Europe shortlyafterhis returnto Sierra Leone. | ,
We havenowthe honour to acquaint your Lordship that Mr. Bonnouvriéreturned to this Colony from the Gold Coast about a month ago, and thathehas intimated to us his resolutionto return to Europe by the vessel whichconveys this despatch to England. This resolution of Mr. Bonnouvrié issanctioned, as that gentleman has informed us,by the Netherlands Govern-iment. . . .- ‘We have been further intormed by Mr. Bonnouvrié, on the authority ofan ‘official notification received by him, that the Netherlands Governmenthas appointed Mr. J. A. de Marrée to succeed Major Van Sertima in the. si-tuation ofJudge in the Mixed Court, and that Mr. de Marrée may shortlybeexpected to arrive at Sierra Leone. . , )

We have the honour to be, &e. 7
(Signed) -E. GREGORY.

— en _EDWARD FITZGERALD.The Marquess of Londonderry, K.G. oO
? (Se, Ros. §
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No. 39.

JosephPlanta,jun. Esq. to the British Commissioners at Sierra. Leone.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, dugust 31, 1822

I AM directed by the Secretary of State to acquaint you, that, by a.com-
munication his Lordship has received from the Dutch Ambassador at this
Court, under date of the 30th of July last, His Majestythe Kingof the Ne-
therlands has appointed Afr. I. 4. de Marrée, late Agent at Elmina, to be His
Commissary Judge in the Mixed Court established at Sierra Leone, in the
place of M. Van Sertima, in pursuance of the Treaty ofthe 4th ofMay 13818,:
between His Majesty and The King of the Netherlands, and that M. de
-Marrée is about to proceed to his destination.

/ Tam, &e.
HisMajesty's Commissioners, (Signed). JOSEPH PLANTA, Jun,

- Sterra Leone.

 

No. 40.

Joseph Planta, jun. Esq. to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leones

GENTLEYEN, Foreign Office, September 27,1822.

I AM directed by Mr. Secretary Canning to acquaint you, for yourinfor-
mation and that ofyour Colleagues in the Mixed Board of Commission in
which you are acting, that it appears, bya communicationdated the 20th of
September instant, from his Excellency the Netherland Ambassador at this
Court, that the Netherland frigate, the Euridice, of thirty-two guns and two
hundred and &fty men, commanded by Captain J, F. €.Wardenberg, about
to sail for the East Indies in the course of the present month, will be fur-
nished with a copy of the Treaty betweenGreat Britain andtheNetherlands
for preventing the Traffick in Slaves, and of the several Documents atnexed
thereto; .
— Jam, &c. _

His Majesty's Commissioners, (Signed) JOSEPH PLANTA, Juw,
Serre Leone.

 

No. 41.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitegerald to My. Secretary Comming—(Reeeived
mo May 15; ¥823,)

Sir, Sierra Leone, December 10, 1822..
WEhave the honour to inform you that Major de Marrée, JudgeforHis

Majesty The King of the Netherlands in the'British and NetherlandsMixed
Court of Justice, arrived here on Tuesday the 26thofNovember. -

_ On the Thursday following he exhibited.to the British Commissioners the
Commission of his Sovereign, and the British Commissioners exhibited His
Majesty’s Commission. Major de Marrée then took the oath preseribed by
the Treaty, which was administered by the Chief Justice, Mr. Fitzgerald, as
principal Magistrate of the Colony; in the absence of Governor Sir Charles
M‘Carthy. :
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On the next day the Court sat for the dispatch of business : an order was
passeddeclaring the Court to be open to all parties, when the Commissioners
should be engaged in the exercise of their judicial functions. The Court
then proceeded to consider the case of the Netherlands schooner Aurora, a

statement of which case is communicated in a separate despatch.
We have the honour to be, &e.

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
_ . EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
Se. &e. &e.

 

No. 42.

Messrs. Gregory and Fitzgerald to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received
May 15, 1823.) .

(Extract.) Sierra Leone, December 11, 1822.

THE case of the schooner 4urora, taken at the Gallinas, in latitude 7 deg.

2 min. North; longitude 11 deg. 37 min, West ; will appear bythe abstract

which we have the honour to inclose, to have been founded on ‘a small em<
barkation of Slaves at a Place called Sugaree, which Slaves were subsequently

landed and placed in the factory where the Slaves intended for the general
supply ofthe Aurorawere kept. _
“After the detention, the Captor, Captain Grace, of His Majesty’s ship
Cyrene, sent a boat with an Officer to demand the Slavescollected'in the fac-
toryfor the Aurora, but the Master ofthat vessel, in conjunction with the

- Master ofa French Slave-trading vessel, named the Hypolite, then. atthe:

Gallinas, and the greater part of the crews of both these vessels, opened a fite

on the.beatfromawood. The boat’s crew returned the fire and immediately

landed, upori: which the assailants retired abanduningtheSlave factory, from
whence-the Slaves had been removed to a place of greater security. The

boat’s crew pushed on, according to the information received respecting’ the
removal, and.on their approach to the place to which they were directed, a
fresh’fire: was openedon them from a battery, upon which the Masters of the
Slave-trading vessels had caused three twelve-pounders to be mounted, and
by showersofmusketry from the woods; the natives having been induced, by
the persuasion ofthose Masters, and by the distribution ofgunpowder and
rum, to take part in these acts. ofhostility. —
The party in the boat landed and took the battery and burnt the native

town, but the Slaves songht for had been carried further off: a negotiation
was, however, opened by Captain Grace with the Native Chief, in’ covtse-
quence of which a considerable number of the Slaves were given up and

brought to, Sierra Leone with the vessel.
On Friday the 29th of November, Major de. Marrée, Judge of His Majesty

The King of the Netherlands, having previously taken his seat in the Conrt,

the Aurora was condemned. byan unanimousjudgment as lawful prize to. the
Crownis of Great Britain and the Netherlands.‘and all the Slaves brought to
the Colonyon board of her were emancipated.

(Signed) | _E. GREGORY. |
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

The3 tight Hon. George Canning;
&e. Se. e Be.
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(Inclosure in No. 42.)

Case of the Netherlands Schooner Aurora, Benjamin Liebray; Master.

THIS schooner was taken on the 23rd of October 1822, at the Gallinas in lat. 7 deg. 2 min. _
W, long il deg. 37 min. W.; under Netherlands colours, by His Majesty’s ship Cyrene,.
Captain Grace, on the ground of being engaged in illegal Slave Trade.
The papers connected with the outfit of the vessel.are in the Dutch language, and are dated

at the Duteh West India Islands of St. Eustatius and St. Martin: among them is a sea pass for
‘twelve months, dated St. Eustatius, the 17th of May; a muster roll dated at the same piace the
same day, containing the names of seventeen men; anothermuster roll, dated St. Martin; the
18th of May, containing the names of eight additional men and two boys, making the whole
ship’s conipany twenty-five men, and two boys, a number which could not be necessary or expe-
dient, except. for the Slave Trade. There is a clearance from St. Martin for Elmina with mer-
echandize, dated the 3rd of June 1822. .

Benjamin Liebray, of St. Eustatins, is named in these papers as Owner of the vessel, This
Liebray is a subject of His Majesty, The King of the Netherlands. The log-book takes the de-
parture for the voyage from the Danish Island of St. Thomas, the 6th of June 1822,
The wo seamen examined on the standing interrogatories, say, that the cargo was shipped at

that Island: ‘but they ‘also say that the whole of the crew, including themselves, entered there,
which is not consistent with the muster rolls from Eustatius and St. Martin’s of prior date, where
their own nanies are found.
The log-book is in the French Language.
‘The particulars previously mentioned, respecting the time arid place of capture, are stated in

the affidavit of Mr. Winsor, Master's Mate of the Cyrene, and Prize Master of the Aurora,
Captain Grace omitted to send the asual declarations of thecircumstances of thé Capture, and of
the tate in which the vessel was found by him. There was not any document to shew whether
there were Slaves on board at thetime of capture or not. There were circumstances current-iu -
report, which led to a presumption that there were not any Slaves on board when the capture was
agtually made, and that those brouglit to Sierra Leone on board of her, one hundred and seveaty-
nine itr number, were obtained after the capture by means of a uegotiation with: Siaca, the
‘Native Chief of the Gallinas. -
The examination of Joseph Rowley, a seaman belonging to the Aurora, upon the-standing.

interrogatories, afforded proof that the Aurora was engaged in the Slave Trade, and that actual
purchases and shipments of Slaves had taken place at Sugaree, near Cape Mount, which’ ‘Slaves:
were siibsequently conveyed to. the Gallinas, to be kept there anti] the full dumber shpuld be €oih-
pleted. Jotn Alexander, the cook, confirmed this statement by his answer to special interroga~
tories. put on the part of the Captors, although be was evidently adverse to making any. disclps
sure of facts of this nature. . .
_Nothing yet having appeared in evidence to connect the general cargo of Slaves broughttu
Sierra Leone in the Aurora with the ease, special interrogatories were put toRowleyandAlex~
ander for the purpose of obtaining a disclosure-of all the circumstances within their knowledge
woncerning the embarkation of these Slaves, aid forthepurpose ot ascertaining whether the Slaves,
that they hud seen previously on board at Sugaree were among them. ns
The account given by these men of the general embarkation having been made entirelybythe

beats of the Cyrene, was not sufficient to conriect the Slaves with the case, so as to bring then
under the operation of the Treaty. The Cook, Alexander, ‘however, said he recognized. two-of
#hése who jad been on board at Sugaree astiong these brought to Sierra Leone. .

Jt had already been-suggested to the Agent tor thé Captor, that he should connect theNegroes
_ with the ship by proof; and he proposed, for this purpose, to substitute the Captor’s letter | to
him, and some letters of Siaca, the native chief, by permission of the Court, for the usual decla-
‘tation, a6 the best means of putting the Court in possession of the evidence required. He was
aware that the facts contained in these papers would still be insufficient.
dt was suggested to the Agent, that the Prize Master might probably have a personal know-

Jedge of the material facts ofthe demand made, of the grounds of the demand, and of the delivery
of the Slaves in consequence. The Agent being aware that the Prize Master was employed in
the boats, during the -transactions by which the delivery of the Slaves were obtained, readily ©
availed himself ot this suggestion. :

Ait affidavit of Mr. Henry Winsor, the Prize Master of the Aurora, and Master's Mate of the
Cyrene, was in consequence filed. —

This affidavit states, that Captain.Grace, having taken the Auroia‘on the 23rd ‘of October, on
the ground that she was.engaged in illegal Slave Trade, despatched tke boats onthe morning of
the 25th te request the delivery of the’ Slaves belonging to her; that a fire of musketry was
opened on the boats, which they returned; that the party landed on the Island from which the
fire proceeded, aud found there a Jarge Slave factory. Two Frenchmen, who were in the factory,
‘gave. information that the Slaves belonging to the Aurora had been removed to the main land,
The boats proceeded in search, taking the Frenchmen with them. On approaching the Place,
they were assailed by a fire from a battery oa which..three: ‘twelve-poutiders.weré mounted, and
by showers of musketry from the bush, “The party ii the boats pushed in and took the battery,
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spiked the guns, and set fire to the native town, the inhabitants of which had, with musketry,

assisted the Europeans of the Aurora, and-of a French schooner, called the Hypolite, by whom
the guns of the battery were served. The boats returned to the Cyrene. On the 27th, Captain
Grace despatched them again to request the surrender of the Slaves of the Aurora from Siaca,
tthe native chief, who readily gave them up, to the number of one hundred and eighty, saying,

that the Master of the Aurora had made trade for two hundred and twenty, bat those that were
‘delivered up were all that were in his possession. Siaca, at the same time, made many excuses
for the attack on the boats, which he charged entirely on the Masters of the Aurora and Hypolite,
saying, that they had taken advantage of his.(Siaca’s) absence to induce the natives, by giving them
rum, and by supplying them with powder and shot, to take part in it, and when the ‘beats had
effected a landing, ran away, leaving the town and.the inhabitants to their mercy. —

This affidavit fully supplied the previous deficiency of proof, and shewed that the Slaves were
demanded and delivered up, and brought hither in the schooner in due and legal course.

The British Commissioners, baving learned that M. De Marrée, appointed Judge in the Mixed
‘Commission for His Majesty The King of the Netherlands, had arrived at St. Mary's, Gambia, on
his way to the Colony, thought it right to defer the decision of this case until he should
arrive.
M. De Marrée arrived on Tuesday the 26th of November; he availed himself of the earliest

opportunity to-consider the ship’s papers, and the documentary and oral evidence touching the
case, and was convinced, in common with the British Commissioners, that the vessel was illegally
engaged in the Slave ‘Trade, and that the Slaves brought on board of ‘her were. legally obtained by
the Captors, and were subject to the operation of the Treaty.

_ On Friday the 29th of November, the decision of the British and the Netherlands Mixed
Court was pronounced. By the unanimousopinion of the Commissioners, the vessel was’ con+-
derned as lawful prize to the Crowns of Great Britain and the Netherlands, and the Slaves be-
longing to’ her were emancipated; they were one hundred and seventy-nine in number,. one
‘having died on the passage to Sierra Leone, out of one hundred and eighty delivered up to Cap-
itain Grace by the Chief of the Gallinas, :

(Signed) E. GREGORY.
EDWARD FITZGERALD.

 

No. 43.

MM Secretary. Canning to the British Commissioners at Sierra Leone (and
those at Surinam.)

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Ofice, tpril 19, 1823.

_ IN reference to the instructions conveyed to you by the late Marquess of
Londonderiy in his despatch of February 19, 1819, inclosing copies of the
‘Treaty concluded at the Hague, May 4, 1818, for preventing the iHegal Slave
Trade and in reference to subsequent correspondence, regarding a proposed
extension of that Treaty, I now furnish you with ten copies of certain Articles
explanatory of, and additional to, that Treaty, which were signed at Bruxelles
on the 31st’ of December 1822, and the 25th of January 1823, between the .
Plenipotentiaries ofHis Majesty and The King of the Netherlands, duly au- -
thorized to that effect. OS a
You will consider these Articles as binding upon you, for the guidance’ of

‘your conduct, in giving effect to. His Majesty’s intentions in regard to the
stipulations therein récordeéd. . oO

Tam, &c.
(Signed)- GEORGE CANNING.

Ths Majesty's Commisstoners at Sterra Leone, and at Surinam.
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No. 44.

Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(Received April 15.)

_ My Lorp, . Havannah, March 3, 1822,

THE case of the Antofica, which we mentioned to- your Lordship in our
despatch ot the 10th December of last year, as having been referred to the
Spanish Tribunals, has not yet been decided.

- Law proceedings have been carried on for some time, between the Owner
of the Privateer which captured the Negroes, and the Captain of the Anto-
fiica’; ‘but it does not appear that the latter has been prosecuted by the Go-
verament for being engaged in the illicit Traffick of Slaves.
We understand that the delay in the decision of this case is occasioned by

the difficulty of determining to what Tribunal the cognizance of the cause
properly belongs. In the mean time, the Negroes have been given up to the
proprietors, who have given security to bring them forward whenever they
shall be called upon.
No vessel has been permitted to enter this Port, publickly, with Negroes,

since the date of our despatch of the 30th of October, of last year. Some
vessels, lhowever, of a suspicious description have been admitted—namely,
the French schooner Louzsa, Capiain Precau, on the 26th January, in ballast,
from Batabano, where, in all probability, she left her cargo of Negroes; and
the Maria Josefa, Captain Juan Batista Zabala, also in ballast, on the 5th
instant, stated to be from St. Thomas’s. This last vessel cleared out from
this Port, for Africa, generally, on the 16th August last. Oo
_, These are certainly suspicious eases; but we have no means of discovering
thatthe vessels were actually engaged in illicit Traffick of Negroes.
We have, likewise, reason to believe that many Negroes have been lately

introduced into several uninhabited parts of the coast, but this is a description
of illicit traffick respecting which it 1s next to impossible for us to obtain cot
rect information; and which, indeed, considering the extent of the coast and
the almost organized system of smuggling of every description carried on in
this island, it will be very difficult to prevent. a oO
The low prices of colonial produce, which diminish the demand for Negroes

and the ability to pay for them, will be the best check to this iHicit traffick,
until the Spanish Government shall be induced to enact, and, abodve‘all, to
enforce such vigorous laws as have been found necessaryin our own Islands.

: We have the honour to be, &c.

“ (Signed)
The Marquess of Londonderry, A. G.

Se = =&e. = &e. a

_ H. THEO. KILBEE,
R. F, JAMESON.
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No. 45. -

Messrs. KilbecandJameson toW.R. Hamiiton, Esq.-~(ReceivedAprit18.)

Sir, : Havannah, Maréh 3, 1822.

WE have the honour to acknowledge the receipt, or the 22dultimo,of the
letter which you addressedtousunder date the 20th November, respecting
the communications which we have hitherto made on the subject of the itficit
Traffick in Slaves, which isstill carried on by the subjects ofHis Catholjck
Majesty, and we are most happy to find that our conduct has merited the
approbation of the Marquess of Londonderry, -—  ~

he communications hitherto made to you by His Majesty’s Com-
missary Judge, which have occasioned representations to the Spanish Go-
vernment, have been confined to the cases of open violations of our Treaty,
which the Authorities here thought themselves justified inpermitting: Sach

' transactions; however, are now no longer likely to recur, every pretext for
them being done away, by the orders lately issued by the Governnient’ fh
Spain to carry punctually into effect the stipulations of that Treaty. .‘The.

. cases upon which liereafter we shall have to report will probably be those'of
illicit traffick, of which we must presume the Government héreto be
ignorant. Upon such eases it will be very difficult for us to obtaincorrect
information, isolated as we are, and unconnected with both the agticultural
and commercial classes. Every man considers it'to be his interest to conceal
‘from us all information upon this subject. Loose and vague reporis we May
cdllect; but we think it incumbent tiponusto state, explicitly, that, from
experience, we know it will be extremely difficult for’ us -to obtain correct
_and precise information;_ we shall, however, in obedience to your insttac-
tions,do allin our power to obtain information upon ‘the subject of dHicit
‘raffick of Slaves, and transmit the’same to His Majesty’s Governnierit'y but

wé have thought it right to make the foregoing observations, in: order that
_ you may be aware of the difficulties of the situationin which we are placed,
tad that you should not be disappointed’ if our utmost exertions “are
not attended with the results so earnestly desired by dur Goveintieiit:and
ourselves. . Ce ee _

We have the honour to. be, &e: oe
es (Signed) — H, THEO. KILBEE.

WR: Hamilton, Esq. R, F. JAMESON:- |
> Ga Be Ge.
 

No.46.

Messrs. Kilbee and Jamesonto the Marguess of Londonderty ~~
(ReceivedJune 25.)

(Extract) Havannth, May 6, 1823,
_SENCE the date ofour despatch of the. 3d March to your Lordship, the

following cases have octurred, which appear te us to afford sufficient ground
for believing that the vessels concerned have been, or are about to be, en-
gaged-iti illicit Trafick in Slaves. .
_ On the 19th February, the Spanish schooner San Rafael, Captain Don
Francisco Chunckurreta, cleared out.from ‘hénve: for St, ‘Thomas and other -
Portuguese Islands onthe Coast of Africa; ‘where; there can be little doubt,
herobject is to purchase Negroes. - .
_..On the 16th March; the Portuguese schooner ‘Paquete, Captain’ Don Jose
Maria Nieves, arrived here inballast, said to be from the DanishTsland_of



HavVaNNag. 97

St: Thomas. This vessel has been employed for several years in the Slave
Trade, between this Port and the Coast of Africa. . ae
On the 14th April, the French schooner 2’/rene, Captain P. du Pavillon,

arrived here jn ballast from St. Thomas, on the Coast of Africa. The two last

mentioned vessels had in ail probability, previously to their arrival at this
Port, landed their cargoes of Negroes on some. part of :the coast of this
Island.
On the 16th April, sailed from hence for Africa;. the Spanish schooners

Amable Secorre, Captain Don Jose Inzua, an old Slave-trader, and the Josefa,
Captain Don Jose Moyano. ‘his is the same vessel mentioned in our des-
patch to your Lordship of the 3d of March, as having sailed for Africa in
August 1821, and having returned in ballast on the 5th of February last.
We took an opportunity of putting into the hands of the Captain General

a memorandum, detailing the particulars of the above mentioned cases. When
His Excellency had perused it, he readily admitted that those of the Paguete
and the Zrene were of a suspicious description, but he assured us that he had
au means of ascertaining that they had actually been engaged in illicit traffick
of Slaves. With respect to those vessely which had cleared out for Africa,
His Exeelleney satd that he would repeat the orders whiel hrc had already
given to the Custom House department upon that subject, |
Wewere particularly eareful to avoid giving to the observations we made

upon this occasion the appearance of a remonstrance, which we do not con-
arter ourselvesto beanthorized to make to tae Authorities-of His Catholick
Majesty; and we expressly stated to the Captain-General, that we submitted
to him the memorandum, not. by any micans for the purpose of pointing-out
to his. Exeelleney the tine of conduct which he oughtto adopt, but merely
beeause we thought tt 4 mark of respect due to him, that he should be-ap-
prized of those apparent violations. of our Treaty, which we felt.ittobe-our
duty te report te cur Government.
On the 25th of March, the United States sloop of war, Porpoise, arrived

here with the Anierieaw schooner Mary, which she. had detained forhaving
seventeen Negroes on board, shipped at Truxillo. This schooner was part
freighted by the. Spanish Government, and’ had forty five soldiers on board.
The Negroes were claimed here as being the property of Spanish subjects.
Theschaoner kas been sent to The United States for adjudication.

(Signed) A. T. KELBEE.
R. F. JAMESON.

Lhe Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
Se §e. Ee.

 

No. 47.

Messrs. Kilbee andJameson. to the Marquess of Londondervy.—(Reveived
Sune25.)

My Lorn, © . . Havaretait, May6; 1822,

WE have the honourto: inform your Lerdship that Colonel Don Rafhel
Quesada has been appointed‘Commissioner6f Arbitrationof.thig-Mixed Com-
mission, on the partofHis Catholick Majesty, in theroom ofDon Franciseo
Arango, who has been named.a Counsellor.of State, M. Quesadahas not yet.

_ taken the oathpreseribed by-'Treaty;.nor-havéwe.seen the.Commission under.
which, he, has-been appointed:to act:
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The vacancy oceasioned by the death of Don Alexandro Ramirez, late

Spanish Commissary Judge, has not yet been filled up by the Governmentat

‘Madrid.
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) H. T. KILBEE.
R. F. JAMESON,

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
&e. Se. &e.

 

No. 48.

Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to the Marquess of Londonderry.—

(Received October 9.)

My Lorp,. _ Havannah, July 20, 1822.

It is with great regret that we have the honour to inform your Lordship

that His Excellency Don Nicholas Mahy, Captain-General of this Island,

dicd on the 19th inst. of the yellow fever, after an illness of five days.

He was universally esteemed, and his loss will be severely felt. In both our

publick and private character, we have uniformly received frum. him every

mark of attention; and we think it but just to add, that if, during hisadminis-

tration, the object of our mission here, namely, the suppression of the illicit

Traffick of Slaves, has not been attained, it is more to be attributed to the de-

fective state of the Laws than to any want of zeal on his part; as we have

reason to believe that his private opinions were sincerely favourabletothe

abolition, as well from motives of humanity, as from. the persuasion that the

permanent welfare of this Island depends upon that measure being carried inte

effect.
Brigadier-General Kindelan has succeeded, ad interim, to the chief com-

mand here.
oe We have the honour to be, &c. .

(Signed) - H, T. KILBEE.
. . R.F. JAMESON.

The Marquess ofLondonderry, K. G.

C. £. &e.
~

No. 49.

Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to the Marquess of Lendonderry.—
(Received October 9.)

My Lorp, Havannah, July 22, 1822.

ON the 10th instant, the United States ship .Hornet, Captain Hensley,

brought into this Port the French brig Fheodore, J. L. Lecuyer,Master,

havingon board one hundred and sixtyNegroes, shipped on the Coast ofAfrica,

and consigned to Messrs.” Martin, Stouder, and Co. of this Place. This brig was

captured not far from Matanzas, on the 6th instant, by the Columbian pri-

vateer, General Paez, and re-captured by the Hornet on the gth..

‘On the 11th instant, the French frigate, ’Antigone, Captain Ducrest Vil-

leneuve, arrived here from Vera Cruz ; and we are informed that Captain

Hensley, of the Hornet, proposed to Captain Villencuve to deliver'up to his

charge the brig Theodore and her cargo, but that the latterdeclined receiving

them. On the 14th the Hornet sailed from hence with her prize, but ‘the
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Jatter, owing to some accident, was obliged to put ‘back the same day; she,
however,finally sailed for Charleston onthe 16th, having one of the Lieu-
tenants of. the Hornetop board.

‘Since the date ofour despatch of the 6th.of May, two vessels have entered
this Port under suspicious. circumstances, namely, the French brig La Rose,
M. Thomas, Master, on the 9th ult. inballast, from the Danish Island ofSt.
‘Thomas, and. the’ French schooner Adolphe,’p. ‘Lamarque, Mastér, on the
18th instant, likewise in. ballast from Guadaloupe. The number - of the
crews of these vessels (twent: 7-one, andfifteen), which aregreater than their:
tonnage, upon ordinary occasions, would require; their arrivalin ballast, one
from St. Thomas, the common cloak for all illicit Slave Trade, and
the other from Guadaloupe, with which. this. Place has no commercial
connection whatever, and their being consigned to-a French house here,
which, report says, is largely.concerned in illicit Traffick of Negroes, are
circumstances which justify our suspicions that these vessels, previously to
theirarrival at this Port, had landed Negroes on the coast; but still we know
from experience, that they are not sufficiently specifick to warrant the expec-
tation of any beneficial result, arising from a representation on our part to the
Government upon the subject.
We havelately learnt thatthe iheit Slave Traders, becoming bolder. from

the impunitywith which they have hitherto carried on their dealings, have
actually brought some Negroes for the purpose of selling them to the Barra-
‘cones or ‘Depots outside the town, where formerly, during the continuance of
the trafick, the newlyimported Slaves were exposed for sale. As soon aswe
were: apprized of this circumstance, we determined to mention it to the Cap-
tain ‘General, but were prevented by a domestick misfortune which happened
an. His Excellency’s family. We, however, requested one of his Séeretaries ta
state the circumstance to His Excellency, and to inform him that we should
take an early opportunity of drawing his attention to it. His subsequent
illness, which unfortunately terminatedin his death, again prevented us from
carrying our intention into effect’; but no time shall be lost in briinging
under. the consideration of the new Governor-General,.Kindelan, .this parti-
cular case, and the general subject of the illicit Traffick of Slaves, well known
to be carried on in this Island.

It must, however, be acknowledged, thatin the present defective state of
the Spanish Law, it is not surprising that such transactions should be-carried
on with impunity. Your Lordshipis aware that the Decree of His Catholick
Majesty,. issued in consequence of our Slave Trade Treaty, is conceived
in the most loose and vague terms; its execution. is not committed ‘to
any particular Department, and is therefore neglected by all. And, above
all, no reward is offered to the Informer, so that, in this contraband Traffick,
whichis the most easily carried-on, and:in the continuation of which almokt
every man in the Islandis.interested, no recompense isgranted for its deteé-
tion, although, in all other smuggling transactions, the Judge and the
Informer both receive considerable sharesof the confiscatedproperty. ie is
probable, therefore, that so long as the Lawin question remains unaltered,
will continue, as hither to, to bea mere dead letter.

We have the honour tobe, &e.
Signed) «HLT. KILBEE.

The Marquess of Londonderrya K.G. wy R, FE. JAMESON,
. §e Be &e. . oo
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No. 62.

The Marquess ofLandanderry ta the British Cammissianers atthe Hanannah,

(Eixtraat.} Forcign Office, July 27, ¥828.
I HAVE receiyed your despateh ef the 6th ofMay, detailing your pro-

ceedings in respect to several suspicious cases whieh had eecurred at the
Havannah, and which appeared to you, to afford sufficient ground for belief,
that the vessels conceraet have been, oF are about te be, engaged in illicit
Fraffick in Slaves. mS

Your communication with the Spanish Governor, appears to have besa
conducted with great prudence and judgment. .

It appears to me, that it would be advantageous te the efféctinal sIppréssion
of the Traffick in Slaves, that you should continue to intimate to the Spanish
Governor the substance of such communications as to faets, that you may
think yourselves warranted to make to me,.as an indireet mode of exening
the attention of the Spanish Government, and ef enabling His Majesty's
Government to assume, that the Spanish Government will not be unapprized
of such facts, on which it may be found nécessary ta remonstrate against
abuses, that may be so practised in contravention of the Treaty.

¥ have full reliance on your prudence and discretion in excouting this more
delicate part of your duty.

(Signed) LONDONDERRY.
The British, Commissioners at, the Havannah,.

&e: &e. Se.

 

a No. 51.

Messrs. Kilbce and Jameson to theMarquess of Landonderry.-(Received
October 9.)

(Extract.) Havannah, dugust 2, 1822.
_ SENGR the date of our despatch of 22d July, we have had. an. opportunity:
ofconversing with the new Captain-General, Kindelan, upon the subject. ot
the iflicit Traffick in Slaves still carried on throughout this Island.
We began the conversation,bypremising to General Kindelan, what we

stated upona former. occasion to his predecessor, namely, that, the obser-
vations we were about. to offer, were. not, by any means, intended as a re-
monstrance, whieh. we were not. authorised. by. our. Government: to. make to
the Authoritiesof His Catholick Majesty, but merely because-we thought it
‘ight that.he. should be. apprized of the violations of. our Treaty, which we
felt it, to be our duty to report to our Government,
We then mentioned the suspicious cases of the French. vessels stated in owr

despatch of 22d July, the notoriety of Negroes being continually: Janded
upon different parts of the coast, and the fact that there were then actually
Slaves for sale atthe Barracones, or depéts, outside the town.

General Kindelan, in reply, stated, that with respect’to the Brench vessels,
although they were very suspicious cases, he hadno. means of acquiring
proofs of their having been engaged in the illicit Traffick of Slaves: he ad-
mitted the notoriety of Negroes being landed on the coasts, but stated the
impossibility of the Governmentbeing able to guard against, that species of
illicit traffick, considering the great extent of the coast of the Island, and the
few Ports at which there were Authorities residing:—he added that his juris-
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diction as Civil Chief did not extend all over the Island, but was confined to

the Province of the Havannah. a

_ With respecttothecircumstatice of Negroes being’actually on sale at the
Barracones, he promised to put a stop to such a scandalous violation of

‘Treaty, and he concluded by assuring us, generally, that, so long as he re-
mained in possession of the chief Authority, he would do all in his ‘powerto
put an end to illicit Traffick in Slaves. -
"Itissearcely necessary to point out to your Lordship how entirely unpro-

ductive of any advantage have been the representations which, upon. varieus:
octasions, we have made to the Chief Authority of the Island. We have been
always well received, and redress, as far as it was practicable, promised; but
theillicit Slave Trade increases, and is daily carried on more systematically.
The first alarm at the danger of the Negroes being declared free is gradually
passing away, and the failure of the attempt of the CountTorreno to render
more effectual the Law respecting the abolition, together with the little in-
terest ntanifested by the Goveinment upon the subject, has generally given
rise to the opinion that the Spanish Nation and Government are very in-
different about it, or do not dare, in the present etate of their American Pos-
sessions, to offend the only Colony which has remained tranquil and faithful,
by enforcing the executivn of a measure which is in the highest degree un-
opular.. We have no hesitation in giving it as our opinion, that, but for
the large stock of Negroes imported during the three years previous to the
abolition, and the present very low price of sugar, the Slave Trade would, at
this moment, be as brisk and extensive as during any period whatever. ==_

Suchastate of things existing before our eyes, is most painful andmorti-
fying to us, but your Lordship is aware that every thing, consistent with our
powers and instructions, has been done on our part to put a stop to it.
On the 26th ultimo, the French brig ¢’A4imable Henriette, (an old Slave-

trader), C. Gozan, Master, entered this Port in ballast, from, as alledged, the
Danish Island of St. Thomas; and on the 29th the Portuguese schooner
Paquete, J. J. Nieves, Master, cleared out for St. Thomas, Cape de Verde
Islands. This is the same schooner which we mentioned in our despatclr to
your Lordship of 6th of May, as having entered this Port under very sus-
picious circumstances.

We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) H. T. KILBEE.

oo R; F. JAMESON.
The Marquess of Londonderry, K.G. 7

c. C.

 

No. 52,

Messrs. Kilbee and Jaméson to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
{Received November 9.) od

My Lorp, . Havannah, August 30,1822.

WE are happy to have an. opportunity. of reporting to your Lordship
a case in which the present local Government here hasmanifesteda disposi-
tion to check illicit Traffickijn Slaves.
On.the gth inst., the American brig Eros, J. Demeron, Master, entered

this Port from Baltimore, having on boardforty-two Negroes, She was. said
to be bound to New Orleans, and to have come. in: here. in distress. Tr
is, however, generally believed that the Negroes were intended to have been
lispoged ofat thisPlace, if that could have beer done withadvantage to the.

proprietor, | | : |
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As soon as thé Captain-General was apprized of the circumstance of
Negroes being on board of this vessel, he ordered her to put to sea with
the least delay possible, and directed that a guard should be sent on.board,in
order to prevent the Negroes from being landed, and maintained at her ex-
pence during her stay in this Port. The vessel sailed again for New Orleans,
with the forty two Negroes on board, on the 11th instant.
The Captain-General has likewise put a stop to the shameful practice

which existed of selling Negroes at the Barracones, or Depéts, outside the
town, asstated in our last Despatch, but we do not understand that any steps
have been taken for the punishment ofthose who had thus violated the Laws
ofthis Country and the Treaty.
-On the 23d and 24th inst. cleared out from this Port, for San Thomas, on

the Coast of Africa, the Spanish schooners Rosalia, Dow Santiago Manzano,
Master, andthe Meves, Don Juan Manso, Master.

We have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) H. T. KILBEE.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. R. F. JAMESON, |
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 53.

- Messrs. Kelbee and Jameson to the Marquess of Londonderivy. —.
, (Received November 11.)

. (Extract.) Havannah, September 26, 1822.

ON the 13th inst. the French schooner Marie, H. Guyot, -Master,
entered this Port from the Coast of Africa, with one hundred and seventy-
six. Negroes. ‘The Master stated that his destination was Martinique,
but that having been chased by a Pirate, he had been obliged to alter his
course and enter this Port. : so

This. improbable story is, of course, utterly unworthyof credit, and was
framed for the purpose of furnishing an excuse for a Slave-ship entering
this Port, where the Master hoped to be able to dispose of his. cargo.
The vessel, however, was ordered. to leave the harbour assoon as possible, and
a guard of soldiers was put on board, to prevent the Negroes from being
lJanded,. until the departure of the vessel, which took place on the following
day, when she sailed avowedly for Martinique. .
Within thesefew days we have learnt, with great regret,thatNegroes have:

been. again exposed for sale at the Barracones outside the town; and there is
too much reason to believe that they formed the cargo of the above-men-
tioned. French schooner, having been probably landed on the coast shortly
after their departure from this harbour, and marched by night to the
Barracones.

. -. - (Signed) H. 'T. KILBEE..
The Maines of Londonderry, K. G. oo R. F. JAMESON.

c. &e. &e.

 

No. 54.000 . |

Mr. Seeretary Canning toR. F. Jameson, Esqe

Sir, 7 7 Foreign Office, November 12, 1822.

YOUR. letter of the 3d of. September 1822, (marked private) addressed to.
‘The Earl of Clanwilliam, has been laid before me, and I have to convey to you
His Majesty’s gracious permission for you to ‘repair to'England in the course
ofthe ensuing Spring, upon leave of absence, for the recovery ofyourhealth;
such leave of absence to continue for the period of your voyage to England
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for six months residence in this Country, and for the period of your voyage
back to the Havannah.

- You will take care to give due notice of your leave and of your intention
of availing yourself of it, both to the Board of which you are a Member, and
also to the local Authorities.

Iam, &e.
(Signed). GEORGE CANNING.

R. F. Jameson, Esq.

 

No. 55.

Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to the Marquess of Londonderry.—
(fieccived February 11, 1823.)

' (Extract.) | Havannah, November 14, 1822.
Since the date ‘of our last despatch we have conversed with the Captain-

General upon the subject of the Sale of Negroes at the Barracones; and
he ‘has again assured us that he would put an effectual stop to that violation of
his orders, and of our Treaty. We-have not heard that any Negroes have
since that. conversation been exposed to sale. .
When the case of the ntonica, as reported in our despatch of December

10th of last year, came before this Mixed Commission, it was generally.
believed that the Slaves would be emancipated; and great alarm was excited
from the danger to which it was supposed such a measure would éxzose this
Island. General Mahy, then Captain-General, mentioned his intention of
writing to the Spanish Government upon the subject, and we have since.
learnt that he had come to the resolution of suspending the execution-of: our
Decree, had it been to the eflect of declaring the Negroes free: Wehave
now, however, the satisfaction of. acquainting your. Lordship, that the Autho=
rities here are again directed to carry strictly into effect all the. stipulations
of the Slave Trade Treaty, and that theSpanish Government doeswot cozisi=
der the fears excited upon this occasion to be just or well-founded.
The case of the Negroes belonging to the Antonica remains in the. same

state as reported to yotr Loraship in our Despatch of the 3d of March.
Orders, we have heard, have been received from Madrid to send there all the
documents respecting the case. But the.parties concerned will either find
means to evade the éxecution of these orders, till the matter be entirely
forgotten ;—or, should they be compelled to forward the documents, and

_ afinal derision be given pronouncing the emancipation of the Negroes, such
a peried will probably elapse before that event can happen, that they will
be enabied, without difficulty, to procure documents. proving the death of
the greater part, if not. of all the Negroes, and thus evade the ends of

_ justice, . we ‘

_On-the 7th instant, the Spanish schooner, AmableSoeorre, Captain Don
Jose Insua (whose departure from this Port was reported in. our Déspatch of
6th May) arrived herein ballast from the coast of Africa. The Captain
stated,.that hé had been robbed of all his cargo, consisting of gold-dust and
ivory, by an insurgent privateer, off Cayo Guinches; the common report,
however, is, that he landed-a number of Negroes on the coast very near this
Port, 1f not actually within the harbour. . Your Lordship will. perceive how
little any effectual exertions for the suppression of illicit Traffick in Slaves
are to:beexpected from the Authorities here; whea ‘such an excuse is al-
lowed to pass unexamined. a oe ergs eye

oo (Signed) H. T. KILBEE. -
LheMerauess of Londonderry,K- Go R. F. JAMESON,

C. &e. Se.
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No. 56.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at The Havananah.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, November 26, 1822.

I SEND to you for yourinformation and guidance, the copy of a Despatch,
addressed on the 29d February 1822, by the King’s command, to His Ma-
jesty’s Minister at Madrid, proposing that the provisions of the Slave ‘Trade
‘Treaty of the 23d of September 1817, for the case of the death of onc or more
of the Commissioners, shall extend to the case of vacancies occurring in the
Commissions from illness, or absence on leave;—2dly,the copy of a Despatch,
dated the 17th of June 1822, from. His Majesty’s Minister at Madrid, expres-
sive of the willingness of that Court to adopt the proposed extension of the
provisions of the Treaty ;—3dly, the extract of a Despatch, dated the 27th oi
June 1822, likewise from His Majesty’s Minister at Madrid, stating that the
Spanish Minister had promised that orders to the effect above mentioned
should be sent out, without delay, to the Commissioners of His Catholick
Majesty. And, athly, I furnish you with the copy of an Instruction which
I addressed, on the 25th of September 1822, by The King’s command, to His
Majesty’s Envoy at Madrid, inclosing a project of an Additional Article for
sanctioning, in a formal manner, the details of the arrangement in question.
So soon as any more specifick arrangement is agreed upon between the

Parties, I shall lose no time in taking His Majesty’s pleasure for forwarding
the same to you for your guidance. .

In the mean time you will endeavour to come to am agreement with your
fellow Commissioners, to act in the spirit of the intended arrangement.

Iam, &c.
(Signed) |=GEORGE CANNING.

Es Majesty's Commissioners at the Havannah.

 

No. 57.

Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received March
11, 1823.)

Sr, Havannah, December 26, 1822,

WE have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your circular Despatch
of the 16th September, notifying to us that The King has been graciously
pleased to appoint you His Majesty’s Principal Secretary ofState for Foreign
Affairs, and directing us to address to you our Despatches and letters upon
publick business. .

Wehave the honeur te be, &e,

(Signed) H.
‘R,

I. T. KILBEE. |
F. JAMESON.

Tie Right Hon. George Canning,
- &e.- &e. &e.
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— No. 58.

‘Messrs. Kilbee and Jameson to..Mr, Secretary Canning. — (Received
March 1.)

Sir; FTaveunah; January 23, 1823.

SINCE the date of our Despatch of the 14th November of. last year,
addressedto the Marquess of Londonderry, two vessels have entered this
Port under suspicious circumstances, namely, the Portuguese schooner Paguete,
Don. Jose Maria Nieves,.Captain, on the 29th ult., and the French brig
Coureur,M..G.. Verrier, Captain, on.the 19th instant, both avowedly from
the Danish Island of Saint Thomas ; the former is an old Slave-trader with
this Port, and sailed on the 29th July last for the Cape de Verd Islands, as
xeported in our Despatch of the 2d of August of last year.

‘These vessels both arrived in ballast, but there is little doubtthat they had
previously. landed Negroes on the Coast. We have not. yet mentioned the
‘subject to:the Captain-General, who has. been indisposed lately, but we shall
take.an early opportunity of doing so, although we cannot expect that much
advantage will be derived from suchameasure, since His Excellency, ina.
conversation reported. to the Marquess of Londonderry in our above-mentioned
Despatch, declared, that he had no means ofacquiringproots ofthe illegality
of the voyages of vessels which had entered this Port under precisely: similar
circumstances of suspicion as those mentioned in this Despatch. -
The. illicit. Traffick of Slaves with this Island hascertainly diminished

withinthe last-few months; but we have no hesitation in giving it as ‘our
opinion, that this diminution is to be attributed solely to the general distress,
as well agricultaral as commercial, which has existed here for some time, aud
by no means to any increased exertions on the part of the Authorities for ‘the
suppression of the traffick. 7

We have the honour to be, &c. __
(Signed) H. T. KILBEE.

R. F. JAMESON.
The Right Hon. George Canning,

&e. Se. Se.

 

No. 59.

R. F. Jameson, Esq. ta Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received April7.) -

Sir, Havannah, February 16, 1823.

I HAVEthe ‘honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the
12th of November last, in which you ‘communicate His Majesty’s gracious
permission for me to repair to England, in the course of the ensuing Spring,
on leave of absence. - _ :

_ Permit me, Sir, to thank you for the early and obliging attention you have
given my request. 1 purpose ‘availing myself of the permission about the
beginning of May, and shall takecare, pursuant to’ your directions, to give
‘due notice of my intention, both to the Board of which I am a Member,
‘and to the Local Authorities... co -

T have the honour to be, Ke.
a : (Signed) _ RB. FE. JAMESON.
Fhe Right Hon. George Canning, oo eS

&e. &c.  «&e.
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No. 69.

Mesers. Kilbce andJameson to Mr. Seeretary Canning.-—(Received April 7.)

Sir, Havannah, February 27,1823.

WE have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch of the
26th November of last year, in which you have been pleased to apprize us
of the proposition made by His Majesty's Government to that of His Catho-
lick Majesty, to the effect that the provisions of the Treaty of the 23d Sep-

tember 1817, for supplying vacancies in the case of the death of the
‘Commissioners, should extend to the case of vacancies from illness or absence
en leave.
We have communicated the substance of your Despatch to the Spanish

Commissioners, who have not yet received any instructions from their Govern-
ment upon the subject in question; they have, however, expressed their
yeadiness to act in the spirit of the intended arrangement, whenever circum-

_ stanees shall so require it.
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) H. T. KILBEE.
. R. F. JAMESON.

The Right Hor. George Canning,
&e &e. &e.

 

No. 61.

Messrs. Kilbee andJameson toMr. SecretaryCanning—(Received April.)

Sir, Havanuah,February 27, 1823.

SINCE we last had the honour of addressing you upon the subject of
illieit Slave Trade, two vessels have cleared out from this Port for the Island
of St. Thomas, on the Coast of Africa, namely, the Spanish schooners Des-
camisada,. Don Juan Sandrino, Master, stated in general terms to be laden
with effects, and the Amable Socorro, Don José Inzua, Master, with colonial
produce ; both on the ist instant. This last is an old Slave-trader, and we.

have frequently had occasion to mention her in our Despatches. co
We have lately had a conversation with the Governor upon the subject of

these and the other suspicious cases mentioned in our Despatch of the 23d of
January, viz. the Portuguese schooner Paguwete, and the French brig Cowreur.
Withrespect to the latter, His Excellency said that it was very possible they.
might have been engagedin the Slave Trade, bur that the circumstance of
their having arrived here in ballast from the Danish Island of St. Thomas,
which was all that hadbeen reported to him about them, was certainly nat
sufficient té justify him in proceeding against them. With respect to the
other vessels mentioned in this Despatch, he said, that their professed object,
at least, was not the Slave Trade, but generally to traffick in gold-dust, and
other productions of the Coast of Africa, which was not prohibited by the
Spanish Laws. His Excellency added, that whenever ‘cases of illicit Slave
Trade should be brought before-him in a tangible shape, he should be most
willing to do all in his power to bring the offenders. to justice.

: We have the honourito be,&e.
. (Signed) — _H. T. KILBEE.

Oo R. F. JAMESON.
The Right Hon. George Canning, . a

Se. &e. See



107

RIO DE JANEIRO.
 pemnonsioatinion'

 

No. 62.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to theMarquess of Londonderry.—(.ReceivedApril 20.)

(Extract.) Rio de Janeiro, January 16, 1822.

WHEN two months had elapsed, from the time of transmitting the sen-
tence passed by the Mixed Commission on the schooner Emilia to the
Judge of Contraband, it being notorious :that she still remairied unsold, I
thought, my Lord, that ample time had been allowed, riot only to execute the
sale, but even to settle the accounts. I therefore availed myself of an oppor-
tunity, on the 27th of,Nevember, at the Court of the Commission, to state
my sentiments to the Portuguese Commissary Judge on the subjéct, and to
beg that he would. urge his Government to give direction for hér immediate
sale: and for your Lordship’s information, { beg to inclose the Protocol of
the day, which was transmitted to this Government by the Portuguese Com-
missary Judge. In reply to which, Senhor Vieira, the Minister for Foreign
Affairs, addressed a Portaria, or official note, to the Portuguese Commissary
Judge, asserting, that in making such tepresentations I had exceeded the
limits of my functionsin a. manner unauthorized by the Conventionand its
regulations, and that my Portuguese Colleague had arrogated to himself a
diplomatick character in condescending to reply to my unlawful requisitions,
for which he is reprimanded and peremptorily erdered neither to reply to
similar requisitions, for to transmit them to his.Government. [ beg to inclose

- acopy ofthis. Document. Se ee |
A stop being thus put, my Lord, to the usual mode of 3 toceeding offlie

Commission, and the value of the vessél daily diminishing, I addressed a note
onthe 13th of December to His Majesty’s Acting Consul-Gencral, stating the
case and suggesting that the sale of the vessel, by the appointed Authority,
should be formally. urged, and that the Alvaré should be applied totheof-
fenders, or the reason assigned for its not having been done. mo

I trust it will appear evident that no exertion has been ‘wanting on my part
to bring this tedious case to a close, the unsettled state ofthe country, in addi-
tion to the causes above mentioned, willaccountforits delay. a

_ Lhave the honour herewith to transmit for your Lordship’s information, a
list, with particulars of the Slave. vessels, and number. ofSlaves ‘thatwere
imported into this harbour duringthe yeat 1821.00 .

oo _ _ (Signed) HENRY HAYNE.
The MarquessofLondonderry, K. G. me

Se.- &e. - &e.

 

(First Inclosure in No. 62.) .

Protocolrespecting the Sale of the Schaoner Emilia.
ne (Translation,) OO a

Session, November 27, 1821,
_ THE British Commissary Judge represented that he had an especial reconimendation from his

. ‘Government to urge the sales of condemned vessels without loss of time, and this through the
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anedium of the Portuguese Commissary Judge; and two months having elapsed since the Com-

mission sect the sentence ef condemnation of the schooner Emilia to the Superintendent of Con-

trabands, with the intention that this Magistrate should proceed with the sale according to the

Alvara of 26th January 1818; and the said Magistrate not having yet sent the proceeds of the

sale, which be-bas not yet made, as is publick and notorious, begged the Portuguese Commissary

Judge would transmit to his Government this Protocol, and request that there should be no more |

delay in executing the said sale, because ail vessels in such a state must daily deteriorate and lose

their value. To which the Portuguese Commissary Judge answered, saying, ‘‘ that sales made

«* judicially in the Portuguese dominions had their formalities warked by law ; that it appeared to

se him that the schooner was not sold, because no one would advance upon her valuation, and in

*¢ such acase the law requires a new one to be made, and which necessarily must take time; andto

«¢this casualtythe delay ought to be attributed, and.to no other reason: however, he would trans-

mit the Protocol to his Government, as the British Commissary Judge requested.” The said

Britisli Commissary Judge also represented, ‘that he had asked the Portuguese Government,

© only for‘the sake of humanity, to use all possible pronsptitude in the apprenticingof the free

«©blacks.; however, he knew that there were some of these unfortunate people in the Lazareto to5 ’ peop
«< be hired, even to this day.” In such a case, guided by the same sentiments vf humanity, be re-

quested ‘that, in conformityto the Convention, and Alvar4 of 26th January 1818, the Portuguese

‘“Government would provide that those people should be freed from that speciés of prison in
«* which they are, aud give them that destination which the said Convention and Alvard require.”
The Portuguese ‘Commissary Judge answered, ‘ that the free blacks had been all bired out in
* proper time, but that those that had remained in the Lazareto were there, becanse those who had.
‘¢hired them had not fetched them away, though intimation had been sent to them by the competent
«« Judge, according to law, and be knew that by request of the Curator they were providing the
«*-means to bire them out a-new, and that it would be effected in a few days; but he would make
© known to the Government the British Commissary Judge’s humane intentions, according to bis

*¢ wishes.”” The session was finished.
(Signed) BRAZ MARTINS COSTA PASSOS.

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 62.)

Portaria of the Minister for Foreign Affairs to thePortuguese Commissary
Judge. .ruds

(Translation.)

THE Note of Jozé‘Silvestre Rebello, the Commissary Judge of the Mixed Commission, being-

presented to 'His-Royal Highness The Prince Regent, dated the 28th November last, with a copy

‘ot the Protocol of the Session of the antecedent day, done in the Mixt Commission, including the

answers which the said Commissary Judge readily gave to the two representations of the British

Commissary Judge, in which he complained of the delay of the sale of the captured schooner,

Emilia, and of the ‘hire of some of the free blacks, who still remained at the Lazareto to be

Dived; His Royal Highness. orders the Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs to declare to the

said Commissary Judge, Jozé Silvestre Rebello, that, the duties of the Mixt Commission being

prescribed and regulated in the 8th Article of the Addidonal Conyention of 1817, and in the

Regulations for the Mixt Commissions No. 3, in making similar representations the British

Judge exceeded the limits of his functions,“and that.in an official mannerwhich the above men-

tioned Convention and Regulations do not authorize;-notbeing able in the least to support his.

ground with the alledged motives of humanity. for thosefreeblacks, nor in the least with any espe-

cial recommendation that Le may have from his Government; nothing of these gives him a right

to call this Governinent to an’ account, with whose administrative routine he must conform: the

conduet of the aforesaid Portuguese Commissary Judge being on this occasion less.regular, as well
for wishing to exceed.his duty and arrogate to himself a diplomatick character with his Govern-
ment, as his condescension to the unlawfel requisitions of the British Judge, going so far as to

state them to be moderate. Also His Royal Higbness orders me to warm you, that as often as
requisitionsof that nature shall be directed to you, exceedingtheTetter of the Regulations, you
will peremptorily and finally refuse to reply to the saine, and to transmit them afterwards to the
Goverament in an official manner, assuming a publick character which as yet has pot been con-

fided to you; recollecting likewise your unseasonable replies only tend to anticipate the intentions
of the Government, which alone is competent to decide the infractions which might occur in the

execution of the ‘Treaties ; and lastly, that the said Commissary Judge having so understood should
conduct himself accordingly.

Palace, 3d December 1821. == (Signed) - FRANCISCO JOZE VIEIRA.
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(Third Inclosurein No. 62.)

List of Slaves Imported at Rio de Janeiro during the Year 1821.

Days} Slaves SI
Arrived, From whence. Vessel. at | em |, led. ,

| Sea, 'barked.| 800:

1821. . .
January 2d |— Cabinda —|— Brig —430}° 416} 408

2lsc |— Angola —j|— Ditto —| 28 | 5574 549;
23d |— Benguela —|— Ditto —| 29} 425] 396.

- Bist | — Cabinda —|— Schooner —| 30} 194] 194].
PFebruary-1 6th Mozambique — Ship —| 84] 9921 632}

we fae Cabinda — |— Brig — |} 43} 362] 342,
wb y— Dito —}{— Ship —137] 522) 5114

2st Mozambique |— Ditto —j}71| 346| 241.
224 }— Dito —}{— Ditte —|]76) 511 | 273

/ 26th |— Guilimane—|]— Brig — [82] 476] 311
March 7th |— Ditto —}|— Ditto —} 60) 45)! 385]:

" — 7 Madagascar —. Ship — {| 89 21d 21;
12th|— Guilimane— |— Brig — [111 | 433} 297
Hhy— Dino —}— Ship — |, 54} 434 }° 267-4
— j— Ditto —|~ Schoouner—| 57| 337 | 2601
— {|— Dito —!/!— Brig —] 67} 500-| 342
— {— Angola —|— Ditto —| 50; 384 |. 367.

igvibh | — Dito —|— Ship —1 32! 453} 433:
Zist |— Guilimane—|— Ditto  —| 74} 481] 2385|
23d | — Benguela —|— Brig —~| 361, 431} 395_
Sle |— Cabinda —}|— Ditto —}1 89] 312} 2871
— i— Angola —]— Ditto —}42} 4501 430
—— |— Guilimane—|— Ditto -—| 69 | 377 | 284.

April 24th |]— Cabinda —{— Ditto —| 42] 461] 439
May 3d |-—. Angola —}— Ditto —|47| 528] 378

13th 4 — Guilimane —}— Ditto —| 66} 325 | 225
19th |} — Angola --|— Ditto —J] 491 375-| 365
23d Mozambique |— Dittoa —{99] 202] 133

; 27th |— Angola —|— Ditto —| 32] 450] .429°
Juve 23d |— Ditto —|— Ship —1] 36} 741 680
duly 7th | Bahia and Onim |H M.S. Morgianal 25 | 1974 197° /

— |— Ditte —| Emilia, Schooner|— |. 157| 157] Prise condemned
August 7th }— Angola —|— Ship —| 33} 566] 514

lith |— Ditte —|— Brig —{ 53} 254] 227
—- fm —j— — —)] 35] 481]; 460

16th |— Benguela —|]— ——~— —/40{ 408] 339
26th {— Angola —|— Ship —{| 26] 759] 734

_ 29h |— Ditto — |— Schooner —{ 32 | 304] 270
September 2ist |— Ditto —|— Ship —] 25] 743] 683]
October 8th |— Ditto —|— Brig —/| 36} 510] 452 |.

12th |~ ome | 85 | 495| 874 |
21st. Pernambuco -—_—_ | 18 50 50,
23d J— Ditto —|— —— —| 20 60 60
_ — Benguela ~|— ——— —138! 5il | 496
28th |]— Ambrixe —| —— ——- {| 48! 450] 449°

November 7th |—~ Angola —|-—- Brig —| 35] 579| 507:
8th |}— Benguela-—| —~— —— —1| 37] 407,| 390
W7th |}— Angola —|;>— —— —1/.45| 544/ 500,
s3d | — Cabinda —| — | Ship —| 30] 573-| 561
—~ |— Angola —|— Brig —{| 39} 463] 388
25th |— Guilimane —| -— .—— —{| 60} 446] 446
28th {| Mozambique [|— Ship —| 54] 440} 394

December 4th |— Angola —|— Ditto —| 28! 609} 593
‘Sth |— —|— Krig —-129} 598) 516°
18th Mozambique ‘— Ship —] 60] 4501 322
23d ~— Angola — '— Schooner —| 33 358] 310

Total « - 24363 [20852

Slaves embarked - - 24263
‘Slaves landed ” 20852

Deaths 3311
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No. 63.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to the MarquessofLondonderry.—-(.ReceivedApril 20.)

(Extract.) Rio de Janeiro, February 16, 1822.

ON the 16th ult.I had the honour of addressing your Lordship on the
subject of the causes of delay in the execution of the sentence of the Mixed

Commission in the case of the Emilia ; I now beg leave to transmit to your
Lordship the copy ofa Note from His Britannick Majesty’s Consul. General
in reply to my letter suggesting his interference, together with his Note to
the Minister for Foreign Affairs (Senhor Vieira), and His Excellency’s An-

swer,. which incloses a det::iled and unsatisfactory account from the Judge: of

Contraband, of which I also beg to inclose a copy, stating why the sale had
not taken place, and attributing the delay to an exorbitant valuation, the
want of bidders, and the accustomed forms of the law: and with regard to
the prosecution of the Officers of the condemned vessel, the saidJudge openly
declares, that he has not carried into execution the ist Article of the Alvara,
which prescribes the penalties to which those who infringe’ the Law are liable,
because, in the first place, the sentence, of which he is the mere executor,

does not condemn them, and, in the next, because he. has received no de-

nunciation against the Parties, without which he. cannot prosecute, and-in

this opinion he is most fully supported by Senhor Vieira, the Minister for
Foreign Affairs, in his reply to the acting Consul-General. Relative to the

first question, of unnecessary delay in exccuting the sale of the vessel, there

can be little doubt of it, thongh it is. made to appear that the accustomed
legal form of sale required it; but that may always be contrived, and is the

great objection to the sale being taken out of the hands of the Commission ;
and I feel confident, my Lord, that had the Aivard.not placed the sale in
the hands of the Judge of Contraband, the business would have been accom-

plished, and the product remitted three months since, with a saving of at least
10 per cent. ee

As the Commission did not feel authorized to: sentence the Offending

Parties concerned, when condemnation was passed on the vessel and cargo, I

proposed, my Lord, that a copy of theMaitricula, with notes from the evi-
dence before the Commission, signed by my Colleague and myself; should be
transmitted to the Judge of Contraband, with a view of assisting him in the
prosecution, a copy of which, as well as the note which accompanied it, I

have the honour of inclosing for your. Lordship’s information. Notwith-
standing all that, has been said and done these men are at large,
without any notice having been taken of them, at liberty to resume their in-
human profession, to which they will most probably return, exasperated
agaiust their late Captors, doubtless with a determination to réek their ven-
geance on them whenever an opportunity may offer, and with confidence that
the penalty of the Law-will not be visited on them in. the event of a second
capture. By insisting on the Law being carried into full effect I feel per-
suaded that munywould be deterred from engaging in the traffick, and at least
those detected would be incapacitated from resuming it,

(Signed) HENRY HAYNE.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. -
. omSe. | &e.
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_ (First Inclosure in. No. 63.)

The Deputy Consul General to The British Commissary Judge.

‘Sir, Rio de Janeiro, January 7, 1822.

J HAVE had the honour to receive your letter of the 12th ult. in which you acknowledge the.
receipt of mine, dated 30th November, inclosing a copy of my representation to the Minister,
Senhor Vieira, on the subject of the delivery of the Slaves to their owners, being part of the crew
of the Emilia schooner, condemned by the Mixed Conimission, together with a copy of His Ex-
cellency’s reply thereto,

T have also to acknowledge the receipt of your’s, dated on the following day, informing me
that, in pursuance of your instructions to urge your Portuguese Colleague to proceed to the sale
ofall condemned vessels, as soon after condemnation as possible, you, on the 26th November,
represented to the Portuguese Commissary Judge, at the Court of the Commission, that two
months had elapsed since the condemnation of the Emilia, but that the vessel was still unsold, to
her extreme prejudice and daily deterioration ; and that, therefore, you begged he would represent’
the.case to his Government, that there might be no more delay in the execution of the sentence,

This, it appears, the Commissary Judge complied with, and accordingly transmitted the Pro-
tocol of the day to the Minister for Foreign Affairs, a copy of which you inclosed to me, together
witha Portaria to the Commissary. Judge, reprimanding bim for answering your questions, and
forbidding him to reply to. them in future, or to transmit them to him. You, therefore, state this
Minister’s extreme want of liberality towards the Commission, and very justly complain of the’
univarrantable delay in the execution of the sentence:' and, in your own justification, most truly’
say, that the system pursued in this instance is ‘precisely in unison with that adopted from the:
first installation of the Commission. Under these circumstances, it became necessary for me to
represent to His Excellency, SenhorVieira, the great delay and procrastination of which you
complain, in your two above-mentioned letters to me; abd accordingly on the 2ist ult.I ad-
‘dressed His Excellency in a note, date 21st December, copy of whichI have now the honogr.to
inclose, together with a copy of his reply thereto, accompanied by the copy of a letter from the
Judge of Contraband, in answer to a letter from His’ Excellency, dated 29th December, and
which I also inclose you a copyof, and I have to Jament their contents are not of a more satis-
factory nature; for you will observe that Senhor Vieira is totally silent upon the subject of any .
punishment’s being inflicted upon those who have been so clearly preved to have fitted out and
navigatedthe Eniilid upon her illicit voyage. , ~

It is, Sir, with no small degree of concern, that I find your unremitted endeavours, to obtain a
full and complete execution of the letter and the spirit of the Convention, and the Regulations
annexed to it, has met with such vexatious opposition, and wilful delay, on the part of the Bra-

- zilian Government, in the Emilia’s case, and for which, uader the present circumstances of the
country, I-fear no redress can at this moment be obtained, and-therefore, your intention .of .trans-
mitting all the proceedings therein, to His Majesty’s Government in England, and requesting that
somesteps may be taken to place the Caramission on a more favourable and independent footing,
appears to be-highly necessary and requisite, in order to prevent future opposition, and delay, in
the event of having otherjvessels brought into this port for trial: but, Sir, if you think any benefit .
oradvantage can arise, from further remonstrances, or reclamations on my part, I will most readily
attend to any thing which you may think proper to suggest, in order to obtain a more just.and.
complete fulfilment of the Convention entered into between the Two Kingdoms of England and
Portugal, for the purpose of preventing theSubjects of either Country, from engaging in any illicit
traffick in Slaves. I have the honour to be, &c. ; : :

- (Signed) ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM,
Deputy and ActingConsul-General,,

Henry Hayne, Esq.

 

_ (SecondInclosure in No. 63.).

 

The British Deputy Consut-General tothe Portuguese Minister for
foreign Affairs.

MR, ALEXANDER CUNNINGHAM, His Britannick Majesty’s Depnty and Acting Consul-
Generalfor.theBrazils, and ‘its Dependenciés, has the honour to presenthis,most, respectful com-
pliments to His Excellency Senbor Francisco Joze Vieira, Minister and Secretary ‘of State forthe
Kingdom of Brazil, and for Foreign Affairs ;. and begsleave to represent toHisExcellency, that,
in consequence of the schooner Emilia not having yet been sold, she is daily deteriorating and
becoming of less value; several months have now elapsed since her condemnation andher being
Suizendered to the Judge of .the- Contraband, and. the accounts relative to that ‘yéssel’s capture
caunot.be closed and transmitted to the British Government, until the proceeds of the sale ofthe
vessel, her cargo,and appurtenances be liquidated, and placed, as orderedby His Royal Highness
the Prince Regent, in His Aviso ofthe 6th of Aligust 1821; td the’ Judge o Contraband,
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His Britaunick Majesty’s Acting Consul-General has therefore to request that His Excellency
Senhor Francisco Jose Vieira will have the goodness to direct that Judge to proceed, without further
delay, to the sale of the Emilia; and he, at the same time, bas the honour to assure His Excel-
Jency that in thus troubling hin, upon a subject to which his attentiow has already been. so fre-
queutly drawn, he is actuated by no other mo-ive than that which arises from a sense of its being
his duty so to do, and in order to prevent future trouble and discussion. /

The first Acticle of the Regulations for the Mixed Comn.ission states, that judgment shall be
given without appeal, according to the letter and spirit of the Treaty of 22d January 1$15, and
the Convention signed at London, on the 28th ot July 1817.

In the Treaty between Great Britain and Portugal, signed at Vienna 22d January 1815, it
also appears that other Powers uf Europe have been induced to assist in the benevolent object of
bringing abouta gradual abolition of the Slave ‘Frade ; and therefore, it is not to be doubted but
that the whole of the Powers therein alluded to, are truly and sincerely interested in this humane
pursuit, and that as the Emilia's case is the first which has been brought betore the Mixed Com-
mmission established in the Brazils, the manner in which the process has been carried.on aid can~

cluded will become a matter of general concern and consideration ; and the British Government,
in particular, will no doubt expect that the first Article of His Most Faithful Majesty’s Alvard,
dated January 26th 1818, pointing out the punishments of those who shall proceed to fit out and

prepare vessels for an illegal Traffick in Slaves, shall be put into effect, by applying it to the
offenders in the Emilia’s case, or at feast that the reason, why it is not, should be explained. The
sentence was duly transmitted to the Judge of Contraband, together with a copy of the Matricula,
as well as an account of the wages due to each individual, for the purpose of enabling the Judge
to apply the Alvard to those whom it might appear to affect. The official notes from His Britan-
nick Majesty’s Acting Consul General to the Minister of State, naming the persons who had trans-

gressed the law, aud begging that the law might be applied to the case, was certainly a full denune
ciation, and therefore it cannot be alledgetl, that they were not mentioned or pointed out to the

Portuguese Authorities,
Mr. Cunningham avails himself of this opportunity to repeat his high consideration and esteem

for his Excellency, Senbor Francisco Joze Vieira,.

Rio de Janeiro, 21st December 1821,

 

(Third Inclosure in No. 63.)

The Portuguese Minister for Foreign Affairs to the British Deputy
Consul General.

(Translation.)

THE Undersigned Counsellor, Minister and Secretary of State for the Interior and Foreign
Affairs offthe Kingdom of Brazil, having received and laid before His Royal Highness The Prince
Regent the Note, dated 23d December last, which Mr. Cunningham. His Britannick Majesty's
Consul General, addiessed to bim through the Secretary ot States’ Office, making a representation
against the delay which had occurred in the sale of the schoover, Emilia, condemned by the Mixed
Commission, as well as for not having proceeded against those people employed in the outfit and
navigation of the same; received an order from the same augu-t Person to reply to you, and
transmit the inclosed copy of a note from the Superintendent of Coutrabands, by which it is
evident that the course pursued is perfectly regular, and that neglect cannot in any manner be
attributed to the Judge charged with that business. -
The Undersigned, thus tulfiliing che orders he received from His Royal Highness The Prince

Regent, feels persuaded that Mr. Cunoingham will be convinced how much the Government of
His Royal Highness is inclined, always to execute the existing laws, and profits.of this opportunity
of repeating to him expressions of his particular esteem.

- (Signed) FRANCISCO JOZE VIEIRA,
Palace of Rid de Janeiro, 4th January 1822. -

 

(Fourth Inclosure in No. 63.).

The Superintendentof Contrabands to the Ministerfor Foreign Affairs.

(Trauslation.)

Most Excze.rent anp ILtustrious Sim,

IN compliance with the Portaria of the 24th instant, in which His Royal Highness
The Prince Regent orders, that the’ uote of the Deputy Consul General of His Britamnick
Majesty, and Arbitrator of the Mixed Commission establishedat this Court, which solieits
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the sale of the schooner Emilia, condemned by the said Commission, and to be informed
of the reason why full execution has not been given to the first Article of the Alvard
of the 26th January 1818, should be sent to me by the Secretary of State’s Office, in order
that I might report ou the subject ; 1 have the honour of communicating to your Exoellency, that
you may be pleased to make known to His Royal Highness, that the sentence of the above-men-~
tioned Commission having been presented to this Tribunal on the 28th of September of the present
year, and after the competent order to fulfil it, the valnation of the schooner Emilia, condemned by

the above-mentioned Commission, was consequently proceeded with by the appraisers that J judged
mostfit, those of the Measurement Department of the Royal Marine Arsenal, having previously ad-
dressed a note to the Inspector of the Arsenal to that effect, and having immediately advertised
the sale by auction in the aceustomed form of law, and no advance upon the valuation being
made on the last three days of the sale, it being said to be much too high, which gave rise to the
representation that 7 had the honour of addressing to your Excellency on the 24th of last month,
to which His Royal Highness noting my not having mentioned the amountof the valuation of the
schooner Emilia, or the price bidden, was pleased to order me, by the Portaria of the Ist
instant, immediately to transmit the above-mentioned information, which J did in my note of the
5th instant; and in the Portaria of the [1th instant, His Royal Highness determines that,
should the bidding not reach the actnal valuation, that the schooner should be put up to auction,
with the reduction that the law prescribes, or that a new valuation should be taken by those who
took the first, but, however, not to be adjudged to the ‘Treasury. In conformity to this, U proceeded
‘a second time to put the schoouer up to auction, having previously announced it in the Diary for
‘the 22d instant, on which day, there being no bidders beyond thé reduced valuation, as directed by
the Portaria of the 11th instant, according to which, and the preceding, I have been guided and shail
continue su to be, as the inclosed certificate; which I transmit to your Excellency, will shew, and
which J presume will-do away with any suspicion of culpable omission in this Court, in the’
executionof the sentence of the Mixed Commission respecting the sale, solicited by His Britau-
nick Majesty’s Consul-General. .
- ‘With regard, however, to the motivefor not having given full executionto the first Article of the
Alvaré of the 26th of January 1818, I have simply to say, that since the Officers of the schooner
Emilia are not condemned to be transported to Mozambique, or to any fine, by the sentence of
which I am the mere executor, conformably to the letter of the law, any excess on my part would
be looked upon as anti-legal, especially as I have not yet received a denunciation to commence a
new suit in this Court, as is prescribed by the above Alvar4, by the letter and spirit of which, ae-
cording to wy view of it, I have been regulated, as I have told His Royal Highness; ‘however, on
wiewing the whole referred to, and the inclosed certificate, you will decide as you may think proper,

God preserve your Excellency,
(Signed) JOZE FRANCISCO LEAL,

'  .Dezembargator,
Rio de Janeiro, December 29, 1821. Serving as General Superintendent of Contraband.

  

(Fifth Inelosure in No. 63.)

Matricula of the Schooner Emilia. With Notes.

(Translation.)

Riv de Janeiro, August 8, 1821.
Approved. .

(Signed) HAYNE. REBELLO.
THE list of the crew of the schooner Emilia, copied fron the original Matricula, which is with

the documents, together with notes taken from the said documents, captured: by His Britannick
Majesty's ship of war Morgiana, and condemned for being taken when engaged in carrying on
the illicit Slave Trades viz. oo

Severo Leonardo, Master. Neither by the Matricula, or any other document, does it appear
what wages he received; but by the cargo-book it appears that he had five Slaves of the cargo,.
and two Slaves mariners: he ran away at Bahia, where he landed with the permission of the
Commander of the Morgiana, as he himself declared. _ oe :
‘Domingos Jozé de Faria, Mate, had four hundred mil reis wages, according to the Matricula ;

one Slave of the cargo belonged to him; and he remained at Bahia, where he landed, sick of a
wound which he gave himself in endeavouring to cut his own throat.
-Prudencio de Albuquerque, Practitioner, had seventy mil reis-wages; he had on board four

Slaves, and remained on the Coast of Africa.
Manoel Alcantara, Boatswain, ot two hundred and fifty mil reis wages; he had on board five

Slaves; anid came with the schoonty to this Port, where his deposition was taken, and afterwards
tan away. . .
~ soz Ton uim de Moraes, Black Doctor, embarked at Bahia, in the place of Lourenco Do-~' |

maingos dos-Santos, whe is named in the Matricula, and left the schooner on the day of sailing ;
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got one hundred and twenty mil reis wages. He came to this part, where his deposition was

taken, and he is actually on board taking care of the blacks. ~

Francisco Caetano, Cooper, had one hundred and eighty mil reis wages; he had on board

five Slaves, and remainedon shoré at Bahia with permission of the Captor. , .

Roque Nagou, Cooper, Slave of Vicente Ferra. Milles ; had no wages appointed, and remained

on the coast. , ,

SAILORS.

Antonio Joaquim had for wages fifty mil reis, and ron away in Bahia.—Joao da Crus had for

wages ‘fifty mil reis; he had on board one Slave; _he ran away at Bahia.—Manoel da Hora bad

for wages fifty mil reis, and run away at Bakia.—Estanislao Martins Marques had for wages fifty

rail reis, and remained at Bahia with leave from the Captor.

- Bento - - ~ = Aussa
Joao- = - «=. + Barba
Christovao - - - Aussa
“Caetano- - - - Mosambique
Antonio. - - - Gege
Paulo - -. -. = <Aussa
Joze- = = - - Aussa
Faustino - = -. Cabinda
Firmo - - «© ~ Barno
Pedro ~ = = - Aussa

Ventura- ~- - - Mina so

These twelve Slaves, sailors, belong to Vicente Ferra. Milles, who sailed from Babia in the

schooner, with the intention of remaining on the coast as Agent to the Owner of the’ said

schooner, as appears by documents found on board, to load this and other vessels ; buf it does not

appear from the passport, or the Matricula, that he went in the schooner, therefore it is concluded

that he went coucealed: the trath’ of this’ supposition is plainly confirmed by several ‘letters
found on board, and also by the deposition? of one of the witnesses : by some of the: same letters
it appears that he had for wages two huadred mil reis per month, from the Ist of Octoher 1820;
and as the schooner was captured on the I4th of February 1821, he had already gained nine hun

‘dred mil reis of his wages. It also appears that he shipped on board the schooner, ov bis own

account, pine Slaves, George Gege,: Slave of Jouqm. Carneirode Campos of Bahia, has not

any interest in the negociation ; he is on board the schooner. Jozé Mina was drowned when

swimming fram the schooner to the shore. Balthezar Aussa, Slave of Ignacio Jozé Ferreira of
Bahia, has no interest in the negociations ; he is on board the schooner. Domingos Tapa
Slave of Joze Ramos of Bahia, is on board the schooner, ;

"Rio de Janeiro, dugust 3, 1822,

} Remained on the coast.

  

(Sixth Inclosure in No. 63.)

The Mixed Commission to the Judge of Contraband.

(Translation.}

~ "SHE Mixed Commission for the prevention of the Slave Trade, established in this City, ordered
me to forward to your Lordship the inclosed list, with somenecessary explanations respecting the

- eretyofthe schooner Emilia, captured by William Finlaison, Esquire, Commander of His Britan-
nick Majesty's ship Morgiana, which schooner was judged a lawful prize; iv order that your
Lordship, in conformity to the Alvaré of the 26th January 1813, may be enabled to proceed
against theoffenders as you may think proper: and that at the time of delivery of. the said
schooner, be pleased to demanda list, aid thecrew, which ought to correspond with the inclosed, ,
. Thave-also to: make known to your Lordship, by order of the above-mentioned Commission,
that on board the said: schooner were found eight hundred and forty-five Spanish dollars, which;
byorder of the Captor, were expended at Bahia, in the purchase of cables, sails, &c. for the said
schooner;by Mr. Riach, the Purser of the Morgiana, as he made appear by the accounts lajd
before the Commission, remaining responsible for the’ balance of one thousandseven bundred and
eighteen-reis, which your Lordship will receive from the same gentleman; and be pleased to,
acknowledge the receipt of the whole, for the information of the Commission, It remains forme
to-‘infotm-your Lordship, that-the schooner and her cargo were insured at one million fourhundred:
and forty thousand six hundred andforty reis, as is apparent by a paper signed by the Proprietor,
without mentioning where insured, of by what Company. re oe

. ‘ God preserve your. Lordship. . ce

- (Signed), BRAZMARTINS COSTA PASSOS,
Rio de Janeiro, August 9,1821. ee Secretary and Register, B08,
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No. 64.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to the Marquess of Londonderry.—(Received May 28.)

(Extract.) Rio de Janeiro, February 28, 1822.

1 HAVE great satisfaction in being at length enabled to lay before your
Lordship, accounts of the sale of the schooner Emilia, condemned by the
Mixed Commission established at this Place, and beg to inform your Lordship,
that by the Packet which conveys this, I have remitted the proceeds to the

- Lords Commissioners of His Majesty’s Treasury, in conformity to your Lord-
ship’s instructions. Co

. (Signed) HENRY HAYNE.
The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.

| &e. C. C.

 

No. 65.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to the Marquess ofLondonderry.—(Recéived July 30.)

My. Lorp, Rio déJaneiro, May 12, 1823.

I HAVE the honour to inform your Lordship, that on the 27th ot Maréh
last, the brig Desengane, under Portuguese colours, entered this Port from
Bahia, with 390 Slaves on board, and, about ten days after, a Person,by maine
John Philip de Amorim, donounced the vessel, for having taken the Slaves
on.board to the north of the Equator,.in violation of the Convention of 1817,
and the Alvara of 1818, before the Judge of Contraband, who, by the: 4th
Article of the said Alvaré, is authorized to take cognizance of alk denua-
ciations. The Judge ordered his Escrivaé, or Registrar, to inform: himself
of the case. The Registrar obtained information, reported’ upon -it: to. the
Judge; and the Judge, solely upon this report, decided, that the. evidenee
contained therein was sufficient to authorize his rejecting the case. a
Upon this, the Informer, on the 16th of April, referred the’ case: to the

Mixed Commission, upon the authority. of the 4th Article.of the Alvard,
which. says, “ it shall, however, be lawful. for either of the Parties.to apply
** to the Mixed Commission, for them to determine whether or not the cas¢
“ have reference to the abolition, in. which event the legal proceediigs upon
‘© it shal! be delivered up tothe Commission.in the state in which they are,
* and whatever the Commission. may.decide shall be carried into effect.” _

I have the honour to inclose a copy of the papers which were laid before
the Commission by the Informer, and have. numbered them for the sake of
reference. The first contains the Informer’s petition to the Mixed Commis-
sion, to take cognizance of the case on the ground of an unsatisfactory de-
cision of the Judge of Contraband. The second.contains the original denun-
ciation before the Judge of Contraband, on the ground of. the Siaves having
been embarked‘to thenorth-of the Equator, together’ with: the Judge’s des- -
patch or reply. The third contains the Escrivaé’s, or Registrar’s, report,
with the orders from the Secretary of State to detain and release the Slaves,
and the last decision of the Judge.. ;

I thought it advisable, my Lord, to make the case known to His Majesty’s
Acting Consul-General, ‘to eijablehim to draw. the attention. of The Prince
Regent’s Government to a case which bore the appearance of- connivance on
the part ofthe Authorities. at: Bahia, and -of:neglect;-at- least, on that of a
“Tribunal before which it had been already laid: at this’ Place. I thérefore lost
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no time in writing a note, ofwhich I beg to inclose a copy, to. HisBritannick
Majesty’s Acting Consul-General, transmitting to him a copy of the first
Inclosure, expressing a hope that on his representation, the Government
would make every exertion, and would afford every opportunity’ to the Mixed
Commission, to obtain a satisfactory elucidation of the'case.

It now became a question, My Lord, with the Portuguese Commissary
Judge, whether the case in its present state was cognizable by the Commis-
sion. I gave it as my decided opinion, founded on the clause of the fourth
‘Article of the Alvara above quoted, that it became the Commission to ascer-
‘tain whether or not it was a case of contraband.

- The Portuguese Commissary Judge in reply said, that the clause which I
quoted from the Alvara, presumes a legal process to be commenced before the
competent Authority, because it clearly says, that in the event of a reference
to the Commission “the uéos or legal proeeedings upon it shall be deli-
“‘ vered up to the Commission in the state in which they are,” and he main-
tained that a suit had not been legally commenced, and that the papers before
us were not 4uéas, and as a proof of their not being 4uzos, he said they. would
have remained in the hands of the Registrar, and not in the power of. the
Informer, had they assumed that legal form, therefore he could not think ofeon-
senting to take cognizance of the case in its present state. After weighing
the objections of the Portuguese Commissary Judge, I proposed takinga
Jegal opinion on the point of law, before I agreed to or dissented from them,
as it could not be supposed that I should be conversant with the legal forms
of the law of the land. I accordingly advised with the Judge Conservator,
and others, who were decidedly of opinion, that the papers in question-were
not 4utos, and that as the Alvard expressly stated 4utos, that it wouldbe.ir-
regular-and not warrantable by the clause of the Act to proceed upon them in
that state. It was, therefore, agreed; by the Mixed Commission, to return the
petition and the papers to the Informer, with the following note, ‘ not cog-
“ nisable by the Mixed Commission until formed into Autos,” leaving it open
to him to return with the papers.in due form.
_Dhe.ex-parte statement contained in the third Inclosure, on which the

Judge of Contraband’s decision is grounded, will of itself shew your Lordship
the shallowness of its foundation. oo

Although, my Lord, this case has every appearance of being contraband;
and though the information is laid, which it never would have been, had the
Informer‘notbeenurged to it, I fear, my Lord, if I may judge from thepro-
ceedings-before theJudge of Contraband, that with the system which pre-
vails here, and the great general interest taken in the Traffick.in Slaves,
there will be little chance ofa satisfactory result in this case. :

I have the honour to be, &c. --
; (Signed) HENRY HAYNE.
The Marquess ofLondonderry, K. G.

 &e. Se. c.

 

(First Inclosurein No. 65.)

Petitionto the Mixed Commission in the Caseofthe Brig Desengano.

{Translation.)

Mosr In.usrrious Sins, Jupces oF tHe Mixep Commission,

JOHN PHILIP DE AMORIM declares, that in the month of Marchlast, the Portuguesé
brig. named the Desengano, entered this Port, coming from Bahia, with three handred and ninety.
Slaves on board, which Slaves, the Petitioner has every reason to believe, were embarkedon board
the said ship at the port of Onim, at the:North of ‘the Equator, in which Port the Traffick in
Slaves is prohibited by the Alvard of the 26th of January.1818. | a -
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The Petitioner, in consequenceof the said Alvaré and Treaty, denounced his suspicions to the
Judge ot Contraband of this Place inthe Petition which he has the honour to annex, and by the
despatches or replies ot the said Judge, it appears that he bas not perceived the meaning of the
Petitioner, supposing the denunciation to be made under the impression that the said Slaves were
Janded without paying the competent duties, «whereas it is on the illegal purchase of them on the
‘Coast of Africa, where they were embarked; and as the above-mentioned Alvar4 grants to the
Petitioner the privilege of applying to the Mixed Commission on the supposition of his being
aggrieved, on these grounds it is that he petitions to your Honours to take such steps as you

tmay judge justice to require, in, order to discover whether or not the suspicions of the Petitioner
are well founded, and your Petitioner will receive a favour, &c. &c. &c,

(Second Inctosure in No. 65.)

Denunciatien before the Judge of Contraband, with the Judge's Reply.

(Translation.)

‘Mosr Itxustriovs Sir, DesemBarcapor, Jupcz or THE ConTRABANDS,

JOHN PHILIP DE AMORIM declares, that he denounces to your Honour that, in the
amonth ot March last, the Portuguese vessel, called the Desengano, entered this Port, coming last
from Bahia, and bringing three hundred and ninety Slaves, and the Petitioner is fully persuaded
that the’ said Slaves were embarked at the port of Onim, alias Molembo, to the north of the
Gold Coast; this being prohibited by the Alvar4 of the 26th of January 1818: and in con-
formity to thesaid Alvard, the Petitioner begs your Honour will be pleased to proceed to exa-
mine into -the allegation of the Petitioner, in the appointed form of law, by which your Petiti-
-oner prays your Honour to be pleased so toorderit, and your Petitioner will bethankful,

Judge’s Answer,

Let the Registrar inform himself, proceeding to the necessary means of coming at the truth.

Rio de Janeiro, April 6, 1822. (Signed) CRUZ.

 

(Third Lnclosure in No. 63.)

Registrar's Report,Ordersfor the Detention and Releaseof the Slaves, and
last Decisionof the Judge.

¢Translation.}

Mosr Intustriovs Sim, Desempancapor, SuPERINTENDENT GeNERAL oF CONTRABANDS.

‘IN compliance with.the respectable Despatch of your Honour, I went to the Street of Violas,
-at the house of Manoel Joaquim Ribeiro, Merchant, registered at the Royal Junta of Commerce,
correspondent at this place ofDomingos de Almeida Lima, and of Antonio Ferreira Coelho, Pro-
-prietors of the vessel -called Desengano,.and I was there informed by the proper correspondent,
‘that the Slaves, which were said to be prohibited, were brought from Bahia, where the fall daties on
them were paid, as is necessary to shew by a despatch from the Custom-House of that Place, and
‘which was proved by the Custom-House certificate presented at the Custom-House of this Place,
-and they were in consequence admitted free of duty ; these Slaves were disembarked in the said
City of Bahia above forty days without the least opposition, and.on their arrival in this Port, after
-being landed atthe Lazaretto,they were.there detained by an Order from the Secretary of State on the
28th of March, from five to six in the evening, and that on the 29th, at ten o’clock in the morn-
ing, an Order was issued by the Secretary of State for their being disembarked and freely sold, as
they accordingly were. The said Orders are in the hands of the Administrator of the Lagaretto,
and that the said Proprietors traded in Slaves to the Dominions of the Crown of Portugal, to the
sonth of the Line, from whence-this cargo came; that it never could be considered prohibited, or
it wonld not have been, as it was, despatched at the City of Bahia, Then going, likewise, to the
house of the Administrator of the Lazaretto, to be better informed of what was above stated 3 b
him I was put in possession ofthe above mentioned Orders from the Secretary of State, of which
the following-are copies-:

His Royal Highness The Prince Regent, through the Secretary of State for the Interior, orders
the Administrator of the Lazareto not to allow, under his own responsibility, any of those Slaves
that lately arrived from the City of Bahia to leave the Lazaretto without an Order from the said
Secretary ot State,

Paluce of Rio de Jancire, March 28, 1822, JOZE BONIFACIO pz ANDRADE,
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His Royal Highness The Prince Regent, through the Secretary’of State for the Interior,

‘eommunicates to the Administrator of the Lazaretto, that the Order directed to him yesterday, con-

certing the Slaves iately arrived from: tbe City of Bahia, is cancelled, and that they may be placed

at the disposal of their Owners whenever applied for.

' JOZE BONIFACIO pz ANDRADE E SILVA.

Palace of Rio de Janeiro, March 29, 1822,.

This is all that I have been able to ascertain, and al] the information I can give your Honour,

‘who will order whatever you may think proper.

Rio de Janeiro, April 12, 1822. DEZIDERIO JOZE DO AMARAL,

. Decision given on the ahove information.

At sight of the above Information, I have nothing more to decide.

“Rio de Janeiro, April 13, 1822, (Signed) CRUZ.

 

(Fourth Inclosurein No. 65.)

- The British Commissary Judge to the Deputy Consul-General.

Sis, : ; _ Rio-de Janeiro, April 19, 1822,

TY HAVE the honour to inclose for your information, the copy of 4 Petition which was received

by the Mixed Commission on the 6th instant, by which you will learn that a Portuguese brig,
named the Desengano, arrived here on the 27th March, with three hundred and ninety Slaves on

board from-Babia; that Joao Philipe-de Amorim laid an information before the Judge of Contra-

band as the law directs, denounciug the said vessel for having brought the said Slaves from the

north of the Equator, in violation of the Convention ot 1817, and the Alvar4 of January 1818.—

By the same papers you will also observe,that the Judge of Contraband orders his Escrivao, or
Registrar, to obtain information and proof of the case, ov foundation for the denanciation, and
upon his'simple information also contained herein, which is obtainedavowedly from the Owners:

and Consignees of the said Slives, that the brig came from Bahia, that the Slaves had been forty
days on shore at Bahia, and had there paid the duties ; that the Slaves had been embargoed by an
Aviso from the, Minister ofState, when in the Lazaretto of thisPort, bet had been placed at the

‘disposal .of theOwners by the same authority on the following day; and upon this information,
without ‘any further ‘proof, the Judge of Contraband despatches the Informer’s petition thus:
© After the'ubove information. I have nothing to grant.” .
Upon ihis evasive answer, which; amounts to a refusal to accept the denunciation, the Informer

avails himself of the fourth Article of the Alvaié, which grants to either Party the permission to
refer the’ case to the- Mixed Commission to decide, whether it has or aot reference to the abolition.—
Here the matter rests for the present, but I think [should lose og time in making it known to
‘you, to enable you tocallthe serious attention of His Royal Highness The Prince Regent's Govern-
ment to the subject. - LO . :
‘Wibout mesuing to prejudge the case, I cannot refrain from remarking, that the blacks ja

question are, as is publick and notorious throughout the City, belonging to tribes inhabiting

the north of the Equator, eight degrees to the N. of the nearest legal Port cf embarkation ; and
that they have been publickly selling in the Valungo as Minas blacks, which is the vulgar name for
the black~ brodght fiem the Gold Coast; judging from these circumstances, audfrom a Person

“having denounced the vessel for the sake of the reward, I conceive, Sir, that there exists the
stronge.! suspicion that this is a case of gross violation of the Convention of 1817, and che Alvaré
of January 1818; and, therefore,I should hope that, upon your representation to His Royal High-
ness ‘Dhe Prince Regent of Brazil, through His Minister of State, every exertion would be made on
the part of His Royal Highness’s Government, and every opportunity given to the Mixed Com-
mission to enable them (the Commissioners) to obtain:a satisfactory elucidation of the case.

. : ‘I have the honour to be, &c.: oe ‘
sleoender Cunningham, Esq; (Signed) § HENRY HAYNE.

» ~ &e. Be, , os .
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No. 66.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to TheEarl of Clanwilliam.—(Received July 30.)

My Lorp, — RiodeJaneiro, May 15, 1822.lay 15, 18
‘I HAVE the honour to annex, for your Lordship’s information, a list of

the Slaves imported into this harbour duringthe first three months of|
this year. Your Lorship will remark that the number has increasedone- .
half, even compared with the saine quarterof the last year, contained in the
list-which I had the honour oftransmitting to your Lordship im the month
of January last. _ Lo

The first quarter, my Lord, is generally the heaviest, owing, I believe, to
its being the season when the ships arrive from the Eastern Coast of Africa.
I believe the accuracy of this list may be relied upon, and J purpose;
my Lord, continuing to forward them quarterly. .

I have the honour to be, &c.

. ; (Signed) HENRY HAYNE.
The Earl of Clanwilliam,

§e. &e. Se.

 

(Inclosure in .No. 66.)

List of Slaves imported at Rio de Janeiro, from January to March 1822.

 

  

 

       

Date. Class of Ship Name. From whence. esDied. rat Imported.
. | barked, / 7

. 1822. .
- January 2d ||— Ship — (3. José Americano| — Cabinda —| 808 | 58| 750

| 5th |} — Brig —|— Golfinho —|— Ditto —| 417 | —| 417
YOth |—Ditto— {Aurora do Cabo| Mogambique [| 492 | 194 | 298
7th |—Ditto—|— Landof —|— Ditto — | 428.) 154 413
18th =|—Dirta—{ Paquete do Rio |— Cabinda —| 470 |. 10| 460 |.
20th Escuna — Liberal —~]— Zaire —| 145 | —| 145

a ——| 2483
February Ist — Brig — |.— Amazona —| Mogambique. |465| 43| 422

. 2d — Ship —| Conceigao Esperanga | —- Ditto — 389.| 124| 265

6th | — Brig —4 Pastera de Lima } — Angola —|467| 60|407 |
With |—Ditto—|— Esperanca — Benguella 431 | .29| 402
14th | —Ditto—|Triumfodo Brazil'| Mocambique | 532| 131 | 401
15th |— Ditto—| Senhora da Guia | . Quilimane 529 | 93| 436
39th | Escuna | Maria Thomasia |— Angola —| 470 | 60 | 410 |
20th | — Brig — | — Ulisses —| Moeambique } 631| 213°} 418
-- | —Ditto—|— Trajano — | — Cabinda — |'462 { 2 | 460.
22d | —Diteo—|— Zephiro — Quilimane’. 1504 | 21 | 483
23d —Ditto—|— Mercurio — Benguella 420 | 36| 384.
24th 4 Escuna — Leopotdina— Quilimane 48} 33| 448|
26th |.—Ditto—|— Marianna —| Mogambiqne | 520| 140|380| .. .

on . “jo! 5816
March 2d — Brig —|—.Mineeva —| Quilimane | 487 | 12| 475.

Sth =| Escoma | Priticipe Regente |— Cabinda —| 681 | 17| 664 |
o- . |—Brig— 1 Principe Real. |Benguela P. Paral 334 | .—| 334
oth |. Galera +{VinteseisdeFefreiro| Mocambique | 623 | 127 | 496
12th |— Brig —~|— Abismo — | — Angola —| 305 | 66| 239
14th =} —Ditto—{ General Sampayo|— Ditto —| 465 | 113| 352 |
26h. | —Ditto—| General Silveira Quilimane.,. | 460|. 54 |406 3°
— —Ditto | Conde das Arcos | — Ditto “—| 477 |. 52 | 425
_ —— Ditto— | Mariana Daphne | — Aigola — | 470| 104 | 375
27th |—Ship—| Felis Engenia Mogambique | 672| 217| 455
— |—Brig—|— Dezengano-—~|— Bahia —| 320 | —| 3204 4541
 

~~ Total,  =——--s:14355 | 2024 J12340112340
Sa
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No. 67.

Flenry Hayne, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry.—(Received
_— September 2.) .

(Extract.) , Rio deJaneiro, July 4, 1 822..

J HAVE this-day, my Lord, made known to His Majesty’s Consul-General
the arrival of the schooner Toninha, fourteen days from Bahia, with two
hundred and fifty-six Slaves. on board, belonging to the same Owner, and

coming precisely under the same circumstances (with Slaves belonging to the

North of the Line) as the Dezengano, the particulars of which case I

had the honour of forwarding to your Lordship on the 12th of May last,

subsequently to ‘which date, the endeavours of His Majesty’s Acting Consul

General and Myself, in bringing to justice, and making an example of

such a bold and obvious ‘violation of the Convention have, I regret to
state, proved unsuccessful. Even supposing the Slaves to have been legally’

imported at Bahia, (which, judging from their cast, was not ‘the ease),
the Convention prohibits their being sent coastways for tratfick without

a licence, ad-hoc, and if the ship possesses sucha licence, the fact of the Slaves

having come from the north of the Line being notorious, renders it an

evident connivance of the Authorities concerned.

‘Mr. Chamberlain has promised to do what he can to puta stop to this new

and growing branch of contraband trade.
(Signed) HENRY HAYNE.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
&e. &e. &e.

 

No. 68.

~

TheMarquessof Londonderryto the British Commissionersat Rio de Janeiro

(Extract.) _ Foreign Office, July 31, 1822.

I HAVE to acknowledge the receipt of Mr. Hayne’s Despatch of the 16th
of February 1822, respecting the delay in the sale of the Portuguese Slave
vessel Emilia, and the neglect on the part of the Authorities at Rio de

Janeiro, in directing the prosecution of Persons implicated in the Slave Trade.
Upon the general question regarding the due execution of the 3d Article of

the ‘Treaty, which provides for the punishment of Portuguese subjects

who may be found engaged in the prohibited Traffick in Slaves, I have re-

ceived The King’s commands to direct His Majesty’s Chargé d’Affaires at Lis-
bon, to make suitable remonstrances to the Portuguese Government.

(Signed) LONDONDERRY.
His Majesty's Commissioners, Rio de Janeiro.
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No. 69;

Henry Hayne, Esq. to The Earl of Clanwiliiam.—( Received November 10.)

My Lorp, Rio de Janeiro, August 21, 1822.

I BEG,herewith annexed, to transmit to your Lordship, a list of the ships
which have arrived at this Port with Slaves on board, for the purpose of
traffick, from the 1st of April to the 30th of June last, in the same form as |
the list ofthe three preceding months, which I had the honour of forwarding
to your Lordship. The number imported, my Lord, this year compared to
the corresponding six months last year, is no less than an increase of six
thousand five hundred and thirty-six. A partial increase may be accounted.
for by. the arrival of three vessels from Bahia, which, not finding a goed mar-
ket there, owing, I presume, to the disturbed state of that City, came to this
Portwhere their cargoes met with a ready sale, and fetched a higher price than
those usually imported, owing to their.being of a better race, doubtless from
thenorth of the Equator, which is readily ascertained by their marks and
language; however they were entered at the Custom-House at Bahia, as coming
from Molembo. ,

I have the honour to be, &c.

ee (Signed) HENRY HAYNE
TheLarl of Clanwilliam,
&e Se. Se.

(Inclosure in No. 69.)

List of Slaves imported at Rio de Janciro.—(April to Tune, 1822.)

 

 

   

 

   
    

    

: TOTALS,

| | Elgsls/ El bs.
Date of Arrival.) Description.| Vessel’s Name. From whence, 5 & e s | & |Died.} 3.

1822, fo _
April Hith’ |— Ship —|StAnt. Destimido. | — Angola —| 747|298 1 519

Iuth = [| —Ditto—{— Maria —|— Cabinda—| 448| 69. | 379 |
—_ — Brig —|— Santa Rosa—|— Ditto —| 313| 23°] 291
23d —Ditto— | Senr.doBaluarte-{| Quelimane .| 418| 215| 203 po
~f 4 . 1926|534| 13May 4th —-Ditto— | Conceigao Passos | — Angola.—| 450{ 49] 4014. j 1392

8th |.—Ditto—| Reino do Brazil | —Benguela—| 425|. 37 | 388 ef ood
. mo . —--|——-|—-—| 875 | 86. .dune 6th —Ditto—| Gram Penedo | — Cabinda —| 459 | 97| 432| a 789

—- | Schooner | —.. Urania —|—-Angola -—+ 302] 34| 268 CD
7th — Ship—|— Amalia —| — Ditto “— |.760'| 153.| 607.1. |...
— |e, St. Anna Flor do . x Yona,7 Ship — Loando — Cabinda —| 545| 11| 534

2th — Brig— | — Legeiro -—~|—Benguela—| 408 18| 290
27th Schooner |-— Toninha —|— Bahia —| 256) —| 256} [| J

oO — = '2730| 243 | 2487
Total in the Month of January, 1822... = 12760} 277 |2493

February =  - ~~ 1630!) 985 [5316
March ~  - «- + 15303] 762| 454)

Total in Six Months °- ~ — « |I19895| 2887 |17008 
 

ee’
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No 79.
Messrs. Hayne ond Gunpingham to The Marquess.of Londonderry. —

(Received November 10.)

My Lerp, | Rio de Janeiro, August30,1829,

WE have the honour to.acknowledge the receipt of Your. Lordship’s
Despatch of the 17th of May last,* inclosing the copy of a letter, dated the
‘2d of April, from the Secretary of the Admiralty, by which, my Lord,we
are informed that the Instructions issued, in conformity to the Treaties for
preventing the illegal Traffick in Slaves, to Naval Officers, will, for the future,
be signed by two instead of three of the Lords of the Admiralty.
“Noship has arrived here for adjudication since we had last the honour of

addressingyour Lordship.
We have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) — HENRY HAYNE.
ALEXR. CUNNINGHAM.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G.
Cc. &e €.

* See Sierra Leone.—(General.}—No. 2.

 

No. 71.

Henry Hayne, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry. —(Received.
November 11;) ne

My Lorp, Rio de Faneiro, September 12, 1822.

_ [ HAVE already been more than three years out of England, and having
suffered much from the heat of last year, and dreading to encounter the whole

. Of the approaching summer,I beg leave to solicit your Lordship’s permission
to return to England, on leave of absence for six or eight months, for the
‘purposeof recruiting my strength. . oS

Neither on this plea, nor on any other, my Lord, shouldI be induced tobeg
such a favour of -your Lordship, if I conceived that the service in which Tam
employed would be prejudiced by. my temporary absence, the risque of which
will no¢ I think be considered doubtful, since my Colleague, Mr. €un-
ningham, and the Consul General (who is appointed Locum tenens by ‘he
Convention in the event of vacancy) are both on ‘the spot, andhave authorized
mé to inform your Lordship, that they are very ready to undertakethe dtity
that will devolve upon them in consequence of my absence from my Post.
‘Under these circtimstances, I trust, that your Lordship will be pleased to

: grant my request. . _ a

my I have the honour to be, &e.

: Oo (Signed) ‘HENRY HAYNE.
» The Marquess of Londonderry, K: G. 7
Ro Se. Se. &e. , .
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No, 72.

Messrs. Hayne and Cunningham to the Secretary of State—(Received

(Extract.) Rio de Janeiro, October 19, 1822.

WE have the honour to acknowledge the receipt, on the 7th instant, of

-your Lordship’s Despatch,dated the 31st of July last, in replytoMr. Hayne’s

Despatch of the 16th of February 1822, respecting the neglect of the
Authorities at Rio de Janeiro, in directing the prosecution of Persons imph-
ated in the Slave Trade, and informing us that your Lordship had made
‘suitable rensonstrances on thesubject to the Portuguese Government at Lisbon.

With regard to those of the erew who incurred the penalty of the Law in

the case of the Lmifta, though neither of them were brought to this Port,
yet’ they were left withia the Jurisdiction oftins Government, and no steps:
were taken to apprehend them, or any proceedings made against them,

although the Authorities were urged to ‘proceed against them, verbally, by
Mr. Hayne, and at his instigation, officially, by His Majesty’s ActingConsual-

Gétieral. The three who-are-liable to prosecution by the Law,are:
-. Severo Leonardo, the Master, who left the ship at Bahia, with the British

Commander’s permission, having been told by the same when the ship was

to sail; in proof of which we beg te inclose the copy of some interroga-
tories which were taken before the Commission ;
Domingos José Faria, the Pilot or Mate, who, on account ofhis being very

ill, in consequence of an attempt to destrey himself, was left at Bahia, by per-

mission of the British Commander ; —

Vincente Ferreira Milles, who embarked on board the Emilia, though his

name does not appear in the Matricula, remained at Onim, on the Coast of
Africa, whence the Slaves were exported. He sold the cargo,and shipped the

Negroes at Onim, and, therefore, I conceive should belooked upon as the

Sapercargo, though not rated as such. . .
- Nothing more, my Lord, has been done in this business since Ms.Hayne
had the honour of addressing your Lordship en the subject,onthe 16th of

February 1822, and the only reason assigned for notproceeding against these
people was, because they were not named in the sentence whichdondemned

the vessel and cargo; and therefore the Judge ofContraband, who called him-

self the mere Executor of the sentencesof the Mixed Cominission, would not,

ew officio, proceed against them, and the Prime Minister, in his reply to Mr.
- Cunningham, expressed himselfsatisfied with the said Judge’s reasons. Both
the Judge’s report, and the Minister’s reply, to theActing Consul-General,to
that effect, were inclosed in Mr. Hayne’s Despatch of 16th February, to.which
we beg leave to refer your Lordship. BF
We do not see, myLord, how. far the Mixed Commission was authortzédto

sentence these people to apunishment, to which they were rendered liable by
theAlvard, and.not by the Convention, or by the Regulations with which we
were furnished. _ - a, .

Under the new order of things here, we feel itte be our duty, my Lotd, to.
remain at our Post, and to perform the functions of our Office, in every respect,

as.long as we.are permitted so to do, and our Portuguese Colleagues contiride
to act with us, or until we are honoured with His Majesty’s commands to the
contrary. 7 | a — .

(Signed) HENRY HAYNE.
~° ALEXa. CUNNINGHAM.

His Majesty's PrincipalSecretaryofStatefor Foreign Affairs, .
é &e. «Se.§e.
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‘(Inelosure in No. 72.)

Extractfrom the Proceedings against the.Schooner Emilia, captured by His
Majesty's Ship Morgiana, William Finlaison, Esq. Commander.

(Translation.)

‘ON the 18th of July 1821, William Finlaison, Esq. Commaniler of His Majesty’s ship Morgiana,
-appeared before the Mixed Commission, and the follosving Interrogatories were put to him on oath,
by the Portuguese Commissary Judge. ; ;

“© Why did not you permit the Master, Severo Leonardo, to make aprotest against the capture
« of the schooner Emilia, at the time of the capture ?”—Because, neither at the time of capture, or
at Se. Thomé, or on the Gold Coast, or at Cape Coast, or lastly, at any other place, day or hous,
did the Master ask me for pen, ink, and paper for that purpose, or did he shew, or comniunicate
to me, any wish to thateffect, and it was only after we entered Bahia, in the cabin of the. Morgiana, -
“before some Officers of the ship, and other persons, that I heard the Owner, Manoel Francisco

Morcira; say to the Master, why did you not make a protest, and I heard the Master reply, ‘tliat
thaving taken from him all the papers he had on board, ‘‘ what was the use ofprotesting.””-

' *¢ Why did you allow the Master of the schooner to escape, when he should have ecome.toggive
«his deposition before the Commission ?’—Because it was his duty to defend his right, if ke shad.
any; | had no business to.prevent his escape : adding that he did not hear the conversation between
the Master and the Owner through the medium of an Interpreter, and that when it was over thé
Master smiled; that hecommunicated to him through Lieutenant H. 8. Head, the day on which
jhe expected to sail, and made the same participation to the British Consul at Bahia,

This was taken and signed before the Commissary Judges. :

(Signed) __ WILLIAM FINLAISON, Captain.
THEO. DE MELLO, (Jnterpreter.)

Rio de Janeiro, October 17, 1822,

 

No. 73.

Mr. Secretary Canning to the British Commissioners at Rio de Janeiro.

| GENTLEMEN, © Foreign Office, November 26, 1822,

TSEND to you, for your information and guidance, the copy of a Des
patch, addressed, on the 22d of February 1822, by The King’s command, to.
His Majesty’s Chargé d’ Affaires at Lisbon, proposing, 1st, that the provisions
ofthe Convention of the 28th ofJuly i817, for the case of the death of one
of.the Commissioners, shall extend to the case of vacancies occurring in the
Commission from illness or absence on leave.—2dly, the copy of a Despatch,
dated the 6th of April 1822, from His Majesty’s Chargé d’ Affaires at Lisbon;
together with its Inclosure, signifying the readiness of the Court of Portugal
to sign an Article to the effect suggested.—And, 3dly, the copy ofan Instruc-
tion, which I addressed on the 25th of September 1822, by the King’s com-
mand, to His Majesty’s Chargé d’Affaires at Lisbon, inclosing the Projet of an
additional Article for extending the provisions of the Convention in this parti- -
cular accordingly. | :

So soon as any more specifick arrangement is agreed upon between the
Parties, I shall lose no time in forwarding the same toyou.
__In the mean time, you will endeavour to come to an agreement with your
fellow Commissioners, to act in the spirit of the intended arrangement. ~

. ITam,&e.  ~
(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's. Commissioners, Rio deJaneiro.
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No. 74.

Mr. Secretury Canning to Messrs. Hayne and Cunningham.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, January 10, 1823.

‘YOUR Despatchesto the 19th of October last have ‘been duly received,
and I cannot acknowledge the receipt-of them, without adverting in terms of
approbation ‘to that part ofyour Despatch of that date, wherein you state that
-you feel it to be your duty to remain at your Post, and perform the functions
of your Office in every respect, notwithstanding the political change which
is taking place in the DominionsofBrazil.

Tam, &c.
(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

ths Majesty's Commissioners, Rio de Janeiro.

 

No. 75.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Henry Hayne, Esq.

Sir, Foreign Office, January 14, 1823.

I HAVEreceived yourLetter of the 12th-of September 1822, addressed to
the late Marquess of.Londonderry, and I have laid the same beforeThe King.

am to.convey toyou His Majesty’s gracious permission for you to core
to England on.account of il health:; such leave of absence to.continuefor the
period of-your voyage to England, for.six months residence.in this Country,
and for the period ofyour voyage back to Rio de Janeiro.
You will take care to give.due notice of your leave, and of your.intention of

availing yourself of it, both to the Mixed ‘Commission, of which you.area
Member,.and to:the Local Authorities at Rio:de Janeiro.

. Tam, &c. —
(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

Henry Hayne, Esq.
British Commissary ludge, Rio de Janeiro.
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No. 76.

CL. Lefroy, Esy. to William Richard Hamilton, £sq.—(Received
April22.)

Sra, Surinam, February 8, 1822.
I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt, yesterday the 7th instant,

of your letter, dated 25th October 1821, informing me, by direction of the
Secretary of State, that the instructions referred toin the Treaty with the
Netherlands for the prevention of the Slave Trade, which had been issued to
His Majesty’s ship Euryalus, upon the West Indian station, have been
transferred from that ship to His Majesty’s ship Tamar, of sixteen guns,
Captain Sir William Saltonstall Wiseman,

 

Tam, &c.
(Signed) CHRIS. EDWp. LEFROY.

William Richard Hamilton, Esq.
, Se. Se. &e.. ' ,

No. Ws

OE. Leftoy, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry—(Received May.23.)

(Extract.) . . Surinam, March 19, 1822.
I AM happy to say that we continue without. any open arrivals of Slaves

since May last, but I have reason to fear that some contraband importations
-havebeen effected. oo eo

(Signed) CHRIS.EDWp LEFROY.
The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. .

 

,No. , 78. .

C. BE, Lefréy, Esq.to The Marquess of Londonderry—(Recewed STuly 4.)

(Extract.) . Surinam, May 1a] B29,

__ ON the subject of the Process of our Court, I regret to inform your
Lordship that, notwithstanding the repeated importunities of myself and late
Colleague, the Mixed Court is actually withoué any process by. which tt can
act, up to this day; the Authorities here having refused the English forms
of practice, which, in obedience to your Lordship’s directions, we pressed
“upon their adoption as soon as we arrived. The late Dutch Judge, Mr. .
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Chagnion, -was ordered (as we were informed), to arrange a form of pro-
ceeding according to the Dutch Law, but he having died without discharging
that duty, the fulfilment of it devolved, of course, to his Provisional Successor
ander-the Treaty, viz. our late Gevernor, Mr. Vaillant, who promised his
immediate:-attention to it, but who has done nothing up to this day; and 1
cannot forbear saying, that if his Successor persists in the same negative
conduct upon the subject of the Treaty, in the execution of which I have the
honour to ‘he employed, the increase of clandestine importations will, it is to
be feared, be nearly, if not fully,commensurate with the restrictionof the
open traffick. ‘The Slave Trade, it is obvious, is not a practice to be overcome
‘by ‘gentle admonitions, or merely negative prohibitions, .or-any thing short
ofthe energetick mcasures pursued .by the British Government, conducted
‘as it is by miscreants whose inhuman character no language can adequately
designate, and the profits of which are nearly in proportion to -the
risk; but so far from the Authorities of this Colony having hitherto made
any active use of the means which are in their hands for the suppression
of this murderous traffick, I am’ reluctantly compelled to acquaint your
Lordship that theComet, Dutch frigate, and Swallow, brig of war, both com-.
missioned under theTreaty, and also abrig ofwar,called the Thetis, main-

tained at the expence of, and belonging to, the’Colony, have been, one‘or.other
of them, laying off the Town more than once when Slave-vessels have been
hovering off the mouths of the rivers (and ‘some of which, Ihave reason to’
fear, have effected a disembarkation of their cargo), without ever quitting
their moorings, instead of cruizing occasionally up and down the coast to in-
terrupt-or observe them. .

I am happy to say that we continue without any open arrivalof Slave-
vessels since May last, and that, although an offer which I made of a-
reward for the conviction of #nglish Slave-traders has-been ‘rejected, I-am
not without hope, from the subsequent seizure ofa vessel forSlave-sm ugeling,
the Parties concerned in, and circumstatices of which, are now undergomg the
proper inquiry, {the first that has been instituted here, to my knowledge,
since I have resided here), that it will have the effect I desired, viz. that
of provoking the Government of this Colony in future toa little more activity :
your Lordship will not, Lam persuaded, feel it the less necessary. to make
the Mixed Court efficient, by’ calling upon the Ministers of His Netherlands
Majesty, either to furnish it with a form of Process agreeable to the Duteh
Laws, or to give directions to the Dutch Cominissioners here to adopt that
ractised: in the British Courts, agreeably to your Lordship’sproposal made
P them through us. It is only necessary for me farther to inform your
Lordship, at present, that wo Court or apartment: has’ been appropriated to
the Mixed Commission since the building originally designed for that purpose
was burnt down, in January 1821, and that no Commissioner has yet been
‘appointed to take the place of Mr. ‘Chagnion, -who-died-‘so-leng ago as
November 1820.

I shall-of course communicate to the.Fiscal here, from time to time, all the
information I can obtain against illicit Slave-traders, but ina Slave country
where the testimony .of ‘Slaves is not -eviderice, your, Lordship will, easily
believe that it will be, in nine cases out of ten, impossible to procure
Jegal proof. .

(Signed) CHRIS. EDWp. LEFROY.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K.G. =

he Ge, Gee
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No. 79..

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry.—(Received. July 5)

(Extract.) Surinam, May 10, 1822.

I HAVE the honour to acquaint your Lordship that a.vessel ‘has been
seized for Slave-smuggling, the Parties and circumstances of which are under-
going inquiry: I have since been so fortunate as to obtain from two of the
crew the depositions of which the inclosed are copies. I also inclose copy of
a letter which I thought it my duty to address to the Fiscal.
The Governor thas called on me to say, that he had ordered the accused, —

Charles Beverley, into custody to be examined, and, if the evidence was found’
adequate to support the charge, to be proceeded against regularly in the
Court of Criminal Justice here, called the Court of Policy, and I am happy to
say that the: man is now in the criminal gaol here awaiting the proceedings of
the-Court, which are at present, I believe, in the preliminary stage, corres-

ponding with the inquest of ourGrand Juries: with the result of their proceed-
ings, whether they ignore the bill,.or put the aman upon his trial, I shall of

course acquaint your Lordship as soon as I know it. oo,

Your Lordship will see that I have ventured -to act in the present case
a little beyond the letter of your directions, and you will of course
correct me if I have done wrong; but I thought it of such great im--
portance that an example shouldbe made of the present ‘prisoner, and felt
‘so confident that this would be the case if his trial took place in a British
Colony, (for the Slave Trade by a British subject is now become patricide as
well as felony,and I am sorry to say there are other Englishmen in this Colony
‘more.criminally and extensively engaged in it than the prisoner,) thatI thought-
anyself called upon to make to the Governor the offer which Idid, even without
any direct authority from your Lordship to that extent. — OO
Begging more precise instructions from your Lordship for my future

guidance in such cases, I have the honour, &c. "
| (Signed) CHRIS. EDWD.LEFROY.

TheMarquess of Londonderry, K.G.

| (First Inclosure in No.79.)

Deposition ofJohanes Pierre Clairac.

Paramaribo, Surinum, South America, May 1, 1822.

‘APPEARED personally before me, (Christopher Edward Lefroy, Judge of the Mixed Court for
-the suppression of the Slave Trade, established at Surinam, South America, on the part_of His
Britannick Majesty,)-Johanes Pierre-Clairac, Freeman and Creole of this Colony, and late serving
-on board the Thetis brig of war, belonging to this Colony, who being duly sworn, maketh oath,
and saith, that, since the beginning of the present year, (but the day or month in which he cannot
specify), he sailed from hence.to Martiniqne in a sloop belonging to and commanded by Charles
Beverley, an Figlishman, new residing in the Colony of Surinam, where (that. is to say at
Martinique), this deponent maketh oath, and saith, that ‘he, the said Charles Beverley, took into
the said sloop a cargo of twenty-two new Negroes, apparently ‘recently. imported into Martinique
from Africa, all of whom he this deponent swears, to the best of his knowledge and belief, had
never been employed as Slaves ou a plantation till withina very short period of his, this deponert’s,
“atrival at’ Martinique, where they were found by the said sloop on a small plantation to the lee-
ward of the Island, and emnbarked on board the same by the said Charles Beverley, in the middle
of the night; and this deponent, on his oath, further saith, that he made sail on board the said
sloop from Martinique, with the said Charles Beverley and the said Africans, direct to the Coast
of Nickerie, a district of this Colony of Surinam, where all the said Africans (except one, which
he, this deponent, maketh oath that the said Charles Beverley brought to bis own house, near
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Paramaribo), were disembarked, and put on shore; and this deponent, on his oath, further saith,
that be saw no more of any of the said Africans (except the one aforesaid), after their disem-
barkation from the said sloop, on the Coast of Nickerie; and that he does not know to whom

they were consigned, to whom they belong, or in whose possession they, or any of them, now
are, except the one so brought by the exid Charles Beverley to his house, near Paramaribo; as
aforesaid, which, as far as this deponent is informed and believes, still remains in bis possession ;
and this deponent further saith, that there was ove white sailor, besides the said Charles Beverley,

- engaged and taken on board the said sloop to serve as a sailor therein, by the said Chacles Beverley,
at Martinique, whom he, this deponent, verily believes to be an Englishman, but who. was only
known to him, this deponent, by the name of Jim.. :

(Signed) JOHANES PIERRE CLAIRAC,

On the first day of May 1822, the said Johanes Pierre Clairac was duly sworn to the truth
of this affidavit, before me,

(Signed) CHRIST. EDWp. LEFROY,
Brit. Com. Judge. o

 

(Second Inclosure in No. 79.)

Deposition of James Eley.

' Paramaribo, Surinam, South America, May3, 1822.

APPEARED personally before me (Christopher Edward Lefroy, Judge of the Mixed Court for
the suppression of the Slave Trade, established at Surinam, South America, ou the part of -His
‘Britannick Majesty,) James Eley, native of the Parish of Clerkenwell, in.the County of Middle-
sex, seaman, lately serving on board the American merchant brig, called the Liberty, who being
duly sworn, maketh oath, and saith, that on or about the 11th day of March, in this present year,
he was engaged at St. Pierre, in the Island of Martinique, by Captain Charles Beverley, (to the
Best of this deponent’s knowledge and belief an Englishman, generally resident in the Colony of
Surinam,) to serve on board a sloop, called the Heriot, (then commanded by, and as far as this
‘deponentis.informed and believes, belonging to the said Charles Beverley,) at the rate of fourteen
dollars. per month, but that neither the nature of the cargo which the said Charles Beverley was
in quest of, nor the voyage projected by him, entered into the terms of the engagement between
him, this deponent, and the said Charles Beverley, nor were known to him, this deponent, at the
time of his engagement, further than that the said Charles Beverley told him, this deponent, that
he was going to Surinam, and this deponent farther saith, that in a day or two after his embarka-

_ tion on’ board thesaid sloop, (that is to say) on or about the 13th March, he made sail with the
said- Charles Beverley, in the said sloop from the harbour of St. Pierre, to a part of the coast of
the said Island, between the towns of St. Pierre and Port Royal; where they took into the said
sloop a-cargo of twenty-two new Negroes, apparently recently imported into Martinique, from:
Africa, all of whom he, this deponent, swears, to the best of his knowledge andbelief, had never
been employed as Slaves ona plantation, till within a veryshort’ period of their embarkation on
board the said sloop at the Place aforesaid, in the Island of Martinique, where theywere found by
the said sloop and embarked on board the same, by the said Charles Beverley, about the hours of
eleven and twelve o’clock at night, and this deponent farther saith, that he made sail on board the
said sloop from Martinique, with the said Charles Beverley. and the said twenty-two new Negroes,
immediately after their embarkation, direct to the Coast of Nickerie, a district (as far as this depo-
nent is informed and believes) of the Colony of Surinam, where all the said Negroes (except one
which accompanied him, this deponent, on board the said sloop to Paramaribo,) were disembarked
and put on shore; and this deponent on his oath farther saith, that he saw no more of any of the
said twenty-two new Negroes, so embarked on board the said sloop at Martinique as aforesaid,
(except the one aforesaid) after their disembarkation from the said sloop on the Coast of Nickerie,
‘aod that he does not know to whom they belong,or in whose possession they or.any of them now
are, _ (Signed) JAMES ELEY.

On the 3d day of May 1822, the said James Eley, was duly sworn to the truthof this
affidavit before me. ' (Signed). CHRIS. EDWD. LEFROY.

. ; ’ Brit, Com. Judge.

oo

(Third Inclosure in No. 79.)

 ne

The British Commissary Judge to the Fiscal.

Sir, Paramaribo, May 4, 1822.

_ UPON the evidence now before you, of Johanes: Pierre Clairac, and James Eley, yousee,Sir,
that. my suspicions of Slave-smuggling into this Colony are notunfounded. 1 invoke upon Charles
Beverley (whom I hope you have in close custody) the penalties of Article 1 of yourfaw of No-
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vember 1818, unless the Governor (to whom T shall immediately apply) will, in compliance with
the wishes of my Government, deliver him over for trial, with the witnesses, to the Governor of
Berbice, or some other British Colony. I am’ aware, Sir, that my judicial duties only extend to
cases of vessels brought before me by a Dutch or British cruizer; but 1 should ill discharge my
duty as an international officer, appointedto execute and see executed a solemn Treaty, either
to my Government or you's (whose character for good faith and sincerity might otherwise be
comproinised,) if I had failed to complain of the utter inactivity upon this subject which prevailed
throughout the Government of M. Vaillant, especially during the early part of my residence here.
{ hope better things of his Sugcessor; but I need scarcely say to a man of your professional in-
telligence, that the Slave Trade is not a practice to be overcome by gentle admonitions, or merely
negative prohibitions, or any thing shott-of the energetick measures pursued by the British Go-
vernment, conducted as it is by the must demoralized and inhuman desperadoes, and the profits
of which are nearly in proportion to the risk. At all events, { call on you officially to detain the
persons of the witnesses now in your custody, and to take immediate steps for securing that of
the said Charles Beverley, till I have had time to communicate with the Governor upon the sub-
ject ; and I farther beseech you, Sir, that you would pursue the investigation of the case with your
characteristick energy, in order to discover the other Parties concerned, and if they are Englishmen,
that you would furnish me with their names, and those of the witnesses against them, with copies
of their depositions, in order that I may, in obedience to my directions, transmit them to my Go-
vernment, or send them for trial, if I can prevail with His Excellency to take that step, to the nearest
British Settlement.

J have the honour to be, &c,
' (Signed) C. E. LEFROY.

His Honour The Fiscal,

 

No. 80.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry.—(Received July 5.)

- My Lorp Surinam, May16, 1822.
1 HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt, on the 13th instant, of

Your Lordship’s Despatch, dated January 15th, inclosing the copy’ ofa Note
from the Ambassador ofThe King ofthe Netherlands at the Court ofLondon,
addressed to Your Lordship, announcing the appointment of the Netherlands
corvette Kemphaan to the service of the suppression ofthe illicit Slave Trade.

‘I have the honour to be, &c. oe

(Signed) CHRIS. EDWD. LEFROY.
The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. oe .

C. &e. &e.

 

‘No. 81.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to The Marquess ofLondonderry.—(Received .
August ll.) . a

My Lorp, Surinam, June4, 1822.
I HAVE the honour to inclose your Lordship the copy of.a Letter ad-

dressed to me by Major-General de Veer, the present Governor-General of
this Colony, announcing the appointment of Mr. A. F. Lammens, Member
of the Court of Civil-Justice, to the office of Judge of the MixedCourt, under
the Treaty for the suppression of illicit Slave-trading, on the part of His
Majesty The King of The Netherlands, in the room of Mr. P. J. Chagnion,
deceased, andto acquaint you that. Mr. Lammens has since duly taken the
oath prescribed by the Treaty for such appointment.

I have the honour to be, &e.
. (Signed) CHRIS.EDW. LEFROY.

TheMarquess.ofLondonderry, K..G. . . |
Se.  &e &e.Ce
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(Inclosure in No. 81.)

The Governor of Surinam to the British Commissary Judge.

{Translation.) Paramaribo, May 17, 1823,

1 HAVE the hononr of notifying to you, that His Majesty The King, by His Decree of the 8th
of January 1822, (No. 27.) has been pleased to appoint Mr. A. F. Lammens, Member of the Court
of Civil Justice in this Settlement, to be Judge of the Mixed Commission for the prevention of
the Slave Trade. oo,

Accordingly, as this Gentieman will have frequent intercourse with you, nothing will afford me
greater satisfaction than to be informed that perfect harmony and similarity of sentiments ‘uni-
formly prevail between you, Sir, and the Judge in question ; for it will tend to promote the accom.
plishment of the objects which both Powers have in view.—

(Signed) A. DE VEER.
C. E, Lefroy, Esq.

 

No. 82.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry. Received
September 4.)

My Lorp, Surinam, July2, 1822.

1 HAVE the honour to inclose you a copy of a Mode of Procedure for
the Mixed Court established in thisColony, already arranged with me by Mr,
Lammens, since his appointment to the Office ofJudge on the part of The
King of the Netherlands, subject, however, to His Majesty’s approbation.
This arrangement appears to me to embrace the directions of the Treaty, and
all the essential points of the Regulations provided for the Courts in the
English Colonies, from which we design to translate the forms of the plead-
ings, for the use of our Proctors, almost literally; but it is necessary for me
to call Your Lordship’s attention particularly to the latter part ofthe sixteenth
Article. By Your Lordship’s present directions, I am ordered to remit the
full moiety of the produce of condemned ships, without any deductions for
salary or contingent expences, to the Lords Commissioners of His Majesty’s
Treasury ; this is of no consequence; but as the costs of proceeding by.a Proc-
torto obtain the condemnation of a vessel, may be very considerable, and must
in the first instance be defrayed by theNaval Officer employing him, to whom
it may often be a serious inconvenience to advance such a sum of money till
he canbe reimbursed from home, it appears to me very desirabJe that the
Court should be furnished with a discretionary Power of ordering the pay-
ment of. these costs, out of the produce of the sale of the condemned vessel,
where (as, in all probability, will most frequently be the case) the Master of
the condemned vessel, or Claimants, have no other funds within reach of the
jurisdiction of the Court. If Your Lordship thinks this suggestion reason-
able, I will beg you to communicate to me your approbation of my exercising,
in concurrence with my Colleague, such a discretion, as I feel myselfprecluded
by my present instructions from so doing. Mr. Lammens informs me that
he is already furnished, by the Ministers of His Majesty The King of the
Netherlands, with sufficient authority for that purpose, With the spirit of in-
tegrity, cordiality, and good faith in which this Gentleman has commeneed- his
attention to the duties of his new appointment, I am happy to express to
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Your Lordship my entire satisfaction, although Your Lordship sees that the
Mixed Court, as at present constituted, how anxious and zealous soever for

the accomplishment of its great object, can only take cognizance officially of
wases brought before them by a Dutch or British cruizer.

I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.

‘The Marquess-of Londonderry, K..G.
. &e. &e. &e.

  

(Inclosure in No. 82.)

Moile of Process, or Form of Procedure for the Mixed Court at Surinam,
forthe Prevention of the Slave Trade.

(Translation.)

ARTICLE I,

“THE judgment of the Court is tobe given as summarily as possible, and without appeal, dbout,

Ist. The validicy of the attachment laid on-vessels used in the Slave Trade, and their forfeiture.

- 2dly. The invalidity of the detention of vessels, and the recovery ofdamages, claimed therefore.

(Treaty, May 4, 1818, Instruction for the Courts, Art. 3, 6,7.) uO

ARTICLE 1.

‘The sentence (ifpossible), shall be pronounced within twenty days, -(Treaty, May 4, 1818,

‘idém Art. 1) -

ARTICLE II.

In order‘to fulfil that part of the law,ghe commissioned ‘Captain, orthe person in charge of the

captured vessel, shall makehis declaration withregard to the arrested vessel or vessels,within thrice

four and twenty hours: after the vessels are come iuto the river of Surinam, which declaration,

written in the Dutch Janguage, and-under his oath, he is to deliver-into the hands of -one-of the

Judges or the ‘Secretary of the Court, and in case of his not fulfilling this, then the Captain or

Master of the arrested vessel shall deliver-in his declaration, in the same manner, written in the

Dutch language, ‘within the following twice four and twenty hours. in this last event, the com-.

anissioued Captain, if even he has made his arrest properly, shall be.condemmned in the costs of

‘the Process.

ARTICLE IV.

The Secretary shall, within twenty-four hours after the delivery of the aforesaid declaration,by
the doorkeeper, by way of affixing a citation to the door of the Court of ‘Civil Justice, and by

persoual service of the same, (of which he shall make his report to the Court), summon both

Parties, or their Attornies, to appearwithin three free days-before-the Court, (fixing, in the citation,

«day, hour, and place), to hear the claim and conclusion made by the Parties or claimant, in order
to answer thereupen, and to proceed with the Process from three to three days.

ARTICLE V.

. The arrested person,plaintiff, or claimer, - shall deliver in, the first day, .all his Documents and
sevidence, upon which the Secretary shall put his: exhibitum, and give a receipt for the same,

‘The person arrested, plaintiff or claimer, shell-not or may avail himself of any others, or more,

‘without consentof his adversary, =|

- ARTICLE VI.

All Documents in use before the Mixed Coart, are exempt from stamp duty.

ARTICLE VII. 7
All Documents thay be inspected by the opposite Party, and extracts or copies taken thereof ;

‘which shall be delivered by the’Secretary at the expence, of those that may require them. -

ARTICLE VHL.
“At all the terms, therespective. Parties shall proceed, by way of memorial, to answer, reply, aud’

woin:; “after which; the:case shall be considered'as determined, without pleading.
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ARTICLE IX.

The Court may, for theiy own particular information, raquiyesugh doguments as they may
deemproper. :

ARTICLE.X,

In case the arrested or defendant, may want more than three days to produce justificatory
evidence, then a delay of four weeks, at the utmost, may be allowed him, to deliver in his answer,
4a order that the definitive sentence may be pronounced within two months, (Treaty, 4th May
1818, Instructions for the Courts of Justice, Article 1.)

ARTICLE XI.

Should tle arrested or defendant apply for a longer delay. as necessary to bring forward evidence,
in this case four mouths may be granted him, in addition to the before mentioned time of four
sveeks,——nevertheless under thesé conditions, diat he shall give on his part, unlimited and suffi-
cient security, satisfactory to the Court, to make good all farther costs of process, demurrage,
damages, &e, which may result therefrom, or occur within that period, or of such which may be
purely accidental, and that may stand in no connexion with the Lawsuit. (Treaty, 4th, lay
1818, idem.) /

ARTICLE XH.

In ease by the decision of the Court the arrest of detention be declared unlawful, then the
Captain of the arrested or detained vessel shall deliver to the Secretary his claim for recovery of
damages, within four times twenty-four hours, and the proceedings continue as is expressed before,
Article 4. aud following.

ARTICLE XII.

As soon as sentence shall be pronounced, notice thereof ghall be given immediately to His. Ex-
eellency the Governor of this Colony, and (if need be), his assistance be asked, to effect the
execution of the same. (Ministerial Instruction, July 18, 1819.)

ARTICLE XIV.

Proctors and Attornies shall be admitted, before the MixedCourt, provided they havepreviously
taken the oath prescribed before one of the Judges, and‘of which the Parties shall be informed at
the delivery of their declaration of arrest or detention. (TheKing’s Decree, August 1, 1820.)

ARTICLE XV.

To the Proctors or Attornies, it required, shall, at their expence, be given :
Ist. Authentick Copy of the Treaty, May 4, 1818. /
2dly. This mode of procedure, and such forms as are stipulated thereby.

ARTICLE XVI. -
The Secretary is authorised to tax the costs of the Proctors, &c, and, in case of theopposite”

Party not being satisfied, he may bring the same before the Court for re-examination, and all
costs shall be paid by the Party against whom judgment may be given;. or, in case, the arrested
vessel shall becondemned, the same may be paid out of the produce thereof, if the Court-should
be authorised thereto, and should think. it expedient so to order,

oe ARTICLE XVIL |
A proper Register shall-be kept by the Secretary, to, take, down. every thing that is going.on’

before the Court. ,

ARTICLE XVIII.

This modeof procedure may be enlarged and altered as circumstances might require.

. ARTICLE XIX.
Tf the Judges cannot agree in regard to the construction of these Articles, or the jurisdiction

‘of the Court, it shall (pro re nata), be decided by one of the Arbitrators (to be chosen by lot),
upon reference to the Treaty. and, Ministerial Jostructions, a .

This form of process to be sent for approbation to His Majesty The King of the Netherlands,
and, in the mean time, provisionally adopted ‘by the, Mixed Court sitting at Surinam.

(Signed). A, F. LAMMENS,
. CHRIS. EDWo, LEFROY.:

Paramaribo, June 19, 1322. “BRIS. EDWo, LEFROY.
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No. 83.

C. E. hefroy, Esq. to Whe Marguessof Londonderry.—(Received Sep-.
tember 13.)

My Lorp, | Surinam, July 23, 1823.

1 HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Lordship’s Des-
" watch, dated May 17, 1822,* communicating the copy of a letter. from the
Bocretary to the Admiralty, to Joseph Planta, jun. Esq. intimating, that in
fature there would be only two signatures of the Lords Commissioners of the
Admiralty, to the. Instructions issued in conformity to the Treaties for pre-
venting the illegal Traffick in Slaves. .

I have the honour to be, &c. —

| (Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY:
The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. |

 &e. &e. - &e.

* Se¢ Sierra Leone. —(Genetal.)—No. 2,

 

No. 84.

C. E.Lefroy, B3q.to TheMarquess ofLondonderry.—(Received October 28.)

(Extract.). Surinam, August 22, 182%.

AS there is generally a long discontinuance of any direct intercourse with
Europe after this month, and the opportunities of comimunication through
our Colonies is quite accidental, I thus early reiew my solicitation for the in-
dulgence of a Parloagh, to return to England in the ensuing Spring. It is,
moreover, my Lord, of.course desirable, if such indulgence can be extended
to me, that I should have some little notice, and I shall not probably receive.
‘your Lordship’s reply to this application within six months at least.

1have nothing of official importance to communicate te your Lordship,

| (Signed) _ CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY,.
The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. . a

&e. Te &e.

 

No. 85.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to The Marquess of Londonderry:—(Received No-
vember 20.) 2

(Extract.) | Surinam, September 20, 1822.
. *.

FROMthe Inclosures which I have now the honour to submit to you, (viz.
copies of a Letter addressed by me to the present Governor-General of this
Colony,—translation of a Proclamation of His Excellency,—and, copy of
a Letter I have thought it my duty to address to the Governors of the neigh
bouring British Colonies,) your Lordship will learn that Charles Beverley,
the British Slave-trader, already reported to your Lordship, has contrived,
since the date of my last Despatch, to make his escape from the Criminal
Gaol of this Colony, and that the Fiscal has restored the Negroes brought in
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here by Beverley, to Monsieur le Martineau (the consignec,) upon his giving

security (as I am informed,) that he would prove the lawfulness of their im-
portation; I am sorry also to say, that the Governor has declined my offer of
a reward for the re-captire of Beverley, and I eannot but regret, that
no reference to the offence for which he was imprisoned is made in the
accompanying Proclamation. I am not aware that it is open to me to take
any further step in this business than I have done.
Your Lordship has well observed, in aletter to The Earl of Clancarty, dated

the 21st of March 1821, and printed in the Parliamentary Papers, “ that the
* continuance of this horrible Trade, or its abolition within the dominions of
“the Netherlands Government, to which His Netherlands Majesty is so-
lIemnly pledged by Treaty, depends entirely upon the tenour of the orders

“ which they may send out to their Colonial Possessions.” But the Treaty
has now been concluded nearly five years, and (excepting in my present Col-
league, M. Lammens, who is butjust appointed, and is scrupulous of inter-
fering with the duties of the Executive Government here,) I cannot perceive
in any other of the Surinam Officers of His Netherlands Majesty, either civil
or military, the slightest appearance of any peremptory orders, in the bond
fide spirit of the Treaty, having been received by them, towards accomplishing
the object of the Treaty. So far from cordially co-operating with me, ifany
good has been effected since I have been here, it has been effected only by the
most irksome and continuous extra-judicial importunity on’ my part, which
ought not to have been necessary, and at the utmost expense possible of
trouble and expostulation to your Lordship, and His Majesty’s Ambassador
in Holland. .Will your Lordship think me too presumptuous, if I suggest
that there is still one step by which the Government of His Netherlands
Majesty may satisfactorily evince their earnestness and good faith:in this
important cause, (viz.) the introduction into this Colony of a Registry Act,
-similar to that enforced in. the British Colonies ?, This Act, your Lordship
sees, although it might in some degree be crippled, could not be entirely de-
feated ; because, by making the registration of Slaves idispensable ‘to
the Owner’s title, the neglect of complying with its provisions would put
people in the power of each other. a

I beg to take this opportunity of acquainting your Lordship, that on the
29th‘ultimate, Captain Herbert, of the English corvette Jcarus, and Captain
Crole, of the Swrinam brig of war, did me the honour to call on me, and that
T pointed out to them those parts‘of the Coast where I had reason to think
illicit debarkations of Slaves had been effected, and expressed my opinion of
the importance of their occasionally shewing their’colours ‘here, —

(Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.

The Marquess of Londonderry, Ky G.
&e. Se. Ge
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(First Inclosure in No. 85.)

The British Commissary Judge to the Governor of Surinam.

May 17 pLreass Your Exceirency, Paraniaribo, September 16, 1822,

‘ON my return home this evening, I was informed that Beverley, the English felon, had escaped
from the Fort. Your Excellency will, I think, agree with me, that this could scarcely have hap-
pened without collusion or gross negligence somewhere, which (no doubt) Your Excellency wilk
enquire into and punish, The object of this note is merely to ask whether there is any way (such
ag joining Your Excellency in offering a reward or otherwise) in which I can assist Your Excel«
ency in his re-apprehension. —

With due consideration, &c.

(Signed) CHRIS. EDWp, LEFROY:

His Excellency Major-General de Veer.

(Second Inclosure in No. 85.)

Proclamation of the Governor ef Surinam.

{Translation.}

CAUTION,

WHEREAS, the Person of Charles Beverley being confined in thie Fortress of Zclandia, he
contrived yesterday evening to escape out of Prison, and it being of the highest importance that
this Person should again be taken into custody, all and every one are hereby duly warned not to
Jodge or harbour the said Charles Beverley, much less to help him in his further escape, but on
thé contrary, each atid every one possessing any knowledge where the said Charles Beverley main-
tains himself, is invited immediately to communicate the same to the Magistracy here, and in case
the above-mentioned escapedPrisoner,should be discovered upon a plantation, thereof immediately
to-give notice tothe Commanding Officer of the nearest established Post. All Officcrs, and’ other
military men, upon the outposts, moreover being chargedto look well to it, that the said Chartes
Beverley dues riot pass their Post, but; attemptingthesame, that he is there detained, such Officers
and military men being further charged to make the necessary reséarches after the sainé,’ and upon
discovering him, immediately to arrest him and send him in safe custody to Paramaribo,
At the time of his escape, the said Charles Beverley was clothed with long white trowsers,

white shirt, and black waistcoat.
. Description of his Person, |

Height - = - = guessedabout five feet seven of eight itiches,
Figure - - - + rather stoutand well madé,
Age:- + = ~- + about thirty-one.
Forehead - - ~ round.
Eyes - - - - - black. .
Eyebrows ~ - - Dblack‘and large.
Nose = - - = aquiline and thickish.
Mouth - - - - broad‘aud’shewing the teeth when speaking.
Countenance - ~- oval.
Colour - - - = xed brown. .

And in order that every one may bave due notice hereof; We charge and command that these
presents shall be published and affixedevery where, where it is customary to publish and affix such
notifications, and further, that it besentroundfrom plantation to plantation along the rivers.

(Signed) A. DE VEER,

Given at Paramatibo, this 17thday of and, by order of His Excellency
September 1822. J. C, GUICHERIT,

Government Secretary,

 

{ Zhird InclasureinNo. 85.)

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to the Governor of Barbadoes,Demercra, and Berbice.

Sir, _ Paramaribo, September 19, 1822,

YOUR Excéllenicy will see, by the threeenclosures which I havethe honodr to. transmit, to.
you' (ofwhich tivo are copies-of depdsitions taken by me,. arid the third thé ‘copy of a ‘Proclama-



138 Surinam.

tion issued by the Governor of this Colony, that Charles Beverley, who stands charged in those
depositions with the. illicit’ introduction into this Colqny of African Negroes, and is become
thereby subject to the penalties of the 46th Geo. II]. ch. 52; 47th Geo. HE. ch. 36; and 5lst
‘Geo, IIL. ch. 23,) made his escape from the criminalgaol of this Colony on the evening of Monday
the 16th instant. Should he presume to take shelter within Your. Excellency’s Government, it
would be, I amsure, quite superfluous in me to add avy thing to the accompanying pa-
pers to induce Your Excellency to take every proper measure fur his re-ception, and should
that be effected, either to deliver him back to the Authorities of this Colony, or to’ lodge
him in sate custody, to be dealt with according to the English Abolition Laws, and to have the
goodness to acquaint me with his arrest by the earliest opportunity, iy order to my communicating
further with Your Excellency upon the subject. Inthe mean time, I will beg a line from Your
‘Excellency in acknowledgment of these present advices.

As Beverley is the first Engtish illicit Slave-trader in this Colony ‘against whom 1 have been .
able to obtain any decisive evidence, I am the more:anxious that an example should be made of
him.

I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY,

P.S. Your Excellency will, I trust, think it right to cause a copy of this Letter and its
Inclosures to be forwarded to the Magistracy of the Islands, in subordinate connection with your
Government, as I have no other meaus of communication with them than through Your Ex-

cellency.

His Excellency Major-General Sir Henry Ward, K.C. B.
&e, &e, &e,

N.B. A similar Letter was sent to the Governors of Demerara and Berbice.

 

No. 86.

CE. Lefroy, Esq. toThe Marquess of Londonderry.-—(Received Nov. 20.)

My Lorp, . Surinam, September 23, 1822.

I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Lordship's letter,
of the 11th of June 1822,* acquainting me that instructions uader the Treaty
with the Netherlands for the prevention ot the Slave Trade,had been issued

to the following of His Majesty’s ships, viz.

The Bann, .. twenty guns, C. Phillips,.....,.: Commander.
.. Cyrene,. twenty guns, Percy Grace,....,.. Commander.
.. Driver, . eighteen guns, Thomas. Woolridge,: Commander..9)

And that those issued to thePheasant, Myrmidon, and Morgiana, would be
recalled.

T have the honour to be, &e.

The Marquess of Londonderry, K. G. CHRIS. EDWD. LEFROY.
C.&e .  &e.

* See Sierra Leone.—(Netherlands.) No. 37,

 

No. 87.

Mr. Secretary Canning to C. E. Lefroy, Esq.

Sr, | Foreign Office, September 25, 1822.

I HAVE received your Despatches of the 1st and of the 10th of May 1822,
which complain of the supine conduct of the Colonial Authorities at Surinam,
in regard to the suppression of the Traffick in Slaves, and which notice a late
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occurrence there, in the seizure of avessel, on suspicion of being engaged in
smuggling into that Colony, Slaves ‘recently imported from Africa.

_ This occurrence, it appears, had brought to light charges of a very heinous
nature against Charles Beverley, a British subject, for being principally con-
cerned in one, if not more, of these transactions. _ ,

In the state in which this affair was left-when last you wrote, it must natu-
rally have been terminated, before you could receive an answer from hence:—
But the question which it involves is now under consideration, and I shall
not fail to furnish you with such instructions thereon, as the case may warrant.

I have not delayed to forward copies of your Despatches to His Majesty’s
Ambassador inthe Netherlands, with directions to make the strongest repre-
sentations to the Netherlands Government, with a view to the issue of more
decisive instructions from that Government to their Colonial Authorities, and
to their cruizers, to. prevent the infraction or the evasion of the solemnp
compacts subsisting upon this subject between,the two Countries. —

, adam, &e,

CE. Lefroy, Esq. (Signed)  +GEORGE CANNING.

 

No. 88.

Mr. SecretaryCanning to J. HZ, Lance, Esq.

Sir, Foreign Office, Seplember 25, 1822.

HIS Majesty’s Government having permitted you to delay repairing to
‘your Post unto that period of the year, when an European. may, without
imminent danger to his health, establish himself in the climate of Surinam, I
have, (thatperiod being now arrived,) to-convey to you The King’s commands,
that you proceed without further delay, toexecute the duties of His Majesty’s
Commissioner of Arbitration to the Mixed British and Netherlands Commis-
sion, establishedat Surinam, under the Treaty between His Majesty and The
King of the Netherlands, concluded at the Hague, on the 4th day ofMay 1818,
for the prevention of the Traffick in Slaves. .

I have the honour to send to you herewith the Commission, bearing date
the 27th day ofApril 1822, by which The King was pleased to appoint you
to the above-mentioned Situation. . .
You will show your Commission to Mr. Lefroy, and. after conferring with

that Gentleman, who will introduce you to the Netherlands Commissioners, :
and to: the local Authorities, you will proceed to take the requisite oaths, in |
the form prescribed, and. will enter upon the duties entrusted to your charge.-
You will consider the instructions sent out from this Office for the guidance

ofyour Predecessor, and Mr. Lefroy, as equally addressed to yourself:—and
‘will make. those instructions, togetherwith the Treaty above-mentioned, and
the Act of Parliament consequent upon it, the ruleof your conduct,—

Farther instructions and directions will be forwarded to you from time to
time, as cireumstances may require. a oe

Tam, &e.

(Signed) |GEORGE CANNING.

His Majesty's Commissioner ofArbitration,
Surinam,
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No. 89. |

CG. E. Lefroy, Esq. to Joseph Planta,jun. Esq.— (Received Feb. 7, 1823.)

(Extract.) Surinam, October 24, 1822,
FROM the very melancholy intelligence which has reached this Colony of

the death of the late Marquess of Londonderry, I have to request you
will lay the inclosed papers before his Successor, The information they
contain, places beyond all doubt the fact of contraband importations of
Africans to an indefinite extent, taking place in this Colony, up to this
day, which all my importunities have failed hitherto to obtain from the
Jocal Authorities here any adequate exertion to suppress; a fact, of which
I conceive a clear proof to be of some importance, because, from the
Papers lately laid before Parliament, which I have had the honour to receive
from you for my information and guidance, the Ministers of His Nether-
lands Majesty, seem to me to be much disposed to maintain strenuously a very
inauspicious scepticism on that point.

Tnclosed is the copy of a Deposition of Cornelius O'Sullivan, lately
employed by one of the most desperate Slave Traders in this Colony,
whose motive for making the disclosure he did to me, was a quarrel
with bis Owner, which I mention, because His Excellency the Gevernor-
General (contrary to all English Legal and Police experience) was disposed
to consider it as quite destructive of his credit, till his relation was happily
confirmed by the very opportune arrival of Letters (of which the ixclosed
are copies) from Captain Edwins Rich, of His Majesty's sloop Bustard.

‘The information which I thus received I immediately communicated to
the Governor, and subsequently waited upon him, with Captain Rich. in
person, to offer him any further information, and also any assistance which
Captain Rich could give him (either by taking down to the place where he
fett the Slave-vessel, a party of soldiers, or otherwise). consistently. with. the
limits of his discretion in this service. His Excellency: declined any assist-
ancé from Captain Rich, but immediately sent. down a party of soldiers to
the spot, and has since reported to me the result of their inquiries, which is,
that, the: vessels described by Captain Rich had. disappeared. before their
arrival, but that, from the appearance of a, Negro encampment upon the
shore, there was certainly reason. to fear that the Slave vessel had succcededin
disembarking her cargo, which the soldiers traced into, the.neighbouring bush,
but-that all their zeal and diligence, as also that of the. chief Police. Ma-

. gistrate of the district, called, “ the. Heimraad” (whom. the. Governor. also
ordered to inquire), had been unable to obtain any further information as: to-
the Partics concerned in this transaction, or those in whose possession, cus-
tody, or power, theNegroes then were. I think. it right to, add, that. we
have had no Dutchmanof war. here since thebeginning of last. May, and
that General De Veer declares. his utter inability to prevent the continuance
of a clandestine Slave Trade. without one; and from the great lengthof, coast.
which this Colonycomprises, with the number of creeks distant from. obs
servation, I do not think, withoutactive naval assistance, or. the introduction
of a Registry Act, similar to that in force in. the British Colonies, ihat he
could. It is true, indeed, that the Dutch men of war, stationed here during
the Government of M,Vaillant, might (as far as the suppression of the Slave
Trade was concerned) just as well liave been away, because he never employed
them in that service ; but as the efficiencyof such assistance depends entirely:
upon the Governor, by the constitution of the Dutch Colonial Governments,
i am willing to hope that His present Excellency would make a better use
of It.

I beg to take this opportunity of informing you, that Charles Beverley, the
Slave-trader,who has been the principal subject of my late Despatches, and
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who lately made his escape from confinement, has again been taken and re-

committed to the criminal gaol, but, from.-whatI-can learn, it appears that

all idea of proceeding against him under the Dutch Abolition Laws, is now

given up. I have only further to add, that I have again since his recaption,

renewed my proposal to the Governor of sending him-with the witnesses for

trial toan English Colony, asa subject ofHis Britannick Majesty, for a breach

of the English Abolition Laws, which His Excellency continues to decline.

(Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.
' Joseph Planta,jun. Esq.

&e. |. &e. &e

  

(First Inclosure in No. 89.)

Deposition of Cornelius O'Sullivan.

APPEARED personally before me, (Christoplier Edward ‘Lefroy, Jidge of the Mixed Court for

" the suppression of the Slave Trade, established at Surinam, South America, on the part of His

Britannick Majesty,) Cornelius O-Sullivan (sometimes called Charles Sullivan), lately serving as

a Warrant Officer in His Britannick Majesty’s Navy, who, being duly sworn, maketh oath and

saith, that on or about the 6th day of September last he received from Richard 0’Ferrall, junior,

an inhabitant of this Colony, directions to take charge of a schooner belonging to the said Richard

O’Ferrall, and proceed with her in_ the first place to Nickerie, and from thence to return back

and beat up to’ windward as far-as Devil's Island,- in the neighbourhood of which he, this depo-

nent, was to remain for some time, and be there govei‘ned by the Uirections which he would re-

ceive from a friend of the said Richard O’Ferrall, who would accompany him, this deponent, on

board for the benefit of his health. - And this deponent further saith, that he- subsequently found

the person so accompanying him on board the said schooner to be Edward O’Ferrall (the brother

“of the said Richard O’Ferrall, junior), who told him that he expected to meet somewhere in

their course, with a. brig and sloop, which would answerto this deponent’s private signal of -

white flag over a blue flag at the mizen, and that he, this deponent, must keep a good leok eut

for them. And he, this deponent, upon his oath farther saith, that he understood that he was te

afford évery assistance in his power to the said. brig :and sloop in the debarkationof their cargoes,

‘or otherwise, as they might require, and carefully to avoid all other vessels. ‘That he, this depo-

nent did not fall in with the said brig andsloop, or either of them, as he was led to expect, but

that he understood, and verily believes, the expected cargoes of the said brig and sloop, for which

he was sent to look out and aid the debarkation of, wete cargoes of contraband Negroes, and this

deponent, on his oath, further saith, that he has reason to believe’a brig belonging to Martinique,

called The Hermaphrodite, has been for some days past, and is at present, laying off. the mouth, or

-4n the neighbourhood of the Wanny-lowanna creek in this Colony, with a cargo of two

hundred and fifty, or three hundred and fifty, contraband Negroes, and also that a schoonerleftthe

“Town of Paramaribo on the evening of Friday last, the fifth instant, with provision for the said

“prig, and to assist (as far as this deponent is informed aid believes) im effecting a debarkation

trom the said brig of the said contraband Negroes. Do, _—
; (Signed) _ _ CORs, O'SULLIVAN

. On the 8th day of Ostober 1822,>

the said Cornelius O'Sullivan was

duly sworn to the truth of this
Affidavit—Before me

(Signed) CHRIS. EDWp. LEFROY,
. British Commissary Judge.

 

: (Second Inclosure in No. 89.)

Captain Rich to. EB. Lefroy, Esq.

His Britannick Majesty's Sloop Bustard,at Sea, October 6, 1822,

Sin; in Lat, 6.6. N. Long. 54, 52. W.

JT HAVE to request you will lay the inclosed before His Excellency the Governor of ‘Surinam,

in order that he may take such measures as he may deem expedient for the discovery of the same.

J remain, Sir, &e. | |

(Signed) EDWINS RICH, Commander,

Christopher E, Lefroy, Esq. ”
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Captain Richto C..E. Lefroy, Esq.

HGSBiitannitk Majesty's Sloop Bustard, at Sea, October. 6; 1822,
Sra, inLat.6. 6...N. Long.54. 52. W;

_ I BEGleavé to‘inforntyou that;:on the 6th instant, at 4 p.m. I spoke a brigantine, under French
colours, laying at an anchor, Watrappa Creek, bearing’S,byW. four or five miles, said to be fron’:
Martinique, bound to Cayenne, which; from her appearance and a schooner hovering near her, j
have every reason to suppose was engaged in the illegal Traffick in. Slaves, as from thestateof the -
weather nothing could have prevented herfrom proceeding. to her sajd destination.
The said vessel is long and iow, with a narrow white ribbon, riggedas a brig forward, with a

schooner mainmast, with a small main-topsail and top-gallant-sail,; with two guns mounted; and
only six or seven men appeared on“deck whenT passed her’. ,

Tremain, Sir, &e,

a (Signed ' EDWINS RICH, Commander.
Christopher E. Lefroy, Esq.

 

No. 90.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs: Lefroy and Lance.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, October 25; 1829:

. THE Despatch of Mr. Lefroy of the2d of July: 1822, addressed to the late.
Marquess of Londonderry, and inclosinga copy of a Mode of Procedure for
the Mixed Court at Surinam, has been duly received.

IT feel'a difficulty in making observations upon this declaratory instrument,
under'the disadvantage of not being acquainted with the forms of process in
the ordinary Courts of the Settlement, which may have influenced the judg-
mentofthe Commissioneis in forming these Rulés. .
Under these difficulties I think it, however, right to remind you that, b

theRegulations annexed to the Treaty, theproceedings are: intended io be.as_
summary as possible, and should therefore be continued de die-in diem, under
the sanction of the Judges,by minutes of the Court, recording thie bringitig
in- ofinstruments and. proofs, and. theprayers of the Parties in the simplest
form: and I should hesitate to say, that the directions, as to memorials. or
replies, (Art. 8.)—as to the condemnation in costs, (Art. 3.}—as to the adjourn-”
ments: from three days to three days, (Art. 4.)—are Rules which appear the
best adap‘ed to the provisions of the Treaty.
A suggestion, similar tu that in the sixteenth Article, had been already sub-

mitted for consideration by the Court-at Sierra Leone ; but it was deemed, on
the whole, more expedient not to authorise a deduction from the proceeds of
prizes, for the purposes of defraying the expences of the suit. The same
principle will serve for a guide to.you upon the point in question. Upon
the remaining points, I have only at present to recommend to you that the
spiritof these Rules should be adopted, in the way best calculated to prevent
prolixity in the proceedings, or delay and expence to the Parties,

I am, &e.
| (Signed) _ GEORGE CANNING. |
The British Commissioners at Surinam.
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No. 91.

C. Es. Lefroy, Esq. to Earl Bathurst.-(Received: February 7, 1893:)

My Lorp, Surinam, October 28, 1822.

THAVE had: the honour’ to. receive Your? Lordship’s.:.Cirealar, dated
August 14, 1822, signifying to. me His Majesty's. commiands: that untilHe _
should be pleased to appoint a Successor to the late Marquess of Londonderry,.
I'should address my Despatches to Your Lordship. |
Just before the receipt of Your Lordship’s Letier (having previously heard

of the very lamentable occurrence of the death of the noole Marquess), I had
closed a Despatch to Mr. Planta, of some importance to the” service in which
Iam engaged, containing copies of communications to me from a man of the:
namé-of O'Sullivan, and Captain Edwins Rich, of His Majesty’s sloop
Bustard, regarding. an illicit debarkation ofSlaves, and reporting, from con-
versation with the Governor, the result of an inquiry instituted. by. him, at.
‘my request, into the transaction. ,

I have now the honour to inclose to Your Lordship the copy of a Letter:
fron His-Excellency, received. too.late for my Despatch to Mr. Planta, which
is merely'a more format communication ofthe result of the above. inquiry, |
than that which His‘ Excellency had before verbally made to me;- but which,
from its not being open: to any. doubts ofmistake or inauthenticity as to
infortiation'derived by me from conversation, I think it proper to putyour.
Lordship in possession of. =

I.wall only. add that,.so far from. my agreeing with HisExcellency in the.
concluding paragraph, my suspicions are entirely confirmed; and, from the
circumstance of the Negro Camp, reported by his own Officer, I am convinced
that adebarkation of contraband Negroes lias been effected. Whetherthein-
terruption of his purposes by Captain Rich, andthe apprehension of a seizure.
ofthe Negroes in'consequence; by theAuthoritieshere;induced the Master

_ of the Slave-vesseltore-embark them, does not in the least alter the fact of
which I have nowput Your Lordship in possession of incontestable proof,
wiz. that contraband. importations.of. Africans into.this Colony, to an’ inde-
finite extent, continue to takeplace up to this day.

I have the honour to be, &c. a .
(Signed) CHRIS. BDWop. LEFROY.

The Right Hon. Earl Bathurst, K. G.

ceertachorenis ane

 

(CIaclosure in No. 91.)

The Governor of Surinam to the British Commissary Judge.

. (Translation.)

Sir, \ - Paramaribo, October 26, 1822.

IMMEDIATELY after receiving the information which you communicated to me of a vessel
_ ander French colours, lying at anchor off Warappa Creek, which you had well-foanded suspicions
was endeavouring clandestinely to land Slaves; I despatched to the above Creek an Officer
attached to the company of Colonial guides, with a party of troops, directing him to set on foot
there the needful inquiry.

Accordingly, in consequence of the arrangement I had previously concerted with you, Inow
have the honour of acquainting you that I have received from the Officer charged with the Mis-
sion .a report stating, “that on his arrival at Warappa Creek he‘ took every means to procure
*‘ the necessary information, though without success, as he could not-discover any particulars bear-
“**iag on-the subject, or trace any vessel whatsoever, but-that, ‘on proceedingwith his party along-
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«¢ the beach, he came to a spotwhere some woodwas still left burning, and several fragments of-:sea,
*¢ biscuits scattered on the ground,. while he was able todistingnish the footsteps of.a number ofper.
«cans walking barefoot, which marks hasing followed to some distance heat length lost, owing to

«© the hardness of the ground, without being able to trace them further on; whereupon the Officer
* tried ‘to: procure intelligence from the Overseers ofseveral Plantations: being ‘again disap.
*€ pointed, it struck him that Negroes would be the most likely persons to heat of any fresh:im-

«* portation of their countrymen, and, acting on that presumption, he desired his men to seek

‘© privately tO. converse.on the subject with the blacks employed in the Plantations. By these.
«© means he learned that a schooner which had been at anchor off the coast, had taken on board
“¢ Negroes from a brig, had set them on shore in the vicinity of the very'‘spot‘noti¢ed by- the
‘* Lieutenant, and had sent some ofthem to the Plantations of Goosen, and othersto - that of
¢s. Bisterslust;”?

This report I lost no timein transmitting to the Councillor, Commissioner of the Court of
Police, and Colonial Justice, who is also invested with the Office of Inspector of the Dykes for the
division of Matappica, requesting that he would order the Captain of that division to institute the
strictest investigation into the matter, and also to cause the Negroes suspected. to have been-

landed there-to bé apprehended and conveyed hither, .The Captain in question.sént two of his
Lieutenants with their non-commissioned Officers to the Plantations of Goosen and Esterslust,
enjoining them to satisfy themselves on the spot, whether, during the months of September and —
October, any fresh Negroes had been brought thither, and, if so, to seize them forthwith; —
The result of the investigation was forwarded by the Captain of the division to,the Inspector

of the Dykes; and by him to.me.. It is to this effect, that in the plantations referred to; not only
no trace of any. new comers could be: found, ‘but that-the Overseers declared that so.far from, rex
ceiving any. fresh. Negroes, said to havelately arrived, they had not go much as seen any.
' [t.affords me pleasure, Sir, that the suspicion which you entertained has not been vefified by.
the fact, as 1. now am also justified in withholdingmy belief from that portion of theReport tkahe~
mittedby the Lieutenant, which relates to the‘information given by the Negroes of the: Hlantdtions.
Indéed, Sir; you yourself cannot but‘have had frequent occasion to observe that the intelligence
ebtained frompersons of that description carries very little weightwith. it,

, T have the honour, &e,
C. E.. Lefroy, Esq: (Signed) A. DE. VEER.

No. 92:

Mr. Secretary Canning toMessrs. Lefroy and. Lance.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign. Office, November 1,1822.

_I‘LEARN by a communication from the Ambassador ofThe King of
the Netherlands at this Court, that the Netherlands:corvette de Eendragt
(the Concord) of one hundred and fifty men and eighteen guns, Captain+
Lieutenant Schroder, about to sail for the West Indies, will befurnished
with a copy of the Treaty of the 4thMay 1818, for repressingthe ‘Frade-in
Slaves, andof the several Documents thereunto annexed.
You will be so good as to communicate this information to the Board,

of which you are Members. .
Iam, &c.

(Signed) GEORGE. CANNING.
The British Commissioners, Surinam. |

 

No. 93.

Mr. Secretary Canning to C. EB. Lefroy,Eso. ;

Siz, Foreign Office, November 6, 1822,

IHAVE yeceivedlyour Letter ofthe 42d of August 1822, addressedto the
late Marquess ofLondonderry, atid Ihave laid: the same béfore ‘Khe King:

I am.to convey: to-youHis Majesty’s gracious permission. for, ‘you to, come
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to England, on theground of ill-health, for the space of six months; the
eriod of your voyage to and from-Surinam not being included in that time.
You will not fail to make due and sufficient notification of your intended

absence, both to the Board of which you are a Member, and also to the
local AuthoritiesofSurinam.

Tam, &ce. ,

. . (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
C. E. Lefroy, Esq.

 

No. 94.

Mr, SecretaryCanning to Messrs. Lefroy and Lance.

GENTLEMEN, Foreign Office, November 12, 1822.

IN reference to that part ef the Despatch of Mr. Lefroy, dated the Loth of
May, 1822, in which Mr. Lefroy requests instructions for his further guid~
ance, in cases similar to that of Charles Beverley, who was accused of smug-
gling Slaves into ‘the Colony of ‘Surinam ; I have to make to you the-follow-
ing Observations, for the direction of your-conduct.
"he demand conveyed in Mr. Lefroy’s Letter of the 4th of May, 1822,

addressed to the Fiscal at Paramaribo, extended far beyond the purport of the
Note of ‘Lord Clancartyof the 26th-of February, 1821.
The Note of Lord Clancarty related only to cases established mproofon

the authorized proceedings ofthe Commission. The-case in questionwas of a
nature to which the judicial duties of Mr. Lefroy did not-extend; and the
demand made could not be supported, as to an offence committed againt the
Laws ofthe Colony. Oo

In cases similar to that in question, you will becareful to limit your inter-
ference to the communicating information to thelocal Authorities, with a -re-
quest, made, as it were, extra-officially, that the Laws of the Colony may be
enforced against the Offenders. You will bear in mind that your functions.as -
Judges and Arbitrators are limited to the jurisdiction specially established by —
Treaty, and that while you are properly and jealouslyalive-to any infractions
of the Treaty, there will be danger of publick inconvenience, if you should
make your functions obnoxious to the lecal Authorities by allowing your
attention to be diverted to objects that do not properly belong toyou.

i am, &c.
(Signed) GEORGE CANNING,

The British Commissioners, Surinam.

 

No. 95.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Lefroy and Lance.

GENTLEMEN, | Foreign Office, November 26, 1822.

J HAVE received Mr. Lefroy’s Despatch of the 20th of September 1822,
‘addressed to the late Marquess of Londonderry. __ an

With respect to that portion’ of it, which relates to Charles Beverley,
accused of being concerned in illicit Slave-dealing; I have at present only to
sefer you to my Despatches of the 25th of September last, and of the 12th ©
instant, upon this subject.
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In reference to the subject of the latter part of Mr. Lefroy’s Despatch,

I liave to recommend you upon all occasions to keep strictly within the
bounds ofthe Treaty, and of the Act of Parliament, which youre called
vipon to execute, lest the weight of youropinion, officially expressed, should
‘ead to acts which His Majesty’s Government might feel themselves called
upon to disavow. :

I am, &c.
(Signed) GEORGE CANNING.

The British Commissioners, Surinam.

 

No. 96.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Lefroy and Lance.

GENTLEMEN, Fortign Office, November’26, 1822.

ISEND to you, for your information and guidance, thecopyof a Despatch,
addressed on the 22d of February 1822, by The King’s command, to His Ma-
jesty’s Ambassador at the Hague;proposing, that theprovisions of the Treaty
ofthe 4th of May 1818, for the case of the deathof one or more of the Com-
missiéners, stiall‘extend to. the case of vacancies occurring inthe Commis-.
sion from illness, or leave of absence. 2dly, the copy of a Despatch, dated
the 10th ofMay 1822, fromHis Majesty’s Minister at the Hague, and of its
Inelosure; stating the acquiescence of The King of the Netherlands in this
proposition. “And.3dly, the copy of'an Instruction, which J addressed on the
30th ofSeptember 1822, by The King’s command, to HisMajesty’s Ambas-
sador at Brussels, inclosing the Projét of anadditionalArticle for sanctioning
in a more formal manner, the details of the arrangementin question.

._ So soon as any more specifick arrangement is agreed upon between. the
Parties,Ishall lose no time in forwarding the same to you.. In the mean-
time you will endeavour to come to-an agreement with your fellow Commis-
sioners-to act im the spirit ofthe intended arrangement. .

. Tam, &c. ee
(Singed) ‘GEORGE CANNING,

The British Commissioners, Surinam.
~

 

No. 97.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. io Mr. Secretary Canning.—(ReceivedApril27, 1823.)

Str, Surinam, December 4, 1822.

I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Letter of the
16th of September 1822, accompanied. by one of the. same date from The
Right Honourable Earl Bathurst, acquainting me that His Majesty had been
graciously pleased to appoint you to be His Principal Secretary-of State for
Foreign Affairs, and instructing me in future to address. to you my Despatches
-and’Letters ‘on publick business, = oO

I have the honour to be, &e. .

The Right Hon. George Canning, o
&e. Se. Sle
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No. 98.

G..E. Lefroy, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received March 6, 1823.)

Sir, Surinam, December 23, 1822.

J HAVE the honour to submit to you, inclosed, copy of a Letter just
yeceived from the Governor of Berbice, relating: to a debarkation of five
dhundred Africans in this Colony, so late as last month, and of one addressed
by me'to the Governor of this Colony; but I have little hope of any
efficient: steps being taken in consequenee: — 1t is painful to me to be obliged
to continue to impugn the Authorities here, at a period so long since
the execution of the ‘Treaty, but I should be trifling with you, Sir, and
His Majesty’s Government, if I did not repeat my conviction that, without
amuch' more energetick conduct on the part of those Authorities, the Slave
‘Trade in this Colony will never be overcome. | a
I beg to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch of the 25th Septem-

ber, atid have the honour to be, &c. ee
(Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
&e. &e. &e.

  

(First Inclosurein No. 98.) |

TheGovernor of Berbice.to €. E. Lefroy, E34.

‘Sr, King's House, Berbice; Deceniber 6, 1822,

I HAD the hononr of receiving -your Letter of the 21st of November, conveying to mie the sa-
itisfactory intelligence of the retaking of Charles Beverley, charged-with Slave-trdding. Lo

I greatly lament to bear of the open and extensive manner in. which the: Slave Trade ie: still
‘carried on upon the Coast of Surinam. I am informed by.Captain Boyd, of the American
“schooner Olive Branch, which arrived heré the 19th of November last, that his vessel. was de
‘tained: two days and a balf by a large ship, with about five hundred new African Negroés on
‘board, about twenty miles to windward of Bram's Point, and that-he himself was compélléd to
‘go on board of the ship, when he was detainedthe whole of the above-mentioned timey amd his
‘boat employed‘in landing the Negroes, after which he was handsomely rewarded by the Captain
:of the ship, and suffered to proceed on his voyage, a 7 : a
This is the most flagrant case Ichave yet heard of, and I hope thatthe circumstancesof it have..

cone to your knowledge, co, :
SO J have the honour to be, &c., es .

(Signed) HENRY BEARD,
. a Lieutenant-Governor of Berbice,

Christopher Edward Lefroy, Esq.

  

(Second Inctosurein No. 98-)

The British Commissary:Judge ‘to the Governorof Surinam.

‘Sra, ; o Paramaribo, December 23, 1822,

"THE inclosed is the copy of a Letter just receivedfrom the ‘Governor of Berbice, which { lose
not,a.moment in submitting to. Your ExceHency,:inorder thet;by taking“the proper steps (which
‘no doubt yoa will) tor the detection and piinishment’ of the Parties concerned, you may satis-
factorily*vindicate this Colony and your Country from the imputations of bad faith, and utter in-
difference to‘all the prospective interests of the great family of maa, to which thé continuance
of the transactions described in the inclosed must expose them in the.eyes of.all Europe.
The Slave-vesselis probably that to whichYour Excellency some time since refused’ admittanee

into this river. oo ; es

_- Esball send a copy ofthe inclosed. hy the first.opportunity toimy-owhGovernnient;andNkewise
request the Governor of Berbice to endeavour to procure for ihe such further particulais from Cap-
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tainBoyd as‘may assist Your Excellency in the conviction of the atrocious scoundrels who thus
persist in provoking the indignation, and defying the retributive justice, of their species and of
“God.

T have the honour, &c.-

(Signed) - “CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.
‘His Excellency Major General De Veer,

Governor General.

 

No. 99.

Mr. Secretary Canning to Messrs. Lefroy and Lance.

Extract.) Foreign Office,December 27, 1822.

MR. LEFROY’s Despatches up to the 23d September 1822, have been.
dtily ‘received. :

His Majesty’s Ambassador at the Court of The King of the Netherlands
has been instructed, to request an explanation of the conduct of the Fiscal, -
in restoring to the Consignee the Negroes brought into Surinam by Charles
Beverley, and to require that the Negroes may, (if not restored to liberty,)
at least be taken into His Netherlands Majesty’s service, till the matter-of
their legal importation be decided.

Flis Majesty’s Ambassador has likewise been instructed to express a desire,
that inquiries may be instituted, as to whether the escape of Beverley
‘was favoured by any Persons in the employment of the Local Government,
and whether any other British subject. besides Beverley was concerned in the
importation of Slaves, with which that Person was charged.

His Majesty’s Government have perceived, with some satisfaction, that,
amid Mr. Lefroy’s representations of the supineness of the Colonial Autho-
rities, there does not appear in his Despatch of September 20, 1822, or in ©
the papers accompanying it, any suggestion that an importation of Slaves
had actually occurred in Surinam, subsequent to the month of June 1821,.
and, except in respect to the omission of any offer of a reward for the ap-
prehension of Beverley, the Governor’s Proclamation, issued the day after his
escape, appears to be sincerely framed with a view to the object of Beverley’s
recapture.
The establishment of a Registry for Slaves in the Colonies -has been sug-

gested to the Netherlands Government, as a measure well calculated to pre-
vent their future importation ; and His Majesty’s Government hope, that the
adoption of it may be found to be compatible with the policy and Regulations
of the Netherlands Government at Surinam. oe

_ (Signed) GEORGE CANNING.
The British Commissioners, Surinam. .

 

No. 100.

CE. Lefroy, Esq.to Joseph Planta,jun. Esq.—(Recewea March27, 1823.)

Si, Surinam, January 14, 1823.
I HADyesterday the honour to receive your Circular .of the Loth of Sep-.

tember last, with the accompanying copies of an humble.Address which was
presented to His Majesty,pursuantto a Resolution ofthe House.ef Common:
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ofthe27thofJune 1822, upon. the subject of . the Traffick inSlaves,for my
information and guidance on occasions when that subject may come under
my notice.

I have the honourtobe, &c.. -
, (Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.

Joseph Planta,jun. Esq.
&e.  —-&e. &e. |

 

No. 101.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received March 27.) -

Sir, Surinam, January 20, 1823,
IT HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your two Des atches.

dated the26th of November 1822, (the latter accompaniedby copies of a Cor
-respondence which has taken place with the Dutch Government, on a pro~
posed extension of the Article of the Treaty for supplying vacancies in the
Commission in case of death, to vacancies fromi illness or leave of absence,).
and I shall take care to conform tothe instructions which they severally
contain. oo =

Your Despatch of the 12th of November, referred to in the former of the’
two, which I have now the honour to acknowledge, has not yet come to hand.

I have the pleasure to announce to you, that Mr. Lance arrived here; on
the 6th instant, but was shortly after taken ill, which has hitherto prevented
him from being sworn in, and is the reason of his not signing this Despatch.
Tam, however, happy to say, that he is now in a state ofconvalescence.

I have the honour to be, &c.
| (Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY,

The Right Hon. George Canning.
6 &e. &e. | &e.

 

No. 102. -

CE. Lefroy, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning—(ReceivedMarch 17.)

Surinam, January 25, 1823,Ste,

IHAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Despatch of the12th of November last, and I will be careful in future to govern my general
official. intercourse with: the Local Authorrities,by thé limits and-directionstherein prescribed. uO

I have the honeur to be, &c.

(Signed) CHRIS. EDW. LEFROY.
The Right Hon. George Canning,

Se. &e. &e.
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No. 103.

C. E. Lefroy, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Reeeived March 17.)

Sir, Surinam, January 25, 1823.

I HAVE the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your Letter of the 6th

of November, conveying to me His Majesty’s gracious permission for me to

come to England on the ground of ill-health, for the space of six months,

exclusive of. the voyage backwards and forwards, and I hope, Sir, I am not

unpardonably trespassing upon official formality in simply expressing, from

the bottom of my heart, my gratitude for this indulgence, it being nothing

less to me than a reprieve from death, or what is ten times worse, consti-

tutional ruin. .
I propose to leave this Colony about the end of April, or beginning of May,

and will not fail to give due notification of my temporary departure to the

Local Authorities, and the Board of which I am a member.
I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) CHRIS, EDWo. LEFROY.

The Right Hon. George Canning,
&. &. &e.

 

No. 104.

J. H. Lance, Esq. to Mr. Secretary Canning.—(Received March 17-)

Sir, Surinam, January 27,.1823°

I HAVE the honour to inform you that I arrived here on the 7th instant-

In obedience to your commands I waited on Mr. Lefroy, and shewed him

my Commission; I was introduced by him to the Netherland Commissioners,

aud to the Governor, before whomI this day took the requisite oaths, in the

form prescribed; and I am now prepared to act in the discharge of my duties

as Commissioner of Arbitration, on the occurrence of any case by which they

may be called into exercise.
I have the honour to be, &e.

(Signed) J. H. LANCE.

The Right Hon. George Canning, :

&e.  &e. &e.


